First Nations Gazette

2003

Vol. 7, No. 2

Pages 401 - 866

cited F.N. Gaz. 2003.7:2

MANAGING EDITOR Zandra L. Wilson, B.A., LL.B.

EDITORIAL ASSISTANT Terri Bahr

EDITORIAL BOARD

Brent Moreau Ken Scopick
David Paul Ricky Fontaine
Lilian Richards Sakej Henderson

INDIAN TAXATION ADVISORY BOARD

Chief C.T. (Manny) Jules, Chairman Strater Crowfoot David Paul Chief William McCue Ricky Fontaine

> Indian Taxation Advisory Board and Native Law Centre 2003

© 2003

Indian Taxation Advisory Board, Eastern Office 2nd floor, 90 Elgin Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0H4

Native Law Centre University of Saskatchewan 101 Diefenbaker Place Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5B8

First Nations Gazette Subscription and Distribution Office

First Nations Gazette
Native Law Centre
University of Saskatchewan
101 Diefenbaker Place
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5B8

Telephone: (306) 966-6189 Fax: (306) 966-6207

Website: http://www.usask.ca/nativelaw/publications/desc/fng.html

E-mail: native.law@usask.ca

The First Nations Gazette is published semi-annually.

2003 subscription rate: \$72.00 (Can.)

ISSN 1206-9086

WAIVER NOTICE

Users of the *First Nations Gazette* are advised that it is prepared for convenience of reference and notice only, and is not published under legislative authority. The by-laws and codes enacted by the First Nations of Canada are reproduced in the *Gazette* as they were approved. In order to preserve the authenticity of the original by-laws and codes, any errors that may have appeared are reproduced in the *Gazette*. For purposes of uniformity the word "bylaw" is rendered as "by-law". A true certified copy of the original documents should be obtained from the individual enacting First Nation.

The publishers do not warrant that the by-laws and codes contained herein are complete or accurate, and do not assume, and hereby disclaim, any liability to any person for any loss or damage which may be caused by errors or omissions in the *First Nations Gazette*.

EXPLANATORY NOTES

CONTENT

This issue of the *First Nation Gazette* includes:

- a. Band by-laws relating to the exercise of taxation powers under section 83 of the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5;
- b. Taxation and licensing by-laws as approved since the publication date of the last issue of the *First Nations Gazette*:
- c. Subject Index of By-laws;
- d. Cumulative Subject Index of By-laws 2003 Vol. 7, No. 1 and 2;
- e. Table of By-laws and Codes setting out the current and on-going status of band by-laws and codes published in the *First Nations Gazette*.

ARRANGEMENT/FORMAT

- 1. The format of band by-laws in the *First Nations Gazette* generally follows the format of regulations found in the *Consolidated Regulations of Canada*.
- 2. The arrangement of by-laws and codes is alphabetical: by province, by band, and by title.
- 3. The Editorial Board reserves the right to set typography and layout for the *First Nations Gazette* for publication purposes. By-laws and codes submitted for publication have therefore been prepared accordingly.
- 4. For the purposes of consistency, where by-laws did not include a title at the head of the by-law, the editors have inserted titles, placed in square brackets, composed of the band name, type of by-law, the by-law number if there was one and/or the year.

CITATION OF BY-LAWS AND CODES

1. Any by-law or code included in the *First Nations Gazette* may be cited to the volume and issue in which it is contained, e.g. *Matsqui First Nation Property Tax Expenditure By-law*, F.N. Gaz. 2003.7:2.498.

CITATION OF BY-LAWS AND CODES (continued)

2. The citation style, as shown in the above example, includes the following elements: *By-law/Code title*, Gazette abbreviation year.volume:issue.page.

LANGUAGE OF PUBLICATION

- 1. Band by-laws and codes which appear in the *First Nations Gazette* are published in the language in which they were approved.
- 2. For by-laws and codes to be published in the *First Nations Gazette*, the text of laws and notice of laws, where provided in an Aboriginal language, must be translated by the enacting First Nation into either English or French.

CONTENTS

AL.	BERTA	
	Alexander First Nation	
	Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	401
	Mikisew Cree First Nation	
	2003 Tax Rates By-law	453
	O'Chiese First Nation	
	2002 Tax Rates By-law	455
BR	ITISH COLUMBIA	
	Blueberry River First Nation	
	Financial Administration By-law	456
	Bonaparte Indian Band	
	Financial Administration By-law No. 13, 2002	467
	Cheam First Nation	
	Rates By-law 2002-1	482
	Rates By-law No. 2003-1	484
	Chemainus First Nation	
	Financial Administration By-law Amendment	486
	Columbia Lake Indian Band	
	2003 Rates By-law	487
	Lakahahmen First Nation	
	2002 Rates By-law	489
	Little Shuswap Indian Band	
	Rates By-law 2003-T02	491
	Lower Kootenay Indian Band	
	2002 Rates By-law	492
	2003 Rates By-law	494
	Matsqui First Nation	
	2002 Rates By-law No. 2002-02	496
	Property Tax Expenditure By-law	498
	Moricetown First Nation	
	Financial Administration By-law	505
	Shuswap Indian Band	
	2003 Rates By-law	516
	Skowkale First Nation	
	2002 Rates By-law	518
	Exemption By-law 2002	520
	Skuppah Indian Band	
	2002 Rates By-law	521
	Squamish Indian Band	
	Property Assessment By-law,	
	Amendment Ry-law No. 1-2002	523

Tsawout Indian Band	
Rates By-law 2003 TX-01	526
Upper Similkameen Indian Band	
2002 Assessment By-law	528
Expenditure By-law	576
Property Taxation By-law	581
Yale First Nation No. 589	
Financial Administration By-law	635
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	646
Yekooche First Nation No. 728	
Financial Administration By-law	697
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	708
MANITOBA	
Opaskwayak Cree Nation	
OCN Annual Tax Rate By-law No. 1, 2003	759
NOVA SCOTIA	
Millbrook First Nation	
2003 Rates By-law	761
ONTARIO	
Lac La Croix First Nation	
Telephone Companies Taxation By-law	764
QUEBEC	
Innu-Takuaikan Uashat mak Mani-Utenam	
Règlement sur les taux annuels de taxes	
foncières, numéro 2, 2003	768
SASKATCHEWAN	
Carry The Kettle First Nation	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	771
Subject Index of By-laws	825
Cumulative Subject Index to By-laws,	
2003 Vol. 7, Nos. 1 and 2	829
Table of By-laws and Codes	835

ALEXANDER FIRST NATION PROPERTY ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION BY-LAW 2002

[Effective November 7, 2002]

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Short Title	402
Part I	Interpretation	403
Part II	Administration	405
Part III	Application of By-law	405
Part IV	Liability to Taxation	405
Part V	Levy of Tax	407
Part VI	Information for Assessment Roll	407
Part VII	Assessed Value	408
Part VIII	The Assessment Roll	409
Part IX	Amendments to Assessment Roll	410
Part X	Appeals	411
Part XI	Tax Notice	417
Part XII	Due Date and Interest	418
Part XIII	Periodic Payments	419
Part XIV	Receipts and Certificates	419
Part XV	Application of Revenues	419
Part XVI	Collection and Enforcement	420
	Proof of Debt	420
	Special Lien and Priority of Claim	420
	Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement	
	Proceedings	421
	Distress: Seizure of Goods	422
	Distress: Sale of Goods Seized by Distress	422
	Sale of Improvements or Proprietary Interest	423
	Cancellation of Interest Held by Taxpayer	425
	Forfeiture of Property	426
	Absconding Taxpayer	427
	Discontinuance of Services	427
Part XVII	Service and Local Improvement Charges	428
Part XVIII	General and Miscellaneous	430

SCHEDULES			

I.	Request for Information	433
II.	Classes of Property	434
III.	Notice of Assessment	435
IV.	Appeal to Assessment Review Committee	436
V.	Notice of Hearing	437
VI.	Request for Attendance	438
VII.	Tax Notice	439
VIII.	Costs Payable by a Taxpayer Arising from Enforcement Proceedings	440
IX.	Certification of Debt Owing by the Taxpayer	441
X.	Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement	
	Proceedings	442
XI.	Notice of Distress	443
XII.	Notice of Sale of Goods Seized by Distress	444
XIII.	Notice of Sale of Improvements and Disposition of	
	Interest in Land	445
XIV.	Certification of Sale and Disposition of Interest on Reserve	446
XV.	Notice of Cancellation of Interest in Land	447
XVI.	Certification of Cancellation of Interest in Land	448
XVII.	Notice of Forfeiture	449
XVIII.	Certification of Forfeiture	450
XIX.	Notice of Discontinuance of Services	451
XX.	Notice of Hearing	452

WHEREAS pursuant to the *Indian Act*, and specifically paragraph 83(1)(a), the Council of a Band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, in the Reserve, including rights to occupy, possess or use land, in the Reserve:

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Alexander First Nation, having had such a by-law in continuous practice since 1972, deems it to be in the best interests of the Band to re-write a by-law for such purposes;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED the Council of the Alexander First Nation at a duly convened meeting, enacts the following By-law.

SHORT TITLE

1. This By-law may be cited as the Alexander First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law.

REVOCATION OF PROPERTY ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION BY-LAW

The Alexander Indian Reserve Property Taxation By-law, and subsequent amendments, approved and passed by the Council of the Alexander Band on August 22, 1972 is hereby revoked and replaced in its entirety upon the coming into force of this By-law.

PART I

INTERPRETATION

- **2.**(1) In this By-law,
- "Act" means the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5:
- "actual value" means the market value of the interest in land as if it were held in fee simple off Reserve;
- "assessed value" means the actual value of interests in land as determined under this By-law;
- "assessment roll" means a list prepared pursuant to this By-law and includes a supplementary roll, setting out interests in land within the assessment area and their assessed values for the purposes of taxation and includes any alterations or additions under Part IX of this By-law;
- "assessment year" means the year, from January 1 to December 31, preceding the vear in which taxes are to be levied:
- "Assessor" means a person, or persons appointed by Council for the purposes of this By-law and any related duties as required by Council;
- "Band" or "First Nation" means the Alexander Indian Band No. 438, being a Band within subsection 2(1) of the Act, also known as Alexander First Nation, and referred to throughout this By-law as "Alexander";
- "band council resolution" means a motion passed and approved by a majority of the Councillors of the Band present at a duly convened meeting;
- "Council" means the Chief and Council of the Alexander Indian Band selected according to the custom of the Band or under subsection 2(1) and section 74 of the Act:
- "improvement" means an addition to land or water over land and, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, includes
 - (a) anything erected or placed in, on, over or under land, whether or not it is so affixed to the land as to become transferred without special mention by a transfer of the land:

- (b) anything erected or placed in or upon, or affixed to an improvement, so that without special mention it would be transferred by a transfer of land;
- (c) any item of immovable machinery and equipment which is prescribed assessable by band council resolution; or
- (d) a manufactured home;

404

- "interest in land" means land or improvements, or both, and, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, includes any interest in land or improvements, the right to occupy, possess or use land or improvements in the Reserve;
- "local improvement charge" means a charge in respect of a local improvement based on the actual or estimated capital costs and interest amortized over a fixed period of years;
- "Minister" means the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development;
- "manufactured home" means any structure whether equipped with wheels or not and whether self-propelled or not, that
 - (a) is used or designed for use as a dwelling or sleeping place; and
 - (b) is constructed or manufactured to be moved from one point to another by being towed or carried unless licensed or able to be licensed and equipped to travel on a public highway;
 - (c) is a business office or premises; and
 - (d) is accommodation for any other purposes;
- "person" in addition to its ordinary meaning includes a partnership, association, company, society or body corporate;
- "pipeline" is an improvement and means any pipe designed for or used in the commercial conveyance or transmission of any substance;
- "Registrar" means the Lands Administrator for the Alexander First Nation as appointed by Council;
- "registers" means the Surrendered and Designated Lands Register kept pursuant to section 55 of the Act and the Reserve Land Register kept pursuant to section 21 of the Act;
- "Reserve" means Alexander Indian Reserve numbers 134, 134A & 134B defined in subsection 2(1) of the Act and any land held as a special Reserve for the use and benefit of the Alexander Indian Band pursuant to section 36 of the Act;
- "service charge" means a charge in respect of a service based on the estimated or actual annual cost of the service;

- "settlement of taxes" means an agreement in which Council accepts payment as settlement of a taxation issue where it is in the best interest of the Band;
- "tax" or "taxes" means a levy imposed by section 11 of this By-law, and includes all interest, penalties, costs or other charges imposed and payable pursuant to this By-law;
- "Tax Administrator" means the person appointed by Council pursuant to section 3 to administer this By-law;
- "tax debtor" means a person with outstanding obligations to pay taxes imposed by this By-law after the expiration of time provided for in Schedule X, the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings served pursuant to section 60:
- "taxation authority" means the Council of the Alexander First Nation;
- "trustee" means an executor, administrator, guardian, committee, receiver or any person having or taking upon him or herself the lawful possession, administration or control of property affected by an express trust, or having by lawful possession, management and control of the property of a person under any legal disability.
 - (2) The preamble forms part of this By-law.

PART II

ADMINISTRATION

Tax Administrator

- **3.**(1) Council may appoint a Tax Administrator for a specified or indefinite term to administer this By-law.
- (2) The Tax Administrator is responsible for collection of taxes and enforcement of payment under this By-law.

PART III

APPLICATION OF BY-LAW

Application of Bv-law

4. This By-law applies to all interests in land within the Reserve.

PART IV

LIABILITY TO TAXATION

Taxable property

5.(1) Subject to section 6, all interests in land including any right to occupy, possess, or use land, is subject to taxation under this By-law.

(2) Without derogating from Council's taxing authority or jurisdiction, Council may accept grants or settlements in place of taxes where it is in the best interests of the Band.

EXEMPTION FROM TAXATION

Exemption

- **6.** The following interests in land are not subject to taxation:
- (a) any interest in land of the Band or of a member of the Band;
- (b) any interest in land of a corporation, all the shareholders of which are members of Council, and which an interest in land is held for the benefit of all the members of the Band;
- (c) a building used exclusively for school purposes and the land necessary as the site for the building;
- (d) a building occupied by a religious body and used chiefly for divine service, public worship or religious education, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
- (e) a building, or any part thereof, used as a hospital, other than a private hospital, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
- (f) a building, or any part thereof, used as a university, technical institute, or public college, not operated for profit, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
- (g) an institutional building used chiefly for the purpose of providing housing accommodation for the elderly or persons suffering from physical or mental disability, not operated for profit, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
- (h) a cemetery to the extent that it is actually used for burial purposes.
- 7. Notwithstanding section 6, all interests in land are liable to service and local improvement charges under Part XVII of this By-law.
- **8.** Where an interest in land is not subject to taxation, the liability to taxation of any other interest in the same land is not affected.
- **9.**(1) An exemption does not apply to any portion of a building other than the portion occupied or used for the purpose for which the exemption was granted.

(2) Where an exemption applies to a portion of a building, it applies, in the same proportion, to the land that is necessary as the site for the building.

PART V

LEVY OF TAX

Persons subject to taxation

10.(1) Where an interest in land is subject to taxation, any person who has an interest in the land is jointly and severally liable to taxation.

Tax rates

- 11.(1) In each taxation year not later than May 1, Council shall adopt a by-law to impose tax rates on interests in land subject to taxation under this By-law. Taxes levied under this By-law apply to the calendar year in which the levy is first made and are based upon the assessed values of the interest in land and improvements as determined under this By-law.
- (2) Council may, by by-law, establish different classes of real property and establish different tax rates according to the class of real property to be taxed.
- (3) Taxes shall be levied by applying the rate of tax against the assessed value of the land and improvements.
- **12.** Taxes levied in a taxation notice mailed under section 24 are due and payable on June 30 of the year in which they are levied.

PART VI

INFORMATION FOR ASSESSMENT ROLL

Information

- **13.**(1) Every person liable for tax shall, on request, forthwith furnish to the Assessor, in writing and signed, the information requested in Schedule I concerning the land used or occupied by that person and without restricting the generality of the foregoing, including: purchase price; terms and covenants in leases; construction costs; costs of alterations and repairs; income and expense information or, rents payable, paid or agreed to be paid.
- (2) Where an Assessor does not receive the information referred to in subsection (1), or is not satisfied that the information received is accurate, the Assessor shall value the interest in land on the basis of information in his or her possession.

PART VII

ASSESSED VALUE

Assessors

- **14.**(1) Council may appoint by band council resolution one or more Assessors for a definite or indefinite term.
- (2) An appointment under subsection (1) may be for the purposes of classifying and valuing particular interests in land in the assessment area and applying exemptions in accordance with section 6 as set out in the band council resolution.

Valuation date

- **15.** For the purpose of determining the actual value of an interest in land for an assessment roll, the valuation date is July 1 of the year during which the assessment roll is completed.
- **16.** The actual value of the interest in land for an assessment roll is to be determined as if on the valuation date
 - (a) the interest in land and all other properties were in the physical condition that they are in on December 31 following the valuation date; and
 - (b) the permitted use of the property and all other interests in land were the same as on December 31 following the valuation date.

Criteria for valuation

- **17.**(1) The Assessor shall assess interests in land according to the classes of real property as set out in Schedule II.
- (2) Except as otherwise provided in the By-law, for the purposes of assessing interests in land the Assessor shall use the practices and regulations established under the *Alberta Municipal Government Act* as amended from time to time.

Valuation standard

- **18.**(1) Except as provided in subsections 17(2) and 18(3), the Assessor shall value land and improvements at their actual value.
- (2) The Assessor shall determine the actual value of land and improvements using equivalent rates which would be applied if the interest in land was within the province of Alberta.
- (3) Notwithstanding subsection (1), if Council has, in a lease or other instrument granting an interest in land, placed a restriction on the use of the land, the Assessor shall consider the restriction.
- (4) The duration of the interest in land or the right of Council to terminate an interest in land is not a restriction within the meaning of subsection (3).

PART VIII

THE ASSESSMENT ROLL

Contents of assessment roll

- **19.** Not later than May 31 of the taxation year the Assessor shall prepare an assessment roll containing the following particulars:
 - the name and last known address of the person assessed;
 - an accurate or legal description of the land;
 - (c) the classification of
 - (i) the land, and
 - (ii) the improvements;
 - (d) the actual value by classification of
 - the land, and
 - (ii) the improvements;
 - (e) the total assessed value;
 - the total assessed value of exemptions from taxation, where applicable;
 - (g) the total net taxable value; and
 - (h) any other necessary information.
- **20.** The Assessor shall include in the assessment roll the particulars set out in section 19 for any interest in land in respect of which grants or settlement in place of taxes may be accepted.
- 21. The Assessor shall set out the value of improvements separately from the value of the land on which they are located.
- **22.**(1) A person whose name appears in the assessment roll shall give written notice to the Tax Administrator or Assessor of any change of address.
- (2) The holder of a charge or an interest in land may give written notice, with full particulars of the nature, extent and duration of the charge to the Tax Administrator, and request copies of all tax notices issued during the duration of the charge, and the Assessor shall enter that person's name and address on the assessment roll.
- **23.**(1) The assessment roll is effective on its approval by Council.

- (2) On approval, the assessment roll is open to inspection in the Alexander First Nation office by any person during regular business hours.
- **24.** The Tax Administrator or the Assessor shall, on or before May 31 of each year, mail a notice of assessment to every person named in the assessment roll in respect of each interest in land for which that person is liable to taxation or for which grants or settlement in place of taxes may be sought.
- **25.** The notice of assessment shall be in the form set out in Schedule III or a form approved by Council and shall contain the information set out in the assessment roll in respect of that interest in land and shall contain a statement as to the right of appeal.

PART IX

AMENDMENTS TO ASSESSMENT ROLL

Amendment of assessment roll

410

- **26.** Where the Assessor finds that during the current taxation year
 - (a) a taxable interest in land is not entered in the assessment roll;
 - (b) the value of an interest in land is not the same as the valuation entered in the assessment roll by reason of
 - (i) the demolition, destruction or damaging of an improvement,
 - (ii) new construction or new improvements,
 - (iii) a change in a permitted use, or
 - (iv) a subdivision;
 - (c) there has been a change in the possession, use or occupation;
 - (d) there is a clerical error; or
 - (e) there has been a change in the eligibility for an exemption from taxation;

the Assessor shall amend the assessment roll to effect the necessary changes but subject to section 28, shall not make any amendments after December 31 of the current taxation year.

Notice of amended Assessment **27.** Where the assessment roll is amended, the Assessor shall, as soon as practical after adoption of the amended assessment

roll by band council resolution, mail a notice in the form set out in Schedule III or a form approved by Council in respect of the amended assessment to each person affected.

Under-assessment

- **28.** Where there has been an under-assessment resulting from
- (a) a person's failure to disclose information required under this By-law with respect to an interest in land; or
- (b) a person's concealment of information required under this By-law with respect to an interest in land;

the Assessor shall issue an amended assessment notice, in the form set out in Schedule III or a form approved by Council, for the current year and for each previous year during which the condition giving rise to the amendment to the assessment roll existed.

- **29.** Where a condition that gives rise to an amendment to the assessment roll existed during part of a taxation year, the Tax Administrator shall, in preparing an amended tax notice, adjust the amount of the taxes due on a pro rata basis.
- **30.** Parts VIII, X, XI, XII and XIV apply with respect to an amended assessment roll and to an amended assessment notice.
- **31.** Where Council approves an amendment to the assessment roll for the current year, the Tax Administrator shall forthwith refund any excess taxes that have been paid, together with interest at the rate of 10% per annum. Any unpaid balance shall, subject to notice of assessment and taxation, be due and payable, notwithstanding a receipt or certificate given by the Tax Administrator.

PART X

APPEALS

Establishment of Assessment Review Committee

- **32.**(1) Council by band council resolution shall establish an Assessment Review Committee consisting of
 - (a) one person who is or was duly qualified to practice law in the Province of Alberta, or who is or was a Judge of a Provincial, County or Supreme Court in the Province of Alberta:
 - (b) one person who has sat as a member of an appeal board to review assessments in and for the Province of Alberta: and
 - (c) one person who is a member of the Alexander First Nation who does not have any direct or indirect financial interest in any real property assessment to which an appeal relates.

- (2) Council shall maintain a list of substitute members of the Assessment Review Committee. Where a member of the Assessment Review Committee is disqualified, unable or unwilling to act, Council shall appoint the first person on the list of substitute members of the Assessment Review Committee to act for the period for which the member of the Assessment Review Committee is unavailable. If for any reason the first person on the list of substitute members is disqualified, unable or unwilling to act, Council shall appoint the next person on the list until a substitute member of the Assessment Review Committee is able to act.
- (3) Each member of the Assessment Review Committee shall hold office for a period of three years unless the member resigns or is otherwise removed from office in accordance with the terms of this By-law.
- (4) Each member of the Assessment Review Committee and each substitute member actually appointed to act, shall be paid for his or her services as a member of the Assessment Review Committee at a rate of \$200 per day plus out of pocket expenses for time spent on activities related to the Assessment Review Committee.
- (5) A member of the Assessment Review Committee shall be removed from office if he or she
 - (a) is convicted of an offense under the *Criminal Code* (Canada);
 - (b) fails to attend three (3) consecutive appeal hearings; or
 - (c) fails to perform any of his or her duties under this By-law in good faith and in accordance with the terms of this By-law.
- **33.**(1) A person whose name appears in the assessment roll may appeal to the Assessment Review Committee in respect of:
 - (a) the liability to assessment;
 - (b) the assessed value;
 - (c) the assessment classification; or
 - (d) any alleged error or omission.
- (2) An appellant shall file an appeal by delivering a notice of appeal containing the information set out in Schedule IV to the Assessment Review Committee at the address set out in the

assessment notice within thirty (30) days of the mailing of the assessment notice.

Contents of appeal

- (3) An appellant may make the appeal through his or her solicitor or agent, in which case the appeal shall set forth the name and address of the solicitor or agent, as well as the name and address of the appellant.
- (4) Any notice or correspondence required to be given to an appellant shall be properly given if delivered to the solicitor or agent at the address set out in the appeal.
- (5) Where an appeal is taken with respect to an amended assessment notice, the appeal shall be confined to the amendment.

Duties of Committee

- **34.**(1) The Assessment Review Committee shall
- hear all appeals from assessment notices;
- (b) investigate and advise Council on assessments, assessments classifications and assessment rolls which the Committee deems necessary;
- (c) select a Chairperson who shall supervise and direct the work of the Committee:
- (d) give the appellants, the Assessor and the Tax Administrator at least ten (10) days written notice of the time and place for the hearing of appeals;
- (e) have custody of all records, documents, evidence and proceedings before the Assessment Review Committee;
- have control of its proceedings in order to fairly and adequately determine any appeal; and
- (g) where an appeal relates to an interest in land of which a person other than the appellant is the holder, give that person at least ten (10) days written notice of the time, date, and place of the hearing of the appeal, and the nature of the appeal.
- (2) In performing their duties under this By-law, the members of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) ensure that assessments and assessment rolls are equitable and fairly represent the assessed values provided for in this By-law;
 - (b) act impartially, fairly and reasonably, to the best of their skill and ability.

Chairman

- (3) The Chairperson of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) supervise and direct the work of the Committee; and
 - (b) preside at sittings of the Committee.

Secretary

- (4) Council shall appoint a Secretary of the Assessment Review Committee.
 - (5) The Secretary of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) have the custody and care of all records, regulations, documents and orders made by or pertaining to the Committee;
 and
 - (b) relating to his or her office follow the direction of the Chairperson or the Committee.

Parties

- **35.**(1) The Assessor, or his or her designate, shall be a party to all appeal proceedings under this By-law and the Assessment Review Committee shall give the Assessor reasonable notice and opportunity to be heard at any appeal proceedings.
- (2) The Assessment Review Committee shall give the Band Council ten (10) days written notice of, and a reasonable opportunity to be heard at any appeal proceedings which raise issues of law regarding anything done under this By-law.

Quorum and vacancy

- **36.**(1) A majority of the members of the Assessment Review Committee constitutes a quorum.
- (2) Where a quorum of the members of an Assessment Review Committee is not present at the time at which a hearing is to be held, the hearing shall be adjourned to the next day that is not a holiday, and so on from day to day until there is a quorum.
- (3) All questions respecting appeals shall be decided by a majority vote of the members of the Assessment Review Committee at the hearing.
- (4) Council by band council resolution may establish procedures for the conduct of the proceedings of the Assessment Review Committee which shall not be inconsistent with this By-law.

Conflict of interest

37.(1) No person shall sit as a member of the Assessment Review Committee hearing an appeal if that person

- (a) has a direct or indirect financial interest in any property assessment to which an appeal relates;
- (b) is a member of Council:
- (c) is an employee of the Band or Council;
- (d) has financial dealings with the Band or Council which might reasonably give rise to a conflict of interest and impair that person's ability to deal fairly and impartially with an appeal as required under the terms of this By-law.

Date of sittings

- **38.**(1) Subject to section 41(2), the Assessment Review Committee must make all decisions within 150 days after the assessment notices are sent out.
- (2) The Assessor shall deliver the assessment roll to the Assessment Review Committee on or before the date upon which the Committee commences its sittings.
- (3) The Assessment Review Committee shall mail a Notice of Hearing to all parties in the appeal in the form provided in Schedule V.

Witnesses and documents

- **39.**(1) The Assessment Review Committee may request the attendance of witnesses and the production and inspection of documents.
- (2) A party to any appeal proceedings before the Assessment Review Committee may request that a Notice be served by any member of the Committee, requesting the attendance of any person as a witness to give evidence at the hearing of the appeal.
- (3) Where pursuant to subsection (2) a party requests that a Notice be served by a member of the Committee
 - (a) the Chairperson of the Committee shall sign and issue the Notice and the party shall serve it on the witness at least two (2) days before the appeal;
 - (b) the Notice shall be in the form attached as Schedule VI.
- (4) The party requesting the attendance of a witness shall pay a two (\$2) dollar witness fee plus reasonable travelling expenses to the witness to attend and give evidence before the Assessment Review Committee, on the time and date set out in the Notice.

Hearing of appeals

40.(1) The Assessment Review Committee may hear all appeals from an assessment notice on the same day or may adjourn from time to time until all appeals have been heard and determined.

- (2) The Assessment Review Committee may hear an appeal whether the appellant is present or not.
- (3) The Assessment Review Committee may, after hearing an appeal, postpone consideration thereof and the appellant shall, if required by the Committee, produce all relevant books, papers, documents and answer all proper questions and give all necessary information affecting the interest in land or the matter under consideration.
- (4) The Assessment Review Committee may order that the costs of a proceeding before the Committee be paid by or apportioned between the persons affected by the appeal provided that such costs do not exceed 10% of the amount of the taxes payable concerning the interest in land which is the subject of the appeal, as finally determined by the Assessment Review Committee.
- (5) In any appeal proceedings, the onus of proof is on the person bringing the appeal to establish that the assessed value of the interest in land should be different from the value determined by the Assessor.

Reference to Band Council

- **41.**(1) Upon completion of hearing all appeals, except those adjourned under subsection 41(2), the Assessment Review Committee shall submit to Council its decision on each appeal, including the vote of each member of the Committee, either in favour or against allowing the appeal.
- (2) Notwithstanding subsection 38(1), the Assessment Review Committee may, with the consent of all parties to an appeal, and without prejudice to the rights to any party, adjourn the appeal from time to time beyond the time for completion of the appeals and shall advise Council as provided in this section.
- (3) Within fifteen (15) days from the receipt of the decision of the Assessment Review Committee, the Council shall instruct the Assessor to prepare a final assessment roll including any amendments resulting from the decisions in subsection (1).

Notice of decision

- (4) Not later than fourteen (14) days from the receipt of the instructions pursuant to subsection (3) the Assessor shall notify in writing each appellant and person affected by the appeal, of the decision of the Assessment Review Committee.
- (5) The notice given under subsection (4) shall state that the appellant has a further right of appeal to a court of competent jurisdiction.

Amendment of roll

- (6) Where the Assessor is directed to amend an assessment roll under subsection (3), the Assessor shall do so within 14 days, and shall return the assessment roll forthwith to the Chairperson of the Assessment Review Committee.
- (7) The Assessor shall date and initial amendments made to the assessment roll pursuant to subsection (3).
- (8) Forthwith upon receiving an amended assessment roll under subsection (6), the Chairperson of the Assessment Review Committee shall verify that the roll has been amended according to the decisions of Council under subsections (3) and (6).

PART XI

TAX NOTICE

Tax notice

- 42.(1) Where Council adopts an assessment roll, and after notices of assessment are mailed pursuant to section 24, not later than May 31 of the taxation year the Tax Administrator shall mail to every person whose name appears in the assessment role, a tax notice in the form set out in Schedule VII, or a form approved by Council, in respect of each interest in land for which that person is liable to taxation, and, in the case of an amended assessment roll that has been adopted, the Tax Administrator shall mail an amended tax notice to every person affected by the amendment.
- (2) The tax notice referred in subsection (1) shall contain the information set out in Schedule VII which includes the particulars of any arrears and interest, where payment is to be made, and the manner of payment.
- **43.**(1) The Tax Administrator shall enter the date of mailing the tax notice on the assessment roll.
- (2) The mailing of the tax notice by the Tax Administrator constitutes a statement of and demand for payment of the taxes.
- 44. Where applicable, a tax notice shall state that taxes are payable in conjunction with periodic lease payments under Part XIII.
- **45.**(1) Where it is shown that a person liable for taxes on an interest in land was not liable for taxes or was taxed in excess of the proper amount, at the direction of Council, the Tax Administrator shall refund to the taxpayer the amount paid in excess of liability.

(2) Where taxes imposed under this By-law are to be refunded under this section, Council may direct the Tax Administrator to refund the amount in whole or in part by applying it as a credit on account of the taxes due or accruing due.

PART XII

DUE DATE AND INTEREST

When taxes Payable

- **46.**(1) Subject to sections 47 and 48, taxes levied in a tax notice mailed under section 42 are due and payable as of June 30 of the year in which they are first levied at the office of the taxation authority notwithstanding that an appeal under Part X may be pending.
- (2) All taxes payable under this By-law are debts due to the taxation authority and are recoverable as such in any court of competent jurisdiction or in any other manner provided by this By-law.
- (3) Where any person alleges that he or she is not liable to pay taxes imposed pursuant to this By-law, the person shall either initiate proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction or launch an appeal within thirty (30) days of the date of mailing of the tax notice referred to in Part XI.
- (4) Unless a challenge is initiated pursuant to subsection (3), the taxpayer shall thereafter be estopped from denying liability to pay taxes and estopped from challenging any steps taken to enforce the payment of taxes as provided in Part XVI.
- (5) A person who has registered a security interest against the taxpayer's interest in land in the registers may pay the taxes due and such payment shall extinguish the debt owing to the taxation authority.
- **47.** Where taxes are due and payable in conjunction with payment of rent under Part XIII, the proportionate payment is due and payable on the date that the rent is due and payable.
- **48.** Where an assessment roll is amended under this By-law, it shall, for the purposes of this Part, be deemed to be amended as of the date of adoption of the assessment roll under section 23.
- **49.** If all or any portion of taxes remain unpaid after June 30 of the year they are first levied, the unpaid portion shall accrue compound interest at the rate of 1% per month or any part thereof.

Interest

50. Where taxes are in arrears and part payment is received, the payment shall be applied firstly to accrued interest and then arrears, and any balance shall be applied to current taxes.

PART XIII

PERIODIC PAYMENTS

Payment of percentage

51. Council may declare that the tax, with respect to any interest in land that is leased, be expressed as a percentage of the rent payment and collected with it in accordance with the terms of a lease agreement or the terms of an agreement with the landlord.

Payment on account

52. Where Council has entered an agreement with the Crown or with any person entitled to receive rents, for the collection of tax under this Part, the receipt by the Crown or such person of payment on account of tax shall be a discharge of the liability for tax to the extent of the payment.

PART XIV

RECEIPTS AND CERTIFICATES

Receipt

53. Except where Part XIII applies, on receipt of a payment of taxes, the Tax Administrator shall issue an official receipt to the tax payer, and shall enter the number of the receipt on the assessment roll opposite the interest in land for which the taxes are paid.

Certificate

54. On a request in writing, the Tax Administrator shall issue a certificate showing whether taxes have been paid with respect to any taxable interest in land, and if not, the amount of taxes outstanding.

PART XV

APPLICATION OF REVENUES

Application of revenues

- **55.**(1) All moneys raised under this By-law shall be placed in a special account or accounts.
 - (2) Moneys raised shall include
 - (a) taxes:
 - (b) grants or settlement in place of taxes;
 - (c) interest; and
 - (d) amounts collected on account of costs.

(3) Subject to section 56, an expenditure made out of moneys raised under this By-law shall be made under authority of a separate by-law.

Authorized expenditures

- **56.** The following expenditures of funds raised under this By-law are hereby authorized:
 - (1) refunds of overpayment and interest;
- (2) all expenses of preparation and administration of this By-law;
 - (3) remuneration of an Assessor and the Tax Administrator;
- (4) all legal costs and other expenses of enforcement of this By-law.

PART XVI

COLLECTION AND ENFORCEMENT

Proof of Debt

Costs of Enforcement **57.** The taxation authority may charge the person named in an assessment roll with all reasonable costs incurred in the collection of taxes or other costs imposed by this By-law. Such costs shall be in accordance with Schedule VIII to this By-law.

Liability for taxes

- **58.**(1) A person named in an assessment roll as having an interest in is liable for all taxes imposed in respect of the interest in land during the year and all unpaid taxes imposed in previous years.
- (2) Tax, or a portion thereof, due and payable under this By-law that has not been paid may be certified by the Tax Administrator, who shall attach a copy of that part of the assessment roll that refers to the taxes payable. Such certification shall be in the form provided in Schedule IX, and is *prima facie* proof of the debt.

Special Lien and Priority of Claim

Taxes are a special lien

- **59.**(1) Taxes due and payable are a special lien and encumbrance on the interest in land.
- (2) The special lien and encumbrance referred to in section 59(1) attaches to the interest in land being taxed, and without limiting the foregoing, attaches to the interest in land of a subsequent holder.
- (3) The person who acquires an interest in land on which a lien under this By-law has been registered and the person to whom

the taxes were originally levied are jointly and severally liable for the lien.

- (4) The Tax Administrator may register a certificate issued under section 58(2) in either register on or after January 2 following the year in which the taxes are imposed.
- (5) Pursuant to section 59(4), the special lien and encumbrance shall have priority over every subsequently registered claim, privilege, lien, charge, security interest, or encumbrance of every person.
- (6) When all taxes levied against the interest in land have been paid, the Tax Administrator shall certify that the special lien and encumbrance against the interest in land has been discharged, and shall register such certification in either register. Such certification shall be sufficient proof of the payment of the taxes and the discharge of the special lien or encumbrance.
- (7) The special lien and encumbrance is not lost or impaired by reason of any technical error or omission.

Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings

List of unpaid taxes

Demand for

payment and

Enforcement

Proceedings

Notice of

- **60.**(1) Except for tax proceedings postponed pursuant to subsection 60.1(1), on or after January 2 following the year for which taxes are imposed, the Tax Administrator shall prepare a list of outstanding taxes and of the persons liable for payment.
- (2) Within thirty (30) days of completion of the list pursuant to subsection 60(1), the Tax Administrator shall mail, in the form set out in Schedule X, a Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings to every person named on the list, and to every tenant, agent or person whose rights, proprietary or otherwise, may be affected by the enforcement proceedings.
- (3) For the purposes of this section the mailing of a Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings is deemed to be delivery to the addressee.

Commencement of enforcement proceedings

(4) Upon the expiration of the thirty (30) day period provided in the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings delivered pursuant to section 60(2), the Tax Administrator shall request authorization from Council to commence enforcement proceedings against the tax debtors. Council may direct the Tax Administrator to commence enforcement proceedings.

Postponement, reduction and remission of taxes

- **60.1** Council may, upon application by the tax debtor,
- (1) postpone taking enforcement proceedings for a specified period; or
 - (2) reduce or remit the taxes where Council determines that
 - (a) full payment would result in undue hardship to the tax debtor; or
 - (b) it is necessary and in the best interest of the Band to effect a transfer of the tax debtor's interest.

Distress: Seizure of Goods

Distress

61.(1) With the authorization of Council, the Tax Administrator may proceed by way of distress if the taxes or any portion thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to section 60.1(1) has expired.

Notice of distress

- Seizure of property
- (2) The Tax Administrator shall serve a Notice of Distress on the tax debtor in the form set out in Schedule XI.
- (3) If the taxes, or any portion thereof, remain outstanding following the time provided by the Notice of Distress, the Tax Administrator shall effect a seizure by distress of such goods, and post a notice on the goods which are seized. The seized goods shall then be in the possession of the Band, as represented by the Tax Administrator.
- (4) So long as the taxes, or any portion thereof, remain outstanding, no goods seized pursuant to subsection (3) which are located on the Reserve shall be removed therefrom, and any such removal shall be considered a trespass. Without restricting the generality of the foregoing, no such goods shall be seized by a bailiff, sheriff, assignee or liquidator or trustee, or authorized trustee in bankruptcy, except under the authority of Council.

Distress: Sale of Goods Seized by Distress

Sale of Goods Seized by Distress **62.**(1) If the Tax Administrator seizes by distress the tax debtor's goods pursuant to subsection 61(3), and the tax debtor does not commence legal proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction within sixty (60) days after the date of seizure challenging such seizure, the goods may be sold in accordance with this Part and the tax debtor is estopped from denying the validity of the seizure and the sale of such goods.

- (2) If the outstanding taxes have not been paid in full sixty (60) days after a seizure by distress pursuant to section 61(3), the goods seized will be deemed to have been abandoned by the tax debtor and may be sold by public auction, the proceeds of which will be used for payment of the outstanding taxes.
- (3) A Notice of Sale of Goods Seized by Distress in the form of Schedule XII shall be published in at least one (1) newspaper of general local circulation for seven (7) days prior to the sale, and shall be posted on the tax debtor's premises located on the Reserve.
- (4) The sale of the goods seized by distress shall be conducted at the time and place advertised pursuant to subsection (3), unless it is necessary to adjourn such sale, in which case an additional notice shall be published in the manner provided by subsection (3).
- (5) Any surplus resulting from the sale conducted pursuant to subsection (4), after deducting all liabilities of the tax debtor, including all costs and charges arising from the sale, shall be paid to the tax debtor. In the event that the Tax Administrator is uncertain who is entitled to such surplus, the Tax Administrator shall pay such money into court by way of interpleader action.
- (6) Goods of a tax debtor that would be exempt from seizure under a writ of execution issued by a superior court of the province in which the seizure is made are exempt from seizure under this section.

Sale of Improvements or Proprietary Interest

- **63.**(1) If the taxes or any part thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1) has expired, Council may authorize the Tax Administrator to proceed by way of sale of improvements or proprietary interest. The Tax Administrator shall serve the tax debtor a Notice of Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest in Land in the form of Schedule XIII.
- (2) On June 30 following the year in which the taxes are imposed or, if enforcement proceedings are postponed under subsection 60.1(1), six (6) months from the end of the period specified by Council, and upon the failure of the tax debtor to pay the outstanding taxes or to commence legal proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction challenging the sale or disposition, the Tax Administrator shall sell the improvements or dispose of the interest

Sale of improvements or cancellation of proprietary interest

By public auction

of the tax debtor in the Reserve by public auction, or pursuant to subsection (3) by public tender.

Publication of auction

- (3) Council shall prescribe the method of public tender, including the conditions of sale, method of publication or circulation, and conditions attached to the acceptance of any offer.
- (4) A Notice of Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest in Land in the form of Schedule XIII to this By-law shall be published in at least one (1) newspaper of general local circulation for seven (7) days prior to the sale, and shall be posted on the tax debtor's premises located on Reserve.
- (5) The sale of the improvements and disposition of interest in land shall be conducted at the time and place advertised pursuant to subsection (3), unless it is necessary to adjourn such disposition. If an adjournment is necessary an additional notice shall be published in the manner provided by subsection (3).

Upset price

- (6) With prior approval of Council, the Tax Administrator may at any sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsection (2) or (4), set an upset price equal to the outstanding taxes and that upset price shall be the lowest price for which the improvements may be sold and the interest in land disposed.
- (7) Where the Tax Administrator sets an upset price pursuant to subsection (6), and there is no bid at the sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsection (2) or (4) that is equal to or greater than the upset price, the taxation authority shall be deemed to be the purchaser and shall acquire the interest in the land free and clear of all encumbrances or charges.

Redemption period

- (8) At any time within six (6) months after the sale and disposition held pursuant to subsection (2) or (4), the tax debtor may redeem his/her interest in the land by paying to the Tax Administrator the full amount of all taxes for which the interests were disposed, together with all taxes which have subsequently fallen due and the reasonable costs incurred by the taxing authority in disposing of the interest.
- (9) If upon the expiration of the redemption period provided by subsection (8), any portion of the taxes remains outstanding, the disposition of the interests shall be considered final and with Ministerial consent, the purchaser shall obtain title to the interest in land. The Tax Administrator shall certify the transfer in the form provided in Schedule XIV and shall register it in one or both registries and shall serve it on the tax debtor.

- (10) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (9), the purchaser shall be substituted for the tax debtor as the holder of the interest in land, and in addition to any other obligations, shall be liable for all future taxes assessed against that interest.
- (11) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (9), any surplus resulting from the sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsection (2) or (4), after deducting all outstanding taxes of the tax debtor, including reasonable costs and charges arising from the sale and disposition, shall be returned to the tax debtor. In the event that the Tax Administrator is uncertain who is entitled to such surplus the Tax Administrator shall pay such money into court by way of interpleader action.
- (12) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (9), any remaining debt of the tax debtor with respect to that interest in land, including all reasonable costs and charges arising from the sale and disposition, shall be extinguished.
- (13) If pursuant to subsections (7) and (9) the Band has become the owner of the interest in land, the Tax Administrator may sell such within ninety (90) days for not less than the upset price set pursuant to subsection (6).

Cancellation of Interest Held by Taxpayer

Notice of Cancellation

- **64.**(1) If the taxes or any part thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1) has expired, Council may authorize the Tax Administrator to proceed by way of cancellation of the interest. The Tax Administrator shall serve a Notice of Cancellation of the tax debtor's interest in land in the form of Schedule XV.
- (2) The Tax Administrator shall mail a copy of the notice referred to in subsection (1) to every place where the interest is registered.
- (3) Where taxes are not paid before June 30 of the year following the taxation year in which they were imposed or within six (6) months after the specified period if enforcement proceedings are postponed under subsection 60.1(1), Council may direct the Tax Administrator to cancel the lease, licence or permit to occupy the interest in land. The Tax Administrator shall certify the cancellation in the form provided in Schedule XVI to this By-law and shall register it in the registers.

(4) Upon cancellation of the tax debtor's interest and with the consent with the Minister the Taxation Authority shall acquire the interest in the land free and clear of all encumbrances or charges.

Forfeiture of Property

Forfeiture of property **65.**(1) Notwithstanding any other action for the recovery of taxes set out in this By-law, if any taxes remain unpaid twenty-four (24) months after the mailing of the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60, the tax debtor's interest in land in respect of which the taxes remain unpaid shall, subject to subsections (2), (3), (4) and (5), be absolutely forfeited.

Notice of forfeiture

- (2) The tax debtor's interest in land shall be forfeited under subsection (1) forty (40) days after the Tax Administrator serves a Notice of Forfeiture pursuant to subsection (4) in the form set out in Schedule XVII on the tax debtor and on anyone else who may be in lawful possession of the interest in land.
- (3) Prior to serving the Notice of Forfeiture pursuant to subsection (4), the Tax Administrator shall obtain authorization from Council to proceed by forfeiture.

Contents of Notice of Forfeiture

- (4) The Notice of Forfeiture shall state
- (a) that the interest in land held by the tax debtor is subject to forfeiture under this section:
- (b) the amount of all taxes, costs and fees due and payable on the date of the notice;
- (c) the date on which the interest in land held by the tax debtor will forfeit;
- (d) that the tax debtor has the right to prevent forfeiture by payment under this section; and
- (e) that on forfeiture under this section, the interest held by the tax debtor in the Reserve will be forfeited clear of all charges except those third party interests which otherwise attach to the interest in land.
- (5) The Notice of Forfeiture shall be mailed to the tax debtor's last known address or to the address of the person specified in the records of the Taxation Authority.
- (6) Where any taxes remain unpaid on December 31 of the second year after the calendar year in which they were imposed,

payment of those taxes does not prevent forfeiture unless the payment

- (a) includes all taxes then due and payable;
- (b) includes reasonable costs incurred by the taxation authority in the forfeiture proceedings; and
- is made before forfeiture occurs under this section.
- (7) With the consent of the Minister, the Tax Administrator shall certify, in the form set out in Schedule XVIII to this By-law, that the interest in land held by the tax debtor has been forfeited and the Registrar shall record the document cancelling the tax debtor's interest in the registers.-
- (8) Upon forfeiture of the tax debtor's interest in land the Taxation Authority shall acquire the interest in the land free and clear of all encumbrances or charges.

Absconding Taxpayer

Collection proceedings

66. Where the Tax Administrator has reasonable grounds to believe that the Taxpayer intends to remove his/her goods from the Reserve, or intends to dismantle or remove his/her improvements on Reserve, or take any other actions which may preclude or impede the collection of outstanding taxes owing pursuant to this By-law, the Tax Administrator shall apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for remedy, notwithstanding the fact that the time for payment of taxes has not yet expired.

Discontinuance of Services

Discontinuance of services

67. If the taxes or any part thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1), Council may authorize that any services provided by the Band or pursuant to any contract with the Band, to the tax debtor or to the interest in land assessed pursuant to this By-law be discontinued. A Notice of Discontinuance of Services in the form of Schedule XIX shall be delivered to the tax debtor thirty (30) days prior to such discontinuance, and shall include the date, time and place within that thirty (30) days when the tax debtor may appear before Council to show cause as to why the services should not be discontinued and Council shall determine whether or not it will discontinue such services.

PART XVII

SERVICE AND LOCAL IMPROVEMENT CHARGES

Establishment of service and local improvement charges

- **68.**(1) Council may by by-law impose service and local improvement charges applicable to a part of the Reserve (hereinafter in this part called the "area") to raise money for the following purposes:
 - (a) the construction or installation of a highway, lane, sidewalk, boulevard, sanitary or storm sewer, irrigation work, street lights, water supply system, parking facility, gas supply system, drain, or other works that benefit property in the area;
 - (b) the maintenance, operation, repair or construction of works;
 - (c) the cutting of grass or weeds or the trimming of trees or shrubbery on any highway, lane or other public place;
 - (d) the suppression of dust on any highway, lane, or other public place;
 - (e) the collection and disposal of garbage;
 - (f) the collection and disposal of night soil or the contents of sewage holding tanks; and
 - (g) notwithstanding subsections 1(a) to (f) inclusive, such other projects for the maintenance, improvement or repair of properties within the area as Council may determine to be necessary or beneficial.
- (2) In this Part, "charge" means a local improvement charge and a service charge.
- (3) A charge shall be based on the actual or estimated annual cost of the local improvement or service and shall be levied at
 - (a) a uniform rate; or
 - (b) rates for each class of property based on:
 - (i) the number of lineal feet along the fronting or abutting lands,
 - (ii) the area determined by the fronting or abutting lands,
 - (iii) the number of dwelling-units or commercial or industrial occupancies on the lands served, or

- (iv) the estimated or actual use or consumption of the service by occupants of the lands served.
- (v) If some areas of land in respect of which a local improvement charge is to be imposed appear to call for a smaller or larger proportionate share of the charge because they are differently sized or shaped from other areas of land, those areas may be assigned the number of units of measurement the Council considers appropriate to ensure that they will bear a fair portion of the local improvement charge.
- (4) The costs levied shall include engineering and advertising expenses, interest and carrying costs, sinking-fund or amortization costs, banking and legal fees, administration costs and any other expenses incidental to initiating and carrying out the work.

Notice of charges

- **69.**(1) Before imposing a charge, Council shall give at least fifteen (15) days notice by
 - (a) publishing the notice prior to the meeting referred to in section 70 in a newspaper of general circulation on the Reserve, if any;
 - (b) posting the notice in the band administration offices and in prominent locations on the Reserve; and
 - (c) sending the notice by registered mail, in the form set out in Schedule XX, to affected holders or occupiers who are not resident on the Reserve and providing the locatee with a copy of the notice.
- (2) It shall be sufficient notice under paragraph (1)(c) if the address in the current assessment roll is used.
 - (3) The notice shall state
 - (a) the intention of Council to have the work performed and to levy the charge;
 - (b) the area in respect of which the charge is to be levied;
 - the rate at which the charge will be levied; and
 - (d) that Council shall hold a public meeting to consider written and oral representations.

Hearing of representations

- **70.**(1) On the date and at the time and place set out in the notice referred to in section 69, Council shall sit and receive and hear representations.
- (2) Council shall not proceed with the charge until after it holds public meetings to consider representations.
- (3) Where Council imposes a charge, it need not give notice in each succeeding year, unless it proposes to amend the by-law that imposes the charge.
- (4) A uniform increase, not exceeding ten (10) per cent, in the rate of a charge because of an increase in actual or estimated cost shall be deemed not to be an amendment to the by-law that imposes the charge.
- **71.**(1) The Tax Administrator shall keep separate accounts for money raised by each charge under this Part.
- (2) Council shall expend the money raised under this Part, and any interest that has accrued on that money, for the purpose and within the area stated in the implementing by-law.
- **72.**(1) Charges under this Part shall be administered and enforced under this By-law in the same manner as taxes.
- (2) For greater certainty charges are a special lien under Part XVI.
- (3) The roll for a charge may be part of or a supplement to the assessment roll.

PART XVIII

GENERAL AND MISCELLANEOUS

Interpretation

- **73.**(1) Nothing under this By-law shall be rendered void or invalid, nor shall the liability of any person to pay tax or any other amount under this By-law be affected by
 - (a) an error or omission in a valuation or a valuation based solely on information in the hands of an Assessor or the Tax Administrator;
 - (b) an error or omission in an assessment roll, tax notice, or any notice hereunder; or
 - (c) a failure of the Taxation Authority to do something within the required time.

- 74. A finding by a court that a provision of this By-law is void or invalid shall not affect the validity or invalidity of the rest of the By-law.
- 75. Where a provision in this By-law is expressed in the present tense, the provision applies to the circumstances as they arise.

Limitation period

76. No action or proceeding for the return of money paid to the Band, whether under protest or otherwise, on account of a demand, whether valid or invalid, made for tax or any amount under this By-law shall be commenced after the expiration of six (6) months from the making of the payment but the payment shall be deemed to have been voluntarily made.

Extension of time

77. Council may, by band council resolution, extend for a maximum of thirty (30) days the time in which anything is required to be done under this By-law and anything done within this period of time is as valid as if it had been done within the time otherwise provided for by this By-law.

Delivery of notices

78. Where personal service is not required, any notice delivered by the Tax Administrator or person acting under his direction to a post office or a person authorized by the Canada Post Corporation to receive mail is deemed to have been delivered to the addressee.

By-law remedial

79. This By-law shall be construed as being remedial and shall be given such fair, large and liberal construction and interpretation as best ensures the attainment of its objects.

Headings

- **80.**(1) Headings form no part of the enactment, but shall be construed as being inserted for convenience of reference only.
- (2) The schedules attached in the addendum shall be construed as being a guide for administrative purposes only.

Coming into force

81. This By-law shall come into force and effect on approval by the Minister.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on June 7, 2002.

[Victoria Arcand] Chief Victoria Arcand

[Armand Arcand]	[Herb R. Arcand]
Councillor Armand Arcand	Councillor Herb R. Arcand
[Martin Arcand] Councillor Martin Arcand	[Sylvia Arcand] Councillor Sylvia Arcand
[Howard Auigbelle]	[Don Kootenay]
Councillor Howard Auigbelle	Councillor Don Kootenay

SCHEDULE I

(section 13)

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION

TO:	
ADDRESS:	
RE:	
	(description of interest in land)
Taxation By-la resolution mad	etion 13 of the <i>Alexander First Nation Property Assessment and</i> w, and pursuant to the authority vested in me by band council e on the day of, 20, I hereby request to me, in writing, information concerning the following matters:
1.	
2.	
3.	
requested, it w	sed that if you do not provide me with accurate information as ill be necessary for me to carry out my assessment on the basis of mation I may have in my possession.
	Yours truly.

Assessor

SCHEDULE II

(section 17)

CLASSES OF PROPERTY

- (a) class 1 residential;
- (b) class 2 non-residential;
- (c) class 3 farm land;
- (d) class 4 machinery and equipment;
- (e) class 5 linear property.

SCHEDULE III

(section 24, Part IX)

NOTICE OF ASSESSMENT

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:		(description	n of interest in land)	
dated thenoted interest in pursuant to the . Name(s):	day of n land the follow	ying person(s)	en adopted by band and that in reson is/are liable to pay	pect of the above- y any taxes levied
The assessed va	alue of the	(classificatio	land: improv	vements:
The assessed va	alue of exempt lalue of exempt i		:	
TOTAL ASSES	SSED VALUE:			
TOTAL NET T	AXABLE VAL	UE:		
this assessment liability to asses or omission. Th or his or her ag	notice, appeal to ssment, assessed the Notice of Appent, and must so be sent. The No	o the Assessm value, assessme to eal must be in the tout a mailin	y (30) days of the open Review Commonent classification of writing and signed g address to which all may be mailed to	nittee in respect of or an alleged error d by the appellant a all notices to the
DATED AT		this	day of	, 20
			Tax Administ	rator

SCHEDULE IV

(section 33)

APPEAL TO ASSESSMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE

PURSUANT to the provisions of the *Alexander First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law*, I hereby appeal the assessment of the following interest in land:

(description of the business and location)

on the following grounds:			
1.			
2.			
3.			
4.			
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
Printed name of Appellant		Appellant's signature	
Address to wh	ich all notices t	to appellant are to be sent	
To: Assessment Review Co	ommittee		
c/o			
(office	e of the assesso	r)	

SCHEDULE V

(subsection 38(3))

NOTICE OF HEARING

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:	(description	of interest in land)
assessment requested relating to the above——— day of	ne Assessment Review (in Schedule IV dated the noted interest in land, 20 that you should bring to eal.	at	, 20 _ (a.m./p.m.) on the
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	Chairperson Assessment R	eview Commi	ttee

SCHEDULE VI

(section 39)

REQUEST FOR ATTENDANCE

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
_				
		(descripti	spect to the assessm on of interest in land eview Committee.	
			e the Assessment Re	aview Committee
	-		day of	
			ence concerning the	
			ossession that may	
DATED AT		this	day of	, 20
		Chairperson	n	
		Assessmen	t Review Committe	e

SCHEDULE VII

(section 42)

TAX NOTICE

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:	(descriptio	n of interest in land)	
PURSUANT to the provision and Taxation By-law, taxes i with respect to the above-no are due and payable forthwit	n the amount of oted interest in	fa land, and take notice	re hereby levied e that said taxes
The name(s) and address(es follows:	s) of the person	(s) liable to pay the	taxes is(are) as
Assessed value	s		
Taxes (current year)			
Arrears			
Interest			
Total Payable	\$		
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	— Т	av Administrator	_

arising

SCHEDULE VIII

(section 57)

COSTS PAYABLE BY A TAXPAYER ARISING FROM ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS

1. For preparation of and serving any and all notices \$35.00 per notice required by Part XVI on the Taxpayer, Tax Debtor or any other person, newspaper or on any property, etc.: 2. For attending, investigating, taking inventory, \$40.00 per hour cataloguing, or seizing property, and preparing and conducting a Sale by Distress, for each person involved: 3. For drafting, filing and executing a lien or encumbrance: \$150.00 For sale of improvements or disposition of interests \$40.00 per hour in reserve land, including attending, investigating, taking inventory, cataloguing, preparing and executing a Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest on Reserve, for each person involved: \$10.00 per 5. For issuing and registering any and all certificates certificate required by Part XVI: For disbursements, including without limiting as and when

photocopying (\$.30 per page), advertising, storage fees, etc.:

SCHEDULE IX

(subsection 58(2))

CERTIFICATION OF DEBT OWING BY THE TAXPAYER

PURSUANT to the Alexa	ınder First Nation	Property Assessme	nt and Taxation			
By-law, I	, Tax A	dministrator of the	Alexander First			
Nation, certify that \$						
due and owing by	(Taxpayer) with res					
	_ (description of in	nterest in land).				
Attached hereto is a copy First Nation that refers	to the property t	axes that are due a	and payable by			
(description of interest in		1				
DATED AT	4la i a	J £	20			
DATED AT	tnis	day of	, 20			
	-	Fax Administrator				

SCHEDULE X

(section 60)

DEMAND FOR PAYMENT AND NOTICE OF ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS

TO: _					
ADDRESS: _					
RE: _		(descr	iption of interest	in land)	
the notice of tax	es served on yo e Alexander Fi	day on the day of t	of respect to the n HEREBY l	_ , 20 above-no DEMAND	_ , prescribed by sted property has OS IMMEDIATE ring:
Taxes: Interest: Other costs: Total outstanding	g tax debt:	\$ \$			_
within thirty (30)	days from the d ation Authority	ate of thi for the e	s Demand ma	y result in	entioned tax debt procedures being ion of such debt.
detailed procedur is due and owing property, includir on-going service that may be used	es allowing for a second personal prosonal prosonal prosonal provide by the Tax Adminent and Taxation	the enforement an perty loc d to your inistrator on By-la	cement and co d collection pated on this pare property. The rare set out in	ollection of orocedures oroperty are remedies the <i>Alexan</i>	By-law contains f a tax debt which may affect your nd may affect the s and procedures and procedures wailable from the
DATED AT		_ this	da _:	y of	, 20
			Tax Administ	rator	-

SCHEDULE XI

(sections 61 and 62)

NOTICE OF DISTRESS

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:	(description	of interest in land)	
\$ of seven (7) day pursuant to sub	E THAT failure to pay the outs with respect to the above-noted by after the date of this notice section 61(3) of the <i>Alexander y-law</i> , seizing by distress the page 15.	d property on or befo will result in the Ta r First Nation Prop	ore the expiration x Administrator perty Assessment
(a gen	eral description of the property	y which has been as	ssessed)
upon the expira notice being po will result in the the Tax Admin	R TAKE NOTICE THAT fail tion of the seven (7) days set of sted at the locations on reserv e seizure of such property, whi istrator, at your cost, such cost ng, until the tax debt is paid.	ut above, will result e where the proper ich will be held in t	in a copy of this ty is located and he possession of
First Nation Proproceedings in 60 (sixty) days	R TAKE NOTICE THAT pursuapperty Assessment and Taxation a court of competent jurisdictifrom the date of such seizure, on both the seizure and the sale of	n By-law, you must on to challenge suc r you will be estopp	commence legal th seizure within
after the proper or to commence abandoned the property will be Seized by Distr published for at	TAKE NOTICE THAT upon ty has been seized and the fail to court proceedings as set out property seized and the Tax A to sold by public auction. A collection will be posted on your properties least seven (7) days in the to the course of general local circles.	dure to pay the outs above, you will be dministrator may a opy of the Notice of perty located on rese	tanding tax debta deemed to have uthorize that the of Sale of Goods erve, and will be newspaper
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		Tax Administ	rator

SCHEDULE XII

(section 62)

NOTICE OF SALE OF GOODS SEIZED BY DISTRESS

SCHEDULE XIII

(subsections 63(1) and 63(4))

NOTICE OF SALE OF IMPROVEMENTS AND DISPOSITION OF INTEREST IN LAND

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:		(description	of improvements)	
-		(description	of interest in land)	
above-noted pr sixty (60) days for the Alexand the improvement public auction (Improvements a be published in	after the date of der First Nation I ents located on the fortender) of the and Disposition of the sposition, and share and sposition, and share after the sposition and share after the sposition and share after the date of the sposition and share after the sposition after the sposition after the sposition and share after the sposition and share after the sposition after the s	this notice vectorial	tstanding taxes wit, on or before to will result in the Ta le by public auction ted property and a interest on the Reset the wspaper for seven on the above-noted	he expiration to ax Administrator on (or tender) of a disposition by erve. The Sale of Reserve shall (7) days prior to
the above-noted interest in land for which the intaxes which have the above months any amount disposition	d sale and dispose by paying to the improvements were re subsequently far e-noted sale and dount of the taxes r of the interest wil	ition, you me Tax Adminite sold and the len due, inclusions of the lisposition. If the remain outstall be declared	e expiration of six ay redeem your im istrator the full amore interest disposed, uding without restriction of the expiration and the sale of the final, and the purch your interest in land	provements and ount of all taxes together with all cting, the cost of n of those six (6) he improvements haser shall obtain
you will be requ	nired to immediated in the improvem	ely vacate the	nd disposition bein e property, and any r the Reserve land wi	ights or interests
DATED AT		_ this	day of	, 20
			Tax Administrator	 r

SCHEDULE XIV

(section 63)

CERTIFICATION OF SALE AND DISPOSITION OF INTEREST ON RESERVE

RE:			
	(description	of interest in land)	
	(description	n of improvements)	
I,			
Nation, hereby certify the			
pay the outstanding tax	debt on the above-noted	d interest on Reserve	, that interest has
been disposed of by pu	blic auction (or tender)	and the above-note	d improvements
have been sold by publi	ic auction (or tender) pu	rsuant to section 63	of the <i>Alexander</i>
First Nation Property A pursuant to subsection		*	01
the holder of the above	-noted interest in land	:	
(n	ame and address of pu	rchaser at sale)	
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
			_
	Tax	Administrator	

SCHEDULE XV

(subsection 64(1))

NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OF INTEREST IN LAND

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:		(description of in	nterest in land)	
with respect to (6) months from the Reserve. Th	ETHAT failure to p the above-noted in in the date of this no ne failure to pay su or permit) which	terest in land will otice, in the cance och taxes is a brea	result, upon the ellation of such in ach of the	expiration of six nterest in land on
interest in land	ellation of such inte on reserve, and ar (lease, licen	ny rights or intere	ests which you a	acquired through
DATED AT		_ this	day of	, 20
		Toy Adm		

SCHEDULE XVI

(section 64)

CERTIFICATION OF CANCELLATION OF INTEREST IN LAND

RE:			
	(description	n of interest in land)	
I,	that the above-mention celled or terminated <i>Property Assessment</i> of	ned interest in land of pursuant to subsection and Taxation By-law	on the Alexander ton 64(3) of the as a result of the
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		Tax Administrator	

SCHEDULE XVII

(subsection 65(2))

NOTICE OF FORFEITURE

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:	(description	on of interest in land)	
Assessment an	CE THAT taxes imposed by nd Taxation By-law for the have been outstanding the above-noted interest on the	above-noted interests ag for two (2) years	est in the years and pursuant to
The amount of follows:	all taxes which are due and	payable to the date of	f this notice is as
(itemized	statement of all taxes includi	ng interest, penalties,	, costs, etc.)
are paid in full you hold in thi Alexander Firs Band clear of a	ER TAKE NOTICE THAT unlon or before the fortieth day a is property will be absolutely at Nation. Upon such forfeiturall charges except those rights which attach to that Reserve	fter the date of this not and unconditionally e, your interest in land of way, easements or	otice, the interest forfeited to the d will vest in the
December 1 of	ER TAKE NOTICE THAT the second year after the cale of those taxes does not prevent	ndar year in which the	y were imposed,
(i) inclu	ides all taxes then due and pa	yable; and	
(ii) is ma	ade before forfeiture.		
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		Tax Administrator	

SCHEDULE XVIII

(subsection 65(7))

CERTIFICATION OF FORFEITURE

RE:			
	(description	of interest in land)	
I,hereby certify that resu	alting from the failure	of	
(Tax Debtor) to pay the	•	-	
in land in the Alexande First Nation pursuant to	sections and _		
Property Assessment a	nd Taxation By-law.		
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	Tax	Administrator	

SCHEDULE XIX

(section 67)

NOTICE OF DISCONTINUANCE OF SERVICES

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:		(description of i	nterest in land)	
outstanding for before thirty (3 Council and sh	E THAT the taxes r months, 80) days after the cown cause as set of e discontinued:	, and that unless date of this Noti	payment in full ice, or you have	is received on or appeared before
	(list serv	rices to be discor	ntinued)	
Council schedu	ER TAKE NOTIC	day of	, 20	_ at
o'clock, at the	administration off y the services show	ice, (within the	30 days set out a	bove) and show
DATED AT		_ this	day of	, 20
		Tax Adr	ninistrator	

SCHEDULE XX

(paragraph 69(1)(c))

NOTICE OF HEARING

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:			
	(specify proposed service	ce or local improvement	charge)
(location) on the _	AT Council shall hold a p	, 20	, at
	representations from affect service/local improver	1 .	ith respect to the
	CE THAT you may all be considered at the sai		ncil any written
DATED AT	this	day of	20

Council

MIKISEW CREE FIRST NATION 2003 TAX RATES BY-LAW

[Effective May 13, 2003]

WHEREAS the Mikisew Cree First Nation Chief and Council have been elected to represent and empowered to act on behalf of the constituents of the Mikisew Cree First Nation; and

WHEREAS the Powers and Authorities of the Council are exercised as provided for under the *Indian Act*; and

WHEREAS the liabilities of Council are limited to those specifically provided for under the *Indian Act*; and

WHEREAS pursuant to subsection 83(l)(a) of the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, the Council of a band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, including rights to occupy, possess or use land in a reserve and with respect to any matters arising out of or ancillary to such purpose;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Mikisew Cree First Nation enacted the *Mikisew Cree First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law* on June 24, 1997;

NOW BE IT THEREBY RESOLVED the following by-law be and is hereby enacted pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular section 83(1) for the purpose of establishing annual rates of taxation.

- 1. This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the *Mikisew Cree First Nation* 2003 Tax Rates By-law.
- **2.** Pursuant to section 11 of the *Mikisew Cree First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law*, the rate of tax applied against the assessed value of the land and improvements for tax year 2003 shall be 1.50%.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on March 11, 2003.

The quorum for this First Nation consists of four (4) Council members.

[Archie W	^r aquan]
Chief Archie	e Waquan
[Steve Courtoreille]	[Matthew Lepine]
Councillor Steve Courtoreille	Councillor Matthew Lepine

[Marina Whiteknife]
Councillor Marina Whiteknife
[Rosemarie Mercredi]
Councillor Rosemarie Mercredi

O'CHIESE FIRST NATION 2002 TAX RATES BY-LAW

[Effective October 10, 2002]

WHEREAS pursuant to subsection 83(1)(a) of the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, the Council of a band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, including rights to occupy, possess or use land in a reserve and with respect to any matters arising out of or ancillary to such purpose;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the O'Chiese First Nation enacted the O'Chiese Property Assessment and Taxation By-law on October 5, 1998;

NOW BE IT THEREBY RESOLVED that the following by-law be and is hereby enacted pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular section 83(1) for the purpose of establishing annual rates of taxation.

- **1.** This By-law may be cited for all purposes as the *O'Chiese First Nation* 2002 *Tax Rates By-law*.
- **2.** Pursuant to section 11 of the *O'Chiese Property Assessment and Taxation By-law*, the rate of tax applied against each \$1000 of the assessed value of property shall be 1.45%.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on _[July 22/02] _ , 2002.

[Chi	ef Danny Bradshaw] Chief	_
[Cedric Whiteford]		[Roy Bremner]
Councillor		Councillor
[Leslie Yellowface]		[Martin Ironbow]
Councillor		Councillor

BLUEBERRY RIVER INDIAN BAND FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 01-2002

[Effective January 14, 2003]

A by-law to regulate the receipt, management, and expenditure of Blueberry River Indian Band funds and establish the administrative structure of the Blueberry River Indian Band;

WHEREAS section 83 of the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, provides that Council may, subject to the approval of the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development, make by-laws for the following purposes:

- the appropriation and expenditure of moneys of the Blueberry River Indian Band to defray the Blueberry River Indian Band expenses;
- the appointment of officials to conduct the business of the Council and prescribing their duties; and
- with respect to any matter arising out of or ancillary to the exercise of the aforementioned power;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Blueberry River Indian Band has determined that it is desirable and necessary that a financial management by-law be established for the purposes set out in subsection 83(1) of the *Indian Act* and for the better administration of the Blueberry River Indian Band's business;

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Blueberry River Indian Band at a duly convened meeting of the Council enacts the following by-law.

TITLE

1. This By-law may be called the *Financial Administration By-law*.

DEFINITIONS

- 2. In this By-law,
- "Administrator" means the Blueberry Indian Band's most senior office administrator or manager;
- "agencies" means any board, tribunal, commission, committee of the Blueberry River Indian Band:
- "annual budget" means the forecast of planned expenditures for the forthcoming fiscal year by the Blueberry River Indian Band;
- "agreement" means any written contract between the Blueberry River Indian Band and another party or parties, including the federal government, the provincial

- government or a third party, pursuant to which money is to be paid to the Blueberry River Indian Band;
- "Blueberry River Indian Band funds" means all moneys belonging to the Blueberry River Indian Band and includes
 - (a) all revenues of Blueberry River Indian Band;
 - (b) money borrowed by the Blueberry River Indian Band;
 - (c) money received or collected on behalf of the Blueberry River Indian Band;and
 - (d) all moneys that are received or collected by the Blueberry River Indian Band pursuant to any agreement or funding arrangement and is to be disbursed for a purpose specified by Council or pursuant to that agreement or funding arrangement;

but does not include

- (e) money received by the Blueberry River Indian Band on behalf of an individual or corporate entity, where Council has approved an alternative arrangement for the managing of the money pursuant to section 74 of this By-law;
- "Board" shall mean the Blueberry River Indian Band Treasury Board established pursuant to this By-law;
- "Council" shall mean the Chief and Council of the Blueberry River Indian Band;
- "department" means an administrative division of the Blueberry River Indian Band Government as established from time to time by Council and includes service centres, administrative units and other internal organizational units of the Blueberry River Indian Band administration;
- "resolution" means a decision made at a meeting of a quorum of Council.

APPLICATION

- **3.** This By-law governs the receipt, management and expenditure of Blueberry River Indian Band funds and the administrative organization of the Blueberry River Indian Band to manage the funds.
- **4.** This By-law applies to all Blueberry River Indian Band departments and agencies. All or portions of this By-law may be adopted by any corporate body controlled by the Blueberry River Indian Band including a society, non-profit corporation or business corporation.

TREASURY BOARD

- **5.** A Treasury Board of the Blueberry River Indian Band is hereby established and shall continue in existence notwithstanding changes in its membership from time to time.
- **6.** The Board shall consist of five (5) members appointed by the Council from time to time with one (1) member being the Administrator.
- 7. Two (2) of the members of the Board shall be members of the Council and one of those members will be the Chief of the Blueberry River Indian Band.
 - **8.** The Chairman shall be the Administrator.

458

- **9.** The Chairman shall preside over the meetings of the Board and shall, between meetings of the Board, exercise or perform such of the powers, duties or functions of the Board as the Board may determine.
 - **10.** The Board shall be responsible for
 - (a) the management and control of the collection of Blueberry River Indian Band funds;
 - (b) the management and control of the expenditures and disbursements of the Blueberry River Indian Band;
 - (c) the maintenance of records of the financial activities of the Blueberry River Indian Band:
 - (d) the preparation of the annual budget in accordance with the priorities approved by Council;
 - (e) the preparation of the annual audit of the Blueberry River Indian Band;
 - (f) the reporting and recommending to Council on financial matters; and
 - (g) all other matters relating to the financial affairs of the Blueberry River Indian Band not assigned by another by-law or Council resolution to any department or agency.
- 11. The Board shall prepare or cause to be prepared any amendment to the annual budget for the Blueberry River Indian Band which shall be submitted to the Council for review and approval.
- **12.** The Board shall maintain or cause to be maintained the financial records of the Blueberry River Indian Band through the Administrator and the managers of the departments or agencies.
- **13.** The Board may prescribe the form and content of the financial records and establish the accounting systems of the Blueberry River Indian Band.
 - **14.** A member of the Treasury Board may be removed from office

- (a) by the Chairman if the member has missed three (3) consecutive scheduled meetings of the Treasury Board;
- (b) by a majority of Council on the recommendation of the Chairman for the member's removal; or
- (c) by a unanimous vote of Council.
- 15. The Administrator shall act as the senior administration officer of the Treasury Board and shall assist the Board in carrying out its duties. The Band Council will articulate the specific nature of the duties of the Administrator and these will include the planning, organizing, implementing and evaluating functions.
- **16.** To facilitate the role and responsibilities of the Administrator a Controller shall be appointed by the Council and is responsible to the Administrator for the following:
 - (a) the conduct of the administration necessary to discharge the administrative responsibilities of the Board, including staff supervision;
 - (b) the administrative supervision of the compilation and preparation of the overall annual budget;
 - (c) the preparation of annual financial statements and long-term financial projections and cash flows as required from time to time by the Board;
 - (d) monitoring adherence to any agreement and funding arrangements entered into by the Blueberry River Indian Band or any department or agency;
 - (e) administration and supervision of the financial records and reporting systems;
 - (f) the maintenance of records of all receipts and expenditures in such a manner so as to facilitate the annual audit; and
 - (g) any other task assigned by the Board.
- 17. The Council shall be responsible for the hiring of the Controller and dismissal of the Controller shall be in accordance with the personnel policies of the Blueberry River Indian Band as established by Council.

COUNCIL'S ROLE

- **18.** The Council shall appoint two (2) Councillors and two (2) persons from the general Blueberry River Indian Band membership to serve as members of the Board for a period consistent with the term of office of the Council.
- 19. The Council shall oversee the preparation of the annual budget and shall approve the annual budget of the Blueberry River Indian Band and any amendments thereto.

- **20.** The Council shall receive and approve the annual audit of the Blueberry River Indian Band.
- 21. The Council may, upon the recommendation of the Board or upon its own motion, approve of an exception to this By-law by an amending by-law in accordance with section 83 of the Indian Act.

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

22. On the recommendation of the Board, the Council may approve the delegation of authority to approve expenditures on behalf of the Blueberry River Indian Band within the annual budget and consistent with the financial organization of the Blueberry River Indian Band.

ANNUAL BUDGET

- 23. The Board shall prepare estimates of the revenues of the Blueberry River Indian Band for the purpose of preparing the annual budget.
- 24. Each department manager and agency manager shall prepare the department or agency's annual budget for the operation of the department or agency and shall submit the budget prepared to the Board which shall prepare a consolidated annual budget for the Blueberry River Indian Band.
- 25. The Board shall submit the annual budget for the Blueberry River Indian Band and its agencies to Council for consideration and approval.
- **26.** The Council is solely responsible for the approval of the consolidated annual budget for the Blueberry River Indian Band and its agencies for each fiscal year.
- **27.** Council may increase allocations of funds in the budget, reduce allocations of funds, or reallocate funds to different sectors in the annual budget.
- 28. The annual budget becomes official upon approval by the Council by resolution.
- **29.** Council may amend the annual budget at any time before or after its implementation.
- **30.** The annual budget shall be made available during regular working hours for inspection by any member of the Blueberry River Indian Band, and copies are to be provided to Blueberry River Indian Band members on written request to the Controller upon payment of a twenty-five (\$25.00) dollar fee.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: DEPOSITS

31. There shall be one Consolidated Account established by the Controller at the direction of the Treasury Board into which all Blueberry River Indian Band funds shall be deposited.

- **32.** The Controller shall ensure the safekeeping of the Blueberry River Indian Band funds received and shall forthwith deposit all Blueberry River Indian Band funds to the credit of the Blueberry River Indian Band Consolidated Account.
- **33.** The Board may authorize the Controller to reallocate funds from the Blueberry River Indian Band Consolidated Account to other accounts for investment purposes or program and services delivery.
 - **34.** Funds in the Consolidated Account shall be administered by the Controller.
- **35.** The interest earned on the Blueberry River Indian Band funds shall be paid to the Consolidated Account.
- **36.** Operating surpluses as of the end of the fiscal year shall be paid into the Consolidated Account and allocated or expended in accordance with the direction of Council.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: EXPENDITURES

- **37.** All payments and financial commitments shall be in accordance with the annual budget or in accordance with Council resolution.
- **38.** The Board may make accountable advances from the Consolidated Account to an account administered by a department or agency manager on a monthly basis according to the approved annual budget.
- **39.** At the beginning of each fiscal year, each department and agency manager may receive a one (1) month advance or in such amount as determined by annual budget and the cash flow approved annual budget.
- **40.** Where funds have been advanced to a department or agency, the department and agency managers shall report to the Board on the last day of the following month
 - (a) an invoice listing the funds expended in the previous month; and
 - (b) a trial balance of the receipts and disbursements for the previous month.
- **41.** The invoice listing submitted to the Board shall be reviewed and approved by the Board if reasonably within the approved budget and upon such approval further advance for the next month shall be made to the department or agency.
- **42.** The Board shall deduct from the current month's advance any amounts advanced in prior months which exceed the amount of the expenditures as recorded in the trial balance.
- **43.** The Board may make such adjustments as are required in the last month of the fiscal year to close out the final payment for the year.

FINANCIAL REPORTING: INVOICING

- **44.** No payment shall be made for the performances of work, supply of goods or rendering of services unless the charge in respect of such work, goods or services has been authorized
 - (a) pursuant to a Council resolution;

462

- (b) by a person delegated to authorize such payment; or
- (c) pursuant to an agreement entered into between the Blueberry River Indian Band and the person providing such work, goods or services which establishes the amount, or a method of calculating the amount, to be charged for such work, goods or services.
- **45.** For all work, goods or services that are provided by or through the Blueberry River Indian Band or any other person on behalf of the Blueberry River Indian Band for a fee or other charge, an invoice shall be rendered for payment for the work, goods or services.
- **46.** The Administrator, department or agency manager each have a role in ensuring invoices are rendered pursuant to this By-law.

AWARDING OF CONTRACTS

- **47.** The Council may appoint by resolution the department or agency managers and other persons as authorized to approve the purchase of goods and services. Any expenditures in the awarding of contracts must receive the prior approval of the Band Council.
- **48.** All orders for work, goods or services provided to the Blueberry River Indian Band must be recommended to Council by the department or agency manager authorized to approve the purchase of goods or services.
- **49.** Each order for work, goods or services over \$15,000 or such greater amounts as approved by Council, unless approved in the annual budget, shall, in addition to the signature of the department or agency manager, require attestation by the Controller as to availability of funds.

TENDERS

- **50.** Capital purchases or expenditures up to \$15,000 or such greater amounts as approved by Council may be made by a department or agency manager if approved in the annual budget without going to tender.
- **51.** Capital purchases or expenditures over \$15,000 must receive the prior approval of Council, notwithstanding that they are in an approved budget.
- **52.** Capital purchases or expenditures in excess of \$500,000 will be made by public tender unless the Council determines otherwise.

- **53.** In emergency situations telephone bids up to \$20,000 or such greater amount as approved by Council may be accepted by a department or agency manager providing a written confirmation follows from the bidder and a record of telephone bids is filed.
 - **54.** Invitations to tender shall include
 - (a) the time and date of closing;
 - (b) sufficient details from which comparable bids can be made;
 - (c) the time, date, and place tenders are to be opened; and
 - (d) amount of security deposit if required.
- **55.** The tendering period is not to be less than five (5) working days, unless in an emergency situation.
- **56.** All tenders are to be returned sealed and addressed to the Blueberry River Indian Band, clearly marked "Tendered for _____" and the time and date of receipt is to be recorded on the unopened envelope of tender when received.
- **57.** All tenders received shall be opened in public in the presence of the department or agency manager or other person responsible for the tender process.
- **58.** The name of the tender, project, date of bid and amount shown must be recorded.
- **59.** The lowest tender received shall normally be accepted unless the authorized person deems it in the best interest of the Blueberry River Indian Band to do otherwise.
- **60.** Where the lowest tender is not accepted, the reasons are to be recorded in the document by the authorized person accepting the contract.
- **61.** Upon acceptance of a tender for the performance of work, goods, or services, a contract is to be signed by both parties and shall be kept as a portion of the records of the Blueberry River Indian Band.
- **62.** In the event that an official or employee of the Blueberry River Indian Band has a personal interest in the contract, he or she shall signify the interest and thereafter refrain from taking part in the discussion or participating in the awarding of the contract.
- **63.** No disbursements or payment on any contract shall be made without supporting documentation as determined by the policies of the Board.
- **64.** A fifteen per cent (15%) hold-back of final payment or in such amount as may be determined by Board policy shall not be released to a contractor until all work is certified as complete and satisfactory to the Council.

65. The Board may establish policies and procedures for the tender process.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

464

- **66.** Any person who holds an office, including that of Chief or Councillor, or employment with the Blueberry River Indian Band, its departments or agencies, shall not use that office or employment for personal gain to the determent of the interests of the Blueberry River Indian Band.
- **67.** "Personal gain" shall mean financial benefit for the individual or for the members of his or her immediate family.
- **68.** "Family" shall mean a spouse, including a common-law spouse, children, parent, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, uncle, aunt, grandparent, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, and also includes any relative permanently residing in the person's household.
- **69.** A person may avoid a conflict of interest by disclosing his or her interest prior to the making of a decision and by not participating in the decision.
- **70.** If a person violates the conflict of interest provision Council will, subject to the Blueberry River Indian Band, suspend the employee or official from all privileges and benefits of office or employment for a period up to three (3) weeks.
- **71.** The Board may develop detailed conflict of interest rules which shall govern the administration of financial affairs of the Blueberry River Indian Band which shall take effect upon approval by Council. These detailed conflict of interest rules would support those included under this By-law.
 - **72.** An appeal of suspension or dismissal can be made to the Band Council.

AGREEMENTS

- **73.** The Council may approve on behalf of the Blueberry River Indian Band such agreements of funding arrangements with the federal and provincial governments or with any other party for the provision of funding for the Blueberry River Indian Band, its agencies and other bodies.
- **74.** Where an agreement or arrangement has been approved under section 73 and on the recommendation of the Board, the Council may approve an alternative arrangement for the management of money received.

FISCAL YEAR

75. The fiscal year of the Blueberry River Indian Band Government shall be from April 1 of each year to March 31 in the following year.

AUDIT

- **76.** Council shall appoint by resolution an auditor or auditors annually to audit the books and records of the Blueberry River Indian Band.
- **77.** The auditor or auditors shall be a member of a recognized professional accounting association.
 - **78.** The auditor or auditors shall report to Council.
- **79.** The audit shall include all transactions involving the Blueberry River Indian Band.
 - **80.** The auditor or auditors are entitled to access
 - (a) all books, records, accounts and vouchers;
 - (b) information from any department or agency manager necessary for the completion of the audit;
 - (c) Council resolutions and by-laws;
 - (d) administration and financial regulations;
 - (e) agreements, contracts, and any other related documents.
- **81.** The audit shall be in accordance with generally accepted accounting procedures and shall include a general review of the adequacy of the accounting procedures and systems of control employed to preserve and protect the assets of the Blueberry River Indian Band.
- **82.** The Board shall provide the auditors with instructions concerning the annual audit and, through the Controller, shall assist the auditor or auditors in the completion of the audit.
- **83.** After the review of the annual audit by the Board, the auditor or auditors shall present the annual audit to the Council upon completion of the annual audit.
- **84.** The audited financial statement shall be accepted by the Council by resolution at a meeting and signed by the Chief and such other person as designated by the Council.

PUBLIC

- **85.** Upon receipt of the auditor's report by Council, copies of the report shall be posted in such public places as determined by Council.
- **86.** The Controller shall retain the written report of the auditor, together with the related financial statements and any member of the Blueberry River Indian Band may inspect them during regular office hours and may by himself or through his agent, at his own expense, make a copy of the report or any part of it.

AMENDMENTS AND REPEAL

- 87. A decision made in contravention of this By-law is voidable by vote of a majority of Council.
- 88. Amendment or repeal of this By-law shall be in the manner stipulated by the Indian Act.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on the [28th] day of [October], 2002.

_	[Malcolm Apsassin] Chief	
[Joe Apsassin]		[Wayne Yahey]
Councillor		Councillor

BONAPARTE INDIAN BAND FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION BY-LAW NO. 13, 2002

[Effective November 27, 2002]

WHEREAS the Bonaparte Indian Band Council deem it expedient to regulate the receipt, management, and expenditure of Bonaparte Indian Band funds and establish the administrative structure of the Bonaparte Indian Band which manages funds;

WHEREAS the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, provides that Council may, subject to the approval of the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development, make by-laws for the following purposes:

- The appropriation and expenditure of moneys of the Bonaparte Indian Band to defray the Bonaparte Indian Band expenses;
- The appointment of officials to conduct the business of the Council and prescribing their duties; and
- With respect to any matter arising out of or ancillary to the exercise of the aforementioned power;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Bonaparte Indian Band has determined that it is desirable and necessary that a *Financial Management By-law* be established for the purposes set out in section 83(1) of the *Indian Act* and for the better Administration of the Bonaparte Indian Band business;

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Bonaparte Indian Band at a duly convened meeting of the Council enacts the following by-law.

SHORT TITLE

1. This By-law may be called the *Financial Administration By-law No.13*, 2002.

DEFINITIONS

- 2. In this by-law:
- "agency" means any board, tribunal, commission or committee of the Bonaparte Indian Band or any corporate body controlled by the Bonaparte Indian Band including a society or a non-profit corporation but does not include a business corporation operated for a profit-making purpose;
- "agreement" means any written contract between the Bonaparte Indian Band and another party or parties, including the federal government, the provincial government or a third party, pursuant to which money is to be paid to the Bonaparte Indian Band;

"audit" means the annual audited financial statements of the Bonaparte Indian Band Reporting Entity prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as set out in the Canadian Institute for Chartered Accountants (CICA) Public Sector Accounting Handbook and audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS);

Bonaparte Indian Band Funds means:

- (a) "bank account" means a financial account of the Bonaparte Indian Band held at an accredited financial institution where the funds on account are held to the credit of the Bonaparte Indian Band;
- (b) "Council" means the elected chief and councillors of the Bonaparte Indian Band:
- (c) "employee" means all categories of Bonaparte Indian Band staff, including full-time, part-time, casual, temporary and seasonal employees;
- (d) "program" means an administrative division of the Bonaparte Indian Band as established from time to time by the Council and includes service centres, agencies, administrative units and other internal organizational units of the Bonaparte Indian Band administration;
- (e) "purchase" includes any purchase of goods or services for capital or operating purpose;
- (f) "resolution" means a decision, including a motion, that has been approved by a majority of the Council present at a duly convened meeting of quorum of the Council which is recorded in the minutes of that meeting and may include a document containing the wording of the resolution signed by those who approved the decision.

APPLICATION

- This by-law governs the receipt, management, and expenditure of Bonaparte Indian Band funds and the activities of the administrative organization of the Bonaparte Indian Band which manages the funds.
- (2) This by-law applies to the Bonaparte Indian Band and all of its programs and agencies in receipt of Bonaparte Indian Band funds.

ROLE OF THE COUNCIL

- The Council is responsible for ensuring the effective and efficient administration of the financial resources of the Bonaparte Indian Band for the benefit of the members of the Band.
- (2) Any decision made by the Council for the purposes of this by-law shall be by resolution as defined in this by-law.

- (3) The Council shall receive and approve the annual budget of the Bonaparte Indian Band.
- (4) Notwithstanding section 3, the Council may, for any purpose which the Council deem advisable, approve an amendment to the annual budget.
- (5) The Council shall establish such position, agencies, programs, service areas, authorities or committees as may be necessary for the good administration of Bonaparte Indian Band funds and shall ensure that such bodies have a specified mandate, a clearly defined role, a defined relationship to the Council and appropriate policies and procedures sufficient to ensure the efficient and effective administration of the affairs of the Bonaparte Indian Band.
- (6) The Council shall establish such appeal or review bodies as are necessary to create appeal mechanism in relation to the delivery of services, shall appoint the members of such bodies and shall ensure that such bodies operate according to the rules of natural justice.
- (7) The Council shall ensure that criteria are established for program delivery and such criteria shall include as a minimum the following:
 - (a) formally defined and publicy available benefit schedules specifying applicable rates, conditions and criteria for eligibility;
 - (b) provision for equal treatment of all members of the Band;
 - (c) an impartial process for the appeal of administrative decisions; and
 - (d) procedures to ensure confidentiality of client information.
- (8) The Council shall approve, on behalf of the Bonaparte Indian Band, any agreements or funding arrangements with the federal or provincial governments or with any other party for the provision of funding for the Bonaparte Indian Band its programs, agencies and other bodies.

COUNCIL HONORARIUM

- **5.**(1) Honorarium will be paid monthly in advance to duly elected Council members.
- (2) The budget annual will allocate sufficient funds in the Administration Department portion of the budget.
- (3) Honorarium will be paid to Council members, regardless of their attendance at regular or other scheduled meetings of Council in recognition of their position and availability to address Band members needs on a regular basis.
- (4) The honorarium amount established annually in the budget will be separate from Council's annual travel budget.

- (5) Council members will be able to obtain an advance on their honorarium amounts paid annually to a maximum of two months once during the year.
- (6) Council honorarium amounts are with the adoption of this by-law set at \$1200 per month.
 - (7) The process for all future Council honorarium increases are as follows:
 - (a) Resolution from Council at a duly advertised and constituted regular meeting of Council recommending an honorarium increase amount requesting a financial report from the Administrator.
 - (b) Financial report to be received from the Administrator on the source and availability of funding for the anticipated increase.
 - (c) The anticipated and recommended honorarium increase amount by Council will be put to the Band membership in the form of a referendum question to be worded as follows:

"Are you in favor	of the Council	Honorarium increase from	ı a
month to	a month"	YES/NO	

The band members eligible to vote on this question will be those on record at the date of the referendum question date to be decided by Council resolution and to be successful the referendum question must receive a simple majority of the votes cast. The referendum will be conducted by a third party contracted by the Band and all costs will be charged to the election code allocated for the purpose in the annual budget.

(d) The results of the referendum question are binding on Council until the completion of Council's term.

ADMINISTRATOR

- The Administrator shall act as the senior official of the Bonaparte **6.**(1) Indian Band and shall assist the Council to carry out its duties.
 - (2) The Administrator shall be responsible for the following:
 - (a) the conduct of the administration necessary to discharge the responsibilities of the Council;
 - (b) establishing the financial administration system of the Bonaparte Indian Band with the approval of the Council and prescribing the form and content of the financial records to be used;
 - (c) receiving Bonaparte Indian Band funds;
 - (d) monitoring the expenditure of Bonaparte Indian Band funds;

- (e) ensuring the performance of such accounting functions as are necessary for the efficient and effective administration of Bonaparte Indian Band affairs;
- (f) ensuring the maintenance of the financial records of the Bonaparte Indian Band in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as defined by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA);
- (g) preparing the overall annual budget in accordance with priorities approved by the Council;
- (h) preparing any amendment to the annual budget for the Bonaparte Indian Band and submitting it to the Council for review and approval;
- (i) the preparation of long-term financial projections and cash flows;
- (j) the monitoring of adherence to any agreements and funding arrangements entered into by the Bonaparte Indian Band or any of its service areas or agencies;
- (k) the administration and supervision of the financial record keeping and reporting systems;
- (l) overseeing the preparation of the annual audit of the Bonaparte Indian Band;
- (m) making recommendations to the Council on financial matters; and
- (n) attending to other matters relating to the affairs of the Bonaparte Indian Band as directed by the Council;
- (o) establishing where necessary for the assistance of efficient operations petty cash funds up to an amount of \$500 which will be audited on a regular basis by the Administrator.
- (3) The Administrator, subject to the responsibilities prescribed by this by-law and the policies and procedures established in this by-law, shall follow the general administrative policies established by the Council for the Bonaparte Indian Band Administration.
- (4) The Administrator shall be hired in accordance with the personnel policies and procedures established by the Council for the employees of the Bonaparte Indian Band.

ACCOUNT CLERK

7.(1) The Accountant Clerk shall be responsible for performing such accounting functions as are necessary for the efficient and effective administration of the Bonaparte Indian Band affairs and shall report to the Administrator.

COUNCIL APPOINTMENTS

472

- **8.**(1) The Council may authorize the Administrator to commit expenditures of Bonaparte Indian Band funds where the expenditures are within the annual budget as approved by the Council.
- (2) Upon approval of agreements by the Council, the Council may appoint and authorize Bonaparte Indian Band agencies or representatives to sign the said agreements.

ANNUAL BUDGET

- **9.**(1) Each manager of a program shall prepare the annual budget for the operations of the program and shall submit it to the Administrator by February 28 of each year.
- (2) The Administrator shall prepare estimates of the revenues of the Bonaparte Indian Band for the purpose of preparing the annual budget.
- (3) The consolidated annual budget of revenues expenditures for the Bonaparte Indian Band and its agencies shall be prepared by the Administrator and submitted to the Council for consideration and approval by March 15 of each year.
- (4) The Council solely responsible for the approval of the consolidated annual budget and any amendments to it for the Bonaparte Indian Band and its agencies for each fiscal year.
- (5) The Council may amend the consolidated annual budget at any time before or after its approval and increase allocations of funds, reduce allocations of funds, or reallocate funds to different programs or activities.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: DEPOSITS

- **10.**(1) Bank accounts, into which all Bonaparte Indian Band funds shall be deposited upon receipt, may be established by the Administrator pursuant to a resolution of the Council.
- (2) The Administrator shall ensure the safekeeping of Bonaparte Indian Band funds received and shall forthwith deposit all Bonaparte Indian Band funds to the credit of a Bonaparte Indian Band bank account.
- (3) The Administrator may reallocate funds from a bank account to other bank accounts for program and services delivery according to the approved annual budget, for short-term cash management of Bonaparte Indian Band funds, or for other purposes approved by the Council.
- (4) Funds in a bank account shall be administered by the Administrator who shall have the authority to invest excess cash on hand in term deposits, guaranteed

investment certificates or Treasury Bills at an accredited financial institution in the name of the Bonaparte Indian Band, subject to the approval of the Council.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: EXPENDITURES

- 11.(1) All payments and financial commitments, including any disbursements or financial commitments made directly by the Council, shall be in accordance with the annual budget or in accordance with a resolution of the Council.
- (2) The Council shall, by resolution, delegate cheque-signing authority to specific persons for cheques to be drawn on a bank account of the Band.
- (3) The Council shall, by resolution, approve any loans or investments to be made on behalf of the Band including investments in or loans to corporations owned by the Band.
- (4) The Council may appoint the Administrator, by resolution, to approve the purchase of good and services where the expenditures are within the approved annual budget.
- (5) All orders for good or services provided to the Bonaparte Indian Band must be approved by the Administrator for the purchase of goods or services, or by a resolution of the Council an documented by a numbered purchase order.
- (6) Unless it has been approved in the annual budget, any purchase of goods or services must be approved by the Council either on a transaction basis or as part of a delegation of financial authorities prepared by the Administrator and approved by the Council.
- (7) When the payment for an expenditure has been approved by the Administrator in accordance with the annual budget or by a resolution of the Council, the responsible program manager shall draft a cheque requisition and present it, together with the supporting documentation, to the Administrator for processing including recording, approval and signing. The Administrator shall ensure that a cheque is prepared and presented, together with the supporting documentation, for approval and signature to the persons to whom a delegation of cheque signing authority has been made.

FINANCIAL REPORTING: INVOICING

- **12.**(1) No payment shall be made for the performance of work, supply of goods or rendering of services unless the charge in respect of such work, goods or services has been authorized
 - (a) pursuant to a Council resolution;
 - (b) by a person delegated to authorize such payment; or

- (c) pursuant to an agreement entered into between the Bonaparte Indian Band and the person providing such work, goods, or services which establishes the amount, or a method of calculating the amount, to be charged for such work, goods or services.
- (2) For all work, goods or services that are provided by or through the Bonaparte Indian Band or any other person on behalf of the Bonaparte Indian Band for a fee or other charge, an invoice shall be rendered for payment for the work, goods or services.
- (3) The Accountant Clerk or agency manager each have a role in ensuring invoices are rendered pursuant to this By-law.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: REPORTING

- 13.(1) The Accountant Clerk shall prepare a statement of the receipts and disbursements for the previous month within 21 days of each month-end. This statement shall be distributed to the Administrator, the program managers and the Council
- (2) The Council shall review the statements of receipts and disbursements during a regular council meeting.

DISCLOSURE OF FINANCIAL INTEREST

- **14.**(1) Any person who holds an office, including that of Chief or Councillor, or employment with the Bonaparte Indian Band, its programs or agencies, shall not use that office or employment for personal gain for himself or herself or for the members of his or her immediate family to the detriment of the interests of the Bonaparte Indian Band.
- (2) The provisions of these sections shall also apply, so far as is possible, in relation to decisions made in the conduct of that office or employment.
- (3) "Immediate Family" means a spouse, including a common-law spouse, mother, father, brother, sister, child, or step-child.
- 4) "Personal gain" shall mean financial benefit for the individual or for the members of his or her immediate family.
- (5)(a) Where a person might otherwise be in breach of section 1, the person shall disclose their financial interest prior to the making of a decision and shall not participate in the discussion or the decision, unless a majority of the other persons involved in making the decision decide by vote to allow the person with the declared financial interest to participate in the discussion or in the decision and the making of the decision.
 - (b) Where a person has made a declaration of financial interest and the decision-making body has decided by vote to allow the person to participate

in making the decision despite the declaration of interest, the decision-making body shall ensure that the reasons are recorded in writing in the minutes of the meeting.

- (c) Where, the chair is prohibited from taking part in deliberations and from voting, they may nevertheless continue to act as chair.
- (d) Without limiting the generality of subsection (a), a chief or councillor or employee shall be deemed to have a financial interest in a matter before the Council where they or a member of their immediate family has an interest in an enterprise or in a partnership, company or corporation having or proposed to have a contract or dealings with the Band.
- (e) Subject to this section, the chief or a councillor or an employee may be or become a member of any company in which the Bonaparte Indian Band may be interested as vendor, purchaser, shareholder, or otherwise and no such person shall be accountable for any benefits received as shareholder or director of such company.
- (6) Where the decision-making body is the Council and more than one member of the Council has a financial interest in the decision, the Council may appoint another body to make recommendations to the Council for a decision, except where the process is an interview committee for the hiring of employees.
- (7) If any employee has breached the provisions of any of these sections, that person may:
 - (a) be suspended from all privileges and benefits of office or from employment for a period of time;
 - (b) be demoted or reassigned to another position; or
 - (c) be dismissed from the office or employment.
- (8) Where section 7 applies, the decision with respect to an employee shall be made in accordance with the personnel policies of the Bonaparte Indian Band.
- (9) A decision made under section 7 must be made fairly and in accordance with the rules of natural justice, including:
 - (a) the person who is alleged to have violated their sections must have the opportunity to hear the allegation and provide an answer before a final decision is made; and
 - (b) the person or persons making the decision on an alleged conflict of interest shall make their decision without any influence or bias.
- (10) The Council may approve policies and procedures in order to give effect to their provisions.

(11) Subject to ss.5(a) to (c), any contract involving the receipt or expenditure of Bonaparte Indian Band funds is void where the person approving the contract or a member of their immediate family has a financial interest in the contract unless it is reconfirmed by the Council notwithstanding the existence of the financial interest.

FISCAL YEAR

15.(1) The fiscal year for the Bonaparte Indian Band shall be from April 1 of each year to March 31 in the following year.

AUDIT

- **16.**(1) The Council, by resolution, shall appoint an auditor or auditors to audit the books and records of the Bonaparte Indian Band for each fiscal year.
 - (2) The auditor shall be a member of a recognized professional association.
 - (3) The auditor shall report through the Administrator, to the Council.
 - (4) The audit shall include all transactions of the Bonaparte Indian Band.
 - (5) The auditor is entitled to:
 - (a) require access to all books, records, accounts, and vouchers;
 - (b) require the production of information necessary for the completion of the audit from any employee;
 - (c) obtain copies of Council resolutions and policies.

TENDERS

- 17.(1) In emergency situations, telephone bids up to \$500 or such greater amount as may be approved by the Council, may be accepted by the Administrator provided a written confirmation follows from the bidder within 24 hours of the telephone bid being made, and a record of telephone bids filed.
- (2) For contracts of less than \$10,000, the Council reserves the right to authorize the Administrator to negotiate and recommend a specific contract on a sole source basis. All such contracts shall be approved by the Council.
- (3) Capital purchases up to \$10,000 may be made without a tender process by a program if the purchase has already been approved as part of the annual budget.
- (4) Capital purchases exceeding \$10,000, but less than \$100,000, must be completed by invitations to tender to at least three qualified firms or by public tender.

- (5) Capital purchases in excess of \$100,000 must by completed by public tender.
- (6) Housing projects may be excluded from the requirements for invitations to tender or public tender.
- (7) Where a contract for services rendered to the Band is expected to exceed \$50,000, tenders or quotes should be invited from at least three (3) firms, or be publicly advertised in local and regional newspapers.
- (8) For non-construction (professional) contract services exceeding \$10,000, proposals for services should be invited from at least three (3) individuals or firms, or have a Request for Proposals publicly advertised in local and regional newspapers.
- (9) A Request for Proposals (RFP), once advertised, should have the following documentation available for interested contractors:
 - A letter of invitation,
 - A statement of work required,
 - Proposal evaluation criteria,
 - Contract Agreement (includes general conditions and terms of payment).
- (10) For construction projects exceeding \$10,000 but less than \$100,000, invitations to tender should contain the following documents:
 - Tender Instructions,
 - Tender and Contract Form,
 - General Conditions,
 - Insurance Schedule,
 - · Contractor Statement of Qualifications,
 - Proof of Workers Compensation Board (WCB) coverage, and
 - Statement of Work Plan and Specifications.
- (11) Sealed tender and proposals received are to be date stamped, kept safe, and opened in public by a minimum of two persons designated by the Council after the deadline date for a tender or proposal submission.
- (12) All tenders or proposals received shall be reviewed against an evaluation criteria list. The contract bidder or proposal proponent who best meets the evaluation criteria shall be recommended to receive the contract, subject to Council approval.
- (13) The lowest tender received shall normally be accepted unless the Council deems it to be in the best interest of the Band to accept a higher tender in the event that the higher tender:
 - (a) provides a better quality product or service; or
 - (b) provides economic or other benefits to the Band or its members; and

- (c) provide the Council approves the higher tender by a resolution of the Council, which shall contain the reasons for the decision to accept the higher tender.
- (14) Any contracts drawn and signed between the Band and a contractor must clearly state all requirements of the contract in detail. The contract should contain a provision for the Bonaparte Indian Band to hold back a minimum of ten percent (10%) of the contract amount subject to the contractor complying with all contract deliverables.
- (15) For Construction projects exceeding \$100,000, the successful bidder must submit proper bid security within 14 days of being awarded the contract.
- (16) Should the Band not have the resources or expertise to execute any part of the procedures, the Band reserves the right to hire outside experts, such as consultants or engineers to execute these procedures on their behalf.
- (17) Subject to this by-law, tenders shall comply with the policies and procedures approved by the Council.
- (18) Requirements may be imposed in regard to the project by any funding agency providing funding for the project being tendered.

FINANCIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST

- **18.**(1) Any person who holds an office including that of Chief or Councillor, or employment with the Bonaparte Indian Band, its programs or agencies, shall not use that office or employment for personal gain for themselves or for the members of their immediate family to the detriment of the interests of the Bonaparte Indian Band.
- (2) The audit shall be conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing procedures and shall include a general review of the adequacy of the accounting procedures and systems of control employed to preserve and protect the assets of the Bonaparte Indian Band.
- (3) The Administrator shall provide the auditor with instructions concerning the audit and shall assist the auditor in the completion of the audit.
- (4) After a review of the audit by the Administrator and the auditor shall present the audit to the Council.
- (5) The audit shall be approved by the Council by resolution and shall be signed by the Chief and any other person designated by the Council.
- (6) The Administrator shall retain the signed audit, together with the related financial statements.

(7) Upon approval of the audit by the Council, the members of the Bonaparte Indian Band shall be notified that a copy of the audit is available for inspection by any member of the Bonaparte Indian Band over the age of 18, at the Administration Office.

GRANTS, LOANS, BORROWINGS, PAY ADVANCES

- **19.**(1) The Administrator shall have discretion for advance of wages paid to an employee or contractor and the amount advanced will be for wages earned to date, or as set out in terms of the agreement with a contractor.
- (2) The Band Council is prohibited from making grants or loans to any individual and group of individuals.
- (3) The Band Council is prohibited from co-signing or extending security to a loan or any type of financial arrangement.
- (4) The Band Council is permitted to obtain credit for band management purposes, provided that approval is by Council Resolution.
 - (5) Council Resolutions must record the following:
 - (a) the amount of the loan or credit:
 - (b) the terms of repayment including:
 - times and dates of payments;
 - the amounts of payments;
 - the amount of interest;
 - the name/s of the creditor

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION

- **20.**(1) The following documents shall be made available for viewing during regular working hours to any member of the Bonaparte Indian Band over the age of 18 and copies are to be provided to them on request to the Administrator, execution of a confidentiality form and payment of a reasonable fee which may be waived by the Administrator:
 - (a) the annual budget;
 - (b) quarterly financial statements (if available);
 - (c) the audit;
 - (d) any agreements or finding arrangements with the federal or provincial governments or with any other party for the provision of funding for the Band;
 - (e) any Multi-Year Financial Plan including the planned level of debt financing;

- TIRST NATIONS GAZETTE
- (f) any annual program reports or evaluations prepared with respect to community services;
- (g) any criteria, policies, procedures or guidelines developed in accordance with this by-law; and
- (h) the minutes of any duly convened meeting of the Council.

GENERAL MEETING

- **21.**(1) The Council may hold general meetings of the membership of the Bonaparte Indian Band to present:
 - (a) the audit including the presentation of a narrative of services provided during the previous fiscal year following approval of the auditor's report by the Council; and
 - (b) the annual budget within a reasonable period of time after its approval by the Council.

BONAPARTE DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

- **22.**(1) The Corporation owned or controlled by the Bonaparte Indian Band and is accountable to the Band through the Council.
- (2) All Bonaparte Indian Band Corporations shall present a corporate plan and an annual budget to the Council prior to the commencement of the fiscal year of the Corporation.
- (3) All capital budgets and any proposed borrowing by a Bonaparte Indian Band Corporation must be presented to and approved by the Council prior to any capital expenditure or borrowing being transacted.
- (4) All major transactions or changes in the nature of the business of a Bonaparte Indian Band Corporation shall be approved by the Council prior to the transaction being made or the nature of the business being changed.
- (5) The Bonaparte Indian Band Corporation shall present a quarterly financial statement to the Council within 30 days of the end of each quarter of the corporation's fiscal year.
- (6) The Bonaparte Indian Band Corporation shall provide an annual audit to the Council for approval unless they have been audited in conjunction with the audit for the Band pursuant to this code.

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

23.(1) The Council may approve such additional policies and procedures as may be necessary to give effect to the provisions of this by-law. Such policies and

procedures, when approved by the Council shall be used to clarify, explain and enhance the meaning and interpretation of this By-law.

AMENDMENTS AND REPEAL

24.(1) Amendment or repeal of this by-law shall be made in the same manner as its enactment which would include enactment of an amending or repealing by-law by the Chief and Council and approval of the amending or repealing by-law by the Minister.

OTHER

- **25.**(1) A decision made in contravention of this by-law is voidable by a vote in favour by a majority of the Council at a duly convened meeting of a quorum of the Council.
- (2) This *Financial Administration By-law No.13*, 2002 shall come into force and affect immediately upon approval by the Minister of Indian Affairs.

APPROVED AND PASSED at a duly convened meeting of the Band Council of the Bonaparte Indian Band held at the Bonaparte Band Hall, Bonaparte I.R. #3, P.O. Box 669, Cache Creek, B.C., V0K 1H0, this [3rd] day of [September], 2002.

[Mika Ratacket]

A quorum of Band Council consists of 5 Councillors.

	[WIRC Retasket]
	Chief Mike Retasket
[Tom Basil]	
Councillor Tom Basil	Councillor Randy Porter
	[Dave Antoine]
Councillor Valerie Morgan	Councillor Dave Antoine
[Keith Zabotel]	[Tracy Matthew]
Councillor Keith Zabotel	Councillor Tracy Matthew
	Councillor Gerald Etienne

CHEAM FIRST NATION RATES BY-LAW 2002-1

[Effective January 24, 2003]

SCHEDULE "A"

Prescibed Tax Rates For the Taxation Year 2002

Cla	ss of Property	Tax Rate
1)	Residential	00.0000
2)	Utilities	61.93331
3)	Unmanaged Forest	00.0000
4)	Major Industry	00.0000
5)	Light Industry	23.89210
6)	Business	25.55541
7)	Managed Forest	00.0000
8)	Recreation/Non-Profit	00.0000
9)	Farm	19.94573

BE IT KNOWN that this By-law entitled the *Rates By-law* which forms part of the *Taxation By-law* passed by Chief and Council and approved by the Minister on June 23, 1993, that being a by-law to establish by by-law a system on the reserve lands of Cheam Indian Band for the fair and equitable taxation for local purposes of land or interests in land including the right to occupy, possess or use lands within the boundaries of the reserves is hereby enacted as *By-law 2002-1* by the Chief and Council of the Cheam Indian Band.

APPROVED AND PASSED at a duly convened meeting of the Council of the Cheam Indian Band held at Cheam Indian Band Administration Office, Rosedale, British Columbia, this 14th day of November, 2002.

Moved by:	[Sidney Douglas]	Seconded by:	[Lisa Douglas]
•			

A quorum of Band Council consists of any 3 of the Chief and Council.

[June Quipp]	
Chief June Quipp	

[Sidney Douglas]	[Lisa Douglas]
Councillor Sidney Douglas	Councillor Lisa Douglas
[Jeffrey Aleck]	[Amelia (Amy)Victor]
Councillor Jeffrey Aleck	Councillor Amelia (Amy)Victor

CHEAM FIRST NATION RATES BY-LAW NO. 2003-1

[Effective April 9, 2003]

SCHEDULE "A"

Prescribed Tax Rates For the Taxation Year 2003

Cla	ss of Property	Tax Rate
1)	Residential	00.0000
2)	Utilities	61.93331
3)	Unmanaged Forest	00.0000
4)	Major Industry	00.0000
5)	Light Industry	23.89210
6)	Business	25.55541
7)	Managed Forest	00.0000
8)	Recreation/Non-Profit	00.0000
9)	Farm	19.94573

BE IT KNOWN that this By-law entitled the *Rates By-law* which forms part of the *Taxation By-law* passed by Chief and Council and approved by the Minister on June 23, 1993, that being a by-law to establish by by-law a system on the reserve lands of Cheam Indian Band for fair and equitable taxation for local purposes of land or interests in land including the right to occupy, possess or use lands within the boundaries of the reserves is hereby enacted as *By-law 2003-1* by the Chief and Council of the Cheam Indian Band.

APPROVED AND PASSED at a duly convened meeting of the Council of			
the Cheam Indian Band held at the Cheam Indian Band Administration Office,			
Rosedale, Bri	tish Columbia, this [3rd	day of[Marc	<u>eh]</u> , 2003.
Moved by: _	[Sidney Douglas]	Seconded by:	[Jeffrey Aleck]

A quorum of Band Council consists of any 3 of the Chief and Council.

Chief	

[Sidney Douglas]	[Lisa Douglas]
Councillor Sidney Douglas	Councillor Lisa Douglas
[Jeffrey Aleck]	[Amelia (Amy) Victor]
Councillor Jeffrey Aleck	Councillor Amelia (Amy) Victor

CHEMAINUS FIRST NATION FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION BY-LAW AMENDMENT

[Effective February 25, 2003]

That Section 9.2 of the *Chemainus First Nation Financial Administration By-law*, approved by Band Council at a duly convened meeting held on the 23rd day of August 2000, and subsequently approved by the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development dated 30th of March 2001, be repealed and amended to read as follows:

"Section 9.2 – The Band Council shall by Band Council Resolution, authorize all members of the Band Council and the Band Administrator and the Financial Manager as signing authorities. One member of the Council and either the Band Administrator or Financial Manager shall sign all cheques issued in the name of the Band or drawn on the Band's accounts."

Quorum [5]

486

	[Terry Sampson]	
	Chief	
[Robert Daniels]	_	[Charlotte Elliott]
Councillor		Councillor
[Harvey Seymour]	_	[Edward Seymour Sr.]
Councillor		Councillor
[Timothy Harris]	_	[Diane Harris]
Councillor		Councillor
[George Harris]	_	[Kevin Frenchy]
Councillor		Councillor

COLUMBIA LAKE INDIAN BAND 2003 RATES BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2003-TX3

[Effective April 25, 2003]

WHEREAS pursuant to subsection 83(1) of the *Indian Act*, the Council of a Band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, or interest in land including the rights to occupy, possess or use lands within the boundaries of the Reserve and with respect to any matters arising out of or ancillary to such purpose;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Columbia Lake Indian Band enacted the *Columbia Lake Indian Band Taxation and Assessment By-law* on March 9, 1992;

NOW BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the following by-law be and is hereby enacted pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular section 83(l) for the purpose of establishing annual rates of taxation.

- **1.** This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the *Columbia Lake Indian Band 2003 Rates By-law*.
- **2.** Pursuant to section 24 of the *Columbia Lake Indian Band Taxation By-law*, the rates for each class of property shall be in accordance with Schedule "A" which is attached and forms part of the *2003 Rates By-law*.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by the Chief and Council of the Columbia Lake Indian Band at a duly convened meeting held on the [18th] day of [March], 2003.

[Mary Jimmy]

Chief M	ary Jimmy
[Samantha Sam]	[Rosemary Nicholas]
Councillor Samantha Sam	Councillor Rosemary Nicholas
[Beatrice Stevens]	[Nelson Phillip]
Councillor Beatrice Stevens	Councillor Nelson Phillip

SCHEDULE "A"

The Council of the Columbia Lake Indian Band hereby adopt the following taxation rates for the 2003 taxation year for the following classes of property.

Cla	sses of Property	Tax Rate
1.	Residential	9.274
2.	Utility	30.650
3.	Unmanaged Forest	0.000
4.	Major Industry	0.000
5.	Light Industry	0.000
6.	Business and Other	22.304
7.	Managed Forest	0.000
8.	Recreation/Non-Profit	0.000
9.	Farm	0.000
10.	Railroad	0.000

LAKAHAHMEN FIRST NATION 2002 RATES BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2000-03

[Effective October 6, 2002]

WHEREAS pursuant to subsection 83(1)(a) of the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, the council of a band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, including rights to occupy, possess or use land in a reserve and with respect to any matters arising out of or ancillary to such purpose;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Lakahahmen First Nation (also known as the Lakahahmen Band) enacted the *Lakahahmen First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law* on February 21, 1995;

NOW BE IT THEREBY RESOLVED that the following by-law be and is hereby enacted pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular section 83(1) for the purpose of establishing annual rates of taxation.

- **1.** This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the *Lakahahmen First Nation* 2002 *Rates By-law*.
- **2.** Pursuant to Section 3 of the *Lakahahmen First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law*, the tax rates for each class of property shall be in accordance with Schedule "A-1" which is attached, and form part of the *2002 Rates By-law*.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on the [3rd] day of July, 2002.

[Susan McKamev]

	L	
_	Chief Susan McKame	y
[Barb Leggat]		[Alice Thompson]
Councillor	_	Councillor
[Darrel McKamey]		
Councillor		

SCHEDULE "A-1"

The Council of the Lakahahmen First Nation hereby adopts the following taxation rates for 2002 taxation year for the following classes of property.

COLUMN 1

COLUMN 2

Class of property as prescribed under Rate of Tax applied against each Schedule II and Section 3 of the Lakahahmen First Nation Property Taxation By-law.

\$1,000.00 of the assessed value of the land and improvements as determined in accordance with Part IV of the Lakahahmen First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law.

Class 1 - Residential	7.853
Class 2 - Utilities	28.899
Class 3 - Farm	10.044

RATES BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2003-T02

[Effective June 1, 2003]

SCHEDULE "A"

Prescribed Tax Rates For the Taxation Year 2003

Class of Property		Tax Rate
1.	Residential	9.096
2.	Utilities	50.937
3.	Unmanaged Forest Land	10.058
4.	Major Industry	9.872
5.	Light Industry	22.740
6.	Business/Other	18.192
7.	Managed Forest Land	10.058
8.	Recreation/Non-Profit Organization	9.313
9.	Farm	6.822

BE IT KNOWN that this by-law entitled the *Rates By-law* which forms part of the *Taxation By-law* passed by Chief and Council and approved by the Minister on November 30, 1995, that being a by-law to establish by by-law a system on the reserve lands of the Little Shuswap Indian Band for the fair and equitable taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land including the right to occupy, possess or use lands within the boundaries of the reserves is hereby enacted as By-law 2003-T02 by the Chief and Council of the Little Shuswap Indian Band.

APPROVED AND PASSED at a duly convened meeting of the Council of the Little Shuswap Indian Band held at the Little Shuswap Indian Band Administration Office, Squilax, British Columbia this 23rd day of April, 2003.

Moved by:[Felix Arnouse]	Seconded by	[Diane Francois]
[Fe	elix Arnouse]	
Chie	f Felix Arnouse	
[Dianne Francois]		[Wes Francois]
Councillor Dianne François		Councillor Wes François

LOWER KOOTENAY INDIAN BAND 2002 RATES BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2002 TX-01

492

[Effective October 10, 2002]

WHEREAS pursuant to subsection 83(1) of the *Indian Act*, the Council of a Band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, interest in land including the rights to occupy, possess or use lands within the boundaries of the Reserve and with respect to any matters arising out of or ancillary to such purpose;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Lower Kootenay Indian Band enacted the *Lower Kootenay Indian Band Taxation and Assessment By-laws* on March 09, 1992;

NOW BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the following by-law be and is hereby enacted pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular section 83(1) for the purpose of establishing annual rates of taxation.

- **1.** This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the *Lower Kootenay Indian Band 2002 Rates By-law*.
- **2.** Pursuant to section 24 of the *Lower Kootenay Indian Band Taxation By-law*, the rates for each class of property shall be in accordance with Schedule "A" which is attached and forms part of the 2002 Rates By-law.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting on the [3rd] day of [July], 2002.

Chie	f Chris Luke
[M. Jason Louie]	[Arlene Teasley]
Councillor M. Jason Louie	Councillor Arlene Teasley
[Mary Basil]	
Councillor Mary Basil	Councillor Zack Basil

SCHEDULE "A"

The Council of the Lower Kootenay Indian Band hereby adopts the following taxation rates for the 2002 taxation year for the following classes of property.

Classes of Property		Tax Rates
01	Residential	12.449
02	Utilities	39.837
03	Unmanaged Forest Land	0
04	Major Industry	0
05	Light Industry	0
06	Business and Other	27.388
07	Managed Forest Land	0
08	Recreational/Non-Profit Organization	0
09	Farm	15.437

LOWER KOOTENAY INDIAN BAND 2003 RATES BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2003 TX-01

[Effective April 30, 2003]

WHEREAS pursuant to subsection 83(1) of the *Indian Act*, the Council of a Band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land or interests in land including the rights to occupy, possess or use lands within the boundaries of the Reserve and with respect to any matters arising out of or ancillary to such purpose;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Lower Kootenay Indian Band enacted the *Lower Kootenay Indian Band Taxation and Assessment By-laws* on March 9, 1992;

NOW BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the following by-law be and is hereby enacted pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular section 83(1) for the purpose of establishing annual rates of taxation.

- **1.** This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the *Lower Kootenay Indian Band 2003 Rates By-law*.
- **2.** Pursuant to section 24 of the *Lower Kootenay Indian Band Taxation By-law*, the rates for each class of property shall be in accordance with Schedule "A" which is attached and forms part of the 2003 Rates By-law.

THIS BY-LAW I	S HEREBY	ENACTED	by Council	at a duly	convened
meeting on the [26th]	_ day of _	[February]	_ , 2003.		

	Chief Chris Luke	
[M. Jason Louie]	[Arlene Teasley]	
Councillor M. Jason Louie	Councillor Arlene Te	asley
[Mary Basil]	[Zack Basil]	
Councillor Mary Basil	Councillor Zack Ba	asil

SCHEDULE "A"

The Council of the Lower Kootenay Indian Band hereby adopts the following taxation rates for the 2003 taxation year for the following classes of property.

Cla	sses of Property	Tax Rates
01	Residential	13.012
02	Utilities	41.640
03	Unmanaged Forest Land	0
04	Major Industry	0
05	Light Industry	0
06	Business and Other	28.627
07	Managed Forest Land	0
08	Recreational/Non-Profit Organization	0
09	Farm	16.135

MATSQUI FIRST NATION 2002 RATES BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2002-02

[Effective December 18, 2002]

WHEREAS pursuant to subsection 83(1)(a) of the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, the Council of a band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, including rights to occupy, possess or use land in a reserve and with respect to any matters arising out of or ancillary to such purpose;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Matsqui First Nation has duly and properly enacted the *Matsqui First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-laws*;

NOW BE IT THEREBY RESOLVED that the following by-law be and is hereby enacted pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular section 83(1) for the purpose of establishing annual rates of taxation.

- **1.** This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the *Matsqui First Nation* 2002 *Rates By-law No.* 2002-02.
- **2.** Pursuant to Part 3 of the *Matsqui First Nation Property Taxation By-law*, the tax rates for each class of property shall be in accordance with Schedule "A" for properties on Matsqui Indian Reserve Nos. 2 and 4. Schedule "A" is attached and forms part of the 2002 *Matsqui First Nation Rates By-law No. 2002-02*.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on the [30th] day of [April] , 2002.

	[Alice McKay]
	Chief
[Brenda Morgan]	
Councillor	

SCHEDULE "A"

The Council of the Matsqui First Nation hereby adopts the following taxation rates for the year 2002 taxation year for the following classes of property.

COLUMN 1

COLUMN 2

Class of Property as prescribed under Rate of Tax applied against each Schedule II and Section 18.1 of the Matsqui First Nation Property Taxation By-law.

\$1,000.00 of the assessed value of the land and improvements as determined in accordance with Part IV of the Matsqui First Nation Property Assessment By-law.

Class 1 – Residential	9.844643
Class 2 – Utilities	54.145538
Class 3 – Unmanaged Forest Land	0
Class 4 – Major Industry	0
Class 5 – Light Industry	24.611608
Class 6 – Business and Other	0
Class 7 – Managed Forest Land	0
Class 8 – Recreation/Non-Profit	
Organization	0
Class 9 – Farm	14.766965

MATSQUI FIRST NATION PROPERTY TAX EXPENDITURE BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2002-01

[Effective January 15, 2003]

WHEREAS:

The *Property Assessment and Taxation By-laws* were made pursuant to subsection 83(l) of the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, in the "reserve" (as defined in the *Property Assessment and Taxation By-law*), including rights to occupy, possess or use land in the "reserve":

Subsection 83(2) of the *Indian Act* provides that an expenditure made out of moneys raised pursuant to subsection 83(1) of the *Indian Act* must be made under the authority of a by-law of the council of the band;

Section 51.2 of the *Property Taxation By-law* authorizes the expenditure of property tax revenue pursuant to the *Expenditure By-law* and, in addition, this *Taxation Expenditure By-law* is hereby enacted for the purpose, *inter alia*, of establishing procedures for the authorization of expenditures to be made out of property tax revenue from time to time;

NOW BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the following by-law be and is hereby enacted pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular subsections 83(l) and (2) thereof, for the purpose of authorizing expenditures to be made out of property tax revenue.

SHORT TITLE

1. This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the *Property Tax Expenditure By-law*.

DEFINITIONS

2. In this by-law, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing in the recitals and this section,

"annual property tax budget" means a budget that includes and identifies in a general way projected property tax revenue for a fiscal year, surplus or deficit property tax revenue carried over from previous fiscal years and projected expenditures to be made out of property tax revenue for the fiscal year for local purposes;

[&]quot;band" means the Matsqui First Nation;

- "band council resolution" means a motion passed and approved at a meeting of council pursuant to the consent of a majority of the quorum of the councillors of the band;
- "community works" includes, without limitation, designing, constructing, reconstructing, creating, replacing, enlarging, extending, removing, repairing, maintaining and operating buildings, works and facilities (other than public works), located within reserve and owned, operated, controlled, managed, administered, provided or financially supported, wholly or in part, by the band or council on behalf of the band and used for community services or general government services, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, band administration offices, band public works yards, cemeteries, cultural centres, daycare centres, group homes, libraries, archives, museums, art galleries, recreation centres, parks and playgrounds, together with reserve lands appurtenant thereto;
- "community services" includes, without limitation, programs and services (other than utility services), operated, controlled, managed, administered, provided or financially supported, wholly or in part, by the band or council on behalf of the band and of benefit to any residents of reserve (whether in common with any non-residents of reserve or not) including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, social, public health, cultural, recreation, education, daycare, library, park, playground, police or fire protection programs and services;
- "council" means the council of the Matsqui First Nation within the meaning of subsection 2(1) of the *Indian Act* as elected by the band members from time to time:
- "fiscal year" means January 1 of a calendar year through December 31 of the same calendar year;
- "general government services" includes without limitation, government and administrative programs, services and operations of the band or council on behalf of the band including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the operations of council and the development, preparation, enforcement and administration of council or band policies, by-laws and programs and the administration and operation of departments of the band;
- "Minister" means the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development and includes a person designated in writing by the minister;
- "permitted property taxation by-law expenditures" means those expenditures out of property tax revenue authorized to be made under section 51.2 of the *Property Taxation By-law*;

- "Property Assessment By-law" means the Matsqui First Nation Property Assessment By-law approved and passed by the council and approved by the Minister, as amended from time to time;
- "Property Taxation By-law" means the Matsqui First Nation Property Taxation By-law approved by and passed by the council and approved by the Minister, as amended from time to time:
- "property tax revenue" includes all taxes and other moneys raised under the *Property Assessment and Taxation By-laws*, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all interest earned thereon and other accumulations thereto from time to time;

"public works" includes

500

- (a) designing, constructing, reconstructing, creating, replacing, enlarging, extending, removing, moving, repairing, maintaining or operating
 - (i) roads, streets, overpasses, underpasses, sidewalks, foot crossings, curbing bridges, tunnels, culverts, embankments and retaining walls;
 - (ii) equipment, wires, works and facilities, including standards and conduits necessary to supply public lighting within reserve, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all necessary poles, towers, cross-arms, encasements, transformer structures and other related works and facilities;
 - (iii) conduits for wires, fibre-optics and pipes for purposes other than providing public lighting within reserve, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all necessary poles, towers, cross-arms, encasements, transformer structures and other related works and facilities;
 - (iv) storm or sanitary sewer or water lines, works and facilities, including service connections to sewer or water lines on land abutting a main;
 - (v) sewerage treatment and water treatment works, facilities and plants;
 - (vi) retaining walls, rip-rap, sheet-piling, sea-walls, pilings, dykes and breakwaters in, along or adjacent to the sea, a lake or a river; and
 - (vii) any buildings, works, or facilities related or ancillary to anything referred to in subparagraphs (i) through (vi),

together with reserve lands appurtenant thereto,

- (b) remediating environmentally contaminated reserve lands; and
- (c) creating new lands by any lawful means including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, by the placement and compaction of permitted soils and other fill materials;

- "reserve" means those lands the legal title to which is vested in Her Majesty, that have been set apart by Her Majesty for the use and benefit of the band, whether they be designated lands or conditionally surrendered lands or otherwise and special reserves being lands that have been set apart for the use and benefit of the Matsqui First Nation and legal title thereto is not vested in Her Majesty within the meaning of section 36 of the *Indian Act*;
- "surveyor of taxes" means the surveyor of taxes appointed by council under the *Matsqui First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-laws*;
- "Taxation Expenditure By-law" means this Taxation Expenditure By-law;
- "utility services" includes water, storm sewer, sanitary sewer, garbage collection, garbage disposal, solid waste disposal, sewage treatment and water treatment programs, services and operations.

AUTHORIZATION OF EXPENDITURE OF PROPERTY TAX REVENUE

- **4.**(1) This by-law authorizes the expenditure of property tax revenue by council on behalf of the band for local purposes.
- (2) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1) but for great certainty this by-law authorizes the expenditure of property tax revenue by council on behalf of the band on community works, community services, general government services, permitted property taxation by-law expenditures, public works and utility services.

ANNUAL PROPERTY TAX BUDGET

- **5.**(1) On or before October 31 in each fiscal year, the surveyor of taxes shall prepare and table with council a draft annual property tax budget for the then current fiscal year and a draft band council resolution approving the budget, and Council shall endeavour to consider such budget and resolution on or before December 15 of the same fiscal year.
- (2) An annual property tax budget may, but is not required to be in the form of that draft annual property tax budget attached as Schedule "A" to this by-law.
- (3) Subject to subsection (4), all expenditures made out of property tax revenue that Council is authorized to make under this by-law shall be made pursuant to an annual property tax budget that has been approved by band council resolution.
 - (4) For greater certainty:
 - (a) band council may at any time and from time to time amend any annual property tax budget and any band council resolution approving an annual property tax budget; and
 - (b) nothing in this by-law shall have the effect of amending section 51.2 of the *Property Taxation By-law* or of limiting the authorization of, or requiring

additional procedures to permit, expenditures of property tax revenue thereunder.

PROPERTY TAX REVENUE ACCOUNTS

- **6.**(1) All property tax revenue shall be deposited in a special account or accounts maintained in the name of the band and be invested until required to be expended pursuant to an annual property tax budget that has been approved by band council resolution.
- (2) Any surplus property tax revenue raised during a fiscal year that is not required for expenditure during that fiscal year pursuant to an annual property tax budget that has been approved by band council resolution, shall be set aside in a special surplus fund account or accounts maintained in the name of the band and be invested until required for such expenditure in a future fiscal year.

ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT

7. The surveyor of taxes shall administer this by-law.

BY-LAW REMEDIAL

8. This by-law shall be construed as being remedial, and shall be given such fair, large and liberal construction and interpretation as best ensures the attainment of its objectives.

MISCELLANEOUS

- **9.**(l) Headings form no part of this by-law but shall be construed as being inserted for convenience of reference only.
- (2) A finding by a court of competent jurisdiction that a section or provision of this by-law is void or invalid shall not affect or bear upon the validity or invalidity of any other section or part of this by-law or this by-law as a whole.
- (3) Where a provision in this by-law is expressed in the present tense, future tense or in the past tense, the provision applies to the circumstances as they arise.
- (4) In this by-law words in the singular include the plural, and words in the plural include the singular.

COMING INTO FORCE

10. This by-law shall come into force immediately upon being approved by the Minister.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on the [30th] day of [April], 2002.

	[Alice McKay]	
	Chief	
[Brenda Morgan]		
Councillor		

SCHEDULE "A"

2002 Property Tax Budget for Matsqui First Nation

GENERAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES

GENERAL GOVERNMENT BERVICES		
Service agreement – Langley	\$	67,000.00
Service Agreement – Abbotsford	\$	24,000.00
Legislative	\$	2,400.00
Tax Administration	\$	28,000.00
Tax Appeals	\$	2,400.00
General Administration	\$	18,000.00
General Government Services Expenditure Total	\$ 1	141,800.00
FISCAL SERVICES		
Homeowner Grants	\$ 1	51,000.00
Contribution to reserve funds	\$	7,500.00
Fiscal Services Expenditure Total	\$ 1	158,500.00
Taxes for Other Governments		
BC Goct Refund	\$	0.00
BCAA	\$	8,000.00
Other	\$	0.00
Taxes for Other Governments Expenditure Total	\$	8,000.00
Your 2002 Property Tax Budget Total	\$ 3	308,300.00

MORICETOWN FIRST NATION FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2001-01

[Effective January 14, 2003]

A by-law to regulate the receipt, management, and expenditure of Moricetown First Nation funds and establish the administrative structure of the Moricetown First Nation which manages the funds;

WHEREAS the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, provides that Council may, subject to the approval of the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development, make by-laws for the following purposes:

- the appropriation and expenditure of moneys of the Moricetown First Nation to defray the Moricetown First Nation expenses;
- the appointment of officials to conduct the business of the Council and prescribing their duties; and
- with respect to any matter arising out of or ancillary to the exercise of the aforementioned power;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Moricetown First Nation has determined that it is desirable and necessary that a financial management by-law be established for the purposes set out in subsection 83(1) of the *Indian Act* and for the better administration of the Moricetown First Nation's business:

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Moricetown First Nation at a duly convened meeting of the Council enacts the following by-law.

TITLE

1. This By-law may be called the *Financial Administration By-law*.

DEFINITIONS

- 2. In this By-law,
- "agencies" means any board, tribunal, commission, committee of the Moricetown First Nation or any corporate body controlled by the Moricetown First Nation including a society, non-profit corporation or business corporation;
- "annual budget" means the forecast of planned expenditures for the forthcoming fiscal year by the Moricetown First Nation;
- "Board" shall mean the Moricetown First Nation Treasury Board established pursuant to this By-law;

- "agreement" means any written contract between the Moricetown First Nation and another party or parties, including the Federal Government, the provincial government or a third party, pursuant to which money is to be paid to the Moricetown First Nation:
- "Council" shall mean the Chief and Council of the Moricetown First Nation;
- "department" means an administrative division of the Moricetown First Nation Government as established from time to time by Council and includes service centres, administrative units and other internal organizational units of the Moricetown First Nation administration;
- "Moricetown First Nation funds" means all moneys belonging to the Moricetown First Nation and includes
 - (a) all revenues of Moricetown First Nation;
 - (b) money borrowed by the Moricetown First Nation;
 - (c) money received or collected on behalf of the Moricetown First Nation; and
 - (d) all moneys that are received or collected by the Moricetown First Nation pursuant to any agreement or funding arrangement and is to be disbursed for a purpose specified by Council or pursuant to that agreement or funding arrangement;

but does not include

506

(e) money received by the Moricetown First Nation on behalf of an individual or corporate entity, where Council has approved an alternative arrangement for the managing of the money pursuant to section 74 of this By-law;

"resolution" means a decision made at a meeting of a quorum of Council.

APPLICATION

- **3.** This By-law governs the receipt, management and expenditure of Moricetown First Nation funds and the administrative organization of the Moricetown First Nation to manage the funds.
- **4.** This By-law applies to all Moricetown First Nation departments and agencies in receipt of Moricetown First Nation funds.

TREASURY BOARD

5. A Treasury Board of the Moricetown First Nation is hereby established and shall continue in existence notwithstanding changes in its membership from time to time.

- **6.** The Board shall consist of five (5) members appointed by the Council from time to time with one (1) member being the Band Administrator.
 - 7. Two (2) of the members of the Board shall be members of the Council.
- **8.** The Chairperson shall be elected by the Board and serve for a term of two (2) years.
- **9.** The Chairperson shall preside over the meetings of the Board and shall, between meetings of the Board, exercise or perform such of the powers, duties or functions of the Board as the Board may determine.
 - **10.** The Board shall be responsible for
 - (a) the management and control of the collection of Moricetown First Nation funds;
 - (b) the management and control of the expenditures and disbursements of the Moricetown First Nation;
 - (c) the maintenance of records of the financial activities of the Moricetown First Nation;
 - (d) the preparation of the annual budget in accordance with the priorities approved by Council;
 - (e) the preparation of the annual audit of the Moricetown First Nation;
 - (f) the reporting and recommending to Council on financial matters; and
 - (g) all other matters relating to the financial affairs of the Moricetown First Nation not assigned by another by-law or Council resolution to any department or agency.
- 11. The Board shall prepare or cause to be prepared any amendment to the annual budget for the Moricetown First Nation which shall be submitted to the Council for review and approval.
- 12. The Board shall maintain or cause to be maintained the financial records of the Moricetown First Nation through the Office of the Treasurer and the managers of the departments or agencies.
- **13.** The Board may prescribe the form and content of the financial records and establish the accounting systems of the Moricetown First Nation.
 - 14. A member of the Treasury Board may be removed from office
 - (a) by the Chairperson if the member has missed three (3) consecutive scheduled meetings of the Treasury Board;
 - (b) by a majority of Council on the recommendation of the Chairperson for the member's removal; or

508

- 15. The Band Administrator shall act as the senior administration officer of the Treasury Board and shall assist the Board in carrying out its duties. The Band Council will articulate the specific nature of the duties of the Band Administrator and these will include the planning, organizing, implementing and evaluating of these functions.
- **16.** To facilitate the role and responsibilities of the Band Administrator, a Controller shall be appointed by the Council and is responsible to the Band Administrator for the following:
 - (a) the conduct of the administration necessary to discharge the administrative responsibilities of the Board, including staff supervision;
 - (b) the administrative supervision of the compilation and preparation of the overall annual budget;
 - (c) the preparation of annual financial statements and long-term financial projections and cash flows as required from time to time by the Board;
 - (d) monitoring adherence to any agreement and funding arrangements entered into by the Moricetown First Nation or any department or agency;
 - (e) administration and supervision of the financial records and reporting systems;
 - (f) the maintenance of records of all receipts and expenditures in such a manner so as to facilitate the annual audit; and
 - (g) any other task assigned by the Board.
- 17. The Board shall be responsible for the hiring of the Controller subject to the ratification of the Council and dismissal of the Controller shall be in accordance with the personnel policies of the Moricetown First Nation as established by Council.

COUNCIL'S ROLE

- **18.** The Council shall appoint two (2) Councillors and two (2) persons from the general First Nation membership to serve as members of the Board for a period consistent with the term of office of the Band Council.
- **19.** The Council shall oversee the preparation of the annual budget and shall approve the annual budget of the Moricetown First Nation and any amendments thereto.
- **20.** The Council shall receive and approve the annual audit of the Moricetown First Nation.

21. The Council may, upon the recommendation of the Board or upon its own motion, approve of an exception to this By-law by an amending by-law in accordance with section 83 of the *Indian Act*.

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

22. On the recommendation of the Board, the Council may approve the delegation of authority to approve expenditures on behalf of the Moricetown First Nation within the annual budget and consistent with the financial organization of the Moricetown First Nation.

ANNUAL BUDGET

- **23.** The Board shall prepare estimates of the revenues of the Moricetown First Nation for the purpose of preparing the annual budget.
- **24.** Each department manager and agency manager shall prepare the department or agency's annual budget for the operation of the department or agency and shall submit the budget prepared to the Board which shall prepare a consolidated annual budget for the Moricetown First Nation.
- **25.** The annual budget for the Moricetown First Nation and its agencies shall be submitted by the Board to Council for consideration and approval.
- **26.** The Council is solely responsible for the approval of the consolidated annual budget for the Moricetown First Nation and its agencies for each fiscal year.
- **27.** Council may increase allocations of funds in the budget, reduce allocations of funds, or reallocate funds to different sectors in the annual budget.
- **28.** The annual budget becomes official upon approval by the Council by resolution.
- **29.** Council may amend the annual budget at any time before or after its implementation.
- **30.** The annual budget shall be made available during regular working hours for inspection by any member of the Moricetown First Nation, and copies are to be provided to Moricetown First Nation members on written request to the Controller upon payment of a twenty-five (\$25) dollar fee.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: DEPOSITS

31. There shall be one Consolidated Account established by the Controller at the direction of the Treasury Board into which all Moricetown First Nation funds shall be deposited.

- 510
- **32.** The Controller shall ensure that safekeeping of the Moricetown First Nation funds received and shall forthwith deposit all Moricetown First Nation funds to the credit of the Moricetown First Nation Consolidated Account.
- **33.** The Board may authorize the Controller to reallocate funds from the Moricetown First Nation Consolidated Account to other accounts for investment purposes or program and services delivery.
 - **34.** Funds in the Consolidated Account shall be administered by the Controller.
- **35.** The interest earned on the Moricetown First Nation funds shall be paid to the Consolidated Account.
- **36.** Operating surpluses as of the end of the fiscal year shall be paid into the Consolidated Account and allocated or expended in accordance with the direction of Council.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: EXPENDITURES

- **37.** All payments and financial commitments shall be in accordance with the annual budget or in accordance with Council resolution.
- **38.** The Board may make accountable advances from the Consolidated Account to an account administered by a department or agency manager on a monthly basis according to the approved annual budget.
- **39.** At the beginning of each fiscal year, each department and agency manager may receive a one (1) month advance or in such amount as determined by the annual budget and the cash flow approved annual budget.
- **40.** Where funds have been advanced to a department or agency, the department and agency managers shall report to the Board on the last day of the following month
 - (a) an invoice listing the funds expended in the previous month; and
 - (b) a trial balance of the receipts and disbursements for the previous month.
- **41.** The invoice listing submitted to the Board shall be reviewed and approved by the Board if reasonably within the approved budget and upon such approval further advance for the next month shall be made to the department or agency.
- **42.** The Board shall deduct from the current month's advance any amounts advanced in prior months which exceed the amount of the expenditures as recorded in the trial balance.
- **43.** The Board may make such adjustments as are required in the last month of the fiscal year to close out the final payment for the year.

FINANCIAL REPORTING: INVOICING

- **44.** No payment shall be made for the performances of work, supply of goods or rendering of services unless the charge in respect of such work, goods or services has been authorized
 - (a) pursuant to a Council resolution;
 - (b) by a person delegated to authorize such payment; or
 - (c) pursuant to an agreement entered into between the Moricetown First Nation and the person providing such work, goods or services which establishes the amount, or a method of calculating the amount, to be charged for such work, goods or services.
- **45.** For all work, goods or services that are provided by or through the Moricetown First Nation or any other person on behalf of the Moricetown First Nation for a fee or other charge, an invoice shall be rendered for payment for the work, goods or services.
- **46.** The Treasurer, department or agency manager each have a role in ensuring invoices are rendered pursuant to this By-law.

AWARDING OF CONTRACTS

- **47.** The Council may appoint by resolution the department or agency managers and other persons as authorized to approve the purchase of goods and services. Any expenditures in the awarding of contracts must receive the prior approval of the Band Council.
- **48.** All orders for work, goods or services provided to the Moricetown First Nation must be recommended to Council by the department or agency manager authorized to approve the purchase of goods or services.
- **49.** Each order for work, goods or services over fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) or such greater amount as approved by Council, unless approved in the annual budget, shall, in addition to the signature of the department or agency manager, require attestation by the Controller as to availability of funds.

TENDERS

- **50.** Capital purchases up to fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) or such greater amounts as approved by Council may be made by a department or agency manager if approved in the annual budget without going to tender.
- **51.** Capital purchases over fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) and under five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000) or in such amounts as approved by Council may be made by invitations to tender.

- **52.** Capital purchases in excess of five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000) or such greater amounts as approved by Council must be made by public tender.
- **53.** In emergency situations telephone bids up to twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000) or such greater amount as approved by Council may be accepted by a department or agency manager providing a written confirmation follows from the bidder and a record of telephone bids is filed.
 - **54.** Invitations to tender shall include
 - (a) the time and date of closing;
 - (b) sufficient details from which comparable bids can be made;
 - (c) the time, date, and place tenders are to be opened; and
 - (d) amount of security deposit if required.
- **55.** The tendering period is not to be less than five (5) working days, unless in an emergency situation.
- **56.** All tenders are to be returned sealed and addressed to the Moricetown First Nation, clearly marked "Tendered for ______" and the time and date of receipt is to be recorded on the unopened envelope of tender when received.
- **57.** All tenders received shall be opened in public in the presence of the department or agency manager or other person responsible for the tender process.
- **58.** The name of the tender, project, date of bid and amount shown must be recorded.
- **59.** The lowest tender received shall normally be accepted unless the authorized person deems it in the best interest of the Moricetown First Nation to do otherwise.
- **60.** Where the lowest tender is not accepted, the reasons are to be recorded in the document by the authorized person accepting the contract.
- **61.** Upon acceptance of a tender for the performance of work, goods, or services, a contract is to be signed by both parties and shall be kept as a portion of the records of the Moricetown First Nation.
- **62.** In the event that an official or employee of the Moricetown First Nation has a personal interest in the contract, he or she shall signify the interest and thereafter refrain from taking part in the discussion or participating in the awarding of the contract.
- **63.** No disbursements or payment on any contract shall be made without supporting documentation as determined by the policies of the Board.

- **64.** A ten per cent (10%) hold-back of final payment or in such amount as may be determined by Board policy shall not be released to a contractor until all work is certified as complete and satisfactory to the Council.
 - **65.** The Board may establish policies and procedures for the tender process.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

- **66.** Any person who holds an office, including that of Chief or Councillor, or employment with the Moricetown First Nation, its departments or agencies, shall not use that office or employment for personal gain to the detriment of the interests of the Moricetown First Nation.
- **67.** "Personal gain" shall mean financial benefit for the individual or for the members of his or her immediate family.
- **68.** "Family" shall mean a spouse, including a common-law spouse, children, parent, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, uncle, aunt, grandparent, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, and also includes any relative permanently residing in the person's household.
- **69.** A person may avoid a conflict of interest by disclosing his or her interest prior to the making of a decision and by not participating in the decision.
- **70.** If a person violates the conflict of interest provision Council will, subject to the Moricetown Personnel Policy, suspend the employee or official from all privileges and benefits of office or employment for a period up to three (3) weeks.
- **71.** The Board may develop detailed conflict of interest rules which shall govern the administration of financial affairs of the Moricetown First Nation which shall take effect upon approval by Council. These detailed conflict of interest rules would support those included under this By-law.
 - **72.** An appeal of suspension or dismissal can be made to the Band Council.

AGREEMENTS

- **73.** The Council may approve on behalf of the Moricetown First Nation such agreements of funding arrangements with the federal and provincial governments or with any other party for the provision of funding for the Moricetown First Nation, its agencies and other bodies.
- **74.** Where an agreement or arrangement has been approved under section 73 and on the recommendation of the Treasury Board, the Council may approve an alternative arrangement for the management of money received.

FISCAL YEAR

75. The fiscal year of the Moricetown First Nation Government shall be from April 1 of each year to March 31 in the following year.

AUDIT

- **76.** Council shall appoint by resolution an auditor or auditors annually to audit the books and records of the Moricetown First Nation.
- **77.** The auditor or auditors shall be a member of a recognized professional accounting association.
 - **78.** The auditor or auditors shall report to Council.
- **79.** The audit shall include all transactions involving the Moricetown First Nation funds.
 - **80.** The auditor or auditors are entitled to access
 - (a) all books, records, accounts and vouchers;
 - (b) information from any department or agency manager necessary for the completion of the audit;
 - (c) Council resolutions and by-laws;
 - (d) administration and financial regulations;
 - (e) agreements, contracts, and any other related documents.
- **81.** The audit shall be in accordance with generally accepted accounting procedures and shall include a general review of the adequacy of the accounting procedures and systems of control employed to preserve and protect the assets of the Moricetown First Nation.
- **82.** The Board shall provide the auditors with instructions concerning the annual audit and, through the Controller, shall assist the auditor or auditors in the completion of the audit.
- **83.** After the review of the annual audit by the Board, the auditor or auditors shall present the annual audit to the Council upon completion of the annual audit.
- **84.** The audited financial statement shall be accepted by the Council by resolution at a meeting and signed by the Chief and such other person as designated by the Council.

PUBLIC

- **85.** Upon receipt of the auditor's report by Council, copies of the report shall be posted in such public places as determined by Council.
- **86.** The Controller shall retain the written report of the auditor, together with the related financial statements and any member of the Moricetown First Nation may inspect them during regular office hours and may by himself or through his agent, at his own expense, make a copy of the report or any part of it.

AMENDMENTS AND REPEAL

- **87.** A decision made in contravention of this By-law is voidable by vote of a majority of Council.
- **88.** Amendment or repeal of this By-law shall be in the manner stipulated by the *Indian Act*.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on the 26th day of March, 2002.

A quorum of Council is five (5) members of Council.

[Warner William] Chief Warner William

[Warner William]	[Theresa Dennis]	
Councillor Warner William	Councillor Theresa Dennis	
	[Darlene Vantunen]	
Councillor Eric Jim	Councillor Darlene Vantunen	
Councillor Delvin Joseph	Councillor Duane Mitchell	
[Alec Thomas]		
Councillor Alec Thomas	Councillor Joyce Quock	
[Victor Jim]		
Councillor Victor Jim	Councillor John Dennis	
[Percy Michell]	[Freda Huson]	
Councillor Percy Michell	Councillor Freda Huson	

SHUSWAP INDIAN BAND 2003 RATES BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2003-01

[Effective April 9, 2003]

THAT WHEREAS pursuant to subsection 83(1) of the *Indian Act*, the Council of a Band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, or interest in land including the rights to occupy, possess or use lands within the boundaries of the Reserve and with respect to any matters arising out of, and or ancillary to such purpose:

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Shuswap Indian Band enacted the *Shuswap Indian Band Taxation and Assessment By-law* on March 9, 1992;

NOW BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the following by-law be and is hereby enacted pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular section 83(1) for the purpose of establishing annual rates of taxation.

- **1.** This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the *Shuswap Indian Band* 2003 Rates By-law.
- **2.** Pursuant to section 24 of the *Shuswap Indian Band Taxation By-law*, the rates for each class of property shall be in accordance with Schedule "A" which is attached, and forms part of the *2003 Rates By-law*.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by the Council of the Shuswap Indian Band at a duly convened meeting held on the 12th day of March, 2003.

A quorum for this Band consists of 2.

[Anthony	Pascal]
Chief Antho	ony Pascal
[Marge Eugene]	[Clarissa Stevens]
Councillor Marge Eugene	Councillor Clarissa Stevens

SCHEDULE "A"

The Council of the Shuswap Indian Band hereby adopts the following taxation rates for the 2003 taxation year for the following classes of property.

Class of Property		Tax Rate
1	Residential	10.21812
2.	Utility	47.00334
3.	Unmanaged Forest	30.21617
4.	Major Industry	26.48694
5.	Light Industry	35.43572
6.	Business/Other	23.91039
7.	Managed Forest	18.82525
8.	Recreational/Non-Profit	11.03557
9.	Farm	13.43942

SKOWKALE FIRST NATION 2002 RATES BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2002-03

[Effective October 10, 2002]

WHEREAS pursuant to subsection 83(1)(a) of the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, the Council of a band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, including rights to occupy, possess or use land in a reserve and with respect to any matters arising out of or ancillary to such purpose;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Skowkale First Nation (also known as the Skowkale Band) enacted the *Skowkale First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law* on February 21, 1995;

NOW BE IT THEREBY RESOLVED that the following by-law be and is hereby enacted pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular section 83(1) for the purpose of establishing annual rates of taxation.

- **1.** This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the *Skowkale First Nation* 2002 *Rates By-law*.
- **2.** Pursuant to Section 3 of the *Skowkale First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law*, the tax rates for each class of property shall be in accordance with Schedule "A-1" which is attached, and form part of the *2002 Rates By-law*.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on the [8th] day of August, 2002.

	[Mark Point]	_
	Chief	
[Jeffrey Point]		[William Sepass]
Councillor		Councillor

SCHEDULE "A-1"

The Council of the Skowkale First Nation hereby adopts the following taxation rates for the 2002 taxation year for the following classes of property.

COLUMN 1 COLUMN 2

Class of Property as prescribed under Rate of Tax applied against each Schedule II and Section 3 of the *Skowkale* \$1,000.00 of the assessed value of the *First Nation Property Taxation By-law*. land and improvements as determined in

Rate of Tax applied against each \$1,000.00 of the assessed value of the land and improvements as determined in accordance with Part IV of the Skowkale First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law.

Class 1 - Residential	11.97
Class 2 - Utilities	62.721
Class 3 - Unmanaged Forest Land	23.939
Class 4 - Major Industry	29.924
Class 5 - Light Industry	24.681
Class 6 - Business and Other	26.394
Class 7 - Managed Forest Land	23.939
Class 8 - Recreational/Non-Profit	8.379
Class 9 - Farm	20.632

SKOWKALE FIRST NATION EXEMPTION BY-LAW 1-2002

[Effective October 10, 2002]

The Skowkale First Nation in accordance with Part 3 of the *Skowkale Property Taxation By-law 1-1995* enacts the following by-law.

- 1. This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the Exemption By-law 2002.
- **a.** Any person having property assessed by the head assessor pursuant to the *Assessment By-law* as being in *Class 5 (Light Industry)* or *Class 6 (Business/Other)* shall be exempt from the payment of taxes in an amount equivalent to the gross assessed value of improvement being \$5,000.00 less than as stated in the roll authenticated pursuant to the *Assessment By-law*.

APPROVED by the Skowkale First Nation, as represented by its duly elected Chief and Council, this [8th] day of August, 2002.

	[Mark Point]
	Chief
[Jeffrey Point]	
Councillor	

SKUPPAH INDIAN BAND 2002 RATES BY-LAW

[Effective October 10, 2002]

WHEREAS pursuant to the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, and specifically paragraph 83(1)(a) of the *Indian Act*, 1985, c.I-5, the Council of the band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, including rights to occupy, possess or use land in a reserve and with respect to any matters arising out of or ancillary to such purpose;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Skuppah Indian Band enacted the *Skuppah Indian Band Property Assessment and Taxation By-law* on August 25, 2002;

NOW BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the following by-law be and is hereby enacted pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act*, and in particular section 83(1) for the purpose of establishing annual rates of taxation.

- **1.** This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the *Skuppah Indian Band* 2002 *Rates By-law*.
- **2.** Pursuant to Section 24(5) of the *Skuppah Indian Band Property Assessment and Taxation By-law*, the tax rates for each class of property shall be in accordance with Schedule "A" which is attached, and forms part of the 2002 Rates By-law.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on the 25th day of August, 2002.

A quorum for the Skuppah Indian Band Council is one (1).

[Doug McIntyre]
Chief Doug McIntyre

SCHEDULE "A"

Prescribed Tax Rates For the Taxation Year 2002

The Council of the Skuppah Indian Band hereby adopts the following taxation rates for the 2002 taxation year for the following classes of property.

Class of Property		Tax Rate
1.	Residential	15.4200
2.	Utilities	61.4696
3.	Unmanaged Forest	12.4641
4.	Major Industry	49.2007
5.	Light Industrial	10.2773
6.	Business/Other	31.3215
7.	Managed Forest Land	6.3422
8.	Recreational/Non-Profit	4.6436
9.	Farm	6.9739
10.	Canadian Pacific Railway Right-of-Way*	20.3724

^{*}Note – the rate established for this particular class of property is set as required pursuant to and in accordance with the *Property Assessment and Taxation (Railway Right of Way) Regulations SOR/2001-493* as published in the *Canada Gazette Part II, Vol. 135, No. 24*, November 21, 2001.

SQUAMISH INDIAN BAND PROPERTY ASSESSMENT BY-LAW **AMENDMENT BY-LAW NO. 1-2002**

[Effective February 14, 2003]

WHEREAS:

- A. It is the practice of the Band Council of the Squamish Indian Band to enact a by-law, annually, establishing rates of taxation to be applied to the assessed value of interests in land in certain of its reserves;
- B. It is an objective of assessments conducted under the provisions of the Squamish Indian Band Property Assessment By-law to ensure uniformity in the method of assessment of interests in land;
- C. The Band Council of the Squamish Indian Band wishes to further amend the Squamish Indian Band Property Assessment By-law to ensure that the objective set out in Recital B is given effect.

NOW BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the following By-law be and is hereby enacted for the purpose of amending certain provisions of the Squamish Indian Band Property Assessment By-law as hereinafter provided.

SHORT TITLE

1. This by-law may be cited as the Squamish Indian Band Property Assessment By-law, Amendment By-law No. 1-2002.

AMENDMENT

- 2. The Squamish Indian Band Property Assessment By-law December 16, 1992, as amended to December 12, 2002 is amended as follows:
 - (a) in subsection 1.(1) by adding the following definition immediately after the definition for "taxes":
 - "telecommunications" includes land and improvements used or held for the purposes of, or for purposes ancillary to, the business of a telecommunications common carrier that operates a telephone system, data telecommunications network or cable television undertaking, but does not include the land and improvements in respect of a telecommunications common carrier that is a radio or television broadcasting or rebroadcasting undertaking."
 - (b) in subsection 1.(2)(k) by adding "broadcasting, rebroadcasting" immediately after "telecommunications,",

TENSE

3. Where a provision in this by-law is expressed in the present tense, future tense or in the past tense, the provision applies to the circumstances as they may from time to time arise without reference to the present tense, future tense or the past tense.

BY-LAW REMEDIAL

4. This by-law shall be construed as being remedial, and shall be given such fair, large and liberal construction and interpretation as best ensures the attainment of its objectives.

HEAD NOTE

5. Head notes, marginal notes and provision headings form no part of this by-law but shall be construed as being inserted for convenience of reference only.

SEVERANCE OF SECTIONS

6. A finding by a court of competent jurisdiction that a section or provision of this by-law is void or invalid shall not affect or bear upon the validity or invalidity of any other section or part of this by-law or this by-law as a whole.

COMING INTO FORCE

7. This Squamish Indian Band Property Assessment By-law, Amendment By-law No.1-2002 shall come into force and effect immediately upon approval by the Minister of Indian Affairs.

APPROVED AND PASSED at a duly convened meeting of the Band Council of the Squamish Indian Band held at 320 Seymour Boulevard, North Vancouver, British Columbia, V7J 2J3, this 16th day of December, 2002.

A quorum of Council consists of [8] Councillors.

[Chief Bill Williams]	[Chief Gibby Jacob]
Chief Bill Williams	Chief Gibby Jacob
telálsem <u>k</u> in siyám	<u>K</u> á <u>K</u> eltn siyám
Councillor Alroy Baker	Councillor Veronica Baker
$\underline{\mathbf{K}}$ 'et $\underline{\mathbf{x}}$ ímtn	Tiyaltenaat
	[Julie Baker]
Councillor Donna Billy	Councillor Julie Baker
Sisúliya	Sxwélhchaliya

Councillor Harold Calla	Councillor Dale Harry Xwa-xwalkn
Councillor Krisandra Jacobs	[Byron Joseph]
[Dennis Joseph]	Councillor Byron Joseph sekwílem
Councillor Dennis Joseph Xwech'tàal	
	Councillor Evelyn Joseph
[Chief Floyd Joseph]	sxànanulh
Chief Floyd Joseph	[Anthony Moody]
Skwatatxwamkin siýam	[Anthony Moody]
[Chief Richard Williams]	Councillor Anthony Moody Tsetsímshtn
Chief Richard Williams	[A W/h a]
<u>X</u> wél <u>x</u> welacha siýam	[Ann Whonnock]
	Councillor Ann Whonnock
	Sye <u>x</u> wáliya

TSAWOUT INDIAN BAND RATES BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2003 TX-01

[Effective June 1, 2003]

SCHEDULE "A"

Prescribed Tax Rates For the 2003 Taxation Year

Class of Property		Tax Rate
1.	Residential	11.013
2.	Utilities	48.457
5.	Industrial	0.000
6.	Business/Other	25.880
8.	Recreational	0.000
9.	Farm Land	0.000

BE IT KNOWN that this By-law entitled the *Rates By-law* which forms part of the *Tsawout Indian Band Taxation By-law* passed by Chief and Council and approved by the Minister May 27, 1994, that being a by-law to establish by by-law a system on the reserve land of the Tsawout Indian Band for the fair and equitable taxation for local purposes of land, or interest in land including the rights to occupy, possess or use lands within the boundaries of the reserves is hereby enacted as *Rates By-law 2003 TX-01* by the Chief and Council of the Tsawout Indian Band.

APPROVED AND PASSED at a duly Band held at the Tsawout First Nation Ac Saanichton, British Columbia, this [30t]			
Moved by: [G. Underwood] Se	conded by:[L.G. Claxton]		
A quorum of the Tsawout First Nation Council consists of (4) Councillors.			
[Allan L. Claxton]			
Chief Allan Claxton			
	[Gwen Underwood]		
Councillor George B. Underwood	Councillor Gwen Underwood		

	[Louis Claxton]
Councillor Frank Pelkey	Councillor Louis Claxton
[Gus A. Underwood]	
Councillor Gus A. Underwood	

UPPER SIMILKAMEEN INDIAN BAND 2002 PROPERTY ASSESSMENT BY-LAW

[Effective December 19, 2002]

WHEREAS:

The Band Council of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band deems it advisable and in the best interests of the band to engage in the taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, in the reserve lands of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band, including rights to occupy, possess or use land in the reserve lands of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED:

That the *Property Assessment By-law* be and is hereby enacted for the purpose of engaging in the assessment and taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, in the reserve, including rights to occupy, possess or use land in the reserve, pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular pursuant to the provisions of subsection 83(1) of the *Indian Act*; and pursuant to the inherent right of self-government,

AND,

The *Property Assessment By-law* as enacted herein shall supersede any property assessment by-laws previously enacted by the Band council and approved by the Minister of Indian Affairs to the extent necessary to give full force and effect to the *Property Assessment By-law* for the 2002 taxation year and all following years,

AND,

That upon approval by the Minister of Indian Affairs, the *Property Assessment By-law* shall come into full force and effect.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
PART 1	INTERPRETATION AND TITLES	531
	Interpretation	531
PART 2	ASSESSOR AND ASSESSMENT ROLL	540
	Assessor	540
	Powers of Assessor	541
	Duties of Assessor	541
	Staff	541
PART 3	PREPARATION OF ANNUAL ASSESSMENT ROLL	542
	Completion of Roll	542

	Upper Similkameen Indian Band 2002 Assessment By-law [B.C.]	529
	Grouping of Parcels	543
	Notice of Assessment	543
	Certification of Completed Roll	543
	Delivery of Completed Roll	543
	Assessment Roll Open for Inspection	544
	Correction of Errors	544
	Validity of Completed Assessment Roll	544
	Supplementary Roll	544
	Provisions Applicable to Supplementary Assessment Roll	546
PART 4	INSPECTIONS AND RETURNS	546
	Return of Information	546
	Inspections and Assessment Powers of Assessor	546
	Power to Examine Property and Accounts	547
	Manufactured Home Park Information	547
PART 5	VALUATION	548
	Valuation and Status Dates	548
	Valuation for Purposes of Assessment	548
	Major Industry Valuation	549
	Valuation for Certain Purposes not Actual	550
	Exempt Land Held by Occupier Liable to Assessment	551
	Assessment of Interests in Land Held by a Municipality or	
	the Crown in Right of the Province of British Columbia	551
	Joint Interests	552
	Further Assessment of an Improvement on Land	552
PART 6	BOARD OF REVIEW	552
	Establishment of Board of Review	552
	Appeals to Board of Review	554
	Board of Review to be Notified	555
	Assessor to Notify Interest Holder	555
	Notice of Hearing	555
	Powers of Board of Review	555
	Costs	557
	Board of Review Sets Own Rules	557
	Hearing of Appeals	557
	Oaths	557
	Action by Board of Review	557
	Inspection Powers of Board of Review	557
	Power of a Single Board Member	558
	Board of Review Decisions	558
	Amendment to Assessment Roll	558
	Orders of Board of Review Obtainable	558

		on Matters of Law by the Board on Receipt of the Court's Decision	559 559
PART 7	GENER Applies Schedul By-law Council Head N Notices Severan Use of I Transiti Power t	RAL	560 560 560 560 560 561 561 561 562 562
		SCHEDULES	
SCHEDUI	LE "A"	CLASSES OF PROPERTY	563 563 563 564 564 565 565 565 566
SCHEDUI	LE "B"	PRESCRIBED MANUALS	567 567 567
SCHEDUI	LE "C"	EXEMPTION FROM INDUSTRIAL IMPROVEMENTS	568
SCHEDUI	LE "D"	DEPRECIATION OF INDUSTRIAL IMPROVEMENTS	569 569 569 570 570

	Industrial Improvement Depreciation Rates (table)	571
SCHEDULE "E"	OATH OF OFFICECONFIRMATION OF ROLL	573 573
SCHEDULE "F"	NOTICE OF ASSESSMENT	574
SCHEDULE "G"	STATUTORY DECLARATION OF ASSESSOR	575

This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the 2002 Upper Similkameen Indian Band Assessment By-law.

PART 1

INTERPRETATION AND TITLES

Interpretation

- **1.**(A) In this by-law:
- "agent" means a person who acts with the written authority of a person or interest holder.
- "appraiser" means a person who is a property valuator engaged by the assessor or appointed by council under this by-law,
- "assessment" means a valuation of property for taxation purposes,
- "Assessment Act" means the Assessment Act, RSBC 1996, c.20,
- "Assessment Authority Act" means the Assessment Authority Act, RSBC 1996, c.21,
- "assessment by-law" means the *Upper Similkameen Indian Band Assessment By-law*, passed by the council and approved by the minister,
- "assessment roll" includes a supplementary assessment roll and anything recorded as an addendum to the assessment roll,
- "assessor" means an assessor appointed by the council under this by-law,
- "band" means the Upper Similkameen Indian Band, a band within the meaning of the *Indian Act*,
- "band council resolution" means a resolution passed in accordance with Section 2(3)(b) of the *Indian Act*,
- "band land register" means the lists and files kept by the land management department of the band in which are listed or filed particulars in respect of property including particulars in respect of property not listed or filed in any land title office or reserve land register,

- "band manager" means the band manager of the band or his delegate,
- "band member" means a member of the band.
- "board" and "board of review" means the board of review appointed under section 29(A) of the assessment by-law,
- "British Columbia Assessment Authority" means the British Columbia Assessment Authority as defined in the Assessment Authority Act,
- "closed circuit television corporation" includes a person operating for a fee or charge a television signal receiving antenna or similar device, or equipment for the transmission of television signals to television receivers of subscribers, or any or all of those devices and equipment,
- "council" means the council of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band within the meaning of the Indian Act,
- "Court" means Federal Court of Canada,
- "farm" means an area of land classified as such by the assessor,
- "forest land" means land that has as its highest and best use the production and harvesting of timber,
- "highway" includes a street, road, lane, bridge, viaduct and any other way open to the use of the public, but does not include a private right of way on private property,
- "improvements" means any building, fixture, structure or similar thing constructed or placed on or in land, or water over land, or on or in another improvement, but does not include any of the following things unless that thing is a building or is deemed to be included in the definition by section 1(A) and section 1(B):
 - (a) production machinery,
 - (b) anything intended to be moved as a complete unit in its day to day use, and
 - (c) furniture and equipment that is not affixed for any purpose other than its own stability and that is easily moved by hand,
- "Indian Act" means the Indian Act, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, and any amendments thereto,
- "interest" includes any legal or beneficial right, title, estate or interest, except where the context refers to a rate of interest,
- "interest holder" means a person who has an interest in, or is an occupier of, land or improvements, or both,

- "land" means land, or interests in land, in the reserve, including rights to occupy, possess or use land in the reserve, and includes, but is not limited to:
 - (a) land covered by water,
 - (b) quarries, and
 - (c) sand and gravel,
- "land co-operative" means a parcel of land of which an interest holder is a corporation which holds its interest in the land exclusively for the benefit of its shareholders who
 - (a) have rights to occupy a portion of the parcel, and
 - (b) hold, own or have the use of share or shares and other securities in the corporation that have a value equivalent to the value of the portion in relation to the value of the parcel,
- "land title office" means the land title office or offices for the land title district in which land located in the reserve may have been registered under the *Land Title Act of the Province of British Columbia*, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing but for greater certainty includes each land title office in which land located in any named reserve may have been so registered,
- "manufactured home" is deemed to be an improvement for the purpose of property assessment and taxation and means any structure, whether or not ordinarily equipped with wheels, that is designed, constructed or manufactured to be moved from one place to another by being towed or carried, and to provide:
 - (a) a dwelling house or premises,
 - (b) a business office or premises,
 - (c) accommodation for any person other than those referred to in paragraphs
 - (a) or (b),
 - (d) shelter for machinery or other equipment, or
 - (e) storage, workshop, repair, construction or manufacturing facilities,
- "manufactured home park" means land used or occupied by a person for the purpose of providing space for the accommodation of one or more manufactured homes and for imposing a charge, fee or rental for the use of that space,
- "minister" means the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development and includes a person designated in writing by the Minister,
- "municipality" means, in accordance with the context, either any area incorporated as a city, district, township, town or village, under any Act of the Province of British Columbia, or the corporation into which the residents of the area

have been incorporated as a municipality or regional district pursuant to the provisions of the *Local Government Act* of the Province of British Columbia,

"natural gas" means a gaseous mixture of hydrocarbon and other gases received from the wells, and includes that gas after refinements,

"occupier" means:

- (a) a person who, if a trespass has occurred, is entitled to maintain an action for trespass,
- (b) a person in possession of land within the reserve that is held directly or indirectly under a lease, licence, agreement, easement or other record from the Crown, or who simply occupies the land,
- (c) a person in possession of land within the reserve that is held directly or indirectly under a lease, licence agreement, easement or other record from a person who is exempted from taxation under the taxation by-law or any Act that applies to land in the reserve or who simply occupies the land, or
- (d) in relation to land that in ordinary conditions is covered by water, a person who is entitled directly or indirectly under a lease or licence to possess or occupy, or who simply occupies, the land, the water covering the land or the surface of the water covering the land,
- "parcel" means a lot, block, or other area in which land is held or into which land is subdivided, and does include a highway or portion of a highway and the right or interest of an occupier of reserve land,
- "person", in addition to its ordinary meaning, includes a partnership, syndicate, association, corporation, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof and the agent or trustee of a person,
- "petroleum" or "petroleum products" means crude oil or liquid hydrocarbons, or any product or by-product of them,
- "pipe line corporation" means a person having an interest in or operating a pipe line, all or any part of which is situate in or on the reserve, for the purpose of gathering or transporting natural gas, petroleum or petroleum products,

"production machinery" means any:

- (a) engine,
- (b) motor, or
- (c) machine used to manufacture, process, repair or convey a product,

[&]quot;property" includes land and improvements,

[&]quot;property class" means a class of property established under section 23(G),

- "registered" and "registration", when used in respect of land, refer to registration in the books of the Land Title Office or the books of the reserve land register or listed or filed in the band land register,
- "reserve" has the same meaning as in the Indian Act,
- "reserve land register" means the register or registers kept by the Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development pursuant to section 21 of the *Indian Act* and the register or registers kept by the Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development pursuant to section 55 of the *Indian Act*, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing but for greater certainty includes each such register relating to each named reserve,
- "residential building" means a building used or designed to be used in whole or in part for residential purposes and includes an associated outbuilding of and other improvements to a building used or designed to be used in whole or in part for residential purposes, but does not include a floating manufactured home,
- "Schedule" means a schedule to this by-law,
- "surveyor of taxes" means the surveyor of taxes appointed under the taxation by-law,
- "taxation by-law" means the *Upper Similkameen Indian Band Property Taxation By-law*, passed by the council and approved by the minister, and, where the context requires, all property taxation by-laws and taxation by-laws which may have been superseded by this by-law or by a previous property taxation or taxation by-law,
- "taxation year" means the calendar year to which an assessment roll applies for the purposes of taxation as referred to in section 6(C),
- "taxes" includes all taxes on property or other basis of assessment imposed, levied, assessed or assessable under this by-law, and all percentage additions, costs, penalties and interest added to taxes or imposed or payable under this by-law,
- "trustee" includes a personal representative, guardian, committee, receiver and any person having or taking on himself the possession, administration or control of property affected by any express trust, or having, by law, the possession, management or control of the property of a person under a legal disability.
- (B) Without limiting the definition of improvements contained in Section 1(A), the following categories and types of things are deemed to be included in that definition:
 - 1. anything that is an integral part of a building or structure and is intended to serve or enhance the building or structure, including elevators, escalators and

systems for power distribution, heating, lighting, ventilation, air conditioning, communications, security and fire protection,

- 2. any building or structure that is capable of maintaining a controlled temperature or containing a special atmosphere, including dry kilns, steam chests, green houses and cooling towers,
- 3. any lighting fixtures, paving and fencing,
- 4. any
 - (a) piling, retaining walls and bulkheads, and
 - (b) water system, storm drainage system and industrial or sanitary sewer system,

the value of which is not included by the assessor in the value of the land,

- 5. any foundations, such as footings, perimeter walls, slabs, pedestals, piers, columns and similar things, including foundations for machinery and equipment,
- 6. any pipe racks, tending platforms, conveyor structures and supports for machinery and equipment, including structural members and comprising tresses, bents, trusts and joist sections, stringers, beams, channels, angles and similar things,
- 7. any aqueducts, dams, reservoirs, and artificial lagoons and any tunnels other than mine workings,
- 8. any roads, air strips, bridges, trestles and towers, including ski towers,
- 9. any mains, pipes or pipe lines for the movement of fluids or gas,
- 10. any track in place, including railway track in place,
- 11. any pole lines, metallic or fibre optic cables, towers, poles, wires, transformers, substations, conduits and mains, that are used to provide electric light, power, telecommunications, transportation and similar services, including power wiring for production machinery up to the main electrical panels or motor control center, those panels and that center,
- 12. any vessels, such as tanks, bins, hoppers and silos (and any structure that is connected to those vessels), with the following capacities:
 - (a) for vessels in wineries, 20,000 or more gallons, and
 - (b) for vessels not in wineries,
 - (i) if aboveground,
 - (A) 5,000 or more gallons, or

- (B) 800 or more cubic feet, and
- (ii) if underground,
 - (A) 3,975 or more gallons, or
 - (B) 635 or more cubic feet,

and any structure that is connected to those vessels,

- 13. docks, wharves, rafts and floats,
- 14. floating homes and any other floating structures and devices that are used principally for purposes other than transportation,
- 15. that part of anything referred to in paragraphs (1 to 14) or of any building, fixture, structure or similar thing that, whether or not completed, or capable of being used for the purpose for which it is designed,
 - (iii) is being constructed or placed, and
 - (iv) is intended, when completed, to constitute, or will with the addition of further construction, constitute any of those things.
- (C) Notwithstanding the general definition of improvements contained in section 1(A) and the specific definition of improvements contained in section 1(B), the following categories and types of things are specifically excluded from the definition of improvements (but any foundations associated with them are not excluded):
 - 1. portable elements of communications, security or fire protection systems, and the following items, whether or not portable, which are used for telecommunication:
 - a. head end equipment;
 - 2. all antennae including, but not limited to, parabolic, standard microwave, common carrier, radome, dipole or yagi types, whether used in radio, microwave, television, telephone or satellite systems;
 - 3. light metal towers associated with antennae, which are not used for industrial, commercial or business purposes;
 - 4. bucket elevators;
 - 5. fans, motors, piping other than piping used to supply fuel, or other equipment that is used to control or provide the temperature, irrigation or atmosphere within a dry kiln, steam chest, greenhouse, cooling tower, controlled atmosphere warehouse or cold storage warehouse, and all ventilating and heating equipment used for process purposes in farms;

- 6. coolers, freezers or controlled environment cabinets that are
 - (a) of a modular walk-in or reach-in type, and
 - (b) located within a building or structure,

and any associated machinery and controls;

538

- 7. portable lighting or portable lighting plants;
- 8. those pumps, motors, traveling screens, traveling cranes and hoists, filters, chlorinators, skimmers, aerators and similar things that are in water or sewer systems;
- 9. in the case of rail car and truck dumpers, lifts for marine vessels, platform scales, hoppers, stacker-reclaimers, conveyors, screw conveyors and traveling cranes, their moving parts and all controls related to their moving parts;
- 10. casings for screw conveyors or bucket elevators;
- 11. those catwalks or tending platforms that are principally mounted on or are supported either by an improvement exempted by this regulation or by production machinery;
- 12. idler arms for conveyors;
- 13. chip or hog blow lines;
- 14. J-bar or tray sorters, excluding any enclosure and associated framing;
- 15. turbines, generators and related controls;
- 16. those surface tows or aerial chairs, gondolas or tramways that are supported by towers, including their supporting cables, sheave assemblies, bull wheels, motors and controls;
- 17. snow making systems except piping or associated structures;
- 18. haul roads within active mine pits;
- 19. subject to paragraph 5, piping in a plant that is within property classified for assessment purposes as Class 4 or 5, other than that portion of the piping which supplies or moves
 - (a) water that is used for drinking, cooking or personal hygiene,
 - (b) water to the beginning of a plant process for use in that process,
 - (c) materials that are used for fire protection,
 - (d) fuel or steam that is used for heating or power production,
 - (e) materials to the point where major processing of the materials begins,

- (f) industrial or non-industrial waste, or
- 20. materials that have been refined, manufactured or otherwise processed in the plant and which are not subject to any further refinement, manufacturing or other processing in that plant;
- 21. casings or piping in oil or gas wells;
- 22. electrical distribution equipment and materials, not including the load break switch or circuit breaker referred to in subparagraph (ii), that are located
 - a. within properties classified for assessment purposes as Class 4, 5 or 6, and
 - b. between a medium voltage load break switch, or a medium voltage circuit breaker, and production machinery, where "medium voltage" is 601 volts to and including 15 kilovolts and the load break switch or circuit breaker is located, as determined by the current flow, immediately before a distribution transformer that serves the production machinery;
- 23. portable power or generating facilities;
- 24. the following vessels:
 - a. cyclones, dust and particulate collectors or separators, power and recovery boilers, furnaces used in industrial processes, rotary dryers, rotary kilns, rotary mixers, compressor tanks, evaporators, heat exchangers, electrolytic cells, electrolytic tanks, stripping or scrubbing vessels or expansion tanks;
 - b. those flotation cells, crushers, grinding mills, dewatering filters, primary and secondary leach filters, aeration columns, carbon columns, heavy media separators and flotation columns that are used in the mining industry;
 - those rotary modulizers, absorption towers, cottrell treaters, humidifying towers, spray towers, glover towers, hot treaters, mist eliminators, melting pots, scrubbers and acidifiers that are used in the smelting industry;
 - d. those cat cracker columns, desalters, atmospheric columns, vacuum columns, rectifier columns, fractionator columns, reactors, distillation towers, reformer stacks, asphalt oxidizers, hydrotreater units, reformer units, platformer units, crude units, alkylation units, fluid cat cracker units, isomerization units, rerefined oil process units, blending or shipping kettles, oxidation towers, gas or oil separator towers, emulsion treater towers, condensate accumulators, contractor towers, reboilers, stills, instrument air receivers, treater pressure filters, treater zeolite softeners, water treater towers, coalescers, inlet scrubbers, sour water stripper towers, condensate receivers, sulfreen reactors, converters, reflux accumulators, water wash towers, methanol towers, methanol degassers, methanol strippers, instrument

air receivers, dehydrator towers, separator towers, demethanizer towers, deethanizer towers, depropanizer towers, debutanizer towers, refrigerant receivers, refrigerant blowcases and condensers, except cooling condensers, that are used in the petroleum and gas industry;

- e. those resin blenders, batch or continuous digester vessels, bleaching towers, demineralizers, water softeners, chlorine or chlorine dioxide generators, air receivers, steaming vessels (TMP), deaerators, impregnation vessels, oxygen reactors, repulpers, oxygen drum washers, preheaters, brown stock decker washers and brown stock steam vessels that are used in the forest industry;
- f. those distillation towers, graphite cells, synthesizer towers, cooler vessels, solution treaters, hydrogenator treaters, rotary pebble mills, prilling towers, degasser eliminators, vacuum dryers, methanator units, extractor units, reboilers, converters, still columns, kettles, untreated chlorate dryers, deaerator systems and steam drums that are used in the chemical industry;
- g. those spas, hot-tubs and swimming pools that are free standing and any associated machinery and controls.
- h. In the event that the *Indian Act* or any relevant portion of the *Indian Act* should be repealed or should otherwise not apply to the Upper Similkameen Indian Band, then, when the context so requires, a reference in this by-law to the *Indian Act* shall be deemed to be a reference to such other relevant authority as may be or may become applicable.
- (C) In the event that the *Indian Act* or any relevant portion of the *Indian Act* should be repealed or should otherwise not apply to the Upper Similkameen Indian Band, then, when the context so requires, a reference in this by-law to the *Indian Act* shall be deemed to be a reference to such other relevant authority as may be or may become applicable.

PART 2

ASSESSOR AND ASSESSMENT ROLL

Assessor

- **2.**(A) The council shall either appoint an assessor or contract with the BC Assessment Authority for carrying out the purposes of this by-law. Where council appoints an assessor, council shall fix the remuneration for services rendered under this by-law.
- (B) Without limiting the generality of section (A) but for greater certainty, council may:
 - (a) appoint an assessor or assessors pursuant to section (A) who is also duly appointed as an assessor pursuant to the *Assessment Authority Act*, or

- (b) contract for assessment services from the BC Assessment Authority,
- (c) obtain such materials, equipment and services in respect of assessment of land or improvements, or both, or any other matter under this by-law, as council may consider appropriate, from the BC Assessment Authority, pursuant to a contract, or contracts, of or for service or otherwise.

Powers of Assessor

- **3.**(A) The assessor shall establish assessments in accordance with this by-law, the taxation by-law, and the by-laws of the band.
 - (B) The assessor may:
 - (a) authorize employees to perform technical or professional services, other than those required under the assessment by-law,
 - (b) answer questions from the general public and band members respecting procedures relating to property assessment in the reserve, and
 - (c) exercise and carry out other powers and duties that may be required to establish and maintain assessments under this by-law, the taxation by-law, any other by-law, or order of the council.

Duties of Assessor

- **4.** The assessor appointed under this by-law shall, consistent with this by-law, the taxation by-law and any other by-law of the band:
 - (a) perform the duties required of the assessor,
 - (b) carry out policies respecting assessment and taxation,
 - (c) make reports and recommendations respecting any matter that he considers advisable to the surveyor of taxes who may bring such reports to the attention of council.
 - (d) prepare and complete assessment rolls,
 - (e) perform such other duties as may be required to effectively implement and administer this by-law, when so directed by the council, and
 - (f) supply to the surveyor of taxes, provincial assessment rates and assessment rate schedules which are incorporated by reference as they are amended from time to time.

Staff

5.(A) The council may appoint a secretary and other employees it considers necessary to carry out the purposes of this by-law, fix their remuneration and designate their functions and duties.

(B) The council or, if authorized by the council by band council resolution, the assessor, may appoint appraisers and other employees necessary to carry out this by-law, fix their remuneration, designate their functions and duties, and supervise their activities.

PART 3

PREPARATION OF ANNUAL ASSESSMENT ROLL

Completion of Roll

542

- **6.**(A) On or before December 31 of each year, the assessor shall:
- (a) complete a new assessment roll containing a list of each property that is within each reserve and that is liable to assessment under this by-law, the taxation by-law or any other by-law of the band,
- (b) mail a notice of assessment to each person named in the assessment roll, and
- (c) the notice of assessment may contain the information specified in Schedule "F".
- (B) Where there are two or more interest holders in respect of the same property, the property may be assessed in the name of any of those persons or in the names of any two or more of those persons jointly.
- (C) Subject to this by-law, an assessment roll completed under subsection (A) is the assessment roll for the purpose of taxation during the calendar year following completion of that roll and shall contain:
 - (a) When completing an assessment roll, the assessor shall make reference to the reserve land register or the band land register as those records stood on October 31 of the year in which that assessment roll is completed.
 - (b) In the case of a parcel of land for which no land title office, reserve land register or band land register description is available, the assessor shall use the best description available to him.
 - (c) The assessor shall exercise reasonable care in obtaining and setting down the address of an interest holder.
- (d) In the event that the address of the interest holder of the property is not known to the assessor or is not recorded in the reserve land register or the band land register, the assessor shall set down the address of the interest holder as the post office situated nearest the property in question.

Grouping of Parcels

7. Where a building or other improvement extends over more than one parcel of land, those parcels, if contiguous, may be treated by the assessor as one parcel and assessed accordingly.

Notice of Assessment

- **8.**(A) Any number of parcels of land assessed in the name of the same interest holder may be included in one assessment notice.
- (B) In the event that several parcels of land are assessed in the name of the same interest holder at the same value, the assessment notice is sufficient if it clearly identifies the property assessed, setting it out as a block, parts of a block or as a series of lots, without giving in full the description of each parcel as it appears in the assessment roll.
- (C) Notwithstanding section 6, where property is wholly exempt from taxation, the assessor may mail an assessment notice in respect of that property.
- (D) Before completion of the assessment roll, the assessor shall send by registered mail a copy of any assessment notice sent by him to any person from whom he has received during the 12 months preceding completion of that assessment roll, a request in writing for a copy, if the request contains a short description of the property in respect of which the copy is required, and is accompanied by a fee of \$10.00 for each parcel of land.
- (E) The assessor may at any time send a copy of any assessment notice sent by him under section 6 to a person named in the assessment roll, to any person who is an interest holder in respect of the property assessed.
- (F) In subsection (G) "lessee" means a person having an interest in property under a lease or sublease, other than a registered lease or registered sublease, for a term of one year or more.
- (G) For a property in classes 4, 5 and 6 of Schedule "A" in this by-law, the interest holder, on receipt of the assessment notice shall, on request by a lessee of all or part of the property, promptly deliver a copy of the notice to the lessee.

Certification of Completed Roll

9. On completing the assessment roll under section 6, the assessor shall make a statutory declaration in the form and manner provided in Schedule "G".

Delivery of Completed Roll

10. The assessor shall provide the completed roll to the band in care of the surveyor of taxes as soon as possible after it has been completed.

Assessment Roll Open for Inspection

11. On receipt by the surveyor of taxes, the assessment roll shall be open to inspection by the public at the office of the surveyor of taxes during regular business hours.

Correction of Errors

- **12.**(A) The assessor may bring all errors or omissions in a roll completed under section 6 to the board of review for correction.
- (B) No assessor shall make changes in the completed assessment roll without the consent of the board of review.

Validity of Completed Assessment Roll

- 13. The completed assessment roll, regardless of whether or not it has been confirmed pursuant to section 35(A) or 42(A), is, unless changed or amended under section 16(A), 35(A) or 42(A), valid and binding on all parties concerned, notwithstanding any omission, defect or error committed in, or with respect to, that assessment roll, or any defect, error or misstatement in any notice required, or the omission to mail any notice.
- 14. Changes or amendments to an assessment roll under section 16(A), 35(A) or 42(A) shall be valid and binding upon all parties concerned, but no such change or amendment shall be of any force or effect until it is actually made and no such change or amendment shall affect the validity or binding effect under section 13 of any part of the assessment roll that is not changed or amended.
- **15.** The assessment roll is, for all purposes, the assessment roll of the band for the year in respect of which it has been prepared.

Supplementary Roll

- **16.**(A) Where, subsequent to the completion of an assessment roll, the assessor finds that for the taxation year:
 - (a) assessable property is not entered in the assessment roll;
 - (b) the value of property is not the same as the valuation entered in the assessment roll by reason of:
 - (i) the demolition, destruction or damaging of an improvement;
 - (ii) new construction or new improvements;
 - (iii) a change in an actual use or a permitted use;
 - (iv) a subdivision;

- (v) a manufactured home is moved to a new location or destroyed after
 October 31 and prior to December 31 of the year in which the assessment roll is completed;
- (vi) a manufactured home is placed on land that has been assessed or the home is purchased by the interest holder of the land that has been assessed after October 31 and prior to December 31 of the year in which the assessment roll is completed;
- (vii) there is any clerical error;
- (viii) there has been a change in eligibility for exemption from taxation, or change of classification;
- (ix) the name of an interest holder has been omitted from the assessment roll;

the assessor shall assess the property on a supplementary roll or further supplementary roll subject to the conditions of assessment governing the current assessment roll on which the property should have been assessed.

- (B) Where, subsequent to the completion of an assessment roll, the assessor finds that any property or anything liable to assessment:
 - (a) was liable to assessment for a previous year, but has not been assessed on the roll for that year; or
 - (b) has been assessed in a previous year for less than the amount for which it was liable to assessment,

he shall assess the property or thing on a supplementary roll or further supplementary roll for that year, subject to the conditions of assessment governing the assessment roll on which the property or thing should have been assessed, but only if the failure to assess the property or thing, or the assessment for less than it was liable to be assessed, is attributable to:

- (c) an interest holder's failure to disclose;
- (d) an interest holder's concealment of particulars relating to assessable property;
- (e) a person's failure to make a return; or,
- (f) a person's making of an incorrect return, required under this or any other Act.
- (C) The assessor shall not make a change or amendment that would be contrary to a change or amendment in the assessment roll ordered or directed by the board of review or made as a result of a decision of a court of competent jurisdiction or an appellate court of competent jurisdiction.

(D) Nothing in subsections (A) or (C) authorizes the preparation of a supplementary roll, or the correction of a roll, for the purpose of changing or updating an assessment roll later than 12 months after the assessment roll is completed but nothing in this section 16 shall prevent or prohibit the preparation of a supplementary roll, the correction of a roll, or any change or amendment to an assessment roll made under Part 6 of this by-law at any time.

Provisions Applicable to Supplementary Assessment Roll

- **17.**(A) The duties imposed on the assessor with respect to the annual assessment roll and the provisions of this by-law relating to assessment rolls shall, so far as they are applicable, apply to supplementary assessment rolls.
- (B) Where a notice of appeal is given in writing to the assessor on a supplementary assessment roll in accordance with section 31(E), the assessor shall make an entry of the notice in his appeal book, and shall place the appeal before the next sitting of the board of review.

PART 4

INSPECTIONS AND RETURNS

Return of Information

546

- **18.**(A) In this section and in section 19, "assessor" includes an appraiser and, if authorized by the assessor, any other employee of the band, the British Columbia Assessment Authority or an employee of the British Columbia Assessment Authority.
- (B) A person who has an interest in or disposes of property shall, upon written request of the assessor, furnish to the assessor, within 21 days of the mailing of the request, or a longer period specified in the notice, any information in that person's possession that is related to the value of the property and that the assessor requires to assist him to determine the actual value of the property.
- (C) The assessor is not bound by the information furnished, but he may, if he has reason to doubt its accuracy, or if a person fails to comply with this section within 21 days or the longer period specified in the notice as referred to in subsection (B), assess the property in the manner and for the amount the assessor believes to be correct based upon such information as may be in the possession of the assessor.

Inspections and Assessment Powers of Assessor

19.(A) The assessor or an appraiser may, at a time mutually agreeable with the interest holder, for any purposes relating to assessment enter into or on and inspect land and improvements, and if an assessor is unable to enter into or on and inspect the land and improvements the assessor shall assess the property in the manner and for the amount the assessor believes to be correct based upon such information as may be in the possession of the assessor.

(B) The interest holder or person in charge of the land and improvements entered by an assessor pursuant to subsection (A) shall give the assessor all reasonable assistance and furnish the assessor with such information as the assessor reasonably may require in order to assist the assessor in establishing the actual value of the land or improvements, or both, for the purposes of this by-law.

Power to Examine Property and Accounts

- **20.**(A) To determine an assessment of land and improvements, in respect of which he thinks a person may be liable to assessment or to confirm an assessment, the assessor may, provided he receives the permission of the interest holder, enter on any premises and may examine any property and may examine and take copies of and extracts from, the books, accounts, vouchers, documents and appraisals of the person.
- (B) The surveyor of taxes, a member of the board of review or any other person who has custody or control of information or records obtained under this by-law shall not, without consent of the person liable to assessment, disclose the information or records to any other person, except:
 - (a) in the course of administering this by-law or another by-law of the band or performing functions under it,
 - (b) in proceedings before a board of review of a Court, or
 - (c) if permitted by subsection (C).
- (C) The assessor may disclose to the agent of the interest holder of property confidential information relating to the property if the disclosure has been authorized in writing by the interest holder.

Manufactured Home Park Information

- **21.**(A) The interest holder of land upon which a manufactured home park is located or the operator of a manufactured home park shall, on demand, furnish to the assessor and the surveyor of taxes full information required for assessment purposes respecting the owner of each manufactured home in the manufactured home park.
- (B) The interest holder of land upon which a manufactured home park is located or the operator of a manufactured home park shall notify the assessor and the surveyor of taxes, in writing, promptly after a manufactured home is moved into, or out of, the manufactured home park.
- (C) The assessor may, during business hours as defined in the *Upper Similkameen Property Taxation By-law* and with the consent of the interest holder, enter a manufactured home park or a manufactured home for the purposes of assessing the manufactured home and inspecting any records kept by the operator

of the manufactured home park who shall provide the assessor with sufficient particulars so that he may identify the home referred to.

PART 5

VALUATION

Valuation and Status Dates

- **22.**(A) For the purpose of determining the actual value of property for an assessment roll, the valuation date is July 1 of the year during which the assessment roll is completed.
- (B) The actual value of property for an assessment roll is to be determined as if on the valuation date:
 - (i) property and all other properties were in the physical condition that they are in on October 31 following the valuation date, and
 - (ii) permitted use of the property and of all properties were the same as on October 31 following the valuation date.

Valuation for Purposes of Assessment

- 23.(A) Except as provided in this Part, the assessor shall determine the actual value of land and improvements and shall enter the actual value of the land and improvements within each named reserve in the assessment roll. Actual value, for the purposes of this by-law, means a price which land and improvements might reasonably be expected to bring if held in fee simple off reserve and offered for sale in the open market on the valuation date.
- (B) In determining actual value, the assessor may give consideration to present use, location, original cost, replacement cost, revenue or rental value, selling price of the land and improvements and comparable land and improvements, economic and functional obsolescence, the market value of comparable land and improvements, and any other circumstances affecting the value of the land and improvements provided such considerations do not conflict with subsection (A).
- (C) Where an industrial or commercial undertaking, a business or a public utility enterprise is carried on, the land and improvements used by it shall be valued as the property of a going concern.
- (D) The assessor may include in the factors that he considers under subsection (B), any restriction placed on the use of the land and improvements by the band provided that where the restriction is not being complied with the assessor may assess the property at the actual value without taking the restriction into account.
- (E) The duration of the interest of an interest holder, or the right of an interest holder or any other person to terminate that interest, is not a restriction on the use of the land and improvements within the meaning of subsection (B) or (C).

- (F) Until further directed by council, the assessor need not assess roads, band owned property or property exempted from taxation.
- (G) Council hereby establishes in Schedule "A" to this by-law classes of property for the purpose of administering property taxes and in Schedule "A" defines the types or uses of land or improvements, or both, to be included in each property class.
- (H) The actual values of land and improvements determined under this section shall be set down separately on the assessment notice and in the assessment roll together with information specified pursuant to section 6(C).

Major Industry Valuation

24.(A) In this section:

"cost of industrial improvements" means the cost of replacing an existing industrial improvement with an improvement that:

- (a) has the same area and volume as the existing industrial improvement,
- (b) serves the same function that the existing industrial improvement was designed for or where the existing industrial improvement is no longer used for that function, serves the same function that the existing industrial improvement now serves, and
- (c) is constructed using current, generally accepted construction techniques and materials for the type of improvement being constructed,

and, for the purposes of determining cost, council shall prescribe those manuals establishing rates, formulae, rules or principles for the calculation of cost prescribed in Schedule "B".

- "industrial improvement" means an improvement that is part of a plant that is designed and built for the purpose of one or more of the following:
 - (a) mining, extracting, beneficiating or milling of metallic or non-metallic ore,
 - (b) mining, breaking, washing, grading or beneficiating of coal,
 - (c) producing of aluminium,
 - (d) smelting or refining of metal from ore or ore concentrate,
 - (e) manufacturing, producing, processing or refining petroleum and natural gas products including fuels, blended oils and greases,
 - (f) manufacturing of lumber or other sawmill and planning mill products,
 - (g) manufacturing of wood veneer, plywood, particle board, wafer board, hardboard, and similar products,

- (h) manufacturing of gypsum board,
- (i) manufacturing of pulp, paper or linerboard,
- (j) manufacturing of chemicals,
- (k) manufacturing of chemical fertilizer,
- (1) manufacturing of synthetic resins or the compounding of synthetic resins into molding compounds,
- (m) manufacturing of cement,
- (n) manufacturing of insulation,
- (o) manufacturing sheet glass or glass bottles,
- (p) building, refitting or repairing ships,
- (q) loading cargo onto sea-going ships or barges, including associated cargo storage and loading facilities,

notwithstanding that the plant cannot be operated as a going concern or is temporarily or permanently unprofitable, but does not include an improvement exempted under subsection (B).

- (B) Council may exempt from the definitions of "industrial improvement" in a plant or class of plant that has less than a prescribed capacity and may prescribe different capacities for different types of plants, and hereby makes such exemptions as set out in Schedule "C".
- (C) Notwithstanding section 23, there is established a class of properties consisting of:
 - (a) land used in conjunction with the operation of industrial improvements, and
 - (b) industrial improvements.
 - (D) The actual value of properties to which this section applies is:
 - (a) the actual value of the land as determined under section 23, and
 - (b) the cost of industrial improvements less depreciation that is at a rate and applied in a manner prescribed by council in Schedule "D" for individual properties or classes or types of properties.

Valuation for Certain Purposes not Actual Value

25.(A) The assessor shall determine the actual value of the following, using the equivalent rates for the current year which would be applied if the interest in land was assessed by the Province of British Columbia:

- (a) the pole lines, metallic or fibre optic cables, towers, poles, wires, transformers, conduits and mains of a telecommunications, trolley coach, bus or electrical power corporation, but not including substations,
- (b) the track in place of a railway corporation, whether the track is on a highway, or on a privately held, owned or occupied right of way or other interest in reserve, or elsewhere on reserve,
- (c) the pipe lines of a pipe line corporation for the transportation of petroleum, petroleum products, or natural gas or other product, including valves, cleanouts, fastenings, and appurtenances located on the right of way, including pumping equipment, compressor equipment, storage tanks and buildings,
- (d) the right of way for pole lines, cables, towers, poles, wires, transformers, conduits, mains and pipe lines referred to in paragraphs (a) and (c),
- (e) the right of way for track referred to in paragraph (b).
- (B) For the purposes of this section telecommunications does not include cable television.
- (C) For the purposes of paragraphs (A)(d) and (e) "right of way" means land and improvements that a corporation is entitled to use for the operation of those things referred to in paragraphs (A)(a), (b) or (c) that are to be valued under this section, but "right of way" does not include land and improvements of which the corporation is not an interest holder within the meaning of this by-law.

Exempt Land Held by Occupier Liable to Assessment

- **26.**(A) Land and improvements, the interest in which is held by or on behalf of a person who is exempted from taxation under this by-law or any other by-law of the band and which is held or occupied otherwise than by, or on behalf of that person, are liable to assessment under this section.
- (B) The land and improvements referred to in subsection (A) shall be entered in the assessment roll in the name of the interest holder, whose interest shall be valued at the actual value of the land and improvements determined under this by-law.
- (C) This section applies to improvements in which a person who is not exempted from taxation by this by-law or any other by-law of the band has an interest, and which are situated on land which is held by or on behalf of a person exempted from taxation by this by-law or any other by-law of the band.

Assessment of Interests in Land Held by a Municipality or the Crown in Right of the Province of British Columbia

27.(A) Land held or occupied by a municipality or the Crown in Right of the Province of British Columbia, held or occupied otherwise than by or on behalf of,

a municipality or the Crown in Right of the Province of British Columbia, is, with the improvements on it, liable to assessment under this section.

- (B) The land referred to in subsection (A) with the improvements on it shall be entered in the assessment roll in the name of an interest holder whose interest shall be valued at the actual value of the land as determined under section 23.
- (C) This section applies, with the necessary changes and so far as it is applicable, to improvements in which some person other than a municipality or the Crown in Right of the Province of British Columbia has an interest, situated on land held or occupied by a municipality or the Crown in Right of the Province of British Columbia, or in some person on behalf of a municipality or the Crown in Right of the Province of British Columbia.

Joint Interests

552

28. Where land or improvements or both are held or occupied in the manner referred to in section 24 or 25 by two or more persons, the land or improvements, or both, may be assessed in the name of any of those persons or the names of any two or more of those persons jointly.

Further Assessment of an Improvement on Land

- **29.**(A) A structure, aqueduct, pipe line, tunnel, bridge, dam, reservoir, road, storage tank, transformer, or substation, pole lines, cables, towers, poles, wires, transmission equipment or other improvement, that extends over, under or through land may be separately assessed to the person having an interest in, maintaining, operating or using it, notwithstanding that some other person may have an interest in the land.
- (B) Each individual residential building located on a land co-operative shall be separately assessed.

PART 6

BOARD OF REVIEW

Establishment of Board of Review

- **30.**(A) The council shall by resolution appoint a board of review to hear appeals on assessments of land and improvements located on the reserve.
- (B) Subject to section 42 the board of review shall consist of three members, only one of which may be a band member. One member of a board of review shall consist of a person qualified to practice law in the Province of British Columbia, or formerly so qualified, and at least one member shall have had experience in the appraisal of real property prior to appointment to the board of review.
- (C) Council may maintain a list of substitute members of the board of review. Where a member of the board of review is disqualified, unable or unwilling to act,

council shall appoint the first person on the list of substitute members of the board of review to act for the period for which the member of the board of review is unavailable. If for any reason the first person on the list of substitute members is unable or unwilling to act, council shall appoint the next person on the list until a substitute member of the board of review is able to act.

- (D) The members of a board of review shall be paid their reasonable and necessary traveling and out of pocket expenses incurred in carrying out their duties and in addition shall be paid remuneration at least equal to the remuneration paid to the members of the Property Assessment Appeal Board of British Columbia, during their term of office.
- (E) Every member of a board of review shall, before entering on his duties, take and subscribe before the band manager, surveyor of taxes or a notary public or a commissioner for taking oaths, an oath or affirmation in the form provided in section 1 of Schedule "E".
- (F) A member of a board of review shall be appointed by council for a term of three years commencing on the date of their appointment under subsection (A) of this section. A member of a board of review shall continue in office subject to death, resignation, or removal for just cause by a resolution of the band council including for any of the following reasons:
 - (a) is convicted of an offence under the *Criminal Code*;
 - (b) fails to attend three consecutive appeal hearings; or
 - (c) fails to perform any of his or her duties under this by-law in good faith and in accordance with the terms of this by-law; or
 - (d) any similar just cause.
- (G) No person may sit as a member of the board of review hearing an appeal if that person:
 - (a) has a direct or indirect financial interest in any real property assessment to which an appeal relates;
 - (b) is the chief or a member of the council of the band;
 - (c) is an employee of the band or the band council; or
 - (d) has financial dealings with the band or the band council which might reasonably give rise to a conflict of interest and impair that person's ability to deal fairly and impartially with an appeal as required under the terms of this by-law.

554

- **31.**(A) Where a person is of the opinion that an error or omission exists in the completed supplementary or assessment roll in that:
 - (a) the name of a person has been wrongfully inserted in, or omitted from, the assessment roll.
 - (b) land or improvements or both land and improvements within the reserve have been wrongfully entered on, or omitted from the assessment roll,
 - (c) land or improvements, or both land and improvements are not assessed at actual value,
 - (d) land or improvements or both land and improvements have been improperly classified,
 - (e) an exemption has been improperly allowed or disallowed, or
 - (f) there has been any other error or omission,

he may by a written notice signed by him, his solicitor, or an agent authorized by him in writing addressed to the assessor together with a non-refundable fee of \$25.00 per roll entry, payable to "Upper Similkameen Indian Band", appeal an assessment. The assessor shall deliver this fee to the Band within 10 days of its receipt.

- (B) If the appeal fee is not submitted with the written notice of appeal the assessor shall advise the appellant by registered mail that the appeal will be deemed invalid if the appeal fee is not received in the office of the assessor within 21 days from the date of mailing of the registered letter.
- (C) The council, by the surveyor of taxes, its solicitor, or agent authorized by it in writing, or the assessor, may make an appeal against the assessment roll or any individual entry in the assessment roll on any ground whatever, and the board of review shall deal with the complaint, and either confirm or alter the assessment. Under this subsection the appellant is not required to pay the appeal fee.
- (D) Where the appellant is not an interest holder of the property to which the complainant relates, the complainant shall include with the notice of appeal an address to which notices for the appeal may be sent.
- (E) Written notice (together with the required fee) of an appeal about an entry in the assessment roll must be delivered to the assessor not later than January 31 following the year in which the assessment roll is completed, or, in the case of a supplementary notice, 30 days from the date of the mailing of the notice.

Board of Review to be Notified

- **32.**(A) The assessor shall notify the board of review if he has made changes to the assessment roll pursuant to section 16.
- (B) The assessor shall notify the board of review, as soon as possible after January 31 of the year in which the assessment roll is completed, of any appeal(s) filed against the assessment roll and whether the necessary appeal fee has been paid.
- (C) Without restricting the generality of the foregoing, the assessor shall notify the board if land or improvements or both that are referred to in section 24 or 25 are held or occupied by a person other than the person shown on the assessment roll as the interest holder, and that person's interest commences or terminates after November 30 and before the following January 1.

Assessor to Notify Interest Holder

- **33.**(A) Where an appeal relates to property in which a person other than the appellant is the interest holder the assessor shall give each such person not less than ten days' notice of the time, date and place fixed for the hearing of the appeal by the board, and the notice shall specify the nature of the appeal.
- (B) Upon request from the surveyor of taxes, the assessor shall by further notice within thirty days of receipt of the request from the surveyor of taxes, require the persons referred to in subsection (A) to attend before the board of review at a time and place stated in the further notice, and then the appeal shall be heard and dealt with in the same manner as other appeals.
- (C) Where the appeal is against the assessment roll, the requirements of subsection (A) do not apply.
- (D) Where the person other than the appellant that may have the interest from or under which the appellant's interest is derived, as referred to in subsection (A), is the Crown in Right of Canada, the requirements of subsections (A) and (B), shall not apply in respect of the Crown in Right of Canada.

Notice of Hearing

34. The board of review shall, after receipt of the notice of appeal, mail to the person, or his solicitor or agent, as the case may be, and the assessor, a notice setting out the date, time and place scheduled for the hearing of that person's appeal.

Powers of Board of Review

- **35.**(A) The powers of a board of review constituted under this by-law are:
- (a) to meet at the dates, times and places appointed and to hear and determine all appeals delivered to the assessor under this by-law,

- (b) to investigate the assessment roll and the various assessments made in it, whether appealed against or not, and to adjudicate on the assessments in respect of which an appeal is made under this by-law,
- (c) to direct amendments to be made in the assessment roll necessary to give effect to its decisions, and
- (d) to confirm the assessment roll, either with or without amendment.
- (B) Any member of the board of review may issue a notice in writing to any person to attend as a witness, and any member of the board of review may administer an oath to a person or witness before his evidence is taken.
- (C) No increase in the amount of assessment and no change in classification shall be directed under subsection (A) until after five days' notice of the intention to direct the increase or change and of the time and place of holding the adjourned sittings of the board of review at which the direction is to be made, has been given by the assessor to the assessed interest holders of the property on which the assessments are proposed to be increased, or changed as to classification. A party interested, or his solicitor or agent duly authorized under this by-law, if he appears, shall be heard by the board of review.
- (D) Subsection (C) does not apply where an increase in the amount of assessment or change in classification is directed under subsection (A) as a result of an appeal that has been heard and determined in accordance with subsection (A).
- (E) The members of the board of review shall annually appoint one of the members of the board of review as chairperson, who shall preside at the meetings and who may, unless otherwise provided by the board of review, call meetings and regulate procedure.
- (F) The board of review shall appoint a secretary, who may or may not be a member of the board of review, and the secretary shall draw up and enter, in a book to be kept for that purpose, the minutes of all meetings of the board of review, and, together with the chairperson or other member presiding, shall sign them as correct.
- (G) All appeals and questions before the board of review shall be decided by a majority of the members present and the chairperson votes as an ordinary member of the board of review.
- (H) A board of review constituted under section 30 shall use its best endeavours to complete its sittings not later than June 30 of the taxation year in which the appeal or complaint was made.
- (I) A board of review may adjourn its sittings from day to day and from time to time, and may also adjourn its sittings from place to place.

Costs

36. The board of review may order that the costs of an appeal before the board shall be paid by or apportioned between the persons affected by the appeal in the manner the board thinks fit.

Board of Review Sets Own Rules

37. All inquiries and hearings before the board of review or a member of it shall be governed by the rules it may adopt and the board of review is not bound by the technical rules of legal evidence.

Hearing of Appeals

- **38.**(A) The board of review may hear all appeals from an assessment notice on the same day, or if deemed advisable, adjourn from time to time until all appeals have been heard and determined.
- (B) A board of review may hear an appeal, whether the appellant is present or not.
- (C) A board of review may, after hearing an appeal, postpone consideration thereof to some future time and the appellant shall, if required by the board, produce all relevant books, papers and documents and answer all proper questions and give all necessary information affecting the property or matter under consideration.
- (D) The burden of proof is in all cases on the person appealing an assessment.

 Oaths
- **39.** The members of the board of review may administer oaths in the course of an appeal or in connection with their official duties.

Action by Board of Review

40. Evidence by affidavit, or written statement, or by the report of any officer appointed by the board of review shall be accepted by the board of review.

Inspection Powers of Board of Review

- **41.** The board of review, or a person authorized by it to make any inquiry or report, may:
 - (a) with the consent of the appellant, enter on and inspect any land and improvements,
 - (b) require the attendance of all persons as it considers necessary to summon and examine, and take the testimony of those persons,
 - (c) require the production of all books, plans, papers and documents, and
 - (d) administer oaths, affirmations or declarations.

Power of a Single Board Member

- **42.**(A) Where directed by the board of review, any one member of the board of review may hold an inquiry or conduct an appeal on behalf of the board of review and without restricting the generality of the foregoing, where the chairman of the board directs, a single member of the board may:
 - (a) confirm the assessment roll,
 - (b) dismiss appeals as abandoned,
 - (c) make changes to the assessment roll based on a recommendation by the assessor.
 - (d) confirm supplementary assessment rolls, and
 - (e) deal with any other uncontested matters.
- (B) Where only one member of the board of review is directed to hold an inquiry or conduct an appeal pursuant to subsection (A), that one member may not be a band member.

Board of Review Decisions

- **43.**(A) The board shall deliver a copy of each decision to the Assessor and to the surveyor of taxes.
 - (B) The assessor shall, on receipt of a copy of the decision of the board:
 - (a) forward a copy to the appellant with the advice that an appeal would be available, pursuant to section 46 of the by-law, within 30 days of the date of mailing of the decision,
 - (b) promptly forward the roll authenticated by the board to the surveyor of taxes.

Amendment to Assessment Roll

- **44.**(A) The assessor shall produce a board of review decision after the roll is authenticated under section 35(A)(d), or section 42(A)(a).
- $(B) \ \ Where there is a conflict between the assessment roll and an amendment made under subsection (C), the amendment prevails.$
- (C) Upon all amendments made to an assessment roll under section 35(A) (c) or section 42(A)(c) being completed, the chairman of the board of review shall confirm the roll by signing a certificate as set out in section 2 of Schedule "E" and forwarding it to the assessor to be attached to the completed roll.

Orders of Board of Review Obtainable

45. A person may, on payment of a fee of \$20.00, obtain from the surveyor of taxes a certified copy of a decision of the board of review.

Appeals on Matters of Law

- **46.**(A) At any stage of the proceedings before it, the board, on its own initiative or at the request of one or more of the persons affected by the appeal, may submit, in the form of a stated case for the opinion of the Federal Court, a question of law arising in the appeal, and shall suspend the proceedings and reserve its decision until the final court of appeal has been given and then the board shall decide the appeal in accordance with the opinion.
- (B) A person affected by the decision of the board on appeal, including the band on a resolution of its council, the surveyor of taxes, or the assessor may require the board to submit a case for the opinion of the Federal Court on a question of law only by
 - (a) delivering to the board, within 21 days after his receipt of the decision, a written request to state a case; and
 - (b) delivering, within 21 days after his receipt of the decision, to all persons affected by the decision, a written notice of his request to the board to state a case to the Federal Court.
- (C) The board shall, within 21 days after receiving the notice under subsection (B), submit the case in writing to the Federal Court.
- (D) The costs of and incidental to a stated case shall be at the discretion of the Federal Court.
- (E) Where a case is stated, the secretary of the board shall promptly file the case, together with a certified copy of the evidence dealing with the question of law taken during the appeal, in the Registry of the Federal Court, and it shall be brought on for hearing before the Judge in Chambers within one month from the date on which the stated case is filed.
- (F) The Court shall hear and determine the question and within two months give its opinion and cause it to be remitted to the board, but the court may send a case back to the board for amendment, in which event the board shall amend and return the case accordingly for the opinion of the Court.
- (G) An appeal on a question of law lies from the decision of the Federal Court to the Federal Court of Appeal with leave of a Justice of the Federal Court of Appeal.

Action by the Board on Receipt of the Court's Decision

47. After receipt of the decision of the Federal Court or the Federal Court of Appeal on an appeal or a stated case, the board shall, if the opinion is at variance with the conclusion at which it had itself arrived, direct the assessor to make the necessary amendment to the assessment roll in accordance with the decision.

PART 7 GENERAL

Applies Within Reserve

48. This by-law applies with respect to all property within the reserve.

Schedules

49.(A) The following schedules are attached to and constitute part of this by-law:

Schedule "A" - Classes of Property
Schedule "B" - Prescribed Manuals

Schedule "C" - Exemption from Industrial Improvements

Schedule "D" - Depreciation of Industrial Improvements

Schedule "E" - Oath of Office and Confirmation of Roll

Schedule "F" - Notices of Assessment

Schedule "G" - Statutory Declaration of Assessor

(B) Any section of this by-law or Schedule to the by-law may be amended by a by-law adopted by the council and approved by the minister in accordance with appropriate section or sections of the *Indian Act*.

By-law Remedial

- **50.**(A) This by-law shall be construed as being remedial, and shall be given such fair, large and liberal construction and interpretation as best ensures the attainment of its objects.
- (B) Where a liability to assessment or any duty derived from or arising under a by-law or by-laws which has been superseded or replaced by this by-law in whole or in part by this by-law or any provision of this by-law, the provisions of the *Interpretation Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-21 shall apply.

Council May Extend Time

51. The council may, by band council resolution, extend the time for thirty (30) days by which anything is required to be done under this by-law.

Head Notes

52. Head notes, marginal notes and provision headings form no part of this by-law but shall be construed as being inserted for convenience of reference only.

Notices

- **53.**(A) Except where otherwise specifically provided in this by-law, where any notice, notification, demand, statement or direction is required or permitted to be delivered or given under this by-law, such notice, notification, demand, statement or direction shall be sufficient if mailed to:
 - (a) the address of the person set forth in the assessment roll, or
 - (b) such other address of which the assessor has received notice, whether or not such mail is returned as undeliverable.
- (B) Any notice, notification, demand, statement or direction shall be conclusively deemed to have been received on the fifth business day following the mailing thereof.

Severance of Sections

54. A finding by a Court that a section or provision of this by-law is void or invalid shall not affect or bear upon the validity or invalidity of any other section or part of this by-law or this by-law as a whole.

Use of Forms and Words

- **55.** In this by-law:
- (a) words signifying the masculine gender include the feminine gender and the neuter gender and, where necessary or the context permits, a person as defined in this by-law,
- (b) words in the singular include the plural, and words in the plural include the singular, and
- (c) where a word or expression is defined, other parts of speech, and grammatical forms of the same word or expression have corresponding meanings.

Transitional Provisions

- **56.** Notwithstanding anything to the contrary elsewhere contained in this by-law:
 - (a) the assessment roll for the 2002 taxation year shall be compiled and completed by the assessor from all assessments prepared by him on or before December 31, 2001 in respect of any land, or improvements, or both, in the reserve, or from any previous Upper Similkameen Indian Band assessment or property assessment by-law, and
 - (b) the notice of assessment required to be mailed to each person named in the assessment roll for the 2002 taxation year may be the notice of assessment

mailed by the assessor under any previous Upper Similkameen Indian Band assessment or property assessment by-law,

but in all other respects the provisions of this by-law shall be of full force and effect for the purposes of any assessment roll created and notice of assessment mailed for the 2002 taxation year and future taxation years.

Power to Round Values

- **57.** The assessor may round the actual values for land and improvements determined under section 20 of this by-law for each property class:
 - (a) down to the nearest \$100, where the value determined is greater than \$101 and less than \$99,999, and
 - (b) down to the nearest \$1,000, where the value determined is \$100,000 or greater.

Coming Into Force

58. This by-law shall come into force and effect upon approval by the minister.

APPROVED AND PASSED at a duly convened meeting of the Band Council of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band held at the Upper Similkameen Indian Band Administration Office, Keremeos, British Columbia, this [13th] day of <a href="mailto:December], 2002.

	[Richard Holmes]	
	Chief	
[Charlene Allison]		[Miranda Squakin]
Councillor	_	Councillor

SCHEDULE "A" CLASSES OF PROPERTY

[Section 23(G)]

Class 1 – Residential

Class 1 property shall include only:

Residential Property, being:

- (A) land or improvements, or both, used for residential purposes, including single family residences, duplexes, multi-family residences, apartments, condominiums, manufactured homes, nursing homes, rest homes, summer and seasonal dwellings, bunkhouses, cookhouses and ancillary improvements compatible with and used in conjunction with any of the above, but not including:
 - (a) land or improvements included in Class 10;
 - (b) land or improvements or both in which the Crown in Right of Canada or the province of British Columbia has an interest or by an agent of either and are used for the purposes of:
 - (i) a penitentiary or correctional center,
 - (ii) a mental health facility as defined in the *Mental Health Act* of the Province of British Columbia, or
 - (iii) a hospital for the care of the mentally or physically handicapped;
 - (c) land or improvements or both, used for hotels, motels, inns, bed and breakfast operations, campgrounds or any other property used for overnight accommodation, and offered for rent, or rented, for periods of less than 7 days to persons, or a person, as overnight accommodation for at least 50% of the 12-month period ending on October 31 of the year previous to the taxation year for which the assessment roll is completed, other than the portion of the property occupied by an interest holder as his residence.
- (B) improvements on land classified as a farm and used in conjunction with the farm operation, including the farm residence and outbuildings,
- (C) land having no present use and which is neither specifically zoned nor held for business, commercial, forestry or industrial purposes,
 - (D) child care facilities.

Class 2 – Utilities

Class 2 property shall include only land or improvements, or both, used or held for the purposes of, or for purposes ancillary to, the business of:

- (A) transportation by railway,
- (B) transportation, transmission or distribution by pipe line,
- (C) communication by telegraph or telephone, including transmission of messages by means of electric currents or signals for compensation,
 - (D) generation, transmission or distribution of electricity, or
- (E) receiving, transmission and distribution of closed circuit television, but does not include that part of land or improvements or both:
 - (F) included in Classes 1, 4, 8 or 10,
- (G) used as an office, retail sales outlet, administration building or purpose ancillary thereto, or
- (H) used for a purpose other than a purpose defined in paragraphs (A) to (E) of this Class.

Class 3 – Forest Land

Class 3 property shall include only land meeting the definition of forest land which is not classified as managed forest land.

Class 4 – Major Industry

Class 4 property shall include only property referred to in section 24 of this by-law, that is to say:

- (A) land used in conjunction with the operation of industrial improvements, and
 - (B) industrial improvements.

Class 5 – Light Industry

Class 5 property shall include only land or improvements, or both, used or held for the purpose of extracting, processing, manufacturing or transporting of products, and for the storage of these products as an ancillary to or in conjunction with such extraction, processing, manufacture or transportation, but does not include those lands or improvements, or both:

- (A) included in Class 2 or 4,
- (B) used principally as an outlet for the sale of a finished product to a purchaser for purposes of his own consumption or use and not for resale in either the form in which it was purchased or any other form, and
- (C) used for processing, manufacturing or storage of food or non-alcoholic beverages.

Class 6 – Business and Other

Class 6 property shall include all land and improvements not included in Classes 1 to 5 and 7 to 9.

Class 7 - Managed Forest Land

Class 7 property shall include only land meeting the definition of forest land which is classified as managed forest land and the land is being managed in accordance with a management plan which complies with the *Forest Act Practices Code Act* of British Columbia.

Class 8 - Recreational Property/Non-Profit Organization

Class 8 property shall include only:

- (A) land, but not improvements on that land, used solely as an outdoor recreational facility for the following activities or uses:
 - (a) golf;
 - (b) skiing;
 - (c) tennis;
 - (d) ballgames of any kind;
 - (e) lawn bowling;
 - (f) public swimming pool;
 - (g) motor car racing;
 - (h) trap shooting;
 - (i) archery;
 - (j) ice skating;
 - (k) waterslides;
 - (1) museums;
 - (m) amusement parks;
 - (n) horse racing and horseback riding;
 - (o) rifle and/or pistol shooting;
 - (p) roller skating;
 - (q) marinas;
 - (r) parks and gardens open to the public;
 - (s) hang gliding;

- (B) that part of any land and improvements used or set aside for use as a place of public worship or as a meeting hall for a non-profit fraternal organization of persons of either or both sexes, together with the facilities necessarily incidental to that use, for at least 150 days in the year ending on June 30 of the calendar year preceding the calendar year for which the assessment roll is being prepared, not counting any day in which the land and improvements so used or set aside are also used for:
 - (a) any purpose by an organization that is neither a religious organization nor a non-profit fraternal organization;
 - (b) entertainment where there is an admission charge, or;
 - (c) the sale or consumption, or both, of alcoholic beverages.

Class 9 - Farm

Class 9 property shall include only land for which the highest and best use is farming or agricultural use.

Apportionment

Where a property falls into two or more prescribed classes the assessor shall determine the share of the actual value of the property attributable to each class and assess the property according to the proportion each share constitutes of the total actual value.

SCHEDULE "B" PRESCRIBED MANUALS

[Section 24(A)]

Manual for Determining Costs of Industrial Improvement

1. Volumes 1 and 2 of the British Columbia Assessment Authority Major Industrial Properties Manual as deposited with the office of the Assessment Commissioner of the British Columbia Assessment Authority as of November 30 in any year are prescribed for the purposes of the definition of "cost of industrial improvement" in section 24 of this by-law.

Other Manual

2. The Marshall Valuation Service, as compiled by Marshall and Swift, is prescribed for the purpose of defining the "cost of industrial improvement" in section 24 of this by-law to the extent directed in Volumes 1 and 2 of the British Columbia Assessment Authority Major Industrial Properties Manual.

SCHEDULE "C" EXEMPTION FROM INDUSTRIAL IMPROVEMENTS

[Section 24(B)]

The industrial improvements in plants or classes of plants described in column 1 of the following table that have less than the capacities set out opposite them in column 2 are exempt from the definition of "industrial improvements" in section 24(B) of this by-law.

Column 1 Plant	Column 2 Capacity	
1. Placer mines	500 m ³ pay dirt per day	
2. Mines, other than coal mines or placer mines	75 tonnes milling capacity per day or no milling capacity	
3. Natural gas	2,850,000 m³ per day	
4. Sawmills that manufacture lumber and other wood products from raw logs	15 million fbm per year based on 480 shifts a year of 8 hours each shift	
5. Remanufacturing plants, not part of a sawmill, which manufacture lumber or other wood products from rough lumber or cants, but not raw logs	30 million fbm of incoming lumber, rough lumber, or cants per year based on 480 shifts a year of 8 hours each shift	
6. Chemical plants	5,000 tonnes per year	
7. Building, refitting or repairing ships	750 tonnes light displacement weight retrieval capacity or no retrieval capacity	

SCHEDULE "D" DEPRECIATION OF INDUSTRIAL IMPROVEMENTS

[Section 24(D)(B)]

Interpretation

1. The following definitions apply herein:

"by-law" means this by-law,

"chronological age" means the number of years determined by subtracting:

- (a) the year in which the plant first commenced operation, or
- (b) in the case of an industrial improvement or part of an industrial improvement that was constructed or installed after the plant commenced operation, the year in which the construction or installation of the industrial improvement or part of it was completed, from the year in which the new assessment roll is completed,

"effective age" means the number of years determined by:

- (a) calculating the total cost of the industrial improvement,
- (b) multiplying the chronological age of each part of the industrial improvement by the cost of that part to give the weighted age of that part,
- (c) adding the weighted age of all of the parts of the industrial improvement, and
- (d) dividing the sum of the weighted ages by the total cost of the industrial improvements and rounding the quotient up to the next whole year to yield the effective age.

Determining Depreciation

2. Subject to the other provisions of this by-law, for the purposes of section 24 of this by-law, depreciation of an industrial improvement shall be applied in accordance with the following formula:

depreciation = annual depreciation rate age

where:

- (a) "annual depreciation rate" is the percentage rate set out in the table below in this schedule for the category of plant of which the industrial improvement is a part, and
- (b) "age" is the chronological age or, where parts of an industrial improvement have different chronological ages, the effective age of the industrial improvement.

Maximum Depreciation

3. If the depreciation determined under section 2 of this schedule for an industrial improvement is equal to or in excess of 80%, the depreciation shall be deemed to be 80%.

Closure Allowances

- 4.(A) If the assessor determines that:
- (a) a plant is closed on or before October 31 of any year and an interest holder of the plant or a senior executive officer of the corporation that holds, owns or occupies the plant confirms in writing that the closure is permanent, or
- (b) a plant has been closed for a minimum of three consecutive years immediately preceding October 31 in any year and an interest holder of the plant or a senior executive officer of the corporation that has an interest in the plant confirms in writing the fact that the plant is closed and the duration of that closure,

the depreciation applicable to industrial improvements that are part of the plant shall, for the purposes of the assessment roll in the succeeding year, be deemed to be an amount sufficient to reduce the actual value of the industrial improvements to 10% of the cost of those industrial improvements.

- (B) If the assessor determines that:
- (a) a separate industrial improvement within a plant is permanently closed or shut down on or before October 31 in any year and an interest holder or plant manager of the plant confirms in writing that the closure or shut down is permanent, or
- (b) a separate industrial improvement within a plant has been closed or shut down for a minimum of three consecutive years immediately preceding October 31 in any year and an interest holder or plant manager confirms in writing the fact that the industrial improvement is closed or shut down and duration of that closure or shut down,

the depreciation applicable to that industrial improvement shall, for the purpose of the assessment roll in the succeeding year, be deemed to be an amount sufficient to reduce the actual value of the industrial improvement to 10% of the cost of that improvement.

- (C) Subsection (B) applies only with respect to a complete industrial improvement and shall not be applied to a part of an industrial improvement.
- (D) If a previously closed plant or industrial improvement is reopened or reactivated, this section ceases to apply for the purposes of the assessment roll

in the succeeding year and depreciation shall be determined in accordance with sections (B) and (C).

TABLE
Industrial Improvement Depreciation Rates
[By category as listed in section 24(D)]

	Category	Annual Rate of Depreciation
(a)	mining, extracting, beneficiating or milling of metallic or non-metallic ore	6.50
(b)	mining, breaking, washing, grading or beneficiating of coal	4.00
(c)	production of aluminium	3.00
(d)	smelting or refining of metal from ore or ore concentrate	3.00
(e)	producing, manufacturing, processing or refining of petroleum or natural gas products	3.00
(f)	manufacturing of lumber or other sawmill, mill or remanufacturing plant products	4.00
(g)	manufacturing of wood veneer, plywood, particle board, wafer board, hardboard and similar products	4.00
(h)	manufacturing of gypsum board	3.00
(i)	manufacturing of pulp, paper or linerboard	3.00
(j)	manufacturing of chemicals	4.00
(k)	manufacturing of chemical fertilizer	3.00
(1)	manufacturing of synthetic resin or the compounding of synthetic resins into molding compounds	3.00
(m)	manufacturing of cement	3.00
(n)	manufacturing of insulation	3.00
(o)	manufacturing of sheet glass or glass bottles	3.00
(p)	building, refitting or repairing ships	5.00
(q)	(1) loading of cargo onto ships or barges, including associated cargo storage and loading facilities	5.00

(2)	the maritime structure of a grain terminal operation including piers, wharves, shipping galleries and	5.00
	loading gallery towers used to transport grain from	
	a grain elevator to ships or barges, but excluding those things included in paragraph (q) (3)	
(3)	grain elevators and associated structures	2.50

SCHEDULE "E" OATH OF OFFICE

[Section 30(E)]

[7]
1. Every member of the board of review, before entering on his duties, shall take and subscribe before the band manager, or the surveyor of taxes, or a notary public or a commissioner for taking oaths the following oath or affirmation:
"I,, do solemnly swear [or affirm] that I will, to the best of my judgment and ability, and without fear, favour or partiality, honestly decide the appeals to the board of review which may be brought before me for hearing and decision as a member of the board of review."
CONFIRMATION OF ROLL [Sections 35(A)(d), 42(A)(a) and 44(C)]
2. For the purposes of section $35(A)(d)$, $42(A)(a)$ and $44(C)$ of the by-law, the certificate by which a board of review shall identify and confirm the assessment roll shall be in form 1 or 2 of the following forms, as appropriate:
FORM 1
This roll comprising the gross assessed values of properties within the reserve of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band is hereby confirmed by the board of review and, except as may be amended upon further appeal or by means of an entry in a supplementary assessment roll, is hereby certified to be the assessment roll for the year $20_$.
Dated at, in the Province of British Columbia this day of, 20
FORM 2
This supplementary roll comprising the gross assessed values of properties within the reserve of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band is hereby confirmed by the board of review and, except as may be amended upon further appeal or by means of an entry in a revised or further supplementary assessment roll, is hereby certified to be a supplementary assessment roll for the year $20_$
Dated at , in the Province of British Columbia this day of , 20

574

SCHEDULE "F" NOTICE OF ASSESSMENT

[Sections 6(C)(A)]

TO:	
ADDRESS:	
RE:	(Description of property or taxable interest)
land the followi	that in respect of the above-noted parcel of land or interest in the ng person(s) is/are liable to pay any taxes levied pursuant to the neen Indian Band Property Taxation By-law:
Names(s)	
Address(es)	
Classification	
The assessed va	lue of the land
The assessed va	lue of the improvements
The assessed value of exempt land	
The assessed va	lue of exempt improvements
Total assessed v	alue
Total net taxable	e value

TAKE NOTICE that if you are dissatisfied with the assessed value or classification of your interest in this property you have the right to appeal to the board of review of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band pursuant to section 30 of the *Upper Similkameen Assessment By-law*.

SCHEDULE "G" STATUTORY DECLARATION OF ASSESSOR

	[Secti	on 9]	
	or shall complete the followd assessment roll:	wing Statuto	ory Declaration and attach it
	do solemnly declare that:		, in the Province of British
(a) I am a	ssessor for the Upper Sim	ilkameen Ind	dian Band,
Indian Bar Upper Sim value of th Similkame name or na information	nd for the year 20 has ilkameen Indian Band Ass he land and improvements hen Indian Band in accordances of the interest holder	been completes within the nance with the rs in respect	of the Upper Similkameen eted in accordance with the aw and sets out the assessed reserve lands of the Upper assessment by-law, and the of each parcel and all other the assessment by-law has
and knowing th	at it is of the same force a	and effect as	
Declared b	efore me at	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·)
this	_ day of	······································)
20)))

UPPER SIMILKAMEEN INDIAN BAND 2002 TAXATION EXPENDITURE BY-LAW

[Effective January 15, 2003]

WHEREAS:

The *Upper Similkameen Indian Band Taxation Expenditure By-law* was passed by the Chief and Council of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band in the best interest of the members of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band in accordance with section 83(2) of the *Indian Act* for the purposes of the expenditure of monies collected by the Upper Similkameen Indian Band pursuant to enabling by-laws made in accordance with section 83(1) of the *Indian Act*; and

NOW BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED THAT:

The following *Upper Similkameen Indian Band Taxation Expenditure By-law* 2002 is hereby enacted pursuant to section 83(2) of the *Indian Act* for the purposes of the expenditure of monies collected by the Upper Similkameen Indian Band pursuant to enabling by-laws of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band made in accordance with section 83(1) of the *Indian Act*.

1. SHORT TITLE

The *Upper Similkameen Indian Band Taxation Expenditure By-law* may be cited in short form as the *Expenditure By-law*.

2. DEFINITIONS

In this Expenditure By-law,

- "Annual Budget" means the budget for a Fiscal Year projecting all revenues and expenditures anticipated to be required for the provision of Local Services on-reserve during that Fiscal Year, as approved by the Band Council;
- "Band" means the Upper Similkameen Indian Band and any successor thereto;
- "Band Council" means the Chief and Council of the Band as elected by the eligible members of the Band pursuant to the *Indian Act* and any successor thereto;
- "Band Council Resolution" means a motion passed and approved by a majority of the councillors of the band;
- "Fiscal Year" means January 1 of any calendar year to December 31 of the same year;
- "Indian Act" means the Indian Act, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, and any amendments thereto and regulations authorized thereunder;
- "Local Services" include:

General Government Services which include the following: tax appeals, tax administration, legislative, computers, general administration.

Taxes for Other Governments which includes the following: Provincial Government, Regional District Hospital, First Nations Finance Authority, Assessment Authority.

Protective Services which include the following: 911 administration, fire protection, police protection, inspections, emergency measures, animal/pest control.

Transportation Services which include the following: parking, street lights, public transit, traffic signals, roads and streets, roadsigns, transportation planning and engineering.

Recreational and Cultural Services include: local playground and parks, community center, local arena, local cultural facilities, local pool.

Fiscal Services include: contribution to reserve funds, homeowner grants, debt charges, capital funds, conditional transfers to other governments.

Community Development Services include: planning, engineering, housing, social assistance, public health, library.

Environmental Health Services include: water, refuse, sewer.

Other Expenditures include: surplus for other years.

"Local Improvements" includes the following works and any combination of them:

- (a) opening, widening, straightening, extending, grading, leveling, diverting or paving a road;
- (b) constructing a sidewalk, foot crossing, curbing bridge, culvert or embankment forming part of a street or constructing a system of storm drainage;
- (c) making, deepening, enlarging, or lengthening a common sewer or water system;
- (d) making sewer or water service connections to the road line on land abutting the main;
- (e) constructing a conduit for wires or pipes along or under a road;
- (f) public works services as they apply to the Reserve;
- (g) reconstructing, replacing or repairing of the above;

"Minister" means the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development and any of the Minister's duly authorized delegates;

"Provisional Budget" means an interim or preliminary budget projecting revenues and expenditures anticipated to be required for the provision of Local Services on Reserve during all or part of that Fiscal Year but not an Annual Budget;

"Reserve" means those lands:

- (a) the legal title to which is vested in Her Majesty, that have been set apart by Her Majesty for the use and benefit of the Band, whether they be designated lands or conditionally surrendered lands or otherwise than absolutely, and
- (b) that are within the boundaries of the Upper Similkameen Indian Reserves and any additions to Reserve subsequent to the enactment of this Expenditure By-law;
- "Stabilization Fund" means a fund designed to hold any surplus monies remaining in the Taxation Fund at the end of the Fiscal year specified in the Expenditure By-law Annual Budget Schedule;
- "Surveyor of Taxes" means the Surveyor of Taxes appointed in accordance with the Upper Similkameen Indian Band Taxation By-law in force and effect from time to time;
- "Taxation Fund" is defined in and established pursuant to the Upper Similkameen Indian Band Taxation By-law in force and effect from time to time.

3. BUDGETS

- **3.1** On or before March 1 of each Fiscal Year, the Band Council will direct the preparation of a Provisional Budget by the Band's employee(s) or agent(s).
- 3.2 On or before June 30 of each Fiscal Year, the Band Council will prepare the Annual Budget and will by by-law add the Annual Budget as a schedule to the Expenditure By-law.

4. AUTHORIZED EXPENDITURES

- All expenditures, including all costs of administrations, collections, realization of security, complaints, legal and consultant services, education, training and honoraria from the Taxation Fund will be made in accordance with the Annual Budget and the Upper Similkameen Indian Band Property Taxation By-law and when made are authorized expenditures from the Taxation Fund provided section 2.2 above has been complied with.
- 4.2 All funds received pursuant to the Upper Similkameen Indian Band Taxation By-law will be deposited in the Taxation Fund.
- All monies deposited in the Taxation Fund and any interest earned thereon will be expended in accordance with the Expenditure By-law Annual Budget solely for local purposes including the provision of Local Services on Reserve, capital

projects and all costs associated with the administration and enforcement of the *Upper Similkameen Indian Band Property Assessment and Taxation By-laws* in accordance with subsection 3.1.

4.4 All surplus monies remaining in the Taxation Fund at the end of the Fiscal Year specified in the *Expenditure By-law* Annual Budget Schedule may be transferred into the Stabilization Fund and may be applied towards the operation and administration costs for the next Fiscal year, overruns on existing capital projects or for any other contingencies.

5. EXTENSION OF TIME

- **5.1** Provided that there has been substantial compliance with the provisions of this *Expenditure By-law*, a procedural irregularity, technical failure to carry out a provision of this *Expenditure By-law* or an insubstantial failure to comply with a requirement of this *Expenditure By-law* by the Band Council, the Surveyor of Taxes or any other person appointed to carry out the administration or enforcement of this *Expenditure By-law* does not in itself constitute a failure to comply with this *Expenditure By-law* by such person.
- **5.2** The Chief and Council may by Band Council Resolution extend the time for a period of thirty days by or within which anything is required to be done pursuant to this *Expenditure By-law* and anything done by or within such extended time is as valid as if it had been done by or within the time otherwise provided for in this *Expenditure By-law*.

6. BY-LAW REMEDIAL

6.1 This *Expenditure By-law* is to be construed as being remedial and is to be given such fair, large and liberal construction and interpretation as best ensures the attainment of its objects.

7. TENSE

7.1 Where a provision or Schedule of this *Expenditure By-law* is expressed in the present tense, future tense or in the past tense, the provision applies to the circumstances as they may from time to time arise without reference to the present, future or past tenses.

8. HEAD NOTES

8.1 Head notes, marginal notes and headings form no part of this *Expenditure By-law* and are to be construed as being inserted for convenience of reference only.

9. SEVERANCE OF SECTIONS

9.1 A finding by a court of competent jurisdiction that a section or provision of this *Expenditure By-law* is void does not affect or bear upon the validity of any

other section or provision of this *Expenditure By-law* or this *Expenditure By-law* as a whole, same remaining in full force and effect, subject to section 10.1 below, notwithstanding the severance of such void section or provision.

10. USE OF FORMS AND WORDS

10.1 In this Expenditure By-law,

- (a) words signifying the masculine gender include the feminine gender and the neuter gender and, where necessary or the context permits, a person as defined in this *Expenditure By-law*;
- (b) words in the singular include the plural, and words in the plural include the singular; and
- (c) where a word or expression is defined, other parts of speech and grammatical forms of the same word or expression have corresponding meanings.

11. AMENDMENTS

11.1 Any section of this *Expenditure By-law* may be amended by the Band Council by a by-law passed and approved in accordance with appropriate section or sections of the *Indian Act* or constitution of the Band as the case may be.

APPROVED AND PASSED at a duly convened meeting of the Chief and Council of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band held at the Upper Similkameen Indian Band Administration Office, Keremeos, British Columbia, this [13th] day of [December], 2002.

	[Richard Holmes]	
C	hief Richard Holmes	
[Charlene Allison]	r	Miranda Squakin]
[Charlette Allison]	<u></u>	Minanua Squakinj
Councillor Charlene Allison	Coun	cillor Miranda Squakin

Comprising the majority of those members of the Band Council of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band present at the aforesaid meeting of the Band Council, a quorum of the Band Council being three members and the number of members of the Band Council present at the aforesaid meeting of the Band Council being [2].

UPPER SIMILKAMEEN INDIAN BAND PROPERTY TAXATION BY-LAW

[Effective December 19, 2002]

WHEREAS:

The Band Council of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band deems it advisable and in the best interests of the band to engage in, by by-law, the taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, in the reserve, including rights to occupy, possess or use land in the reserve.

NOW BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED:

That the following by-law, being the *Property Taxation By-law*, be and is hereby enacted for the purpose of engaging in taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, in the reserve, including rights to occupy, possess or use land in the reserve, pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular pursuant to the provisions of subsection 83(1) of the *Indian Act*, and pursuant to the inherent right of self-government,

AND,

The *Property Taxation By-law* as enacted herein shall supersede any property taxation by-laws previously enacted by the Band council and approved by the Minister of Indian Affairs to the extent necessary to give full force and effect to the *Property Taxation By-law* for the 2002 taxation year and all following years,

AND,

That upon approval by the Minister of Indian Affairs, the *Property Taxation By-law* shall be of full force and effect.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
PART 1	INTERPRETATION	584
	Interpretation	584
PART 2	ADMINISTRATION OF BY-LAW	589
	Staff Appointments	589
	Duty of Surveyor of Taxes	589
	Cancellation of Taxes	589
	Administrative Procedures	589
PART 3	GENERAL TAXATION PROVISIONS	590
	Liability to Assessment and Taxation	590
	Confidentiality	590

	Duty of Person Liable for Payment of Taxes
	Failure to Comply with the By-law
	False Returns and Records a Failure to Comply
	Defacing Posted Advertisement
	Penalties for Failure to Comply
	Liability of Officers of Corporations
	Date for Payment of Taxes
	Due Date for Taxes Levied in Supplementary Taxation
	Notice
	Interest on Prepaid Taxes
	Taxation Fund and Expenditures
	Place and Mode of Payment
PART 4	EXEMPTIONS AND TAXATION
	Property Exempt from Taxation
	Joint Liability to Taxation
PART 5	LEVY OF TAX
1711(1.5	Levy of Tax
	Variable Tax Rate System
	Example of Calculation of Amount of Tax Imposed and
	Payable during a taxation year under this section
PART 6	TAXATION ROLLS
	Taxation Roll
	Taxation Notice and Supplementary Taxation Notice
	Taxation Roll Open to Public
	Taxation Roll Property of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band
	Refund of Taxes Wrongfully Assessed
	Power to Reduce Taxes by Amounts Equal to Upper
	Similkameen Indian Band Grants
	Power to Delay Taxes for Poverty and Sickness
	Collection Pending Appeals
	Apportionment of Taxes
	Costs of Collection
PART 7	RECOVERY OF TAXES
	Recovery: Personal Liability
	Proving Tax Debt
	Special Lien and Priority of Claim
	Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement
	Proceedings
	Distress: Seizure of Personal Property and Sale of
	Personal Property Seized by Distress

Sa Ga Ga Sp Fc Al Di Pc St St PART 8 GI An As Sc Cc Pr Li An Te Cl He No Se Us Cc		600 609 610 611 613 613 613 614 614 615 616 616 616 616 616
		618 618 618 618 618
SCHEDULE I [Section 22]	•	619
SCHEDULE I [Section 32]	II COSTS PAYABLE BY A TAXPAYER ARISING FROM ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS	620
SCHEDULE I	V CERTIFICATION OF DEBT OWING BY THE TAXPAYER	62

SCHEDULE V [Section 36(2)]	DEMAND FOR PAYMENT AND NOTICE OF ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS	622
SCHEDULE VI [Section 37(2)]	NOTICE OF DISTRESS	623
SCHEDULE VII [Section 37(7)]	A NOTICE OF SALE OF PERSONAL PROPERTY SEIZED BY DISTRESS	624
SCHEDULE VIII [Section 38(1)]	NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OF INTEREST IN THE RESERVE	625
SCHEDULE IX [Section 38(3)]	CERTIFICATION OF CANCELLATION OF LEASE	626
SCHEDULE X [Section 39(1) and 39(3)]	NOTICE OF SALE OF IMPROVEMENTS AND DISPOSITION OF INTEREST IN THE RESERVE	627
SCHEDULE XI [Section 39(10)]	CERTIFICATION OF SALE AND DISPOSITION OF INTEREST ON RESERVE	628
SCHEDULE XII [Section 40(1), 40(2), and 41(1)]	GARNISHEE NOTICE	629
SCHEDULE XIII [Section 43(2)]	NOTICE OF FORFEITURE	630
SCHEDULE XIV [Section 43(7)]	CERTIFICATION OF FORFEITURE	631
SCHEDULE XV [Section 45(1)]	NOTICE OF DISCONTINUANCE OF SERVICES	632
	TAXATION ROLLS AND TAXATION NOTICES	633

This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the *Upper Similkameen Indian Band Property Taxation By-law*.

INTERPRETATION

Interpretation

1.(1) In this by-law, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing in this section:

"actual value" means a price which land and improvements might reasonably be expected to bring if held in fee simple off reserve and offered for sale in the open market on the valuation date,

- "assessment" means a valuation of property for taxation purposes,
- "assessment by-law" means the *Upper Similkameen Indian Band Property Assessment By-law*, passed by the council and approved by the minister, and, where the context requires, all property assessment by-laws and assessment by-laws which may have been superseded by this by-law or by a previous property assessment or assessment by-law,
- "assessment roll" includes a supplementary assessment roll and anything recorded as an addendum to the assessment roll,
- "assessor" means an assessor appointed by the council under the assessment by-law,
- "band" means the Upper Similkameen Indian Band, a band within the meaning of the *Indian Act*,
- "band council resolution" means a resolution passed in accordance with section 2(3)(b) of the *Indian Act*,
- "band land register" means the lists and files kept by the land management department of the band in which are listed or filed particulars in respect of property including particulars in respect of property not listed or filed in any land title office or reserve land register,
- "band member" means a member of the band,
- "board" and "board of review" means board of review appointed under section 30(A) of the assessment by-law,
- "business day" means Monday through Friday, exclusive of statutory holidays,
- "British Columbia Assessment Authority" means the British Columbia Assessment Authority as defined in the *Assessment Authority Act*,
- "Chief and council" means council as defined herein,
- "council" means the council of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band within the meaning of the *Indian Act*,
- "cp" means a certificate of possession as referred to under subsections 20(1) and 20(2) of the *Indian Act*, and for the purposes of this by-law only, includes a notice of entitlement, a certificate of occupation as referred to under subsections 20(4) and 20(5) of the *Indian Act* and any such other permits, agreements, licenses or interests as are issued or given from time to time by band council resolution authorizing the use of land in reserve by a band member,
- "general purposes" means environment, health, fiscal management and taxation for other purposes,

- "improvements" means any building, fixture, structure or similar thing constructed or placed on or in land, or water over land, or on or in another improvement, but does not include any of the following things unless that thing is a building or is deemed to be included in the definition by subsection (2) and section 1.(1):
 - (a) production machinery,
 - (b) anything intended to be moved as a complete unit in its day to day use,
 - (c) furniture and equipment that is not affixed for any purpose other than its own stability and that is easily moved by hand,
- "Indian Act" means the Indian Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. I-5, and any amendments thereto,
- "interest" includes any legal or beneficial right, title, estate or interest, except where the context refers to a rate of interest,
- "interest holder" means a person who has an interest in, or is an occupier of, land or improvements, or both,
- "land" means land, or interests in land, in the reserve, including rights to occupy, possess or use land in the reserve, and includes but is not limited to:
 - (a) land covered by water,
 - (b) quarries, and
 - (c) sand and gravel,
- "land title office" means the land title office or offices for the land title district in which land located in the reserve may have been registered under the Land Title Act of the Province of British Columbia, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing but for greater certainty includes each land title office in which land located in any named reserve may have been so registered,
- "local purposes" means general government services, protective services, transportation services, recreational and cultural services, community development services, environmental health services, fiscal services and taxes for other governments,
- "manufactured home" means any structure, whether or not ordinarily equipped with wheels, that is designed, constructed or manufactured to be moved from one place to another by being towed or carried, and to provide:
 - (a) a dwelling house or premises,
 - (b) a business office or premises,
 - (c) accommodation for any person other than those premises referred to in paragraphs (a) or (b),

- (d) shelter for machinery or other equipment, or
- (e) storage, workshop, repair, construction or manufacturing facilities, unless exempted pursuant to section 19(1)(e),
- "manufactured home park" means land used or occupied by a person for the purpose of providing space for the accommodation of one or more manufactured homes and for imposing a charge, fee or rental for the use of that space,
- "minister" means the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development and includes a person designated in writing by the Minister,
- "municipality" means, in accordance with the context, either any area incorporated as a city, district, township, town or village, under any Act of the Province of British Columbia, or the corporation into which the residents of the area have been incorporated as a municipality or regional district pursuant to the provisions of the *Local Government Act* of the Province of British Columbia,

"occupier" means:

- (a) a person who, if a trespass has occurred, is entitled to maintain an action for trespass,
- (b) a person in possession of land within the reserve that is held directly or indirectly under a lease, licence, agreement, easement or other record from the Crown, or who simply occupies the land,
- (c) a person in possession of land within the reserve that is held directly or indirectly under a lease, licence, agreement, easement or other record from a person who is exempted from taxation under the taxation by-law or any Act that applies to land in the reserve or who simply occupies the land, or
- (d) in relation to land that in ordinary conditions is covered by water, a person who is entitled directly or indirectly under a lease or licence to possess or occupy, or who simply occupies, the land, the water covering the land or the surface of the water covering the land,
- "parcel" means a lot, block, or other area in which land is held or into which land is subdivided, and does include a highway or portion of a highway and the right or interest of an occupier of Crown land,
- "person", in addition to its ordinary meaning, includes a partnership, syndicate, association, corporation, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof and the agent or trustee of a person,
- "principal residence" means principal residence as defined in section 54 of the *Income Tax Act*, R.S.C.,
- "property" includes land and improvements,

- "property class" means a class of property established under section 23(G) of the *Assessment By-law*,
- "quarter" means each of the three month periods in a calendar year beginning January 1, April 1, July 1, and October 1,
- "registered" and "registration", when used in respect of land, refer to registration in the books of the Land Title Office or the books of the reserve land register or listed or filed in the band land register,
- "reserve" has the same meaning as in the Indian Act,

588

- "reserve land register" means the register or registers kept by the Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development pursuant to section 21 of the *Indian Act* and the register or registers kept by the Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development pursuant to section 55 of the *Indian Act*, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing but for greater certainty includes each such register relating to each named reserve,
- "Schedule" means a schedule to this by-law,
- "surveyor of taxes" means the surveyor of taxes appointed by council under this by-law,
- "tax debtor" means a person with outstanding obligations to pay taxes imposed by this by-law,
- "taxation by-law" means the *Upper Similkameen Indian Band Property Taxation By-law*, passed by the council and approved by the minister, and, where the context requires, all property taxation by-laws and taxation by-laws which may have been superseded by this by-law or by a previous property taxation or taxation by-law,
- "taxation district" means a taxation district established pursuant to this by-law,
- "taxation fund" means monies collected by the band under this by-law,
- "taxation roll" means a taxation roll prepared under this by-law and includes a supplementary taxation roll,
- "taxation year" means a calendar year in which taxes are levied and payable under this by-law,
- "taxes" includes all taxes on property or other basis of assessment imposed, levied, assessed or assessable under this by-law, and all percentage additions, costs, penalties and interest added to taxes or imposed or payable under this by-law,
- "trustee" includes a personal representative, guardian, committee, receiver and any person having or taking on himself the possession, administration or control

- of property affected by any express trust, or having, by law, the possession, management or control of the property of a person under a legal disability.
- (2) In the event that the *Indian Act* or any relevant portion of the *Indian Act* should be repealed or should otherwise not apply to the Upper Similkameen Indian Band, then, when the context so requires, a reference in this by-law to the *Indian Act* shall be deemed to be a reference to such other relevant authority as may be or may become applicable.

PART 2

ADMINISTRATION OF BY-LAW

Staff Appointments

3. The council shall appoint a surveyor of taxes, and the Surveyor of Taxes may appoint such staff as are considered necessary for the proper administration of this by-law.

Duty of Surveyor of Taxes

- **4.** The surveyor of taxes appointed under this by-law shall:
- (a) perform the duties required of the surveyor of taxes under this by-law, the assessment by-law and any other by-law in respect of the assessment or taxation of land or improvements, or both, and
- (b) perform such other duties as may be required to effectively implement and administer this by-law and other by-laws of the band, when so directed by council.

Cancellation of Taxes

5. If taxes become delinquent and there is no property on which they may be levied, or there is no personal property which can be distrained for them, or in default of sufficient distress, or are otherwise uncollectable, the surveyor of taxes shall forward to the council a statement giving a detailed list of all taxes on the books which the surveyor of taxes considers uncollectable, showing the efforts that have been made to recover the taxes, and that there are no property or effects, that the property or effects are insufficient for the recovery of the taxes or that the person assessed has left the jurisdiction, and the surveyor of taxes, if instructed by the council, shall cause the taxes to be cancelled on the books.

Administrative Procedures

6. The council may, by band council resolution, establish such administrative procedures, subject to the provisions of this by-law and the *Indian Act*, as may be required to carry out the provisions of this by-law effectively.

PART 3

GENERAL TAXATION PROVISIONS

Liability to Assessment and Taxation

- **7.**(1) Subject to the provisions of the assessment by-law and this by-law, and for raising revenue for local purposes:
 - (a) all property in the reserve is subject to assessment and taxation, and
 - (b) every interest holder shall be assessed and taxed on the property in respect to which he is an interest holder.
- (2) A manufactured home is deemed to be an improvement for the purpose of property assessment and taxation under the assessment by-law and this by-law.
- (3) Taxes levied under this by-law relate to the full calendar year in which the levy is first made and are based on the assessed values of property as provided under the assessment by-law.
- (4) Property shall be assessed and taxed in the names of all interest holders of the property.

Confidentiality

590

- **8.**(1) A person who has custody of or control over information or records under this by-law shall not disclose the information or records to any other person except:
 - (a) in the course of administering or enforcing this or any other by-law of the band.
 - (b) in court proceedings relating to this or any other by-law of the band,
 - (c) under an agreement that:
 - (i) is between the band and another "band" (First Nation), within the meaning of "band" as used in the *Indian Act*, another government, the British Columbia Assessment Authority, the British Columbia Municipal Finance Authority, or the First Nations Finance Authority,
 - (ii) relates to the administration or enforcement of any assessment by-law, taxation by-law, assessment enactment or taxation enactment, and
 - (iii) provides for the disclosure of information and records to and the exchange of similar information and records with that other "band", government, the British Columbia Assessment Authority, the British Columbia Municipal Finance Authority, or the First Nations Finance Authority, or

- (d) for the purpose of the compilation of statistical information by the band, any government, the British Columbia Assessment Authority, the British Columbia Municipal Finance Authority, or the First Nations Finance Authority.
- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply in respect of a taxation roll.

Duty of Person Liable for Payment of Taxes

8. Every person shall comply with the provisions of this by-law and shall keep books of account and records that are adequate for the purposes of this by-law and conform to generally accepted principles of accounting.

Failure to Comply with the By-law

- **9.** A person fails to comply with this by-law and commits an offense in violation of this by-law, who, without reasonable excuse:
 - (a) refuses or fails to make a required return,
 - (b) in making a return, or otherwise, withholds information necessary to ascertain the true taxable amount of a property, or other basis of assessment,
 - (c) refuses or fails to attend or to submit himself to examination on oath or otherwise,
 - (d) fails to keep a book of account or record required to be kept by him, or,
 - (e) fails to pay taxes as and when required by this by-law.

False Returns and Records a Failure to Comply

10. A person who knowingly and willfully makes a false or deceptive statement in a return required under this by-law, fraudulently omits to give in the return a full and correct statement of the property, or other basis of assessment of the person liable for payment of the taxes, or makes or keeps a false entry or record in a book of account or record required to be kept under this by-law, fails to comply with this by-law.

Defacing Posted Advertisement

11. A person who without reasonable excuse tears down, injures or defaces an advertisement, notice or document which, under this by-law or the assessment by-law, is posted in a public place, fails to comply with this by-law.

Penalties for Failure to Comply

12.(1) A person who fails to comply with this by-law or with any duty imposed by this by-law may, upon fourteen days notice to appear before the band council to show cause why services should not be discontinued, have any services provided by the band or pursuant to any contract with the band to the person or to the property in respect of which the person is an interest holder, discontinued pursuant to section 45(1).

(2) A discontinuance of services to a person under subsection (1) shall be in addition to, and shall not limit or derogate from, any other right or remedy that the band is entitled to under this by-law in respect of the failure of the person to comply with this by-law.

Liability of Officers of Corporations

13. A director, manager, secretary or other officer, agent or trustee of an association or corporation, or a member, agent or trustee of a partnership or syndicate, who knowingly and willfully authorizes or permits a failure to comply with this by-law on the part of the corporation, association, partnership or syndicate also fails to comply with this by-law and such director, manager, secretary or other officer, agent or trustee of an association or corporation, or a member, agent or trustee or a partnership or syndicate shall be jointly and personally liable with the association, corporation, partnership or syndicate for payment of the taxes due and the penalties established by this by-law for failure to comply with this by-law.

Date for Payment of Taxes

- **14.**(1) Taxes levied in a taxation notice mailed under section 24(1), 24(8), or 24(10), are due and payable at the location specified in the taxation notice before 4:00 p.m. on the first business day following July 1 of the year they are first levied and shall be deemed to have been imposed on and from the 1st day of January of such year.
- (2) If a portion of the taxes referred to in subsection (1) remains unpaid at 4:00 p.m. on the first business day following July 1 of the year they are first levied and remain unpaid on September 1, there shall be added to them, a penalty as provided in Schedule I, 5% of the unpaid taxes and an additional 5% on September 1 and the amount so added shall for all purposes be deemed part of the taxes.
- (3) If a portion of the taxes referred to in subsection (1), including penalties, remains unpaid on December 31 in the year they are first levied, they are deemed delinquent on that day, and after that day shall bear interest at the rate provided in Schedule I until actually paid or recovered. Accrued interest shall for all purposes be deemed part of the delinquent taxes as if it had originally formed part of the taxes.
- (4) The rate of interest under subsection (3) shall be set for each quarter at 5% above the prime lending rate on Canadian dollar commercial loans in Canada made to the prime risk commercial customers by the principal banker to the band as that rate stood on the 15th day of the month immediately preceding that period.

Due Date for Taxes Levied in Supplementary Taxation Notice

15.(1) Taxes levied in a supplementary taxation notice mailed or sent under section 24(8) are due and payable 38 days after the statement date in the notice.

- (2) A penalty, calculated as follows, shall be added to any portion of the taxes due and payable referred to in subsection (1) that remains unpaid after the due date;
 - (a) if the taxes were levied in respect of the taxation year in which the supplementary taxation notice is mailed or sent and the due date is on or after the first business day following July 1 of that year, the penalty equals 10% of the unpaid taxes,
 - (b) if the taxes were levied in respect of a taxation year before the year in which the supplementary taxation notice is mailed or sent, the penalty equals 10% of the unpaid taxes.
- (3) Section 15(2) applies in respect of taxes due and payable levied in a supplementary taxation notice, except that taxes referred to in subsection (2)(b) that remain unpaid the day after the due date are deemed to be delinquent on that day.

Interest on Prepaid Taxes

- **16.**(1) The surveyor of taxes shall, and is hereby authorized to, receive on behalf of a taxpayer deposits of money to be applied to taxes levied under this by-law, pursuant to Schedule I.
- (2) Interest at the rate of interest provided in Schedule I shall be payable to a taxpayer who deposits money pursuant to subsection (1).

Taxation Fund and Expenditures

- 17.(1) All taxes and other monies raised under this by-law shall be placed or deposited in a special account or accounts maintained in the name of the band in a chartered bank, credit union, trust company, the First Nations Finance Authority, or an association which provides for the pooling and investment of funds raised through property taxation.
- (2) The band may apply to receive funds by way of grant in lieu of taxes from the Crown or any Crown corporation and may accept payment of taxes in the form of grants-in-lieu of taxes or may otherwise accept settlement of a taxation issue where it is in the best interests of the band to do so.
- (3) The following expenditures of funds raised under this by-law are hereby authorized:
 - (a) refunds of overpayment of taxes due under this by-law,
 - (b) refunds of that part of a deposit referred to in subsection (1) in excess of tax payable,
 - (c) all expenses of preparation and administration of this by-law and of preparation and administration of the assessment by-law,

- (d) remuneration of the surveyor of taxes and any other employees of the band involved in the administration of this by-law,
- (e) remuneration of the assessor and any other employees of the band involved in the administration of the assessment by-law,
- (f) payments due under any contract of service entered into pursuant to the assessment by-law,
- (g) remuneration of members of a board of review under the assessment by-law,
- (h) all expenses of enforcement of this by-law or of the assessment by-law, including legal costs,
- (i) all expenses incurred in defending any challenge to this by-law, the assessment by-law or to the expenditure by-law or any of the provisions, including legal costs,
- (j) payments due under any service agreement entered into between the band and any municipality or other government in respect of the provision of services to the reserve or to any other "reserve" or "special reserve" (as those terms are defined in the *Indian Act*) of the band,
- (k) expenses incurred in the preparation, administration and enforcement of all by-laws made pursuant to sections 81, 83 and 85.1 of the *Indian Act*,
- (l) an annual contribution of ten percent (10%) of the annual gross taxes to a cumulative capital projects fund to be used from time to time for such capital projects as may be authorized by by-law,
- (m) an annual contribution of ten percent (10%) of the annual gross taxes to an income contingency fund to be used as designated by Chief and council from time to time for extraordinary expenditures authorized under subsection (3)(a) through (k).
- (4) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (3), all expenditures made out of monies under this by-law shall be made under authority of a separate by-law.

Place and Mode of Payment

594

- **18.**(1) Taxes are payable to the band at the office of the Surveyor of Taxes, Upper Similkameen Indian Band Administration Office, Keremeos, British Columbia, and may be paid by cash, cheque, post office money order, postal note or express orders.
- (2) Payment tendered by cheque or other order shall be made payable in the name of the "Upper Similkameen Indian Band" and the tax shall be deemed not

paid, even if a receipt is given, until the amount of the cheque or order is actually received by the band.

- (3) If taxes are in arrears and part payment is received, the payment shall be applied firstly to accrued interest and then to arrears and penalties and any balance shall be applied on account of current taxes.
- (4) On receipt of payment of taxes the Surveyor of Taxes shall, at the request of the interest holder, issue an official receipt to the payer. The cancelled cheque of the payer shall constitute an official receipt.
 - (5) The Surveyor of Taxes shall not:
 - (a) waive the liability of any person to pay in full an amount due and payable under this by-law to the band, or
 - (b) extend the time within which payment is to be made.

PART 4

EXEMPTIONS AND TAXATION

Property Exempt From Taxation

- **19.**(1) The following property is exempt from taxation:
- (a) any land or interest in the land of the band, of a member of the band or of an Indian person as defined by the Council for the Upper Similkameen Indian Band;
- (b) any land or interest in land of a corporation the majority of the shareholders of which are members of the Council of the Band or Indian Persons as defined by the Council of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band;
- (c) notwithstanding subsection (1)(a) and subject to subsection (3), property used and occupied by the band chiefly for the administration of the affairs of the band:
- (d) notwithstanding subsection (1)(b) and subject to subsection (3), property of an organization, incorporated or otherwise, owned or controlled by the band, or an aboriginal organization, unless the council by-law declares that this exemption shall not apply;
- (e) a building used exclusively for school purposes and the land necessary as the site for the building;
- (f) a building occupied by a religious body and used chiefly for divine service, public worship or religious education, and the land necessary as the site for the building;

- (g) a building or any part thereof used as a hospital, other than a private hospital, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
- (h) a building used chiefly for the purpose of providing housing accommodation for the elderly or persons suffering from physical or mental disability, not operated for profit, and the land necessary as a site for the building;
- (i) manufactured homes licensed and equipped to travel on a public highway, that are occupied by a person or persons not ordinarily resident on the reserve and are situated within a mobile home park or manufactured home park for a period of less than 60 days;
- (j) campers, motor homes or any vehicle that is capable of being towed on its own permanent wheels and under carriage by motor vehicle, has a current license as a trailer under the Motor Vehicle Act, R.S.B.C. 1979, c.288, as amended from time to time, for use on a highway and is not used as a principal residence;
- (k) a floating manufactured home other than a floating manufactured home that is anchored or secured, for a period of 60 days or more during a year, to land, a structure or a buoy in a manufactured home park that is covered by water:
- (l) if, and for howsoever long as council, by band council resolution, may approve, the property of a municipality that is maintained and operated as park or a recreation ground or for athletic or recreational purposes by the municipality;
- (m) property owned by a body corporate, all issued and outstanding shares of which are held by a band member, which is used and occupied by the band member holding all of the issued and outstanding shares of the body corporate, as that band member's principal residence;
- (n) a building, or any part thereof, used as a university, technical institute, or public college, not operated for profit, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
- (o) a cemetery to the extent that it is actually used for burial purposes.
- (2) Where an interest in property is exempt from taxation, that fact does not affect the liability to assessment or to taxation of any other interest in the same property.
 - (3) The surveyor of taxes shall determine whether:
 - (a) for the purposes of subsection (1)(c), property is used and occupied by the band primarily for the administration of the affairs of the band,

- (b) for the purposes of subsection (1)(d), any organization is owned or controlled by the band.
- (4) Notwithstanding subsection (1) through (3), all land and interests in land are liable to service and local improvement charges.
- (5) Where an interest in land is not subject to taxation, that fact does not affect the liability to taxation of any other interest in the same land.
- (6)(a) An exemption does not apply to any portion of a building other than the portion occupied or used for the purpose for which the exemption was granted.
 - (b) Where an exemption applies to a portion of a building, it applies, in the same proportion, to the land that is necessary as the site for the building.

Joint Liability to Taxation

20. Where two or more persons are liable to assessment and taxation in respect of the same property, those persons are liable jointly and severally to taxation.

PART 5 LEVY OF TAX

Levy of Tax

- **21.**(1) Subject to section 19, there is hereby imposed and levied each calendar year on all property subject to taxation under this by-law.
- (2) Taxes imposed and levied pursuant to subsection (1) shall be deemed for all purposes to be imposed and levied as taxation for local purposes.

Variable Tax Rate System

- **22.**(1) There are hereby established as taxation districts those taxation districts listed in column 1 of Schedule II.
- (2) Each taxation district shall consist of the whole or part of those reserves as described and set out in column 2 of the part of Schedule II relating to the taxation district.
- (3) Subject to subsection (5), council shall enact a by-law with the approval of the minister establishing, imposing and levying the tax rate for each separate property class within each separate taxation district.
- (4) A by-law enacted pursuant to subsection (3) shall include a schedule (in subsection (6) called the "Rate Schedule") substantially in the same form as Schedule II, in which shall be set out in column 4 the tax rate established for each separate property class within each separate taxation district.
- (5) Tax rates may vary for each separate taxation district and for each separate property class within each separate taxation district.

(6) All tax rates established, levied and imposed pursuant to subsections (3) and (4) shall be applied against each \$1,000.00 of actual value of property on the assessment roll applicable in the appropriate property class set out in column 3 in the Rate Schedule within the appropriate taxation district set out in column 1 in the Rate Schedule.

Example of Calculation of Amount of Tax Imposed and Payable during a taxation year under this section:

If:

- the taxation year is 2002,
- the taxable property is located with a Upper Similkameen Indian Band reserve,
- the taxable property is classified as being property class 6 (Business & Other).
- the by-law enacted by council and approved by the minister pursuant to subsection (3) establishes, levies and imposes a tax rate of 22.0682 for property class 6 in the Upper Similkameen Indian Band Reserve Taxation District, and
- the taxable property has an actual value of \$276,543.00 on the assessment roll applicable for the 2002 taxation year, and therefore the tax rate of 22.0682 shall be applied against 276.543 thousand dollars,

then the amount of tax imposed, levied and payable for the taxation year in respect of the taxable property shall be:

$$22.0682 \times 276.543 = \$6,102.81$$

(7) Notwithstanding subsection (6), where the amount of tax levied on a taxation property in a taxation year is less than \$500.00, the taxable property shall be taxed \$1 for the taxation year, and that sum shall be placed on the taxation roll.

PART 6

TAXATION ROLL

Taxation Roll

23.(1) Where pursuant to the assessment by-law the assessment roll has been completed by the assessor and pursuant to section 22(3) of this by-law the tax rate for each property class within each separate taxation district has been established for the taxation year, the surveyor of taxes shall forthwith prepare a taxation roll in which shall be entered each parcel of taxable property described in the assessment roll for the year.

- (2) The taxation roll may be an extension of the assessment roll and shall be prepared as and contain the information specified in Schedule XVI.
- (3) Where a person is named in an assessment roll as a person assessed in respect of property, he shall be deemed for the purposes of preparation of the taxation roll to be an assessed interest holder of the property.
- (4) The taxation roll shall be amended from time to time by a supplementary taxation roll as may be necessary to incorporate changes or amendments made to the assessment roll under the assessment by-law or whenever a supplementary assessment roll is created.

Taxation Notice and Supplementary Taxation Notice

- **24.**(1) On completion of the taxation roll the surveyor of taxes shall forthwith mail to every person named in it a taxation notice.
- (2) The mailing or sending of the taxation notice, as the case may be, constitutes a statement, and demand for payment, of the taxes and other amounts set out in the taxation notice.
- (3) The surveyor of taxes is not required to mail or send a taxation notice to a person exempt from taxation under this by-law.
- (4) The taxation notice shall be directed to each assessed interest holder at their last known address.
- (5) The surveyor of taxes may at any time send a true copy of any taxation notice sent by him under this section to any person who is an interest holder in respect of the taxable property.
- (6) Taxes levied and collected under this by-law shall, except as otherwise provided, be calculated, levied and accounted for by the surveyor of taxes to the council on the assessed values entered in the assessment roll as provided under the assessment by-law.
- (7) The duties imposed on the Surveyor of Taxes as to the annual taxation roll and all provisions of this by-law on taxation rolls apply to supplementary taxation rolls.
- (8) Unless a supplementary assessment roll has been incorporated into the taxation roll, the Surveyor of Taxes shall mail to every person named on the supplementary taxation roll a supplementary taxation notice.
- (9) Subsection (5) applies in respect of the supplementary taxation roll and supplementary taxation notices.
- (10) Where, before or after the taxation roll is completed and before a taxation notice is mailed, a supplementary assessment roll is prepared under the assessment

by-law that results in a change in the tax payable for that taxation year, the Surveyor of Taxes may incorporate the supplementary assessment roll into the taxation roll to reflect the amended tax payable and may issue a single taxation notice showing the amended tax payable.

Taxation Roll Open to Public

25. The taxation roll shall be placed in the Upper Similkameen Indian Band taxation office, or such other place as the council may direct, and the roll shall be open to public inquiry during the hours from 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., except for Saturdays and Sundays and statutory holidays.

Taxation Roll Property of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band

26. The taxation roll is the property of the band.

Refund of Taxes Wrongfully Assessed

- **27.**(1) Except as provided in this section, no person has a right to recover monies paid to the Upper Similkameen Indian Band as taxes paid under a mistake.
- (2) Council shall refund the amount paid in excess of liability where, subsequent to completion or certification of a tax roll under this Part, it is shown that for the current taxation year a property recorded on the taxation roll was not liable to taxation, or a person had been taxed in excess of liability, or a person was wrongly named as an interest holder. Except by Order of a Court, no refund will be made after December 31 of the year following the year in which the tax notice was issued.
- (3) Where taxes imposed under this by-law are due from a person liable for the unpaid taxes to whom an amount is to be refunded under this section, the amount may, at the request of the person liable for the unpaid taxes, be refunded in whole or in part by being applied as a credit on account of the taxes due or accruing due.

Power to Reduce Taxes by Amounts Equal to Upper Similkameen Indian Band Grants

28. Council may from time to time provide for a general reduction of taxes due by a taxpayer for a taxation year in an amount determined by band council resolution, to be known as the Upper Similkameen Indian Band Grants, provided however that the balance of taxes must be actually paid within the taxation year, or no reduction will be allowed.

Power to Delay Taxes for Poverty and Sickness

29.(1) Council may, at any time after the mailing of taxation notices for that year, with or without notice, receive a petition from an interest holder of property who declares himself, from sickness or extreme poverty, unable to pay the taxes levied against him, and may delay the due date for the payment of taxes due by the

petitioner until April 30 of the year following the year in which taxes were due, or reject the petition.

- (2) If council delays the due date for payment of taxes pursuant to subsection (1), it shall waive penalties and it may as a condition of granting such delay require the petitioner to:
 - (a) pay interest on the tax arrears at such rate as determined under section 14(4), and
 - (b) provide any form of security for payment of the tax arrears that council deems appropriate,

and in every such case the Surveyor of Taxes may register a lien on the property which lien shall attach to the entire property taxed, and without limiting the foregoing, attaches to the interest of a subsequent interest holder of the property.

Collection Pending Appeals

30. Where:

- (a) an appeal in respect of the completed assessment roll is made to a board of review under the assessment by-law,
- (b) an appeal from the decision of a board of review or in respect of an omission or refusal of the board of review to hear or determine an appeal, is made to the Federal Court of Canada Trial Division, under the assessment by-law, or
- (c) an appeal from a decision of the Federal Court of Canada Trial Division, referred to in paragraph (b) is made to the Federal Court of Appeal,

the giving of any notice of appeal or delay in hearing any appeal, shall not affect the due date, the delinquency date, the interest, penalty, or any liability for payment provided by this by-law in respect of tax levied on the assessed value that is the subject of the appeal; but if the assessment is set aside or the assessed value reduced:

- (d) by a decision of the board of review under the assessment by-law upon completion of the hearing of the appeal referred to in paragraph (a) and no appeal from such decision is made to the Federal Court of Canada Trial Division, under the assessment by-law within the time permitted under the assessment by-law for an appeal in respect thereof;
- (e) by a decision of the Federal Court of Canada Trial Division, upon completion of hearing an appeal referred to in paragraph (b) and no appeal from such decision is made to the Federal Court of Appeal within the time permitted for appeal in respect thereof, or
 - (f) by a decision of the Federal Court of Appeal,

then the band shall refund to the taxpayer the tax or excess tax paid by him, or any interest or penalty imposed or paid on the tax or arrears.

Apportionment of Taxes

- **31.**(1) On satisfactory evidence being produced to the assessor that a parcel of land for which taxes are due has been subdivided by plan of subdivision, or part of another parcel of land on which taxes are due has been sold or assigned and documentation executed and delivered to the purchaser or assignor, the assessor shall, by certificate signed by him, deposit with the surveyor of taxes on behalf of the band, an apportionment of the assessed values as approved by the board of review for the land and improvements, between:
 - (a) the separate parts of the subdivided parcel shown on the plan, or
 - (b) the part of the other parcel sold and conveyed and the remainder of the parcel.
- (2) The surveyor of taxes shall apportion the taxes to the separate parcels, receive payment of the taxes so apportioned for part of the subdivided parcel or for the part of the other parcel sold and conveyed, and leave the remainder of the subdivided parcel or other parcel chargeable with the remainder of the taxes due.
- (3) On satisfactory evidence being produced to the surveyor of taxes that a property has become exempt or taxable or ceased to be exempt or taxable, the surveyor of taxes shall apportion the taxes in accordance with the number of days in the taxation year that the property has become exempt or taxable or ceased to be exempt or taxable.

Costs of Collection

32. The surveyor of taxes shall charge the person named in a taxation roll with all reasonable costs which are incurred in the collection of all taxes, interest, penalties or other costs imposed by this by-law, including legal costs. Such costs shall be in accordance with Schedule III.

PART 7

RECOVERY OF TAXES

Recovery: Personal Liability

- **33.**(1) An interest holder named in the taxation roll in any year is liable for all taxes imposed in respect of the property during the year and all unpaid taxes imposed in respect of the property in, or in respect of, previous years.
- (2) All taxes payable under this by-law are debts due to the band. Taxes are recoverable by:
 - (a) action in a court of competent jurisdiction,

- (b) filing of a special lien,
- (c) seizure and sale or personal property by distress,
- (d) cancellation of proprietary interests held by the interest holder,
- (e) sale of improvements and proprietary interests held by the interest holder,
- (f) garnishment of rent owed to the interest holder,
- (g) by garnishment of other monies owed to the interest holder,
- (h) by forfeiture of property held by the interest holder,
- (i) by discontinuance of services provided by the band, and
- (j) in any other manner provided in this by-law or at law.

Proving Tax Debt

34. Any tax, or portion thereof, due and payable under this by-law that has not been paid shall be certified by the surveyor of taxes, who shall attach a copy of that part of any taxation roll that refers to the taxes which are payable. Such certification shall be in the form provided in Schedule IV, and when so certified is *prima facie* proof of the debt.

Special Lien and Priority of Claim

- **35.**(1) Taxes due and payable are a special lien and encumbrance in favour of the band on the entire property taxes.
- (2) The special lien and encumbrance referred to in subsection (1) attached to the entire property taxed, and without limiting the foregoing, attaches to the interest of a subsequent interest holder of the property.
 - (3) A certificate issued under section 34 may:
 - (a) if relating to an interest that is registerable in the reserve land register kept pursuant to section 21 of the *Indian Act*, be registered therein,
 - (b) if relating to an interest that is registerable in the surrendered and designated lands register kept pursuant to section 55 of the *Indian Act*, be registered therein, and
 - (c) if relating to an interest that is not registerable in a register referred to in paragraph (a) or (b), be listed or filed in the band land register,
 - (d) be filed with the District Registrar of the Supreme Court of British Columbia and when so filed, the certificate shall be of the same force and effect and proceeding may be taken on the certificate as if it were a judgment of the court for the recovery of a debt in the amount stated in the certificate against the person or persons named in the certificate, and

- (e) may be filed in the registries established pursuant to the *Manufactured Home Act* or the *Personal Property Security Act* as amended from time to time.
- (4) When registered pursuant to subsection (3), the special lien and encumbrance shall have priority over every other claim, privilege, lien, charge, security interest, or encumbrance of every person, from the time of its registration.
- (5) When all taxes levied against the property have been paid, the surveyor of taxes shall certify that the special lien and encumbrance against the property referred to in subsection (1) has been discharged, and shall register such certification where necessary, including:
 - (a) if the certificate issued under section 34 was registered pursuant to subsection (3)(a), the reserve land register kept pursuant to section 21 of the *Indian Act*,
 - (b) if the certificate issued under section 34 was registered pursuant to subsection (3)(b), the surrendered and designated lands register kept pursuant to section 55 of the *Indian Act*, and
 - (c) if the certificate issued under section 34 was listed or filed pursuant to subsection (3)(c), the band land register.

Such certification shall be sufficient proof of the payment of the taxes and the discharge of the special lien or encumbrance referred to in subsection (1).

- (6) No property subject to a special lien and encumbrance or any interest therein shall be sold, transferred or assigned, nor shall there be any further transaction in respect of such property, until the special lien and encumbrance has been discharged in accordance with subsection (5).
- (7) Notwithstanding subsection (5), no sale, transfer, assignment or transfer of possession of property or any interest therein referred to in subsection (5) shall affect any right of distress or sale of the property under this by-law for the recovery of taxes.
- (8) Where property or any interest therein is sold, transferred or assigned, the amount of the unpaid special lien and encumbrance constitutes a first charge on the proceeds of sale.
- (9) The special lien and encumbrance is not lost or impaired by reason of any neglect or technical error or omission including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, by any neglect, error or omission of council, the surveyor of taxes, or any other person, or by taking or failing to take proceedings to recover the taxes due, or by tender or acceptance of partial payment of the taxes or, subject to the subsection (4) in respect of priorities only, by way of registration.

Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings

- **36.**(1) In January following the year for which taxes are imposed, or so soon as is practical thereafter, the surveyor of taxes shall prepare a list of taxes which have not been paid, together with the name of the assessed taxpayers named in the taxation roll liable for payment of unpaid taxes. The list shall be submitted to the council who shall approve that notice be given to all persons named that collection proceedings may be taken against them for recovery of overdue taxes.
- (2) Following receipt of the approval provided pursuant to subsection (1), the surveyor of taxes shall, by mail or personal delivery to the taxpayer's last known address, and in the form set out in Schedule V, serve a demand for payment and notice of pending enforcement proceedings on all persons whose names are on the approved list, and all persons who have an interest in the property in respect of which taxes have not been paid.
- (3) Failure to give notice required by this section does not affect the validity of proceedings taken for the recovery of taxes under this by-law.

Distress: Seizure of Personal Property and Sale of Personal Property Seized by Distress

- **37.**(1) If the taxes or any portion thereof remain unpaid, after the time provided by the demand for payment and notice of enforcement served pursuant to subsection 36(2), then proceedings by way of distress of personal property owned by a taxpayer indebted to the Upper Similkameen Indian Band for unpaid taxes and located on the Upper Similkameen Indian Band reserve lands, as set out in this section, may be taken by the surveyor of taxes.
- (2) The surveyor of taxes may serve a notice of distress on the tax debtor, in the form set out in Schedule VI.
- (3) If the taxes, or any portion thereof, remain outstanding following the time provided by the notice of distress, then the surveyor of taxes shall himself or by an agent, bailiff or sheriff effect a seizure by distress of the personal property generally described in the notice of distress referred to in subsection (2) and post a notice of the personal property which is seized pursuant to this section on the property in respect of which the tax debtor is an interest holder. The seized personal property shall then be in the possession of the band, as represented by the surveyor of taxes.
- (4) So long as the taxes, or any portion thereof, remain outstanding, no personal property seized pursuant to subsection (3) which is located on reserve shall be removed therefrom, and any such removal shall be considered a trespass.
- (5) If the surveyor of taxes seizes by distress the tax debtor's personal property pursuant to subsection (3), and the tax debtor does not commence legal proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days after the date of such seizure challenging such, the personal property may be sold in accordance with this section

and the tax debtor is estopped from denying the validity of the seizure and sale of such personal property.

- (6) Upon the expiration of 30 days after a seizure by distress pursuant to subsection (3), if the outstanding taxes have not been paid in full, the personal property seized will be deemed to have been abandoned by the tax debtor and may be sold by public auction, the proceeds of which will be applied for payment of taxes.
- (7) A notice of sale of personal property seized by distress in the form of Schedule VII to this by-law shall be published once in at least one newspaper, whether distributed free or by sale, of general local circulation no less than 7 days prior to the sale, and shall be posted on the property in respect of which the tax debtor is an interest holder.
- (8) The sale of the personal property seized by distress shall be conducted at the time and place advertised pursuant to subsection (7), unless it is necessary to adjourn such sale. If an adjournment is necessary an additional notice shall be published in the manner provided by subsection (7).
- (9) Any surplus resulting from the sale conducted pursuant to subsection (8), after deducting all liabilities of the tax debtor, including all reasonable costs and charges arising from the sale, shall be paid to the owner of the personal property seized. In the event that the surveyor of taxes is uncertain as to the person entitled to such surplus the surveyor of taxes shall pay such money into court by way of interpleader action.
- (10) Any goods and chattels of any tax debtor that would be exempt from seizure under a writ of execution issued out of a superior court of the province of British Columbia are exempt from seizure under this section.

Cancellation of Proprietary Interest Held by Taxpayer

- **38.**(1) Upon the expiration of 6 months after the time provided in the demand for payment and notice of enforcement proceedings served pursuant to subsection 36(2), the surveyor of taxes may request authorization from the council to issue a notice of cancellation of the tax debtor's interest in the reserve and upon receiving such authorization may issue a notice in the form of Schedule VIII. Prior to giving such authorization the council shall obtain the consent of such other party as may be lawfully required.
- (2) The surveyor of taxes shall mail a copy of the notice of cancellation referred to in subsection (1) to every place where the interest is registered.
- (3) Where taxes with interest are not paid within 30 days of the mailing of the notice of cancellation, the tax debtor's interest in the reserve may be cancelled. The surveyor of taxes shall certify the cancellation in the form provided in Schedule IX. A certificate issued under this subsection shall:

- (a) if relating to an interest that was registered in the reserve land register kept pursuant to section 21 of the *Indian Act*, be registered therein,
- (b) if relating to an interest that was registered therein, be registered in the surrendered and designated lands register kept pursuant to section 55 of the *Indian Act*, and
- (c) if relating to an interest that was not registered in a register referred to in paragraph (a) or (b), be listed or filed in the band land register.

Sale of Improvements or Proprietary Interests

- **39.**(1) The surveyor of taxes may, upon the expiration of six months following the service of the demand for payment and notice of enforcement proceedings pursuant to section 36(2) and upon receiving the authorization provided for in section 38(1), serve upon the tax debtor a notice of sale of improvements and disposition of interests on reserve, in the form of Schedule X.
- (2) Upon the expiration of the time provided by the notice served pursuant to subsection (1) and failure of the tax debtor to pay the outstanding taxes or commence legal proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction challenging the sale or disposition, the surveyor of taxes shall sell the improvements and dispose of the interest of the tax debtor in the reserve by public auction, or pursuant to subsection (4) by public tender.
- (3) A notice of sale of improvements and disposition of interest in the reserve in the form of Schedule X shall be published in at least one newspaper of general local circulation for 7 days prior to the sale, and shall be posted on the property in respect of which the tax debtor is an interest holder.
- (4) If in the sole discretion of the surveyor of taxes, the sale of improvements and disposition of the interest in the reserve pursuant to subsection (2) would fairly and efficiently occur by sale by public tender, then the surveyor of taxes shall seek prior approval from the council to hold the sale and disposition by public tender. Upon granting such approval, the council shall prescribe the method of public tender, including the conditions of sale, method of publication or circulation, and conditions attached to the acceptance of any offer.
- (5) The sale of the improvements and disposition of interest in the reserve shall be conducted at the time and place advertised pursuant to subsection (3), unless it is necessary to adjourn such disposition. If an adjournment is necessary an additional notice shall be published in the manner provided by subsection (3).
- (6) The sale of the improvements and disposition of the interest in the reserve by public tender approved by the council pursuant to subsection (4), shall be conducted in the manner provided by the council pursuant to that section.

- (7) The surveyor of taxes, upon receiving the prior approval of the council, may at any sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsections (2) or (4), set an upset price equal to the outstanding taxes with respect to that property, and that upset price shall be the lowest price for which the improvements may be sold and the interest in the reserve disposed.
- (8) Where the surveyor of taxes sets an upset price pursuant to subsection (7), and there is no bid at the sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsections (2) or (4) that is equal to or greater than the upset price, the band shall become the purchaser of the improvements and the holder of the tax debtor's interest in the reserve at the upset price.
- (9) At any time within 12 months after the sale and disposition held pursuant to subsections (2) or (4), the tax debtor may redeem his improvements and interest in the reserve by paying to the surveyor of taxes the full amount of all taxes for which the improvements were sold and the interests disposed, together with all taxes which have subsequently fallen due.
- (10) If upon the expiration of the redemption period provided by subsection (9), any amount of the taxes remains outstanding, the sale of the improvements and disposition of the interests shall be considered final and the purchaser shall obtain title to the improvements and to the tax debtor's interest in the reserve. The surveyor of taxes shall certify the sale in the form provided in Schedule XI. A certificate issued under this section shall:
 - (a) if relating to an interest that was registered in the reserve land register kept pursuant to section 21 of the *Indian Act*, be registered therein,
 - (b) if relating to an interest that was registered therein, be registered in the surrendered and designated lands register kept pursuant to section 55 of the *Indian Act*, and
 - (c) if relating to an interest that was not registered in a register referred to in paragraph (a) or (b), be listed or filed in the band land register,

and shall be served on the tax debtor.

- (11) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (10), the purchaser shall be substituted for the tax debtor as the holder of the interest in the reserve, and in addition to any other obligations, shall be liable for all future taxes assessed against that interest.
- (12) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (10), any surplus monies resulting from the sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsection (2) or (4), after deducting all outstanding taxes of the tax debtor, including all costs and charges arising from the sale and disposition, shall be paid or returned to the tax debtor. In the event that the surveyor of taxes is uncertain as to the person entitled

to such surplus the surveyor of taxes shall pay such money into court by way of interpleader action.

- (13) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (10), any remaining debt of the tax debtor with respect to the property referred to in the certificate, including all costs and charges arising from the sale and disposition, shall be extinguished.
- (14) If, pursuant to subsections (8) and (10) the band has become the owner of the improvements and interest in the reserve, the surveyor of taxes may sell such within 90 days for not less than the upset price set pursuant to subsection (8).

Garnishment of Rent

- **40.**(1) Where taxes are due on property occupied by a lessee whose landlord is liable for the taxes, the surveyor of taxes may, by registered mail, in the form set out in Schedule XII, give no less than 30 days' notice to the landlord that, on continued default of payment of taxes, the surveyor of taxes shall proceed with collection of rent under this section.
- (2) Where a landlord fails to pay taxes in full within 30 days after the surveyor of taxes gives notice pursuant to subsection (1), the surveyor of taxes shall give the lessee notice in writing, in the form set out in Schedule XII, to pay to the band the rent otherwise due and owing as it becomes due, and from time to time, until the amount of the outstanding taxes are paid in full.
- (3) A lessee may deduct from his rent any amounts paid by him or her to the band in response to a notice served pursuant to subsection (2).

Garnishment of Other Monies

- **41.**(1) When the surveyor of taxes has reasonable knowledge that a person is, or will be, within 90 days, liable to make a payment to a tax debtor then the surveyor of taxes may serve a garnishee notice by registered mail or in person, in the form of Schedule XII, on that person requiring that those monies, in whole or in part, be paid to the band on account of the outstanding taxes of the tax debtor. The garnishee notice shall also be served on the tax debtor.
- (2) Unless the taxes of the tax debtor have been paid, the recipient of a garnishment notice pursuant to subsection (1), shall pay the amount immediately, or, if the amount is not yet payable to the Tax debtor when the amount becomes payable, to the surveyor of taxes.
- (3) Monies paid to the surveyor of taxes pursuant to subsection (2) shall be deposited into an interest bearing account and shall be paid against the tax debtor's outstanding taxes, upon the expiration of 30 days from the receipt of such, unless the tax debtor has initiated court proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction with respect to such payment.

Special Fees and Charges

42.(1) This section applies to

- 1. fees or charges imposed under this by-law for work done or services provided to land or improvements, or
- 2. amounts that the band is entitled to recover for work done or services provided to land or improvements under any provision of this by-law that authorizes the band to recover amounts in the event of default by a person.
- (2) An amount referred to in subsection (1)
- (a) may be collected in the same manner and with the same remedies as ordinary taxes on land and improvements under this by-law, and
- (b) if it is due and payable by December 31 and unpaid on that date, is deemed to be taxes in arrears.

Forfeiture of Property

- **43.**(1) Notwithstanding any other action for the recovery of taxes set out in this by-law, if any taxes remain unpaid until the end of December of the second year after the calendar year in which they were first imposed, the Council may, by by-law, declare the tax debtor's interest in the reserve in respect of which the taxes remain unpaid shall, subject to subsections (2), (3), (4) and (5) herein, be absolutely forfeited.
- (2) The tax debtor's interest in the reserve shall not be forfeited under subsection (1) until the surveyor of taxes serves a notice of forfeiture pursuant to subsection (4) and in the form set out in Schedule XIII, on the tax debtor and on anyone else who may be in lawful possession of the property and the date on which the tax debtor's interest in the reserve forfeits shall be the 40th day after the date on which the notice was served.
- (3) Monies paid to the surveyor of taxes pursuant to subsection (2) shall be deposited into an interest bearing account and shall be paid against the tax debtor's outstanding taxes, upon the expiration of 30 days from the receipt of such, unless the tax debtor has initiated court proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction with respect to such payment.
 - (4) The notice of forfeiture shall state:
 - (a) that the interest held by the tax debtor in the reserve is subject to forfeiture under this section,
 - (b) the amount of all taxes, reasonable costs and fees that are due and payable to the date of the notice,

- (c) the date on which the interest in the reserve held by the tax debtor will forfeit,
- (d) the right to prevent forfeiture by payment under this section,
- (e) that on forfeiture under this section, the interest held by the tax debtor in the reserve will be forfeited clear of all charges except those rights of way, easements or other such third party interests which otherwise attach to the land or interest
- (5) The notice of forfeiture shall be given by mailing or delivering it to the person entitled to it at that person's last known address or to the address of that person which is specified in the records of the surveyor of taxes.
- (6) Where any taxes remain unpaid on December 1 of the second year after the calendar year in which they were imposed, the payment of those taxes does not prevent forfeiture unless the payment:
 - (a) includes all taxes then due and payable, and
 - (b) is made before forfeiture occurs under this section.
- (7) The surveyor of taxes shall certify, in the form set out in Schedule XIV that the interest in the reserve held by the tax debtor has been forfeited and such certification shall:
 - (a) if relating to an interest that was registered therein, be registered in the reserve land register kept pursuant to section 21 of the *Indian Act*,
 - (b) if relating to an interest that was registered therein, be registered in the surrendered and designated land register kept pursuant to section 55 of the *Indian Act*, and
 - (c) if relating to an interest that was not registered in a register referred to in paragraph (a) or (b), be listed or filed in the band land register.

Upon registration, the registrar shall take any and all steps necessary to remove the tax debtor's interest in the reserve.

Absconding Taxpayer

- **44.**(1) Notwithstanding section 40(1), where the council considers it appropriate, it may authorize the surveyor of taxes to commence collection proceedings set out in sections 41(1) and 43 or abridge or dispense with the time periods required therein, at any time when the council believes, on reasonable grounds, that taxes will be uncollectable because of the actions or proposed actions of the tax debtor.
- (2) Without limiting subsection (1), where the surveyor of taxes has reasonable grounds for believing that the assessed taxpayer is planning to remove any or all

of his personal property from the reserve, dismantle or remove his improvements located on reserve, or take any other actions which will either preclude or substantively impair the collection of any outstanding taxes owing pursuant to this by-law, he shall apply to the council for authorization to immediately commence any of the collection proceedings set out in sections 40, 41, 43 and 45(1) and abridge or dispense with the time periods required therein.

(3) In the alternative to subsection (1), or upon the request of the council following the application provided by subsection (2), the surveyor of taxes may initiate proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction, notwithstanding the fact that the time for payment of taxes has not yet expired.

Discontinuance of Services

- **45.**(1) Notwithstanding section 46(1), with the approval of the council, any services (including but not limited to water and sewer services) provided by the band or pursuant to any contract with the band, to any person who fails to comply with any provision of this by-law, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any tax debtor, or to the property in respect of which the person is an interest holder assessed pursuant to the assessment by-law, may be discontinued. A notice of discontinuance of services in the form of Schedule XV, shall be served upon the person, 30 days prior to such discontinuance, and shall include the date, time and place within that 30 days, upon which the person can appear before the council to show cause as to why the services should not be discontinued. Following the appearance before council, the council shall in its absolute discretion determine whether or not it shall discontinue the provision of any services. If council determined to discontinue the provision of any services, it may, as and when it deems appropriate, itself discontinue the provision of services and notify any other person providing services to the person or to the property pursuant to any contract with the band to discontinue the provision of services thereto.
- (2) Neither the band, council, nor any councillor, employee, agent, contractor or subcontractor of the band shall be liable for any claims, losses, damages or expenses of any kind or nature whatsoever of, or to any person, property or personal property, arising directly or indirectly from, in respect of or relating to, any discontinuance of the provision of any service pursuant to subsection (1).

Powers for Recovery of Taxes

- **46.**(1) The powers conferred in this by-law for recovery of taxes may be exercised separately, concurrently or cumulatively.
- (2) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), discontinuance of services to any person pursuant to section 46 shall not limit or restrict the exercise of any power conferred in this by-law for recovery of taxes, and vice versa.

Statement of Taxes Paid or in Arrears

- **47.**(1) The surveyor of taxes shall give on written request, to a person making application, a written statement of the taxes, penalty and interest outstanding or a statement that no taxes are outstanding, as the case may be, at that date and may charge for a search and written statement:
 - (a) where 3 or less taxation roll folios are searched and for which a written statement is prepared as a result of a request, \$10.00 for each taxation roll folio searched, and
 - (b) where more than 3 taxation roll folios are searched and for which a written statement is prepared as a result of a request, the amount resulting by multiplying \$45.00 per hour by the number of hours taken to perform the search and prepared the written statement, but not less than \$30.00 in respect of any request.

PART 8 **GENERAL**

Applies Within Reserve

48. This by-law applies with respect to all property within the reserve.

Assessment By-law

49. The surveyor of taxes shall do those things required of the surveyor of taxes under the assessment by-law.

Schedules

50. The following schedules are attached to and constitute part of this by-law:

Schedule I Interest on Unpaid Tax and Prepaid Tax [Section 16] Schedule II Property Classes Within Each Taxation District

Costs Payable by a Taxpayer Arising from Enforcement Schedule III Proceedings [Section 32]

Schedule IV Certification of Debt Owing by the Taxpayer [Section 34]

[Section 22(4)]

Schedule V Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings [Section 36(2)]

Schedule VI Notice of Distress [Section 37(2)]

Schedule VII Notice of Sale of Personal Property Seized by Distress

[Section 37(7)]

Schedule VIII - Notice of Cancellation of Interest in the Reserve [Section 38(1)]

Schedule IX - Certification of Cancellation of Lease [Section 38(3)]

Schedule X - Notice of Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest in the Reserve [Sections 39(1) and 39(3)]

Schedule XI - Certification of Sale and Disposition of Interest on

Reserve [Section 39(10)]

Schedule XII - Garnishee Notice [Sections 40(1), 40(2) and 41(1)]

Schedule XIII - Notice of Forfeiture [Section 43(2)]

Schedule XIV - Certification of Forfeiture [Section 43(7)]

Schedule XV - Notice of Discontinuance of Services [Section 45(1)]

Schedule XVI - Taxation Rolls and Taxation Notices [Section 23(2)]

Council May Extend Time

51. The council may, by band council resolution, extend the time for 30 (thirty) days by which anything is required to be done under this by-law.

Procedural Irregularities

- **52.**(1) Provided that there has been substantial compliance with the provisions of this by-law by the council, by the surveyor of taxes, by any other person appointed to carry out this by-law, a procedural irregularity, technical failure to carry out a provision of this by-law, or an insubstantial failure to comply with a requirement of this by-law, by the council, by the surveyor of taxes, by any other person appointed to carry out this by-law, or by a person required to pay taxes under this by-law, shall not, or itself, provide sufficient grounds to invalidate any matter or thing required to be made, performed or done by the council, by the surveyor of taxes, by any other person appointed to carry out this by-law, or the requirement of a person to pay taxes under this by-law.
- (2) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), nothing under this by-law shall be rendered void or invalid, nor shall the liability of any person to pay tax or any other amount under this by-law be affected by:
 - (a) an error or omission in a valuation or a valuation based solely on information in the hands of an assessor or the surveyor of taxes,
 - (b) an error or omission in an assessment roll, taxation roll, taxation notice, or any notice hereunder, or
 - (c) a failure by the surveyor of taxes to do something within the required time.

Limitation on Return of Money

- **53.**(1) No action or proceeding for the return of money paid to the band, whether under protest or otherwise, on account of a demand, whether valid or invalid, made for tax or any amount under this by-law, shall be commenced after the expiration of 6 months from the making of the payment; but the payment shall be deemed to have been voluntarily made.
- (2) Nothing in subsection (1) shall relieve the band from any obligation under section 30, to refund to a taxpayer the tax or excess tax paid by him, or any interest imposed or paid on the tax or arrears.

Amendments

54. Any section of this by-law or Schedule to this by-law may be amended by a by-law adopted by the council and approved by the minister in accordance with appropriate section or sections of the *Indian Act*.

Tense

55. Where a provision in this by-law or Schedule to this by-law is expressed in the present tense, future tense or in the past tense, the provision applies to the circumstances as they may from time to time arise without reference to the present tense, future tense or the past tense.

Clarification

- **56.**(1) This by-law, including the Schedules to this by-law, shall be construed as being remedial, and shall be given such fair, large and liberal construction and interpretation as best ensures the attainment of its objects.
- (2) Where a liability for tax or taxes arose under one or more former bylaws which has been superseded and replaced by this by-law, the provisions of the *Interpretation Act*, RSC., 1985, ch I-21 apply, and without restricting the generality of this provision:
 - (a) every person appointed under the former by-law or by-laws continues to act as if appointed under this by-law until replaced or appointed under this by-law;
 - (b) all forms or things made or used under the former by-law or by-laws may be continued under this by-law to the extent possible,
 - (c) any and all procedures established by this by-law shall be applicable and followed for the recovery or enforcement of tax, taxes, fines, penalties, interest, cancellation or forfeiture imposed under the former by-law or by-laws;
 - (d) if any penalty or interest rate is increased or decreased under this by-law then the increased or decreased penalty or interest rate shall apply from the date that this by-law came into effect.

Head Notes

57. Head notes, marginal notes and provision headings form no part of this by-law but shall be construed as being inserted for convenience of reference only.

Notices

- **58.**(1) Except where otherwise specifically provided in this by-law, where any notice, notification, demand, statement or direction is required or permitted to be served, delivered or given under this by-law, such notice, notification, demand, statement or direction shall be sufficient if mailed by registered mail, postage prepaid, or delivered personally to:
 - (a) the address of the person set forth in the assessment roll, or
 - (b) such other address of which the surveyor of taxes has received notice.
- (2) Any notice, notification, demand, statement or direction shall be conclusively deemed to have been served, given or received on the fifth business day following the mailing thereof.

Severance of Sections

59. A finding by a court of competent jurisdiction that a section or provision of this by-law is void or invalid shall not affect or bear upon the validity or invalidity of any other section or part of this by-law or this by-law as a whole.

Use of Forms and Words

- **60.** In this by-law:
- (a) words signifying the masculine gender include the feminine gender and the neuter gender and, where necessary or the context permits a person as defined in the assessment by-law,
- (b) words in the singular include the plural, and words in the plural include the singular, and
- (c) where a word or expression is defined, other parts of speech, and grammatical forms of the same word or expression have corresponding meanings.

Coming Into Force

61. This by-law shall come into full force and effect upon approval by the minister.

APPROVED AND PASSED at a duly convened meeting of the Band Council of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band held at the Upper Similkameen Indian Band Administration Office, Keremeos, British Columbia, this [13th] day of [December] , 2002.

	[Richard Holmes]	
	Chief	
[Charlene Allison]		[Miranda Squakin]
Councillor		Councillor

SCHEDULE I

INTEREST ON UNPAID TAX AND PREPAID TAX

[Section 14(2) and 16]

Prepayment

- 1.(1) The surveyor of taxes is authorized to receive prepayments on behalf of a taxpayer to be applied to the taxes levied under this by-law on the property of the taxpayer.
- (2) Where property of a taxpayer is recorded on more than one parcel in the taxation roll, a separate deposit may be made under subsection (1) in respect of each parcel.

Minimum Prepayment

2. The minimum amount that may be received under section 1 as a deposit is \$50.00.

Interest

3. Interest on money deposited under section 1 shall be paid to the taxpayer, by way of a credit to the taxpayer's account. Such interest shall commence on the 1st day of the calendar months following the month in which the deposit was made, at a rate which shall be set for each quarter at 3.5% below the prime lending rate on Canadian dollar commercial loans in Canada made to the prime risk commercial customers by the principal banker to the band as that rate stood on the 15th day of the month immediately preceding that period.

Further limit on prepayment

4. A deposit shall not be accepted under section 1 respecting a property if the resulting total, as of June 30 of that year, for all deposits and interest earned on those deposits in respect of the property would exceed the amount of the property taxes on that property under this by-law in the immediately preceding year.

Interest on unpaid taxes

- 5. If taxes remain unpaid at 4:00 p.m. on the first business day following July 1 of the year they were first levied, there shall be added to them, as a penalty, 5% on the unpaid taxes, and if the taxes remain unpaid at 4:00 p.m. on the first business day following September 1 of the year they are first levied, there shall be added to them, as an additional penalty, 5% of the unpaid taxes and the amount so added shall for all purposes be deemed part of the taxes.
- 6. If a portion of the taxes referred to in section 14(2), including penalties, remains unpaid on December 31 of the year that they are first levied, they are deemed delinquent on that date, and thereafter shall bear interest at the rate of 10% per annum until actually paid or recovered.

SCHEDULE II PROPERTY CLASSES WITHIN EACH TAXATION DISTRICT

[Section 22]

Column 1	Column 2	Column 3 Column 4
Name of Taxation District	Reserves Comprising Taxation District	Tax Rate for the Property Classes Taxation Year
Taxation District	The whole of the reserve lands of the Upper Similkameen Indian Band	 Residential as established by by-law for each Utilities property class
	nidian Band	3. Unmanaged forest land
		4. Major industry
		5. Light industry
		6. Business & other
		7. Managed forest land
		8. Recreational Property/ Non Profit Organization
		9. Farm
		10. Short term accommodation

actual legal fees, etc.

SCHEDULE III

COSTS PAYABLE BY A TAXPAYER ARISING FROM ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS

[Section 32]

1. For preparation of and serving any and all notices required by Part 7 on the Taxpayer, Tax Debtor or any other person, newspaper or on any property, etc:	\$35.00 per notice
2. For attending, investigating, making an inventory of, cataloguing, or seizing property, and preparing and conducting a Sale by distress, for each person involved:	\$40.00 per hour
3. For drafting, filing and executing a lien or encumbrance:	\$150.00
4. For sale of improvements or disposition of interests in reserve land, including attending, investigating, inventorying, cataloguing, preparing and executing a Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest on Reserve, for each person involved:	\$40.00 per hour
5. For the issuing of and/or registration of all certificates required by Part 7:	\$10.00 per certificate
6. For disbursements, including without limiting photocopying (\$.30 per page), advertising, storage fees,	as and when arising

SCHEDULE IV CERTIFICATION OF DEBT OWING BY THE TAXPAYER

[Section 34]

PURSUANT TO THE Upper By-law, I,			
Indian Band, certify that \$ is due and owing by	is the a	mount of the outstand	ling taxes which with respect to
The amount due and owing incurder section 32 of the <i>Upper S</i> date of issuance of this certification.	imilkameen l	•	
Attached hereto is a copy of that Indian Band that references the respect to this property.	-		
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
Surveyor of Taxes			

SCHEDULE V DEMAND FOR PAYMENT AND NOTICE OF **ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS**

[Section 36(2)]

TO:	
ADDRESS:	
RE:	(Description of property)
the above-note	ate prescribed by the Taxation Notice served on you with respect to d property has now expired. The Upper Similkameen Indian Band MANDS IMMEDIATE PAYMENT IN FULL of the following deb and owing:
TOTAL OUTS	TANDING TAX DEBT:
30 days from th Upper Similkan	ETHAT the failure to pay in full the above-mentioned tax debt withing the date of this Demand will result in procedures being taken by the meen Indian Band for the enforcement and collection of such debt as may accrue to this debt.
procedures allo and owing. The including perso services being p be used by the S Property Taxata	ilkameen Indian Band Property Taxation By-law contains detailed wing for the enforcement and collection of a tax debt which is due se enforcement and collection procedures may affect your property and property located on this property and may affect the on-going provided to your property. The remedies and procedures which may burveyor of Taxes are set out in the <i>Upper Similkameen Indian Bandion By-law</i> . A copy of the by-law is available for your review from a Taxes upon request.
DATED AT	this day of , 20
Surveyor of Ta	xes

SCHEDULE VI NOTICE OF DISTRESS

[Section 37(2)]

	Section	011 37(2)]	
TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:			
respect to the a 7 (seven) days pursuant to sect	E THAT failure to pay the above-noted property, be after the date of this no tion 37(3) of the <i>Upper Sing</i> by distress the personal	ing \$, or before tice will result in the Sumilkameen Indian Band I	the expiration of arveyor of Taxes, <i>Property Taxation</i>
	eral description of the per the property of which the		
upon the expiration notice being powill be located be held in the p	ER TAKE NOTICE THA ation of the 7 (seven) days osted at the locations on r and will result in the seiz possession of the Survey nount of the taxes outstar	s set out above, will result reserve where the personature of such personal proof or of Taxes, at your cost	t in a copy of this al property are or operty, which will a, such cost being
Similkameen In proceedings in 30 (thirty) days	ER TAKE NOTICE that ndian Band Property Tax a court of competent jure from the date of such seiz both the seizure and the seiz	cation By-law, you must isdiction to challenge surgure, or you will be estopp	commence legal ch seizure within ped from denying
after the persor tax debt or cor to have abando authorize that the Notice of S property locate	ER TAKE NOTICE THAT and property has been sein mence court proceeding oned the personal property where the personal property where the personal property and on reserve, and will be all circulation, whether discussed the date of sale.	zed and the failure to pay gs as set out above, you ty seized and the Survey ill be sold by public au seized by distress will be published once in one or	y the outstanding I will be deemed yor of Taxes may oction. A copy of the posted on your more newspapers
DATED AT	this _	day of	, 20
Surveyor of Ta	xes		

624

SCHEDULE VII A NOTICE OF SALE OF PERSONAL PROPERTY SEIZED BY DISTRESS

[Section 37(7)]

TAKE NOTICE THAT a s Upper Similkameen Indian o'clock at	n Band will occur	_	
At the above-noted sale, the to section 37(7) of the <i>Upp</i> will be sold, with the proceedabt:	er Similkameen Ind	dian Band Property T	Taxation By-law,
GENERAL DESC	CRIPTION OF TH	E PERSONAL PRO	PERTY
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
Surveyor of Taxes			

SCHEDULE VIII NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OF INTEREST IN THE RESERVE

[Section 38(1)]

		L	. /1	
TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:		(Descrip	tion of Property)	
		(Intere	st on Reserve)	
with respect to	the above-note	ed property wi	he outstanding tax of ll result in the can irty) days from the of	cellation of your
the interest in		, and any righ	ll be required to im ts or interest which	•
DATED AT		this	day of	, 20
Surveyor of Ta	xes			

SCHEDULE IX CERTIFICATION OF CANCELLATION OF LEASE

[Section 38(3)]

RE:	(Descrip	tion of Property)	
	(Intere	est on Reserve)	
Indian Band, here Similkameen India Section 38(3) of the	, Surveyor or by certify that the above in Band Reserve has been the Upper Similkameen India re oft	e-mentioned interest cancelled or terminan Band Property Ta	st on the Upper nated pursuant to axation By-law as
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
Surveyor of Taxes			

SCHEDULE X

NOTICE OF SALE OF IMPROVEMENTS AND DISPOSITION OF INTEREST IN THE RESERVE

[Sections 39(1) and 39(3)]

TO:	
ADDRESS:	
RE:	(Description of Property)
	(Interest on Reserve)
	(Description of Improvements)
above-mention (sixty) days afte Upper Similkate the improvement public auction Improvements	E THAT failure to pay all outstanding taxes with respect to the ed property, being \$, on or before the expiration of 60 or the date of this notice will result in the Surveyor of Taxes for the meen Indian Band holding a sale by public auction (or tender) of ints located on the above-mentioned property and a disposition by or tender) of the above-noted interest on the Reserve. The Sale of and disposition of Interest in the Reserve shall be published in the newspaper for 7 (seven) days prior to such sale and disposition sted on the above-noted property located on the Reserve.
the above-men and interest in a all taxes for wh with all taxes v the cost of the those 6 (six) m improvements	OTICE THAT on or before the expiration of 6 (six) months after ioned sale and disposition, you may redeem your improvements he Reserve by paying to the Surveyor of Taxes the full amount of ich the improvements were sold and the interest disposed, together which have subsequently fallen due, including without restricting, above-mentioned sale and disposition. If upon the expiration of boths any amount of the taxes remains outstanding, the sale of the land disposition of the interest in Reserve will be declared final the shall obtain both your title in the improvements sold and your deserve.
you will be requ	OTICE THAT upon the sale and disposition being declared final, tired to immediately vacate the property, and any rights or interests in the improvements and to the Reserve land will be transferred rchaser.
DATED AT	this day of , 20
Surveyor of Ta	 Kes

628

SCHEDULE XI

CERTIFICATION OF SALE AND DISPOSITION OF INTEREST ON RESERVE

[Section 39(10)]

RE:				
		(Description	of Interest on Reserve)	
		(Description	on of Improvements)	
		-	es of the Upper Sim	
			ailure of	
_	•		oned interest on Rese	
_			or Tender) and the a	
	•		ction (or Tender) pur	
39(2), 39(4) (f	or Public Tender) and 39(10) of the Upper Sim	ilkameen Indiar
Band Property	Taxation By-law.	The follow	ring person shall, pu	rsuant to section
43(11) of that E	3y-law, be substitu	ited for the	Tax Debtor as the hol	der/owner of the
above-noted in	terest in the reserv	ve, includin	g the improvements:	
N	AME AND ADD	RESS OF P	URCHASER AT SA	LE
DATED AT		_ this	day of	, 20
Surveyor of Ta	xes			

SCHEDULE XII GARNISHEE NOTICE

[Section 40(1), 40(2) and 41(1)]

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:	Outstanding Tax I	Debt of:		
		(Name of	Tax Debtor)	
		(Description	on of Property)	
tax debt due an Similkameen In require the pay	d owing the Upper indian Band Proper iment of monies will Band, as such become	Similkameen rty Taxation B hich are payab	Indian Band. Pu <i>y-law</i> , the Surv le to the Tax De	pay the outstanding rsuant to the <i>Upper</i> eyor of Taxes may ebtor on Reserve to till the outstanding
Similkameen I Debtor's outsta	Indian Band Taxati	on Administra e monies whi	ntion Office, on ch are either im	Taxes at the Upper account of the Tax imediately payable otor.
unless the Tax lof such settlem notice is applic	Debtor settles the conent is provided to y	outstanding tax you by the Upp	debt by paymer per Similkameer	I not be withdrawn nt in full and notice Indian Band. This he Tax Debtor until
interest bearing 30 (thirty) day the Band with garnishment. I	g account and shales from the receipt notice that court	l be paid out to of the monies proceedings less are taken, the	to the Band upo , unless the Tax have been taken the Surveyor of T	be deposited into an in the expiration of Debtor has served in in respect of the Taxes shall not pay the court.
DATED AT		_ this	day of	, 20
Surveyor of Ta				

SCHEDULE XIII NOTICE OF FORFEITURE

[Section 43(2)]

TO:	
ADDRESS:	
RE:	
	(Description of Property)
	(Interest in the Reserve)
Band Property	CE THAT taxes imposed by the <i>Upper Similkameen Indian Taxation By-law</i> for the above-noted property in the year(s), have been outstanding for two (2) years and pursuan, the above-noted interest on the Reserve is now subject to forfeiture
The amount of follows:	all taxes which are due and payable to the date of this notice is as
ITE	MIZED STATEMENT OF ALL TAXES, INCLUDING INTEREST, PENALTIES, COSTS, ETC.
are paid in full of interest you hold to the Upper S the Reserve will	ER TAKE NOTICE that unless the above-noted outstanding taxes on or before the 40th (fortieth) day after the date of this notice, the din this property will be absolutely and unconditionally forfeited imilkameen Indian Band. Upon such forfeiture, your interest in the Band clear of all charges except those rights of way ther such third party interest which attach to that Reserve land.
December 1 of	ER TAKE NOTICE THAT where any taxes remain unpaid or the second year after the calendar year in which they were imposed those taxes does not prevent forfeiture unless the payment:
(a) includ	es all taxes then due and payable, and
(b) is mad	le before forfeiture occurs under this section.
DATED AT	this day of , 20
Surveyor of Tax	xes

SCHEDULE XIV CERTIFICATION OF FORFEITURE

[Section 43(7)]

RE:	(Description of Property)			
	(Interes	st on Reserve)		
I,	, Surveyor of Taxes	for the Upper Sim	ilkameen Indian	
Band, hereby certi	fy that resulting from the fa	ailure of	(tax	
	outstanding tax debt owir			
	lkameen Indian Band Reser	-		
* *	lkameen Indian Band purs			
* *	n Band Property Taxation		i) of the opper	
этикатеен тан	η Βαπά Γτορέτιν Ταλαιίοπ .	Бу-шж.		
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20	
Surveyor of Taxes				

SCHEDULE XV NOTICE OF DISCONTINUANCE OF SERVICES

[Section 45(1)]

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:		(Descrip	tion of Property)	
outstanding for is received on cappeared before	month or before 30 (thirt e the Band counci ed to this property ty) days.	ns, and that un ty) days after il and shown y will be disc	e-noted property han enless payment in fu the date of this No cause as set out bel ontinued at any tin	ll for this tax debt otice, or you have low, the following
	LIST SERVIC	CES TO BE I	DISCONTINUED	
Council schedu	ıled for		u may attend a me, 20 at set out above) and	o'clock, at
	es should not be d	•		
DATED AT		this	day of	, 20
Surveyor of Tax	xes			

SCHEDULE XVI TAXATION ROLLS AND TAXATION NOTICES

[Section 23(2)]

- (1) A taxation roll may be prepared in microfiche, paper form or electronic form.
- (2) A taxation roll may contain the following particulars in respect of each property contained in the assessment roll for the taxation year:
 - (a) a short description of the property,
 - (b) the name and last known address of each person assessed in respect of the property,
 - (c) the classification of:
 - (i) the land, and
 - (ii) the improvements,

set out in the assessment roll for the taxation year,

- (d) the actual value by classification of:
 - (i) the land, and
 - (ii) the improvements,

set out in the assessment roll for the taxation year,

- (e) the total assessed values for:
 - (i) general purposes, and
 - (ii) other than general purposes,

set out in the assessment roll for the taxation year,

- (f) the total assessed value of exemptions, if any, from taxation for:
 - (i) general purposes, and
 - (ii) other than general purposes,

set out in the assessment roll for the taxation year,

- (g) the total net taxable value for:
 - (i) general purposes, and
 - (ii) other than general purposes,

set out in the assessment roll for the taxation year,

- (h) the tax rate or rates applicable to the property,
- (i) the total amount of taxes levied on the property for the current taxation year,
- (j) any amount set forth in a previous taxation roll in respect of the property that remains unpaid, and any penalty or accrued interest on the amount and the penalty,
- (k) the amount of any tax for the current taxation year, other than taxes, placed on the taxation roll for collection,
- (l) the total amount required to be paid in respect of the property, and
- (m) such further or other information as may be prescribed from time to time by council by band council resolution.

YALE FIRST NATION NO. 589 FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2002-3

[Effective January 24, 2003]

A by-law to regulate the receipt, management, and expenditure of Yale First Nation funds and establish the administrative structure of the Yale First Nation which manages the funds;

WHEREAS the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, provides that Council may, subject to the approval of the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development, make by-laws for the following purposes:

- the appropriation and expenditure of moneys of the Yale First Nation to defray the Yale First Nation expenses;
- the appointment of officials to conduct the business of the Council and prescribing their duties; and
- with respect to any matter arising out of or ancillary to the exercise of the aforementioned power;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Yale First Nation has determined that it is desirable and necessary that a financial management by-law be established for the purposes set out in subsection 83(1) of the *Indian Act* and for the better administration of the Yale First Nation's business:

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Yale First Nation at a duly convened meeting of the Council enacts the following by-law.

TITLE

1. This By-law may be called the *Financial Administration By-law*.

DEFINITIONS

- 2. In this By-law,
- "agencies" means any board, tribunal, commission, committee of the Yale First Nation or any corporate body controlled by the Yale First Nation including a society, non-profit corporation or business corporation;
- "annual budget" means the forecast of planned expenditures for the forthcoming fiscal year by the Yale First Nation;
- "Board" shall mean the Yale First Nation Treasury Board established pursuant to this By-law;

- "agreement" means any written contract between the Yale First Nation and another party or parties, including the Federal Government, the provincial government or a third party, pursuant to which money is to be paid to the Yale First Nation;
- "Council" shall mean the Chief and Council of the Yale First Nation;
- "department" means an administrative division of the Yale First Nation Government as established from time to time by Council and includes service centres, administrative units and other internal organizational units of the Yale First Nation administration;
- "Yale First Nation funds" means all moneys belonging to the Yale First Nation and includes
 - (a) all revenues of Yale First Nation;
 - (b) money borrowed by the Yale First Nation;
 - (c) money received or collected on behalf of the Yale First Nation; and
 - (d) all moneys that are received or collected by the Yale First Nation pursuant to any agreement or funding arrangement and is to be disbursed for a purpose specified by Council or pursuant to that agreement or funding arrangement;

but does not include

636

(e) money received by the Yale First Nation on behalf of an individual or corporate entity, where Council has approved an alternative arrangement for the managing of the money pursuant to section 74 of this By-law;

"resolution" means a decision made at a meeting of a quorum of Council.

APPLICATION

- **3.** This By-law governs the receipt, management and expenditure of Yale First Nation funds and the administrative organization of the Yale First Nation to manage the funds.
- **4.** This By-law applies to all Yale First Nation departments and agencies in receipt of Yale First Nation funds.

TREASURY BOARD

- **5.** A Treasury Board of the Yale First Nation is hereby established and shall continue in existence notwithstanding changes in its membership from time to time.
- **6.** The Board shall consist of five (5) members appointed by the Council from time to time with one (1) member being the Band Administrator.
 - 7. Two (2) of the members of the Board shall be members of the Council.

- **8.** The Chairperson shall be elected by the Board and serve for a term of two (2) years.
- **9.** The Chairperson shall preside over the meetings of the Board and shall, between meetings of the Board, exercise or perform such of the powers, duties or functions of the Board as the Board may determine.
 - 10. The Board shall be responsible for
 - (a) the management and control of the collection of Yale First Nation funds;
 - (b) the management and control of the expenditures and disbursements of the Yale First Nation;
 - (c) the maintenance of records of the financial activities of the Yale First Nation:
 - (d) the preparation of the annual budget in accordance with the priorities approved by Council;
 - (e) the preparation of the annual audit of the Yale First Nation;
 - (f) the reporting and recommending to Council on financial matters; and
 - (g) all other matters relating to the financial affairs of the Yale First Nation not assigned by another by-law or Council resolution to any department or agency.
- 11. The Board shall prepare or cause to be prepared any amendment to the annual budget for the Yale First Nation which shall be submitted to the Council for review and approval.
- **12.** The Board shall maintain or cause to be maintained the financial records of the Yale First Nation through the Office of the Treasurer and the managers of the departments or agencies.
- **13.** The Board may prescribe the form and content of the financial records and establish the accounting systems of the Yale First Nation.
 - 14. A member of the Treasury Board may be removed from office
 - (a) by the Chairperson if the member has missed three (3) consecutive scheduled meetings of the Treasury Board;
 - (b) by a majority of Council on the recommendation of the Chairperson for the member's removal; or
 - (c) by a unanimous vote of Council.
- **15.** The Band Administrator shall act as the senior administration officer of the Treasury Board and shall assist the Board in carrying out its duties. The Band

Council will articulate the specific nature of the duties of the Band Administrator and these will include the planning, organizing, implementing and evaluating of these functions.

- **16.** To facilitate the role and responsibilities of the Band Administrator, a Controller shall be appointed by the Council and is responsible to the Band Administrator for the following:
 - (a) the conduct of the administration necessary to discharge the administrative responsibilities of the Board, including staff supervision;
 - (b) the administrative supervision of the compilation and preparation of the overall annual budget;
 - (c) the preparation of annual financial statements and longterm financial projections and cash flows as required from time to time by the Board;
 - (d) monitoring adherence to any agreement and funding arrangements entered into by the Yale First Nation or any department or agency;
 - (e) administration and supervision of the financial records and reporting systems;
 - (f) the maintenance of records of all receipts and expenditures in such a manner so as to facilitate the annual audit: and
 - (g) any other task assigned by the Board.
- 17. The Board shall be responsible for the hiring of the Controller subject to the ratification of the Council and dismissal of the Controller shall be in accordance with the personnel policies of the Yale First Nation as established by Council.

COUNCIL'S ROLE

- 18. The Council shall appoint two (2) Councillors and two (2) persons from the general First Nation membership to serve as members of the Board for a period consistent with the term of office of the Band Council.
- 19. The Council shall oversee the preparation of the annual budget and shall approve the annual budget of the Yale First Nation and any amendments thereto.
- 20. The Council shall receive and approve the annual audit of the Yale First Nation.
- 21. The Council may, upon the recommendation of the Board or upon its own motion, approve of an exception to this By-law by an amending by-law in accordance with section 83 of the Indian Act.

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

22. On the recommendation of the Board, the Council may approve the delegation of authority to approve expenditures on behalf of the Yale First Nation within the annual budget and consistent with the financial organization of the Yale First Nation.

ANNUAL BUDGET

- **23.** The Board shall prepare estimates of the revenues of the Yale First Nation for the purpose of preparing the annual budget.
- **24.** Each department manager and agency manager shall prepare the department or agency's annual budget for the operation of the department or agency and shall submit the budget prepared to the Board which shall prepare a consolidated annual budget for the Yale First Nation.
- **25.** The annual budget for the Yale First Nation and its agencies shall be submitted by the Board to Council for consideration and approval.
- **26.** The Council is solely responsible for the approval of the consolidated annual budget for the Yale First Nation and its agencies for each fiscal year.
- **27.** Council may increase allocations of funds in the budget, reduce allocations of funds, or reallocate funds to different sectors in the annual budget.
- **28.** The annual budget becomes official upon approval by the Council by resolution.
- **29.** Council may amend the annual budget at any time before or after its implementation.
- **30.** The annual budget shall be made available during regular working hours for inspection by any member of the Yale First Nation, and copies are to be provided to Yale First Nation members on written request to the Controller upon payment of a twenty-five (\$25) dollar fee.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: DEPOSITS

- **31.** There shall be one Consolidated Account established by the Controller at the direction of the Treasury Board into which all Yale First Nation funds shall be deposited.
- **32.** The Controller shall ensure the safekeeping of the Yale First Nation funds received and shall forthwith deposit all Yale First Nation funds to the credit of the Yale First Nation Consolidated Account.
- **33.** The Board may authorize the Controller to reallocate funds from the Yale First Nation Consolidated Account to other accounts for investment purposes or program and services delivery.

- TIMOT TANTIONS GAZETTE
- **35.** The interest earned on the Yale First Nation funds shall be paid to the Consolidated Account.

34. Funds in the Consolidated Account shall be administered by the Controller.

36. Operating surpluses as of the end of the fiscal year shall be paid into the Consolidated Account and allocated or expended in accordance with the direction of Council.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: EXPENDITURES

- **37.** All payments and financial commitments shall be in accordance with the annual budget or in accordance with Council resolution.
- **38.** The Board may make accountable advances from the Consolidated Account to an account administered by a department or agency manager on a monthly basis according to the approved annual budget.
- **39.** At the beginning of each fiscal year, each department and agency manager may receive a one (1) month advance or in such amount as determined by the annual budget and the cash flow approved annual budget.
- **40.** Where funds have been advanced to a department or agency, the department and agency managers shall report to the Board on the last day of the following month
 - (a) an invoice listing the funds expended in the previous month; and
 - (b) a trial balance of the receipts and disbursements for the previous month.
- **41.** The invoice listing submitted to the Board shall be reviewed and approved by the Board if reasonably within the approved budget and upon such approval further advance for the next month shall be made to the department or agency.
- **42.** The Board shall deduct from the current month's advance any amounts advanced in prior months which exceed the amount of the expenditures as recorded in the trial balance.
- **43.** The Board may make such adjustments as are required in the last month of the fiscal year to close out the final payment for the year.

FINANCIAL REPORTING: INVOICING

- **44.** No payment shall be made for the performances of work, supply of goods or rendering of services unless the charge in respect of such work, goods or services has been authorized
 - (a) pursuant to a Council resolution;
 - (b) by a person delegated to authorize such payment; or

- (c) pursuant to an agreement entered into between the Yale First Nation and the person providing such work, goods or services which establishes the amount, or a method of calculating the amount, to be charged for such work, goods or services.
- **45.** For all work, goods or services that are provided by or through the Yale First Nation or any other person on behalf of the Yale First Nation for a fee or other charge, an invoice shall be rendered for payment for the work, goods or services.
- **46.** The Treasurer, department or agency manager each have a role in ensuring invoices are rendered pursuant to this By-law.

AWARDING OF CONTRACTS

- **47.** The Council may appoint by resolution the department or agency managers and other persons as authorized to approve the purchase of goods and services. Any expenditures in the awarding of contracts must receive the prior approval of the Band Council.
- **48.** All orders for work, goods or services provided to the Yale First Nation must be recommended to Council by the department or agency manager authorized to approve the purchase of goods or services.
- **49.** Each order for work, goods or services over fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) or such greater amount as approved by Council, unless approved in the annual budget, shall, in addition to the signature of the department or agency manager, require attestation by the Controller as to availability of funds.

TENDERS

- **50.** Capital purchases up to fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) or such greater amounts as approved by Council may be made by a department or agency manager if approved in the annual budget without going to tender.
- **51.** Capital purchases over fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) and under five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000) or in such amounts as approved by Council may be made by invitations to tender.
- **52.** Capital purchases in excess of five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000) or such greater amounts as approved by Council must be made by public tender.
- **53.** In emergency situations telephone bids up to twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000) or such greater amount as approved by Council may be accepted by a department or agency manager providing a written confirmation follows from the bidder and a record of telephone bids is filed.
 - **54.** Invitations to tender shall include
 - (a) the time and date of closing;

- (b) sufficient details from which comparable bids can be made;
- (c) the time, date, and place tenders are to be opened; and
- (d) amount of security deposit if required.
- **55.** The tendering period is not to be less than five (5) working days, unless in an emergency situation.
- **56.** All tenders are to be returned sealed and addressed to the Yale First Nation, clearly marked "Tendered for _____" and the time and date of receipt is to be recorded on the unopened envelope of tender when received.
- 57. All tenders received shall be opened in public in the presence of the department or agency manager or other person responsible for the tender process.
- **58.** The name of the tender, project, date of bid and amount shown must be recorded.
- **59.** The lowest tender received shall normally be accepted unless the authorized person deems it in the best interest of the Yale First Nation to do otherwise.
- **60.** Where the lowest tender is not accepted, the reasons are to be recorded in the document by the authorized person accepting the contract.
- **61.** Upon acceptance of a tender for the performance of work, goods, or services, a contract is to be signed by both parties and shall be kept as a portion of the records of the Yale First Nation.
- 62. In the event that an official or employee of the Yale First Nation has a personal interest in the contract, he or she shall signify the interest and thereafter refrain from taking part in the discussion or participating in the awarding of the contract.
- 63. No disbursements or payment on any contract shall be made without supporting documentation as determined by the policies of the Board.
- **64.** A fifteen per cent (15%) holdback of final payment or in such amount as may be determined by Board policy shall not be released to a contractor until all work is certified as complete and satisfactory to the Council.
 - **65.** The Board may establish policies and procedures for the tender process.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

66. Any person who holds an office, including that of Chief or Councillor, or employment with the Yale First Nation, its departments or agencies, shall not use that office or employment for personal gain to the detriment of the interests of the Yale First Nation.

- **67.** "Personal gain" shall mean financial benefit for the individual or for the members of his or her immediate family.
- **68.** "Family" shall mean a spouse, including a common-law spouse, children, parent, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, uncle, aunt, grandparent, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, and also includes any relative permanently residing in the person's household.
- **69.** A person may avoid a conflict of interest by disclosing his or her interest prior to the making of a decision and by not participating in the decision.
- **70.** If a person violates the conflict of interest provision Council will, subject to the Yale First Nation Personnel Policy, suspend the employee or official from all privileges and benefits of office or employment for a period up to three (3) weeks.
- **71.** The Board may develop detailed conflict of interest rules which shall govern the administration of financial affairs of the Yale First Nation which shall take effect upon approval by Council. These detailed conflict of interest rules would support those included under this By-law.
 - **72.** An appeal of suspension or dismissal can be made to the Band Council.

AGREEMENTS

- **73.** The Council may approve on behalf of the Yale First Nation such agreements of funding arrangements with the federal and provincial governments or with any other party for the provision of funding for the Yale First Nation, its agencies and other bodies.
- **74.** Where an agreement or arrangement has been approved under section 73 and on the recommendation of the Treasury Board, the Council may approve an alternative arrangement for the management of money received.

FISCAL YEAR

75. The fiscal year of the Yale First Nation Government shall be from April 1 of each year to March 31 in the following year.

AUDIT

- **76.** Council shall appoint by resolution an auditor or auditors annually to audit the books and records of the Yale First Nation.
- **77.** The auditor or auditors shall be a member of a recognized professional accounting association.
 - **78.** The auditor or auditors shall report to Council.

- **79.** The audit shall include all transactions involving the Yale First Nation funds.
 - **80.** The auditor or auditors are entitled to access
 - (a) all books, records, accounts and vouchers;
 - (b) information from any department or agency manager necessary for the completion of the audit;
 - (c) Council resolutions and by-laws;
 - (d) administration and financial regulations;
 - (e) agreements, contracts, and any other related documents.
- **81.** The audit shall be in accordance with generally accepted accounting procedures and shall include a general review of the adequacy of the accounting procedures and systems of control employed to preserve and protect the assets of the Yale First Nation.
- **82.** The Board shall provide the auditors with instructions concerning the annual audit and, through the Controller, shall assist the auditor or auditors in the completion of the audit.
- 83. After the review of the annual audit by the Board, the auditor or auditors shall present the annual audit to the Council upon completion of the annual audit.
- 84. The audited financial statement shall be accepted by the Council by resolution at a meeting and signed by the Chief and such other person as designated by the Council.

PUBLIC

- 85. Upon receipt of the auditor's report by Council, copies of the report shall be posted in such public places as determined by Council.
- **86.** The Controller shall retain the written report of the auditor, together with the related financial statements and any member of the Yale First Nation may inspect them during regular office hours and may by himself or through his agent, at his own expense, make a copy of the report or any part of it.

AMENDMENTS AND REPEAL

- 87. A decision made in contravention of this By-law is voidable by vote of a majority of Council.
- **88.** Amendment or repeal of this By-law shall be in the manner stipulated by the Indian Act.

Councillor Evert Hope

	HEREBY ENACTED by County day of [November], 2002.	
A quorum of Counci	l is two (2) members of Counci	1.
-	[Robert Hope] Chief Robert Hope	
[Theodore Hope]		[Evert Hope]

Councillor Theodore Hope

YALE FIRST NATION NO. 589 PROPERTY ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2002-4

[Effective April 9, 2003]

INDEX		Page
	Short Title	647
Part I	Interpretation	648
Part II	Administration	650
Part III	Application of By-law	650
Part IV	Liability to Taxation	650
Part V	Levy of Tax	651
Part VI	Information for Assessment Roll	652
Part VII	Assessed Value	652
Part VIII	The Assessment Roll	653
Part IX	Amendments to Assessment Roll	655
Part X	Appeals	656
Part XI	Tax Notice	661
Part XII	Due Date and Interest	662
Part XIII	Periodic Payments	663
Part XIV	Receipts and Certificates	633
Part XV	Application of Revenues	663
Part XVI	Collection and Enforcement	664
	Proof of Debt	664
	Special Lien and Priority of Claim	664
	Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement	
	Proceedings	665
	Distress: Seizure of Goods	665
	Distress: Sale of Goods Seized by Distress	666
	Sale of Improvements or Proprietary Interest	667
	Cancellation of Interest in Land Held by Taxpayer	668
	Forfeiture of Property	669
	Absconding Taxpayer	670
	Discontinuance of Services	670
Part XVII	Service and Local Improvement Charges	671
Part XVIII	General and Miscellaneous	673

SCHEDULES

I.	Request for Information	675
II.	Classes of Property	676
III.	Notice of Assessment	679
IV.	Appeal to Assessment Review Committee	680
V.	Notice of Hearing	681
VI.	Request for Attendance	682
VII.	Tax Notice	683
VIII.	Costs Payable by a Taxpayer Arising from Enforcement Proceedings	684
IX.	Certification of Debt Owing by the Taxpayer	685
X.	Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings	686
XI.	Notice of Distress	687
XII.	Notice of Sale of Goods Seized by Distress	688
XIII.	Notice of Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest in Land	689
XIV.	Certification of Sale and Disposition of Interest on Reserve	690
XV.	Notice of Cancellation of Interest in Land	691
XVI.	Certification of Cancellation of Interest in Land	692
XVII.	Notice of Forfeiture	693
XVIII.	Certification of Forfeiture	694
XIX.	Notice of Discontinuance of Services	695
XX.	Notice of Hearing	696

WHEREAS pursuant to the *Indian Act*, and specifically paragraph 83(1)(a), the council of a band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, in the reserve, including rights to occupy, possess or use land, in the reserve;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Yale Indian Band deems it to be in the best interests of the Band to make a by-law for such purposes;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED the Council of the Yale Indian Band at a duly convened meeting, enacts the following by-law.

SHORT TITLE

1. This By-law may be cited as the *Property Assessment and Taxation By-law*.

PART I INTERPRETATION

2.(1) In this By-law,

648

- "Act" means the Indian Act, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5;
- "actual value" means the market value of the interest in land as if it were held in fee simple off Reserve;
- "assessed value" means the actual value of interests in land as determined under this By-law;
- "assessment roll" means a list prepared pursuant to this By-law and includes a supplementary roll, setting out interests in land within the assessment area and their assessed values for the purposes of taxation and includes any alterations or additions under Part IX of this By-law;
- "assessment year" means the year, from January 1 to December 31 in which taxes are to be levied;
- "assessor" means a person, or persons appointed by Chief and Council for the purposes of this By-law and any related duties as required by Chief and Council;
- "Band" or "First Nation" means the Yale Indian Band being a Band within subsection 2(1) of the Act;
- "band council resolution" means a motion passed and approved by a majority of the Councillors of the Band present at a duly convened meeting;
- "Chief and Council" or "Council" means the Chief and Council of the Yale Indian Band (selected according to the custom of the Band or under subsection 2(1) and section 74 of the Act);
- "holder" means a person in lawful possession of an interest in land in the Reserve or a person who, for the time being
 - (a) is entitled to possession of the interest,
 - (b) is an occupier of the interest,
 - (c) has any right, title, estate or interest, or
 - (d) is a trustee of the interest;
- "improvement" means an addition to land or water over land and, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, includes
 - (a) anything erected or placed in, upon or under land, or affixed to land, so that without special mention it would be transferred by a transfer of land,

- (b) anything erected or placed in or upon, or affixed to an improvement, so that without special mention it would be transferred by a transfer of land,
- (c) any item of immovable machinery and equipment which is prescribed assessable by band council resolution, or
- (d) a manufactured home;
- "interest in land" means land or improvements, or both, and, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, includes any interest in land or improvements, the right to occupy, possess or use land or improvements in the Reserve;
- "local improvement charge" means a charge in respect of a local improvement based on the actual or estimated capital costs and interest amortized over a fixed period of years;
- "locatee" means an Indian who is in lawful possession of land in the Reserve pursuant to subsections 20(1) and (2) of the Act and for whose benefit the Minister has leased the land pursuant to subsection 58(3) of the Act;
- "Minister" means the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development;
- "manufactured home" means any structure whether equipped with wheels or not and whether selfpropelled or not, that
 - (a) is used or designed for use as a dwelling or sleeping place, and
 - (b) is constructed or manufactured to be moved from one point to another by being towed or carried unless licenced or able to be licensed and equipped to travel on a public highway,
 - (c) is a business office or premise, and
 - (d) is accommodation for any other purpose;
- "occupier" means a person who, for the time being, is in actual occupation of an interest in land;
- "person", in addition to its ordinary meaning, includes a partnership, association, company, society or body corporate;
- "pipeline" means any pipe designed for or used in the commercial conveyance or transmission of any substance;
- "Registrar" means the Lands Administrator for the Yale Indian Band as appointed by Chief and Council;
- "registers" means the Surrendered and Designated Lands Register kept pursuant to section 55 of the Act and the Reserve Land Register kept pursuant to section 21 of the Act;

- "Reserve" means Yale Indian Reserves, numbers:1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25 as defined in subsection 2(1) of the Act and any land held as a special Reserve for the use and benefit of the Yale Indian Band pursuant to section 36 of the Act:
- "service charge" means a charge in respect of a service based on the estimated or actual annual cost of the service;
- "tax" or "taxes" means a levy imposed by section 11 of this By-law, and includes all interest, penalties, costs or other charges imposed and payable pursuant to this By-law;
- "Tax Administrator" means the person appointed by Council pursuant to section 3 to administer this By-law;
- "tax debtor" means a person with outstanding obligations to pay taxes imposed by this By-law after the expiration of time provided for in Schedule X, the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings, served pursuant to section 60;
- "Taxation Authority" means the Chief and Council of the Yale Indian Band;
- "trustee" means an executor, administrator, guardian, committee, receiver or any person having or taking upon him or herself the lawful possession, administration or control of property affected by an express trust, or having by lawful possession, management and control of the property of a person under any legal disability.
 - (2) The preamble forms part of this By-law.

PART II

ADMINISTRATION

- **3.**(1) Council may appoint a Tax Administrator for a specified or indefinite term to administer this By-law.
- (2) The Tax Administrator is responsible for collection of taxes and enforcement of payment under this By-law.

PART III

APPLICATION OF BY-LAW

4. This By-law applies to all interests in land within the Reserve.

PART IV

LIABILITY TO TAXATION

5.(1) Subject to section 6, all interests in land including any right to occupy, possess, or use land, is subject to taxation under this By-law.

- (2) Without derogating from Council's taxing authority or jurisdiction, Council may accept payment of taxes in the form of grants in lieu of taxes or may otherwise accept settlement of a taxation issue where it is in the best interests of the Band.
 - **6.** The following interests in land are not subject to taxation:
 - (a) any interest in land of the Band or of a member of the Band;
 - (b) any interest in land of a corporation, all the shareholders of which are members of Council, and which interest in land is held for the benefit of all the members of the Band;
 - (c) a building used exclusively for school purposes and the land necessary as the site for the building;
 - (d) a building occupied by a religious body and used chiefly for divine service, public worship or religious education, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
 - (e) a building, or any part thereof, used as a hospital, other than a private hospital, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
 - (f) a building, or any part thereof, used as a university, technical institute, or public college, not operated for profit, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
 - (g) an institutional building used chiefly for the purpose of providing housing accommodation for the elderly or persons suffering from physical or mental disability, not operated for profit, and the land necessary as the site for the building; and
 - (h) a cemetery to the extent that it is actually used for burial purposes.
- **7.** Notwithstanding section 6, all interests in land are liable to service and local improvement charges under Part XVII of this By-law.
- **8.** Where an interest in land is not subject to taxation, the liability to taxation of any other interest in the same land is not affected.
- **9.**(1) An exemption does not apply to any portion of a building other than the portion occupied or used for the purpose for which the exemption was granted.
- (2) Where an exemption applies to a portion of a building, it applies, in the same proportion, to the land that is necessary as the site for the building.

PART V

LEVY OF TAX

10. Where an interest in land is subject to taxation, any person who has an interest in the land is jointly and severally liable to taxation.

- **11.**(1) On or before May 31 in each calendar year or as soon thereafter as practicable, Council shall adopt a by-law to impose tax rates on interests in land subject to taxation under this By-law. Taxes levied under this By-law apply to the calendar year in which the levy is first made and are based upon the assessed values of the interest in land and improvements as determined under this By-law.
- (2) Council may, by by-law, establish different classes of real property and establish different tax rates according to the class of real property to be taxed.
- (3) Taxes shall be levied by applying the rate of tax against each one thousand dollars (\$1,000) of assessed value of the land and improvements.
- 12. Taxes levied in a taxation notice mailed under section 24 are due and payable on July 2 of the year in which they are levied.

PART VI

INFORMATION FOR ASSESSMENT ROLL

- 13.(1) Every person liable for tax shall, on request, forthwith furnish to the assessor, in writing and signed, the information requested in Schedule I concerning the land used or occupied by that person and without restricting the generality of the foregoing, including: purchase price; terms and covenants in leases; construction costs; costs of alterations and repairs; income and expense information or, rents payable, paid or agreed to be paid.
- (2) Where an assessor does not receive the information referred to in subsection (1), or is not satisfied that the information received is accurate, the assessor shall value the interest in land on the basis of information in his or her possession.

PART VII

ASSESSED VALUE

- **14.**(1) Council may appoint by band council resolution one or more assessors for a definite or indefinite term.
- (2) An appointment under subsection (1) may be for the purposes of classifying and valuing particular interests in land in the assessment area and applying exemptions in accordance with section 6 as set out in the band council resolution.
- 15. For the purpose of determining the actual value of an interest in land for an assessment roll, the valuation date is July 1 of the year during which the assessment roll is completed.
- **16.**(1) The assessor shall assess interests in land according to the classes of real property established by this By-law.

- (2) For the purposes of assessing property pursuant to this By-law the assessor shall utilize the practices and regulations established under British Columbia legislation as amended from time to time.
- **17.**(1) The assessor shall assess interests in land according to the classes of real property as set out in Schedule II.
- (2) Except as otherwise provided in this By-law, for the purposes of assessing interests in land the assessor shall use the practices and regulations established under British Columbia legislation as amended from time to time.
- **18.**(1) Except as provided in subsections 17(2) and 18(3), the assessor shall value land and improvements at their actual value.
- (2) The assessor shall determine the actual value of the following, using the equivalent rates which would be applied if the interest in land were held in the Province of British Columbia:
 - (a) the pole lines, metallic or fibre optic cables, towers, poles, wires, transformers, conduits and mains of a telecommunication, trolley coach, bus or electrical power corporation, but not including substations;
 - (b) the track in place of a railway corporation;
 - (c) the pipelines of a pipeline corporation for the transportation of petroleum, petroleum products, or natural gas, including valves, cleanouts, fastenings, and appurtenances located on the right of way, but not including distribution pipelines, pumping equipment, compressor equipment, storage tanks and buildings;
 - (d) the right of way for pole lines, cables, towers, poles, wires, transformers, conduits, mains and pipelines referred to in paragraphs (a) and (c);
 - (e) the right of way for track referred to in paragraph (b).
- (3) Notwithstanding subsection (1), if Council has, in a lease or other instrument granting an interest in land, placed a restriction on the use of the land, the assessor shall consider the restriction.
- (4) The duration of the interest in land or the right of Council to terminate an interest in land is not a restriction within the meaning of subsection (3).

PART VIII

THE ASSESSMENT ROLL

- **19.** No later than December 31 preceding the taxation year the assessor shall prepare an assessment roll containing the following particulars:
 - (a) the name and last known address of the person assessed;

- (b) an accurate or legal description of the land;
- (c) the classification of
 - (i) the land, and
 - (ii) the improvements;
- (d) the actual value by classification of
 - (i) the land, and
 - (ii) the improvements;
- (e) the total assessed value;
- (f) the total assessed value of exemptions from taxation, where applicable;
- (g) the total net taxable value; and
- (h) any other necessary information.
- **20.** The assessor shall include in the assessment roll the particulars set out in section 19 for any interest in land in respect of which grants in lieu of taxes may be accepted.
- **21.** The assessor shall set out the value of improvements separately from the value of the land on which they are located.
- **22.**(1) A person whose name appears in the assessment roll shall give written notice to the Tax Administrator or assessor of any change of address.
- (2) The holder of a charge or an interest in land may give written notice, with full particulars of the nature, extent and duration of the charge to the Tax Administrator, and request copies of all tax notices issued during the duration of the charge, and the assessor shall enter that person's name and address on the assessment roll.
 - **23.**(1) The assessment roll is effective on its approval by Chief and Council.
- (2) On approval, the assessment roll is open to inspection in the Yale Band office by any person during regular business hours.
- **24.** The Tax Administrator or the assessor shall on or before December 31 of each year mail a Notice of Assessment to every person named in the assessment roll in respect of each interest in land for which that person is liable to taxation or for which grants-in-lieu of taxes may be sought.
- **25.** The Notice of Assessment shall be in the form set out in Schedule III or a form approved by Chief and Council and shall contain the information set out in the assessment roll in respect of that interest in land and shall contain a statement as to the right of appeal.

PART IX

AMENDMENTS TO ASSESSMENT ROLL

- **26.** Where the assessor finds that during the current taxation year
- (a) a taxable interest in land is not entered in the assessment roll;
- (b) the value of an interest in land is not the same as the valuation entered in the assessment roll by reason of
 - (i) the demolition, destruction or damaging of an improvement,
 - (ii) new construction or new improvements,
 - (iii) a change in a permitted use, or
 - (iv) a subdivision;
- (c) there has been a change in the possession, use or occupation;
- (d) there is a clerical error; or
- (e) there has been a change in the eligibility for an exemption from taxation; the assessor shall amend the assessment roll to effect the necessary changes but subject to section 28, shall not make any amendments after December 31 of the current taxation year.
- **27.** Where the assessment roll is amended, the assessor shall, as soon as practical after adoption of the amended assessment roll by band council resolution, mail a notice in the form set out in Schedule III or a form approved by Chief and Council in respect of the amended assessment to each person affected.
 - 28. Where there has been an underassessment resulting from
 - (a) a person's failure to disclose information required under this By-law with respect to an interest in land; or
 - (b) a person's concealment of information required under this By-law with respect to an interest in land;

the assessor shall issue an amended assessment notice, in the form set out in Schedule III or a form approved by Chief and Council, for the current year and for each previous year during which the condition giving rise to the amendment to the assessment roll existed.

- **29.** Where a condition that gives rise to an amendment to the assessment roll existed during part of a taxation year, the Tax Administrator shall, in preparing an amended tax notice, adjust the amount of the taxes due on a pro rata basis.
- **30.** Parts VIII, X, XI, XII and XIV apply with respect to an amended assessment roll and to an amended assessment notice.

31. Where Council approves an amendment to the assessment roll for the current year, the Tax Administrator shall forthwith refund any excess taxes that have been paid, together with interest at the rate of 2 per cent per annum. Any unpaid balance shall, subject to notice of assessment and taxation, be due and payable, notwithstanding a receipt or certificate given by the Tax Administrator.

656

PART X

APPEALS

- **32.**(1) Chief and Council by band council resolution shall establish an Assessment Review Committee consisting of
 - (a) one person who is or was duly qualified to practice law in the Province of British Columbia, or who is or was a Judge of a Provincial, County or Supreme Court in the Province of British Columbia;
 - (b) one person who has sat as a member of an appeal board to review assessments in and for the Province of British Columbia;
 - (c) one person who is a member of the Yale Indian Band who does not have any direct or indirect financial interest in any real property assessment to which an appeal relates, as set out in section 37.
- (2) Chief and Council shall maintain a list of substitute members of the Assessment Review Committee. Where a member of the Assessment Review Committee is disqualified, unable or unwilling to act, Chief and Council shall appoint the first person on the list of substitute members of the Assessment Review Committee to act for the period for which the member of the Assessment Review Committee is unavailable. If for any reason the first person on the list of substitute members is disqualified, unable or unwilling to act, Chief and Council shall appoint the next person on the list until a substitute member of the Assessment Review Committee is able to act.
- (3) Each member of the Assessment Review Committee shall hold office for a period of three (3) years unless the member resigns or is otherwise removed from office in accordance with the terms of this By-law.
- (4) Each member of the Assessment Review Committee and each substitute member actually appointed to act, shall be paid for his or her services as a member of the Assessment Review Committee at a rate of \$150.00 dollars per day for time spent on activities related to the Assessment Review Committee.
- (5) A member of the Assessment Review Committee shall be removed from office if he or she
 - (a) is convicted of an offense under the *Criminal Code* (Canada);
 - (b) fails to attend three (3) consecutive appeal hearings; or

- (c) fails to perform any of his or her duties under this By-law in good faith and in accordance with the terms of this By-law.
- **33.**(1) A person whose name appears in the assessment roll may appeal to the Assessment Review Committee in respect of:
 - (a) the liability to assessment;
 - (b) the assessed value;
 - (c) the assessment classification; or
 - (d) any alleged error or omission.
- (2) An appellant shall file an appeal by delivering a Notice of Appeal containing the information set out in Schedule IV to the Assessment Review Committee at the address set out in the assessment notice by January 31 of the taxation year.
- (3) An appellant may make the appeal through his or her solicitor or agent, in which case the appeal shall set forth the name and address of the solicitor or agent, as well as the name and address of the appellant.
- (4) Any notice or correspondence required to be given to an appellant shall be properly given if delivered to the solicitor or agent at the address set out in the appeal.
- (5) Where an appeal is taken with respect to an amended assessment notice, the appeal shall be confined to the amendment.
 - **34.**(1) The Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) hear all appeals from assessment notices;
 - (b) investigate and advise Chief and Council on assessments, assessment classifications and assessment rolls which the Committee deems necessary;
 - (c) select a Chairperson who shall supervise and direct the work of the Committee;
 - (d) give the appellants, the assessor and the Tax Administrator at least thirty (30) days written notice of the time and place for the hearing of appeals;
 - (e) have custody of all records, documents, evidence and proceedings before the Assessment Review Committee;
 - (f) have control of its proceedings in order to fairly and adequately determine any appeal; and
 - (g) where an appeal relates to an interest in land of which a person other than the appellant is the holder, give that person at least ten (10) days written notice

- of the time, date, and place of the hearing of the appeal, and the nature of the appeal.
- (2) In performing their duties under this By-law, the members of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) ensure that assessments and assessment rolls are equitable and fairly represent the assessed values provided for in this By-law;
 - (b) act impartially, fairly and reasonably, to the best of their skill and ability.
 - (3) The Chairperson of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) supervise and direct the work of the Committee; and
 - (b) preside at sittings of the Committee.
- (4) Chief and Council shall appoint a Secretary of the Assessment Review Committee.
 - (5) The Secretary of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) have the custody and care of all records, regulations, documents and orders made by or pertaining to the Committee; and
 - (b) relating to his or her office follow the direction of the Chairperson or the Committee.
- **35.**(1) The assessor, or his or her designate, shall be a party to all appeal proceedings under this By-law and the Assessment Review Committee shall give the assessor thirty (30) days written notice of any appeal and a reasonable opportunity to be heard at any appeal proceedings.
- (2) The Assessment Review Committee shall give the Band Council thirty (30) days, or less with the consent of the Band Council, written notice of, and an opportunity to be heard at any appeal proceedings which raise issues of law regarding anything done under this By-law.
- **36.**(1) A majority of the members of the Assessment Review Committee constitutes a quorum.
- (2) Where a quorum of the members of an Assessment Review Committee is not present at the time at which a hearing is to be held, the hearing shall be adjourned to the next day that is not a holiday, and so on from day to day until there is a quorum.
- (3) All questions respecting appeals shall be decided by a majority vote of the members of the Assessment Review Committee at the hearing.

- (4) Chief and Council by band council resolution may establish procedures for the conduct of the proceedings of the Assessment Review Committee which shall not be inconsistent with this By-law.
- **37.** No person shall sit as a member of the Assessment Review Committee hearing an appeal if that person
 - (a) has a direct or indirect financial interest in any property assessment to which an appeal relates;
 - (b) is the Chief or a member of Council;
 - (c) is an employee of the Band or Council;
 - (d) has financial dealings with the Band or Council which might reasonably give rise to a conflict of interest and impair that person's ability to deal fairly and impartially with an appeal as required under the terms of this By-law.
- **38.**(1) Subject to subsection 41(2), the sittings of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) commence no later than ninety (90) days after the final date for submission of the Notice of Appeal referred to in section 33; and
 - (b) be completed within ninety (90) days of their commencement as set out in paragraph 1(a).
- (2) The assessor shall deliver the assessment roll to the Assessment Review Committee on or before the date upon which the Committee commences its sittings.
- (3) The Assessment Review Committee shall mail a Notice of Hearing to all parties to the appeal in the form provided in Schedule V.
- **39.**(1) The Assessment Review Committee may request the attendance of witnesses and the production and inspection of documents.
- (2) A party to any appeal proceedings before the Assessment Review Committee may request that a Notice be served by any member of the Committee, requesting the attendance of any person as a witness to give evidence at the hearing of the appeal.
- (3) Where pursuant to subsection (2) a party requests that a Notice be served by a member of the Committee
 - (a) the Chairperson of the Committee shall sign and issue the Notice and the party shall serve it on the witness at least two (2) days before the appeal;
 - (b) the Notice shall be in the form attached as Schedule VI.
- (4) The party requesting the attendance of a witness shall pay a two dollar (\$2) dollar witness fee plus reasonable travelling expenses to the witness to attend

and give evidence before the Assessment Review Committee, on the time and date set out in the Notice.

- **40.**(1) The Assessment Review Committee may hear all appeals from an assessment notice on the same day or may adjourn from time to time until all appeals have been heard and determined.
- (2) The Assessment Review Committee may hear an appeal whether the appellant is present or not.
- (3) The Assessment Review Committee may, after hearing an appeal, postpone consideration thereof and the appellant shall, if required by the Committee, produce all relevant books, papers, documents and answer all proper questions and give all necessary information affecting the interest in land or the matter under consideration.
- (4) The Assessment Review Committee may order that the costs of a proceeding before the Committee be paid by or apportioned between the persons affected by the appeal provided that such costs do not exceed ten per cent (10%) of the amount of the taxes payable concerning the interest in land which is the subject of the appeal, as finally determined by the Assessment Review Committee.
- (5) In any appeal proceedings, the onus of proof is on the person bringing the appeal to establish that the assessed value of the interest in land should be different from the value determined by the assessor.
- **41.**(1) Within thirty (30) days from the completion of hearing all appeals, except those adjourned under subsection 41(2), the Assessment Review Committee shall submit to Council its decision on each appeal, including the vote of each member of the Committee, either in favour of, or against allowing the appeal.
- (2) Notwithstanding subsection 38(1), the Assessment Review Committee may, with the consent of all parties to an appeal and without prejudice to the rights of any party, adjourn the appeal from time to time beyond the time for completion of the appeals and shall advise Chief and Council as provided in this section.
- (3) Within fifteen (15) days from the receipt of the decision of the Assessment Review Committee, Chief and Council shall instruct the head assessor to prepare a final assessment roll including any amendments resulting from the decisions in subsection (1).
- (4) Not later than fourteen (14) days from the receipt of the instructions pursuant to subsection (3) the head assessor shall notify in writing each appellant and person affected by the appeal, of the decision of the Assessment Review Committee.
- (5) The notice given under subsection (4) shall state that the appellant has a further right of appeal to a court of competent jurisdiction.

- (6) Where the head assessor is directed to amend an assessment roll under subsection (3), the assessor shall do so within fourteen (14) days, and shall return the assessment roll forthwith to the Chairperson of the Assessment Review Committee.
- (7) The assessor shall date and initial amendments made to the assessment roll pursuant to subsection (3).
- (8) Forthwith upon receiving an amended assessment roll under subsection (6), the Chairperson of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) verify that the roll has been amended according to the decisions of the Assessment Review Committee under subsections (3) and (6);
 - (b) authenticate the assessment roll by affixing to it a sworn or affirmed statement in the form prescribed by Chief and Council; and
 - (c) forward the authenticated assessment roll to the Taxation Authority.

PART XI

TAX NOTICE

- **42.**(1) Where Council adopts an assessment roll, and after notices of assessment are mailed pursuant to section 24, the Tax Administrator shall mail to every person whose name appears in the assessment roll, a tax notice in the form set out in Schedule VII, in respect of each interest in land for which that person is liable to taxation, and, in the case of an amended assessment roll that has been adopted, the Tax Administrator shall mail an amended tax notice to every person affected by the amendment.
- (2) The tax notice referred to in subsection (1) shall contain the information set out in Schedule VII which includes the particulars of any arrears and interest, where payment is to be made, and the manner of payment.
- **43.**(1) The Tax Administrator shall enter the date of mailing the tax notice on the assessment roll.
- (2) The mailing of the tax notice by the Tax Administrator constitutes a statement of and demand for payment of the taxes.
- **44.** Where applicable, a tax notice shall state that taxes are payable in conjunction with periodic lease payments under Part XIII.
- **45.**(1) Where it is shown that a person liable for taxes on and interest in land was not liable for taxes or was taxed in excess of the proper amount, at the direction of Council, the Tax Administrator shall refund to the person the amount paid in excess of liability.

(2) Where taxes imposed under this By-law are to be refunded under this section, Council may direct the Tax Administrator to refund the amount in whole or in part by applying it as a credit on account of the taxes due or accruing due.

662

PART XII

DUE DATE AND INTEREST

- **46.**(1) Subject to sections 47 and 48, taxes levied in a tax notice mailed under section 42 are due and payable as of July 2 of the year in which they are first levied at the office of the Taxation Authority notwithstanding that an appeal under Part X may be pending.
- (2) All taxes payable under this By-law are debts due to the Taxation Authority and are recoverable as such in any court of competent jurisdiction or in any other manner provided by this By-law.
- (3) Where any person alleges that he or she is not liable to pay taxes imposed pursuant to this By-law, the person shall either initiate proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction or launch an appeal within thirty (30) days of the date of mailing of the tax notice referred to in Part XI.
- (4) Unless a challenge is initiated pursuant to subsection (3), the taxpayer shall thereafter be estopped from denying liability to pay taxes and estopped from challenging any steps taken to enforce the payment of taxes as provided in Part XVI.
- (5) The locatee or any other person who has registered a security interest against the taxpayer's interest in land in the registers may pay the taxes due and such payment shall extinguish the debt owing to the Taxation Authority.
- **47.** Where taxes are due and payable in conjunction with payment of rent under Part XIII, the proportionate payment is due and payable on the date that the rent is due and payable.
- **48.** Where an assessment roll is amended under this By-law, it shall, for the purposes of this Part, be deemed to be amended as of the date of adoption of the assessment roll under section 23.
- **49.** If all or any portion of taxes remains unpaid on July 2 of the year they are first levied, the unpaid portion shall accrue interest at 2 per cent (%) above the Bank of Canada prime rate as it is on the first of each month and shall be compounded annually.
- **50.** Where taxes are in arrears and part payment is received, the payment shall be applied firstly to accrued interest and then arrears, and any balance shall be applied to current taxes.

PART XIII

PERIODIC PAYMENTS

- **51.** Council, with the consent of the locatee where applicable, may declare that the tax, with respect to any interest in land that is leased, be expressed as a percentage of the rent payment and collected with it in accordance with the terms of a lease agreement or the terms of an agreement with the landlord.
- **52.** Where Council has entered an agreement with the Crown or with any person entitled to receive rents, for the collection of tax under this Part, the receipt by the Crown or such person of payment on account of tax shall be a discharge of the liability for tax to the extent of the payment.

PART XIV

RECEIPTS AND CERTIFICATES

- **53.** Except where Part XIII applies, on receipt of a payment of taxes the Tax Administrator shall issue an official receipt to the taxpayer and shall enter the number of the receipt on the assessment roll opposite the interest in land for which the taxes are paid.
- **54.** On a request in writing, the Tax Administrator shall issue a certificate showing whether taxes have been paid with respect to any taxable interest in land, and if not, the amount of taxes outstanding.

PART XV

APPLICATION OF REVENUES

- **55.**(1) All moneys raised under this By-law shall be placed in a special account or accounts.
 - (2) Moneys raised shall include
 - (a) taxes;
 - (b) grants in lieu of taxes;
 - (c) interest; and
 - (d) amounts collected on account of costs.
- (3) Subject to section 56, an expenditure made out of moneys raised under this By-law shall be made under authority of a separate by-law.
- **56.** The following expenditures of funds raised under this By-law are hereby authorized:
 - (a) refunds of overpayment and interest;
 - (b) all expenses of preparation and administration of this By-law;

- (c) remuneration of the assessor and the Tax Administrator;
- (d) all legal costs and other expenses of enforcement of this By-law.

PART XVI

COLLECTION AND ENFORCEMENT

Proof of Debt

- **57.** The Taxation Authority may charge the person named in an assessment roll with all reasonable costs incurred in the collection of taxes or other costs imposed by this By-law. Such costs shall be in accordance with Schedule VIII to this By-law.
- **58.**(1) A person named in an assessment roll as having an interest in land is liable for all taxes imposed in respect of the interest in land during the year and all unpaid taxes imposed in previous years.
- (2) Tax, or a portion thereof, due and payable under this By-law that has not been paid may be certified by the Tax Administrator, who shall attach a copy of that part of the assessment roll that refers to the taxes payable. Such certification shall be in the form provided in Schedule IX, and is *prima facie* proof of the debt.

Special Lien and Priority of Claim

- **59.**(1) Taxes due and payable are a special lien and encumbrance on the interest in land.
- (2) The special lien and encumbrance referred to in subsection 59(1) attaches to the interest in land being taxed, and without limiting the foregoing, attaches to the interest in land of a subsequent holder.
- (3) The person who acquires an interest in land on which a lien under this By-law has been registered and the person to whom the taxes were originally levied are jointly and severally liable for the lien.
- (4) The Tax Administrator may register a certificate issued under subsection 58(2) in either register on or after January 2 following the year in which the taxes are imposed.
- (5) Pursuant to subsection 59(4), the special lien and encumbrance shall have priority over every subsequently registered claim, privilege, lien, charge, security interest, or encumbrance of every person.
- (6) When all taxes levied against the interest in land have been paid, the Tax Administrator shall certify that the special lien and encumbrance against the interest in land has been discharged, and shall register such certification in either register. Such certification shall be sufficient proof of the payment of the taxes and the discharge of the special lien or encumbrance.

(7) The special lien and encumbrance is not lost or impaired by reason of any technical error or omission.

Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings

- **60.**(1) Except for tax proceedings postponed pursuant to subsection 60.1(1), on or after January 2 following the year for which taxes are imposed, the Tax Administrator shall prepare a list of outstanding taxes and of the persons liable for payment.
- (2) Within thirty (30) days of completion of the list pursuant to subsection 60(1), the Tax Administrator shall mail, in the form set out in Schedule X, a Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings to every person named on the list, and to every locatee, tenant, agent or person whose rights, proprietary or otherwise, may be affected by the enforcement proceedings.
- (3) For the purposes of this section the mailing of a Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings is deemed to be delivery to the addressee.
- (4) Upon the expiration of the thirty (30) day period provided in the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings delivered pursuant to subsection 60(2), the Tax Administrator shall request authorization from Council to commence enforcement proceedings against the tax debtors. Council may direct the Tax Administrator to commence enforcement proceedings.
- (5) Prior to the authorization of any of the enforcement proceedings set out in sections 61, 63, 64, 65, and 66, Council shall consult with any affected locatee.
 - **60.1** Council may upon application by the tax debtor
 - (1) postpone taking enforcement proceedings for a specified period; or
 - (2) reduce or remit the taxes where Council determines that
 - (a) full payment would result in undue hardship to the tax debtor; or
 - (b) it is necessary and in the best interest of the Band to effect a transfer of the tax debtor's interest.
- **60.2** Council may, from time to time, provide by band council resolution for the reduction of taxes due by taxpayers for a taxation year by an amount equal to or less than the amount to which the taxpayers would be entitled in accordance with the home owner grant legislation that would apply if the taxpayer's interest in land was subject to taxation by a municipality.

Distress: Seizure of Goods

61.(1) With the authorization of Council, the Tax Administrator may proceed by way of distress if the taxes or any portion thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement

served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1) has expired.

- (2) The Tax Administrator shall serve a Notice of Distress on the tax debtor and provide a copy of same to the locatee, where applicable, in the form set out in Schedule XI.
- (3) If the taxes, or any portion thereof, remain outstanding following the time provided by the Notice of Distress, the Tax Administrator shall effect a seizure by distress of such goods and post a notice on the goods which are seized. The seized goods shall then be in the possession of the Band, as represented by the Tax Administrator.
- (4) So long as the taxes, or any portion thereof, remain outstanding, no goods seized pursuant to subsection (3) which are located on Reserve shall be removed therefrom, and any such removal shall be considered a trespass. Without restricting the generality of the foregoing, no such goods shall be seized by a bailiff, sheriff, assignee or liquidator or trustee, or authorized trustee in bankruptcy, except under the authority of Council.

Distress: Sale of Goods Seized by Distress

- **62.**(1) If the Tax Administrator seizes by distress the tax debtor's goods pursuant to subsection 61(3), and the tax debtor does not commence legal proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction within sixty (60) days after the date of seizure challenging such seizure, the goods may be sold in accordance with this Part and the tax debtor is estopped from denying the validity of the seizure and the sale of such goods.
- (2) If the outstanding taxes have not been paid in full sixty (60) days after a seizure by distress pursuant to subsection 61(3), the goods seized will be deemed to have been abandoned by the tax debtor and may be sold by public auction, the proceeds of which will be used for payment of the outstanding taxes.
- (3) A Notice of Sale of Goods Seized by Distress in the form of Schedule XII shall be published in at least one (1) newspaper of general local circulation for seven (7) days prior to the sale, and shall be posted on the tax debtor's premises located on Reserve.
- (4) The sale of the goods seized by distress shall be conducted at the time and place advertised pursuant to subsection (3), unless it is necessary to adjourn such sale, in which case an additional notice shall be published in the manner provided by subsection (3).
- (5) Any surplus resulting from the sale conducted pursuant to subsection (4), after deducting all liabilities of the tax debtor, including all costs and charges arising from the sale, shall be paid to the tax debtor. In the event that the Tax Administrator

is uncertain who is entitled to such surplus, the Tax Administrator shall pay such money into court by way of interpleader action.

(6) Goods of a tax debtor that would be exempt from seizure under a writ of execution issued by a superior court of the province in which the seizure is made are exempt from seizure under this section.

Sale of Improvements or Proprietary Interest

- **63.**(1) If the taxes or any part thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1) has expired, Council may authorize the Tax Administrator to proceed by way of sale of improvements or proprietary interest. The Tax Administrator shall serve the tax debtor and, where applicable, the locatee, a Notice of Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest in Land in the form of Schedule XIII.
- (2) On June 30 following the year in which the taxes are imposed or, if enforcement proceedings are postponed under subsection 60.1(1), six (6) months from the end of the period specified by Council, and upon the failure of the tax debtor to pay the outstanding taxes or to commence legal proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction challenging the sale or disposition, the Tax Administrator shall sell the improvements or dispose of the interest of the tax debtor in the Reserve by public auction, or pursuant to subsection (3) by public tender.
- (3) Council shall prescribe the method of public tender, including the conditions of sale, method of publication or circulation, and conditions attached to the acceptance of any offer.
- (4) A Notice of Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest in Land in the form of Schedule XIII to this By-law shall be published in at least one (1) newspaper of general local circulation for seven (7) days prior to the sale, and shall be posted on the tax debtor's premises located on Reserve.
- (5) The sale of the improvements and disposition of interest in land shall be conducted at the time and place advertised pursuant to subsection (3), unless it is necessary to adjourn such disposition. If an adjournment is necessary an additional notice shall be published in the manner provided by subsection (3).
- (6) With prior approval of Council, the Tax Administrator may at any sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsection (2) or (4), set an upset price equal to the outstanding taxes and that upset price shall be the lowest price for which the improvements may be sold and the interest in land disposed.
- (7) Where the Tax Administrator sets an upset price pursuant to subsection (6), and there is no bid at the sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsection (2) or (4) that is equal to or greater than the upset price, the Taxation Authority

shall be deemed to be the purchaser and shall acquire the interest in the land free and clear of all encumbrances or charges.

- (8) At any time within six (6) months after the sale and disposition held pursuant to subsection (2) or (4), the tax debtor may redeem his or her interest in land by paying to the Tax Administrator the full amount of all taxes for which the interests were disposed, together with all taxes which have subsequently fallen due and the reasonable costs incurred by the Taxation Authority in disposing of the interest.
- (9) If upon the expiration of the redemption period provided by subsection (8), any portion of the taxes remains outstanding, the disposition of the interest shall be considered final and with Ministerial consent, the purchaser shall obtain title to the interest in land. The Tax Administrator shall certify the transfer in the form provided in Schedule XIV and shall register it in one or both registries and shall serve it on the tax debtor.
- (10) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (9), the purchaser shall be substituted for the tax debtor as the holder of the interest in land, and in addition to any other obligations, shall be liable for all future taxes assessed against that interest.
- (11) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (9), any surplus resulting from the sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsection (2) or (4), after deducting all outstanding taxes of the tax debtor, including reasonable costs and charges arising from the sale and disposition, shall be returned to the tax debtor. In the event that the Tax Administrator is uncertain who is entitled to such surplus the Tax Administrator shall pay such money into court by way of interpleader action.
- (12) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (9), any remaining debt of the tax debtor with respect to that interest in land, including all reasonable costs and charges arising from the sale and disposition, shall be extinguished.
- (13) If pursuant to subsections (7) and (9), the Band has become the owner of the interest in land, the Tax Administrator may sell such within ninety (90) days for not less than the upset price set pursuant to subsection (6).

Cancellation of Interest in Land Held by Taxpayer

64.(1) If the taxes or any part thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1) has expired, Council may authorize the Tax Administrator to proceed by way of cancellation of the interest. The Tax Administrator shall serve a Notice of Cancellation of the tax debtor's interest in land in the form of Schedule XV.

- (2) The Tax Administrator shall mail a copy of the notice referred to in subsection (1) to every place where the interest is registered and to the locatee, where applicable.
- (3) Where taxes are not paid before June 30 of the year following the taxation year in which they were imposed or within six (6) months after the specified period if enforcement proceedings are postponed under subsection 60.1(1), Council may direct the Tax Administrator to cancel the lease, licence or permit to occupy the interest in land. The Tax Administrator shall certify the cancellation in the form provided in Schedule XVI to this By-law and shall register it in the registers.
- (4) Upon cancellation of the tax debtor's interest and with the consent of the Minister, the Taxation Authority shall acquire the interest in the land free and clear of all encumbrances or charges.

Forfeiture of Property

- **65.**(1) Notwithstanding any other action for the recovery of taxes set out in this By-law, if any taxes remain unpaid twenty-four (24) months after the mailing of the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60, the tax debtor's interest in land in respect of which the taxes remain unpaid shall, subject to subsections (2), (3), (4) and (5), be absolutely forfeited.
- (2) The tax debtor's interest in land shall be forfeited under subsection (1) forty (40) days after the Tax Administrator serves a Notice of Forfeiture pursuant to subsection (4) in the form set out in Schedule XVII on the tax debtor and on anyone else who may be in lawful possession of the interest in land.
- (3) Prior to serving the Notice of Forfeiture pursuant to subsection (4), the Tax Administrator shall obtain authorization from Council to proceed by forfeiture.
 - (4) The Notice of Forfeiture shall state
 - (a) that the interest in land held by the tax debtor is subject to forfeiture under this section;
 - (b) the amount of all taxes, costs and fees due and payable on the date of the notice:
 - (c) the date on which the interest in land held by the tax debtor will forfeit;
 - (d) that the tax debtor has the right to prevent forfeiture by payment under this section; and
 - (e) that on forfeiture under this section, the interest held by the tax debtor in the Reserve will be forfeited clear of all charges except those third party interests which otherwise attach to the interest in land.

- (5) The Notice of Forfeiture shall be mailed or delivered to the tax debtor's last known address or to the address of the person specified in the records of the Taxation Authority.
- (6) Where any taxes remain unpaid on December 31 of the second year after the calendar year in which they were imposed, payment of those taxes does not prevent forfeiture unless the payment
 - (a) includes all taxes then due and payable;
 - (b) includes the reasonable costs incurred by the Taxation Authority in the forfeiture proceedings; and
 - (c) is made before forfeiture occurs under this section.
- (7) With the consent of the Minister, the Tax Administrator shall certify, in the form set out in Schedule XVIII to this By-law, that the interest in land held by the tax debtor has been forfeited and the Registrar shall record the document cancelling the tax debtor's interest in the registers.
- (8) Upon forfeiture of the tax debtor's interest in land the Taxation Authority shall acquire the interest in the land free and clear of all encumbrances or charges.

Absconding Taxpayer

66. Where the Tax Administrator has reasonable grounds to believe that the taxpayer intends to remove his or her goods from the Reserve, or intends to dismantle or remove his or her improvements on Reserve, or take any other actions which may preclude or impede the collection of outstanding taxes owing pursuant to this By-law, the Tax Administrator shall apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for remedy, notwithstanding the fact that the time for payment of taxes has not yet expired.

Discontinuance of Services

67. If the taxes or any part thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1), Council may authorize that any services provided by the Band or pursuant to any contract with the Band, to the tax debtor or to the interest in land assessed pursuant to this By-law be discontinued. A Notice of Discontinuance of Services in the form of Schedule XIX shall be delivered to the tax debtor and to the locatee, where appropriate, thirty (30) days prior to such discontinuance, and shall include the date, time and place within that thirty (30) days when the tax debtor or the locatee may appear before Council to show cause as to why the services should not be discontinued and Council shall determine whether or not it will discontinue such services.

PART XVII

SERVICE AND LOCAL IMPROVEMENT CHARGES

- **68.**(1) Council may by by-law impose service and local improvement charges applicable to a part of the Reserve (hereinafter in this part called the "area") to raise money for the following purposes:
 - (a) the construction or installation of a highway, lane, sidewalk, boulevard, sanitary or storm sewer, irrigation work, street lights, water supply system, parking facility, gas supply system, drain, or other works that benefit property in the area:
 - (b) the maintenance, operation, repair or construction of works;
 - (c) the cutting of grass or weeds or the trimming of trees or shrubbery on any highway, lane or other public place;
 - (d) the suppression of dust on any highway, lane, or other public place;
 - (e) the collection and disposal of garbage;
 - (f) the collection and disposal of night soil or the contents of sewage holding tanks; and
 - (g) notwithstanding paragraphs 1(a) to (f) inclusive, such other projects for the maintenance, improvement or repair of properties within the area as Council may determine to be necessary or beneficial.
- (2) In this Part, "charge" means a local improvement charge and a service charge.
- (3) A charge shall be based on the actual or estimated annual cost of the local improvement or service and shall be levied at
 - (a) a uniform rate; or
 - (b) rates for each class of property based on
 - (i) the number of lineal feet along the fronting or abutting lands,
 - (ii) the area determined by the fronting or abutting lands,
 - (iii) the number of dwelling units or commercial or industrial occupancies on the lands served, or
 - (iv) the estimated or actual use or consumption of the service by occupants of the lands served.
- (4) The costs levied shall include engineering and advertising expenses, interest and carrying costs, sinking fund or amortization costs, banking and legal

fees, administration costs and any other expenses incidental to initiating and carrying out the work.

- **69.**(1) Before imposing a charge, Council shall give at least fifteen (15) days notice by
 - (a) publishing the notice prior to the meeting referred to in section 70 in a newspaper of general circulation on the Reserve, if any;
 - (b) posting the notice in the Band administration offices and in prominent locations on the reserve; and
 - (c) sending the notice by registered mail, in the form set out in Schedule XX, to affected holders or occupiers who are not resident on the Reserve and providing the locatee with a copy of the notice.
- (2) It shall be sufficient notice under paragraph (1)(c) if the address in the current assessment roll is used.
 - (3) The notice shall state

672

- (a) the intention of Council to have the work performed and to levy the charge;
- (b) the area in respect of which the charge is to be levied;
- (c) the rate at which the charge will be levied; and
- (d) that Council shall hold a public meeting to consider written and oral representations.
- **70.**(1) On the date and at the time and place set out in the notice referred to in section 69, Council shall sit and receive and hear representations.
- (2) Council shall not proceed with the charge until after it holds public meetings to consider representations.
- (3) Where Council imposes a charge, it need not give notice in each succeeding year, unless it proposes to amend the by-law that imposes the charge.
- (4) A uniform increase, not exceeding ten per cent (10%), in the rate of a charge because of an increase in actual or estimated cost shall be deemed not to be an amendment to the by-law that imposes the charge.
- **71.**(1) The Tax Administrator shall keep separate accounts for money raised by each charge under this Part.
- (2) Council shall expend the money raised under this Part, and any interest that has accrued on that money, for the purpose and within the area stated in the implementing by-law.

- **72.**(1) Charges under this Part shall be administered and enforced under this By-law in the same manner as taxes.
 - (2) For greater certainty charges are a special lien under Part XVI.
- (3) The roll for a charge may be part of or a supplement to the assessment roll.

PART XVIII

GENERAL AND MISCELLANEOUS

- **73.**(1) Nothing under this By-law shall be rendered void or invalid, nor shall the liability of any person to pay tax or any other amount under this By-law be affected by
 - (a) an error or omission in a valuation or a valuation based solely on information in the hands of an assessor or the Tax Administrator;
 - (b) an error or omission in an assessment roll, tax notice, or any notice hereunder; or
 - (c) a failure of the Taxation Authority to do something within the required time.
- **74.** A finding by a court that a provision of this By-law is void or invalid shall not affect the validity or invalidity of the rest of the By-law.
- **75.** Where a provision in this By-law is expressed in the present tense, the provision applies to the circumstances as they arise.
- **76.** No action or proceeding for the return of money paid to the Band, whether under protest or otherwise, on account of a demand, whether valid or invalid, made for tax or any amount under this By-law shall be commenced after the expiration of six (6) months from the making of the payment but the payment shall be deemed to have been voluntarily made.
- 77. Chief and Council may, by band council resolution, extend for a maximum of thirty (30) days the time in which anything is required to be done under this By-law and anything done within this period of time is as valid as if it had been done within the time otherwise provided for by this By-law.
- **78.** Where personal service is not required, any notice delivered by the Tax Administrator or person acting under his direction to a post office or a person authorized by the Canada Post Corporation to receive mail is deemed to have been delivered to the addressee.
- **79.** This By-law shall be construed as being remedial and shall be given such fair, large and liberal construction and interpretation as best ensures the attainment of its objects.

- 80. Headings form no part of the enactment, but shall be construed as being inserted for convenience of reference only.
 - **81.** This By-law shall come into force and effect on approval by the Minister.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on the [18th] day of November, 2002.

	[Robert Hope]	
	Chief Robert Hope	
[Theodore Hope]		[Evert Hope]
Councillor Theodore Hope		ouncillor Evert Hope

SCHEDULE I

(section 13)

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION

TO:	
ADDRESS:	
RE:	
	(description of interest in land)
Taxation By-la resolution mad	o section 13 of the <i>Yale First Nation Property Assessment and</i> w, and pursuant to the authority vested in me by band council e the day of, 20, I hereby request to me, in writing, information concerning the following matters:
1.	
2.	
3.	

Please be advised that if you do not provide me with accurate information as requested, it will be necessary for me to carry out my assessment on the basis of whatever information I may have in my possession.

Yours truly,

Assessor

SCHEDULE II

(section 17)

CLASSES OF PROPERTY

Class 1 - Residential

676

- 1. Class 1 property shall include only
- (a) land or improvements, or both, used for residential purposes, including single family residences, duplexes, multi-family residences, apartments, condominiums, manufactured homes, nursing homes, rest homes, summer and seasonal dwellings, bunkhouses, cookhouses and ancillary improvements compatible with and used in conjunction with any of the above, but not including
 - (i) hotels or motels other than the portion of the hotel or motel building occupied by the owner or manager as his or her residence; and
 - (ii) land or improvements, or both, that are owned by the Crown in Right of Canada or the Province, or by an agent of either, and are used for the purposes of
 - (a) a penitentiary or correctional centre;
 - (b) a provincial mental health facility;
 - (c) a hospital for the care of the mentally or physically handicapped;
- (b) improvements on land classified as a farm and used in connection with the farm operation, including the farm residence and outbuilding;
- (c) land having no present use and which is neither specifically zoned nor held for business, commercial, forestry or industrial purposes.

Class 2 - Utilities

- 2. Class 2 property shall include only land or improvements, or both, used or held for the purposes of, or for purposes ancillary to, the business of
 - (a) transportation by railway;
 - (b) transportation, transmission or distribution by pipeline;
 - (c) communication by telegraph or telephone, including transmission of messages by means of electric currents or signals for compensation;
 - (d) generation, transmission and distribution of electricity; or
- (e) receiving, transmission and distribution of closed circuit television; but does not include that part of land or improvements, or both

- (f) included in Classes 1, 4 or 8;
- (g) used as an office, retail sales outlet, administration building or purpose ancillary thereto; or
- (h) used for a purpose other than a purpose defined in paragraphs (a) to (e) of this class.

Class 3 - Unmanaged forest land

3. Class 3 property shall include only land meeting the definition of forest land which is not classified as managed forest land.

Class 4 - Major industry

- 4. Class 4 property shall include only
- (a) land used in conjunction with the operation of industrial improvements; and
- (b) industrial improvements.

Class 5 - Light industry

- 5. Class 5 property shall include only land or improvements, or both, used or held for the purpose of extracting, processing, manufacturing or transporting of products, and for the storage of these products as an ancillary to or in conjunction with such extraction, processing, manufacture or transportation, but does not include those lands or improvements, or both
 - (a) included in Class 2 or 4;
 - (b) used principally as an outlet for the sale of a finished product to a purchaser for purposes of his own consumption or use and not for resale in either the form in which it was purchased or any other form; and
 - (c) used for processing, manufacturing or storage of food or non-alcoholic beverages.

Class 6 - Business and other

6. Class 6 property shall include all land and improvements not included in Classes 1 to 5 and 7 to 9.

Class 7 - Managed forest land

7. Class 7 property shall include only land meeting the definition of forest land which is classified as managed forest land.

Class 8 - Recreational property/non-profit organization

8.(1) Class 8 property shall include only

- (a) land, but not improvements on that land, used solely as an outdoor recreational facility for the following activities or uses:
 - golf;
 - (ii) skiing;
 - (iii) tennis;
 - (iv) ball games of any kind;
 - (v) lawn bowling;
 - (vi) public swimming;
 - (vii) motorcar racing;
 - (viii) trap shooting;
 - (ix) archery;
 - (x) ice skating;
 - (xi) water slides;
 - (xii) museums;
 - (xiii) amusement parks;
 - (xiv) horse racing;
 - (xv) rifle shooting;
 - (xvi) pistol shooting;
 - (xvii) horseback riding;
 - (xviii) roller skating;
 - (xix) marinas;
 - (xx) parks and gardens open to the public;
- (b) that part of any land and improvements used or set aside for use as a place of public worship or as a meeting hall for a non-profit fraternal organization of persons of either or both sexes, together with the facilities necessarily incidental to that use, for at least one hundred and fifty (150) days in the year ending on June 30, of the calendar year preceding the calendar year for which the assessment roll is being prepared, not counting any day in which the land and improvements so used or set aside are also used for
 - (i) any purpose by an organization that is neither a religious organization nor a non-profit fraternal organization;
 - (ii) entertainment where there is an admission charge; or
 - (iii) the sale or consumption, or both, of alcoholic beverages.

SCHEDULE III

(section 24, Part IX)

NOTICE OF ASSESSMENT

TO:					
ADDRESS:					
		(description	of interest in lan	ıd)	
dated theabove-noted in	E that the assessmed day of terest in land the to they-law:	following per	20 and rson(s) is/are	that in respec liable to pay ar	t of the ny taxes
Name(s): Address(es):					
The assessed va	alue of the			_ land:	
The assessed va	alue of the	(classification) (classification)		_ improvemen	ts:
	alue of exempt la alue of exempt in				
TOTAL ASSES	SSED VALUE:				
TOTAL NET T	AXABLE VALU	JE:			
of this assessme liability to asses or omission. Th or his or her ag	OTICE that you intent notice, appeal assment, assessed the Notice of Appearent, and must set the sent. The Notittee at	to the Assessmaller, assessmaller, assessmaller must be in cout a mailing	nent Review C nent classifica writing and s g address to w	Committee in re tion or an alleg signed by the ap which all notice	espect of ged error ppellant es to the
DATED AT		this	day of _		20
			Tax Admini	 istrator	

SCHEDULE IV

(section 33)

APPEAL TO ASSESSMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE

PURSUANT to the provisions of the *Yale First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law*, I hereby appeal the assessment of the following interest in land:

(description of the business and location)

on the following grounds:			
1.			
2.			
3.			
4.			
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
Printed name of Appellant	<u>_</u>	appellant's signature	
Address to which	h all notices to	appellant are to be s	ent
To: Assessment Review Com	nmittee		
c/o			
(0	office of the as	sessor)	

SCHEDULE V

(subsection 38(3))

NOTICE OF HEARING

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:		(description	on of interest in land)	
assessment rec 20 relatin the	quested in Schedu g to the above-no day of OTICE that you s	le IV dated t ted interest i	he n land at	near an appeal from day of , (a.m./p.m.) on relevant documents
DATED AT _		this	day of	, 20
			hairperson assessment Review	v Committee

SCHEDULE VI

(section 39)

REQUEST FOR ATTENDANCE

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
WHEREAS an appeal			
have information to assis	t the Assessment Re	eview Committee.	
THIS IS TO REQUEST y at (a 20 at (a bringing with you any do assessment.	(location) on t .m./p.m.) to give evid	he day dence concerning the	of said assessment
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	Chairper Assessm	son ent Review Commit	tee

SCHEDULE VII

(section 42)

TAX NOTICE

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:	(descript	on of interest in land)	
PURSUANT to the provision <i>Taxation By-law</i> , taxes in the respect to the above-noted in and payable forthwith, by characteristics.	ne amount of terest in land,	are here and take notice that sai	by levied with d taxes are due
The name(s) and address(es follows:) of the perso	n(s) liable to pay the	taxes is(are) as
Assessed value	\$		
Taxes (current year)	\$		
Arrears	\$		
Interest	\$		
Total Payable	\$		
	SCHEDUL	E VIII	
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		Tax Administrator	_

(section 57)

COSTS PAYABLE BY A TAXPAYER ARISING FROM ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS

1. For preparation of and serving any and all notices required by Part XVI on the Taxpayer, Tax Debtor or any other person, newspaper or on any property, etc.:	\$35.00 per notice
2. For attending, investigating, taking inventory, cataloguing, or seizing property, and preparing and conducting a Sale by Distress, for each person involved:	\$40.00 per hour
3. For drafting, filing and executing a lien or encumbrance:	\$150.00
4. For sale of improvements or disposition of interests in Reserve land, including attending, investigating, taking inventory, cataloguing, preparing and executing a Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest on Reserve, for each person involved:	\$40.00 per hour
5. For issuing and registering any and all certificates required by Part XVI:	\$10.00 per certificate
6. For disbursements, including without limiting, photocopying (\$.30 per page), advertising, storage fees, etc.	as and when arising.

SCHEDULE IX

(subsection 58(2))

CERTIFICATION OF DEBT OWING BY THE TAXPAYER

PURSUANT to the Yale Fix			
that \$ is the amo	ount of the outstand	ding taxes which is	due and owing by
(description of interest in la	and).		
Attached hereto is a copy of refers to the property taxes were	*		
with respect to		(description of	interest in land)
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		ax Administrator	_
	10	1A /AUHHHHISHARDI	

SCHEDULE X

(section 60)

DEMAND FOR PAYMENT AND NOTICE OF ENFORCEMENT **PROCEEDINGS**

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
	(description	of interest in land)	
The payment date of June 30, 2 served on you with respect to the IMMEDIATE PAYMENT IN FUI	e above-no _ (Taxation	ted property has now Authority) HEREB	v expired. The Y DEMANDS
Taxes:			
Interest:	\$		
Other costs:	\$		
Total outstanding tax debt:	\$		
within thirty (30) days from the being taken by the Taxation Authored debt. Additional costs may accrue The Yale First Nation Property As procedures allowing for the enfodue and owing. These enforcement property, including personal propon-going services being provided which may be used by the Tax Access and Taxation	erty for the esto this debrasessment are preement and collectly located to your produministrator	enforcement and coldination. In a d Taxation By-law coldination of a tax dection procedures monthis property and perty. The remedies are set out in the Yan.	ontains detailed debt which is any affect your may affect the and procedures the First Nation
Property Assessment and Taxation Tax Administrator upon request.	n By-law, a	copy of which is ava	ilable from the
(NOTE: An option for the Band is for the collection of outstanding to		the steps which the b	y-law provides
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		Tax Administrator	

SCHEDULE XI

(sections 61 and 62)

NOTICE OF DISTRESS

TO:	
ADDRESS:	
RE:	(description of interest in land)
\$ with reserven (7) days pursuant to sub	E THAT failure to pay the outstanding tax debt due and owing of espect to the above-noted property on or before the expiration of after the date of this Notice will result in the Tax Administrator, section 61(3) of the <i>Yale First Nation Property Assessment and</i> v, seizing by distress the property described as follows:
(a gene	eral description of the property which has been assessed)
upon the expirate Notice being powill result in the the Tax Admini	R TAKE NOTICE THAT failure to pay the outstanding tax debt tion of the seven (7) days set out above, will result in a copy of this sted at the locations on Reserve where the property is located and a seizure of such property, which will be held in the possession of strator, at your cost, such cost being added to the amount of the ag, until the tax debt is paid.
must commence such seizure wi	ER TAKE NOTICE THAT pursuant to subsection 62(1) of the <i>First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law</i> , you elegal proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction to challenge thin sixty (60) days from the date of such seizure, or you will be enying the validity of both the seizure and the sale of such property.
after the proper or to commence abandoned the p property will be Seized by Distre published for at	R TAKE NOTICE THAT upon the expiration of sixty (60) days ty has been seized and the failure to pay the outstanding tax debt e court proceedings as set out above, you will be deemed to have property seized and the Tax Administrator may authorize that the e sold by public auction. A copy of the Notice of Sale of Goods ess will be posted on your property located on Reserve, and will be least seven (7) days in the newspaper, (one appers of general local circulation) before the date of sale.
DATED AT	this day of, 20
	Tax Administrator

SCHEDULE XII

(section 62)

NOTICE OF SALE OF GOODS SEIZED BY DISTRESS

TAKE NOTICE THAT	Γ a sale by public aud	ction for outstanding	g taxes owed to
the	(Tax Auth	ority) will occur on	,
20 at o'cloc	k at(locatio	n) on the	
Reserve.			
At the above-noted sale 61 and 62 of the <i>Yale F</i> be sold with the procee	irst Nation Property A	ssessment and Taxai	tion By-law, will
	(general description of	of the goods)	
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	Ta	x Administrator	_

SCHEDULE XIII

(subsections 63(1) and 63(4))

NOTICE OF SALE OF IMPROVEMENTS AND DISPOSITION OF INTEREST IN LAND

TO:	
ADDRESS:	
RE:	(description of improvements)
-	(description of interest in land)
above-noted pro (60) days after to Yale Indian Ban located on the tender) of the ab Disposition of I the	E THAT failure to pay all outstanding taxes with respect to the operty, being \$
above-noted sale in land by payin improvements we subsequently fat sale and disposit the taxes remain interest will be	OTICE THAT on or before the expiration of six (6) months after the e and disposition, you may redeem your improvements and interest g to the Tax Administrator the full amount of all taxes for which the vere sold and the interest disposed, together with all taxes which have llen due, including without restricting, the cost of the above-noted tion. If upon the expiration of those six (6) months any amount of a outstanding, the sale of the improvements and disposition of the declared final, and the purchaser shall obtain both your title in the old and your interest in land.
you will be requ	OTICE THAT upon the sale and disposition being declared final, ired to immediately vacate the property, and any rights or interests in the improvements and to the Reserve land will be transferred rehaser.
DATED AT	this day of , 20
	Tax Administrator

SCHEDULE XIV

(section 63)

CERTIFICATION OF SALE AND DISPOSITION OF INTEREST ON RESERVE

RE:		
	(description of interest in land)	
	(description of improvements)	
I,	, Tax Administrator of the Yale Indian Band, l	nereby
certify that res	lting from the failure of	to pay
the outstanding	tax debt on the above-noted interest on Reserve, that interest	est has
been disposed	by public auction (or tender) and the above-noted improve	ments
have been sol	by public auction (or tender) pursuant to section 63	of the
	First Nation Property Assessment and Ta	xation
	owing person shall, pursuant to subsection 63(10) of that B	
be substituted f	r the Tax Debtor as the holder of the above-noted interest in	land:
	(name and address of purchaser at sale)	
DATED AT	this day of , 20)
	Tax Administrator	

SCHEDULE XV

(subsection 64(1))

NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OF INTEREST IN LAND

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:		(description o	of interest in land)	
with respect to of six (6) more interest in land e	E THAT failure to the above-noted of the above-noted on the from the dad on the Reserve.	interest in larte of this No The failure to	nd will result, uportice, in the cancer pay such taxes	on the expiration rellation of such is a breach of th
the interest in	ellation of such int land on Reserve,	and any right	ts or interests whi	ich you acquired
DATED AT		_ this	day of	, 20
		T	ax Administrator	

SCHEDULE XVI

(section 64)

CERTIFICATION OF CANCELLATION OF INTEREST IN LAND

RE:			
	(descriptio	on of interest in land)	
I,certify that the above-menti			
Reserve, has been cancelled		-	
Fi			
as a result of the failure of		to pay the outs	tanding tax debt.
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		x Administrator	-

SCHEDULE XVII

(subsection 65(2))

NOTICE OF FORFEITURE

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:	(descript	ion of interest in land)	
and Taxation B outstanding for	E THAT taxes imposed by the By-law for the above-noted in two (2) years and pursuar Reserve is now subject to for	nterest in the years, to section, t	have been
The amount of as follows:	all taxes which are due an	d payable to the date	of this Notice is
(itemized	statement of all taxes includ	ing interest, penalties,	costs, etc.)
are paid in full of you hold in thi vest in the Band	ER TAKE NOTICE THAT un on or before the fortieth day a s property will be absolutel Band. Upon so d clear of all charges except to y interests which attach to the	after the date of this No y and unconditionally ach forfeiture, your into those rights of way, eas	otice, the interest forfeited to the erest in land will
December 1 of	ER TAKE NOTICE THAT the second year after the cale those taxes does not preven	ndar year in which the	y were imposed,
(i) includ	les all taxes then due and pag	yable; and	
(ii) is mad	de before forfeiture.		
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		Tax Administrator	

SCHEDULE XVIII

(subsection 65(7))

CERTIFICATION OF FORFEITURE

RE:			
	(description	n of interest in land)	
I,certify that resulting fit pay the outstanding ta	rom the failure ofx debt owing on the	above-mentioned in	(Tax Debtor) to terest in land in
	Reserve, such interest has been forfeited to the Yale Indian		
Band pursuant to section	ons and	of the <i>Yale First</i>	Nation Property
Assessment and Taxatio	on By-law.		
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		x Administrator	_

SCHEDULE XIX

(section 67)

NOTICE OF DISCONTINUANCE OF SERVICES

TO:					
ADDRESS:					
RE:		(descripti	on of interes	t in land)	
outstanding for or before thirty Council and sh	E THAT the taxes (30) days after the own cause as set of e discontinued:	s, and that date of thi	unless pay s Notice, o	yment in full or you have a	is received on ppeared before
	(list servi	ices to be	discontinu	ed)	
Council schedu days set out ab	ER TAKE NOTICE uled for ove) at ow cause as to why	, 20	_ at (location)	o'clock, , (within the	(within the 30 30 days set out
DATED AT		this	da	y of	, 20
			Tax Admi	inistrator	_

SCHEDULE XX

(paragraph 69(1)(c))

NOTICE OF HEARING

TO:			
ADDRESS:		e or local improvement c	harge)
TAKE NOTICE THAT (location) on theo'clock, to consider reprabove-noted proposed se	esentations from affection	ected ratepayers with	, at
AND TAKE NOTICE submissions which will be			cil any written
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	Chi	ief and Council	-
	Yal	e First Nation	

YEKOOCHE FIRST NATION NO. 728 FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2002-5

[Effective November 27, 2002]

A by-law to regulate the receipt, management, and expenditure of Yekooche First Nation funds and establish the administrative structure of the Yekooche First Nation which manages the funds;

WHEREAS the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, provides that Council may, subject to the approval of the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development, make by-laws for the following purposes:

- the appropriation and expenditure of moneys of the Yekooche First Nation to defray the Yekooche First Nation expenses;
- the appointment of officials to conduct the business of the Council and prescribing their duties; and
- with respect to any matter arising out of or ancillary to the exercise of the aforementioned power;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Yekooche First Nation has determined that it is desirable and necessary that a financial management by-law be established for the purposes set out in subsection 83(1) of the *Indian Act* and for the better administration of the Yekooche First Nation's business:

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Yekooche First Nation at a duly convened meeting of the Council enacts the following by-law.

TITLE

1. This By-law may be called the *Financial Administration By-law*.

DEFINITIONS

- 2. In this By-law,
- "agencies" means any board, tribunal, commission, committee of the Yekooche First Nation or any corporate body controlled by the Yekooche First Nation including a society, non-profit corporation or business corporation;
- "annual budget" means the forecast of planned expenditures for the forthcoming fiscal year by the Yekooche First Nation;
- "Board" shall mean the Yekooche First Nation Treasury Board established pursuant to this By-law;

- "agreement" means any written contract between the Yekooche First Nation and another party or parties, including the Federal Government, the provincial government or a third party, pursuant to which money is to be paid to the Yekooche First Nation;
- "Council" shall mean the Chief and Council of the Yekooche First Nation;
- "department" means an administrative division of the Yekooche First Nation Government as established from time to time by Council and includes service centres, administrative units and other internal organizational units of the Yekooche First Nation administration;
- "Yekooche First Nation funds" means all moneys belonging to the Yekooche First Nation and includes
 - (a) all revenues of Yekooche First Nation;
 - (b) money borrowed by the Yekooche First Nation;
 - (c) money received or collected on behalf of the Yekooche First Nation; and
 - (d) all moneys that are received or collected by the Yekooche First Nation pursuant to any agreement or funding arrangement and is to be disbursed for a purpose specified by Council or pursuant to that agreement or funding arrangement;

but does not include

(e) money received by the Yekooche First Nation on behalf of an individual or corporate entity, where Council has approved an alternative arrangement for the managing of the money pursuant to section 74 of this By-law;

"resolution" means a decision made at a meeting of a quorum of Council.

APPLICATION

- **3.** This By-law governs the receipt, management and expenditure of Yekooche First Nation funds and the administrative organization of the Yekooche First Nation to manage the funds.
- **4.** This By-law applies to all Yekooche First Nation departments and agencies in receipt of Yekooche First Nation funds.

TREASURY BOARD

- **5.** A Treasury Board of the Yekooche First Nation is hereby established and shall continue in existence notwithstanding changes in its membership from time to time.
- **6.** The Board shall consist of five (5) members appointed by the Council from time to time with one (1) member being the Band Administrator.

- 7. Two (2) of the members of the Board shall be members of the Council.
- **8.** The Chairperson shall be elected by the Board and serve for a term of two (2) years.
- **9.** The Chairperson shall preside over the meetings of the Board and shall, between meetings of the Board, exercise or perform such of the powers, duties or functions of the Board as the Board may determine.
 - 10. The Board shall be responsible for
 - (a) the management and control of the collection of Yekooche First Nation funds;
 - (b) the management and control of the expenditures and disbursements of the Yekooche First Nation;
 - (c) the maintenance of records of the financial activities of the Yekooche First Nation;
 - (d) the preparation of the annual budget in accordance with the priorities approved by Council;
 - (e) the preparation of the annual audit of the Yekooche First Nation;
 - (f) the reporting and recommending to Council on financial matters; and
 - (g) all other matters relating to the financial affairs of the Yekooche First Nation not assigned by another by-law or Council resolution to any department or agency.
- 11. The Board shall prepare or cause to be prepared any amendment to the annual budget for the Yekooche First Nation which shall be submitted to the Council for review and approval.
- 12. The Board shall maintain or cause to be maintained the financial records of the Yekooche First Nation through the Office of the Treasurer and the managers of the departments or agencies.
- **13.** The Board may prescribe the form and content of the financial records and establish the accounting systems of the Yekooche First Nation.
 - 14. A member of the Treasury Board may be removed from office
 - (a) by the Chairperson if the member has missed three (3) consecutive scheduled meetings of the Treasury Board;
 - (b) by a majority of Council on the recommendation of the Chairperson for the member's removal; or
 - (c) by a unanimous vote of Council.

- 15. The Band Administrator shall act as the senior administration officer of the Treasury Board and shall assist the Board in carrying out its duties. The Band Council will articulate the specific nature of the duties of the Band Administrator and these will include the planning, organizing, implementing and evaluating of these functions.
- 16. To facilitate the role and responsibilities of the Band Administrator, a Controller shall be appointed by the Council and is responsible to the Band Administrator for the following:
 - (a) the conduct of the administration necessary to discharge the administrative responsibilities of the Board, including staff supervision;
 - (b) the administrative supervision of the compilation and preparation of the overall annual budget;
 - (c) the preparation of annual financial statements and longterm financial projections and cash flows as required from time to time by the Board;
 - (d) monitoring adherence to any agreement and funding arrangements entered into by the Yekooche First Nation or any department or agency;
 - (e) administration and supervision of the financial records and reporting systems;
 - (f) the maintenance of records of all receipts and expenditures in such a manner so as to facilitate the annual audit; and
 - (g) any other task assigned by the Board.
- 17. The Board shall be responsible for the hiring of the Controller subject to the ratification of the Council and dismissal of the Controller shall be in accordance with the personnel policies of the Yekooche First Nation as established by Council.

COUNCIL'S ROLE

- 18. The Council shall appoint two (2) Councillors and two (2) persons from the general First Nation membership to serve as members of the Board for a period consistent with the term of office of the Band Council.
- 19. The Council shall oversee the preparation of the annual budget and shall approve the annual budget of the Yekooche First Nation and any amendments thereto.
- 20. The Council shall receive and approve the annual audit of the Yekooche First Nation.
- 21. The Council may, upon the recommendation of the Board or upon its own motion, approve of an exception to this By-law by an amending by-law in accordance with section 83 of the Indian Act.

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

22. On the recommendation of the Board, the Council may approve the delegation of authority to approve expenditures on behalf of the Yekooche First Nation within the annual budget and consistent with the financial organization of the Yekooche First Nation.

ANNUAL BUDGET

- **23.** The Board shall prepare estimates of the revenues of the Yekooche First Nation for the purpose of preparing the annual budget.
- **24.** Each department manager and agency manager shall prepare the department or agency's annual budget for the operation of the department or agency and shall submit the budget prepared to the Board which shall prepare a consolidated annual budget for the Yekooche First Nation.
- **25.** The annual budget for the Yekooche First Nation and its agencies shall be submitted by the Board to Council for consideration and approval.
- **26.** The Council is solely responsible for the approval of the consolidated annual budget for the Yekooche First Nation and its agencies for each fiscal year.
- **27.** Council may increase allocations of funds in the budget, reduce allocations of funds, or reallocate funds to different sectors in the annual budget.
- **28.** The annual budget becomes official upon approval by the Council by resolution.
- **29.** Council may amend the annual budget at any time before or after its implementation.
- **30.** The annual budget shall be made available during regular working hours for inspection by any member of the Yekooche First Nation, and copies are to be provided to Yekooche First Nation members on written request to the Controller upon payment of a twenty-five (\$25) dollar fee.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: DEPOSITS

- **31.** There shall be one Consolidated Account established by the Controller at the direction of the Treasury Board into which all Yekooche First Nation funds shall be deposited.
- **32.** The Controller shall ensure the safekeeping of the Yekooche First Nation funds received and shall forthwith deposit all Yekooche First Nation funds to the credit of the Yekooche First Nation Consolidated Account.
- **33.** The Board may authorize the Controller to reallocate funds from the Yekooche First Nation Consolidated Account to other accounts for investment purposes or program and services delivery.

- **34.** Funds in the Consolidated Account shall be administered by the Controller.
- **35.** The interest earned on the Yekooche First Nation funds shall be paid to the Consolidated Account.
- **36.** Operating surpluses as of the end of the fiscal year shall be paid into the Consolidated Account and allocated or expended in accordance with the direction of Council.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: EXPENDITURES

- **37.** All payments and financial commitments shall be in accordance with the annual budget or in accordance with Council resolution.
- **38.** The Board may make accountable advances from the Consolidated Account to an account administered by a department or agency manager on a monthly basis according to the approved annual budget.
- **39.** At the beginning of each fiscal year, each department and agency manager may receive a one (1) month advance or in such amount as determined by the annual budget and the cash flow approved annual budget.
- **40.** Where funds have been advanced to a department or agency, the department and agency managers shall report to the Board on the last day of the following month
 - (a) an invoice listing the funds expended in the previous month; and
 - (b) a trial balance of the receipts and disbursements for the previous month.
- **41.** The invoice listing submitted to the Board shall be reviewed and approved by the Board if reasonably within the approved budget and upon such approval further advance for the next month shall be made to the department or agency.
- **42.** The Board shall deduct from the current month's advance any amounts advanced in prior months which exceed the amount of the expenditures as recorded in the trial balance.
- **43.** The Board may make such adjustments as are required in the last month of the fiscal year to close out the final payment for the year.

FINANCIAL REPORTING: INVOICING

- **44.** No payment shall be made for the performances of work, supply of goods or rendering of services unless the charge in respect of such work, goods or services has been authorized
 - (a) pursuant to a Council resolution;
 - (b) by a person delegated to authorize such payment; or

- (c) pursuant to an agreement entered into between the Yekooche First Nation and the person providing such work, goods or services which establishes the amount, or a method of calculating the amount, to be charged for such work, goods or services.
- **45.** For all work, goods or services that are provided by or through the Yekooche First Nation or any other person on behalf of the Yekooche First Nation for a fee or other charge, an invoice shall be rendered for payment for the work, goods or services.
- **46.** The Treasurer, department or agency manager each have a role in ensuring invoices are rendered pursuant to this By-law.

AWARDING OF CONTRACTS

- **47.** The Council may appoint by resolution the department or agency managers and other persons as authorized to approve the purchase of goods and services. Any expenditures in the awarding of contracts must receive the prior approval of the Band Council.
- **48.** All orders for work, goods or services provided to the Yekooche First Nation must be recommended to Council by the department or agency manager authorized to approve the purchase of goods or services.
- **49.** Each order for work, goods or services over fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) or such greater amount as approved by Council, unless approved in the annual budget, shall, in addition to the signature of the department or agency manager, require attestation by the Controller as to availability of funds.

TENDERS

- **50.** Capital purchases up to fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) or such greater amounts as approved by Council may be made by a department or agency manager if approved in the annual budget without going to tender.
- **51.** Capital purchases over fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000) and under five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000) or in such amounts as approved by Council may be made by invitations to tender.
- **52.** Capital purchases in excess of five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000) or such greater amounts as approved by Council must be made by public tender.
- **53.** In emergency situations telephone bids up to twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000) or such greater amount as approved by Council may be accepted by a department or agency manager providing a written confirmation follows from the bidder and a record of telephone bids is filed.
 - **54.** Invitations to tender shall include

(a) the time and date of closing;

704

- (b) sufficient details from which comparable bids can be made;
- (c) the time, date, and place tenders are to be opened; and
- (d) amount of security deposit if required.
- **55.** The tendering period is not to be less than five (5) working days, unless in an emergency situation.
- **56.** All tenders are to be returned sealed and addressed to the Yekooche First Nation, clearly marked "Tendered for ______" and the time and date of receipt is to be recorded on the unopened envelope of tender when received.
- **57.** All tenders received shall be opened in public in the presence of the department or agency manager or other person responsible for the tender process.
- **58.** The name of the tender, project, date of bid and amount shown must be recorded.
- **59.** The lowest tender received shall normally be accepted unless the authorized person deems it in the best interest of the Yekooche First Nation to do otherwise.
- **60.** Where the lowest tender is not accepted, the reasons are to be recorded in the document by the authorized person accepting the contract.
- **61.** Upon acceptance of a tender for the performance of work, goods, or services, a contract is to be signed by both parties and shall be kept as a portion of the records of the Yekooche First Nation.
- **62.** In the event that an official or employee of the Yekooche First Nation has a personal interest in the contract, he or she shall signify the interest and thereafter refrain from taking part in the discussion or participating in the awarding of the contract.
- **63.** No disbursements or payment on any contract shall be made without supporting documentation as determined by the policies of the Board.
- **64.** A fifteen per cent (15%) holdback of final payment or in such amount as may be determined by Board policy shall not be released to a contractor until all work is certified as complete and satisfactory to the Council.
 - **65.** The Board may establish policies and procedures for the tender process.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

66. Any person who holds an office, including that of Chief or Councillor, or employment with the Yekooche First Nation, its departments or agencies, shall not

use that office or employment for personal gain to the detriment of the interests of the Yekooche First Nation.

- **67.** "Personal gain" shall mean financial benefit for the individual or for the members of his or her immediate family.
- **68.** "Family" shall mean a spouse, including a common-law spouse, children, parent, brother, sister, father-in-law, mother-in-law, uncle, aunt, grandparent, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, and also includes any relative permanently residing in the person's household.
- **69.** A person may avoid a conflict of interest by disclosing his or her interest prior to the making of a decision and by not participating in the decision.
- **70.** If a person violates the conflict of interest provision Council will, subject to the Yekooche First Nation Personnel Policy, suspend the employee or official from all privileges and benefits of office or employment for a period up to three (3) weeks.
- **71.** The Board may develop detailed conflict of interest rules which shall govern the administration of financial affairs of the Yekooche First Nation which shall take effect upon approval by Council. These detailed conflict of interest rules would support those included under this By-law.
 - **72.** An appeal of suspension or dismissal can be made to the Band Council.

AGREEMENTS

- **73.** The Council may approve on behalf of the Yekooche First Nation such agreements of funding arrangements with the federal and provincial governments or with any other party for the provision of funding for the Yekooche First Nation, its agencies and other bodies.
- **74.** Where an agreement or arrangement has been approved under section 73 and on the recommendation of the Treasury Board, the Council may approve an alternative arrangement for the management of money received.

FISCAL YEAR

75. The fiscal year of the Yekooche First Nation Government shall be from April 1 of each year to March 31 in the following year.

AUDIT

- **76.** Council shall appoint by resolution an auditor or auditors annually to audit the books and records of the Yekooche First Nation.
- **77.** The auditor or auditors shall be a member of a recognized professional accounting association.

- **78.** The auditor or auditors shall report to Council.
- **79.** The audit shall include all transactions involving the Yekooche First Nation funds.
 - **80.** The auditor or auditors are entitled to access
 - (a) all books, records, accounts and vouchers;
 - (b) information from any department or agency manager necessary for the completion of the audit;
 - (c) Council resolutions and by-laws;
 - (d) administration and financial regulations;
 - (e) agreements, contracts, and any other related documents.
- **81.** The audit shall be in accordance with generally accepted accounting procedures and shall include a general review of the adequacy of the accounting procedures and systems of control employed to preserve and protect the assets of the Yekooche First Nation.
- **82.** The Board shall provide the auditors with instructions concerning the annual audit and, through the Controller, shall assist the auditor or auditors in the completion of the audit.
- **83.** After the review of the annual audit by the Board, the auditor or auditors shall present the annual audit to the Council upon completion of the annual audit.
- **84.** The audited financial statement shall be accepted by the Council by resolution at a meeting and signed by the Chief and such other person as designated by the Council.

PUBLIC

- **85.** Upon receipt of the auditor's report by Council, copies of the report shall be posted in such public places as determined by Council.
- **86.** The Controller shall retain the written report of the auditor, together with the related financial statements and any member of the Yekooche First Nation may inspect them during regular office hours and may by himself or through his agent, at his own expense, make a copy of the report or any part of it.

AMENDMENTS AND REPEAL

- **87.** A decision made in contravention of this By-law is voidable by vote of a majority of Council.
- **88.** Amendment or repeal of this By-law shall be in the manner stipulated by the *Indian Act*.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on the $25 \mathrm{th}$ day of September, 2002.

A quorum of Council is th	nree (3) members of	Council.
	[Allen Joseph]	
	Chief Allen Joseph	
[Curtis Joseph]	_	[Linda Basil]
Councillor Curtis Joseph	_	Councillor Linda Basil

YEKOOCHE FIRST NATION NO. 728 PROPERTY ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2002-6

[Effective February 25, 2003]

INDEX		Page
	Short Title	709
Part I	Interpretation	710
Part II	Administration	712
Part III	Application of By-law	712
Part IV	Liability to Taxation	712
Part V	Levy of Tax	713
Part VI	Information for Assessment Roll	714
Part VII	Assessed Value	714
Part VIII	The Assessment Roll	715
Part IX	Amendments to Assessment Roll	717
Part X	Appeals	718
Part XI	Tax Notice	723
Part XII	Due Date and Interest	724
Part XIII	Periodic Payments	725
Part XIV	Receipts and Certificates	725
Part XV	Application of Revenues	725
Part XVI	Collection and Enforcement	726
	Proof of Debt	726
	Special Lien and Priority of Claim	726
	Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement	
	Proceedings	727
	Distress: Seizure of Goods	727
	Distress: Sale of Goods Seized by Distress	728
	Sale of Improvements or Proprietary Interest	729
	Cancellation of Interest in Land Held by Taxpayer	730
	Forfeiture of Property	731
	Absconding Taxpayer	732
	Discontinuance of Services	732
Part XVII	Service and Local Improvement Charges	733
Part XVIII	General and Miscellaneous	735

SCHEDULES

I.	Request for Information	737
II.	Classes of Property	738
III.	Notice of Assessment	741
IV.	Appeal to Assessment Review Committee	742
V.	Notice of Hearing	743
VI.	Request for Attendance	744
VII.	Tax Notice	745
VIII.	Costs Payable by a Taxpayer Arising from Enforcement Proceedings	746
IX.	Certification of Debt Owing by the Taxpayer	747
X.	Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings	748
XI.	Notice of Distress	749
XII.	Notice of Sale of Goods Seized by Distress	750
XIII.	Notice of Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest in Land	751
XIV.	Certification of Sale and Disposition of Interest on Reserve	752
XV.	Notice of Cancellation of Interest in Land	753
XVI.	Certification of Cancellation of Interest in Land	754
XVII.	Notice of Forfeiture	755
XVIII.	Certification of Forfeiture	756
XIX.	Notice of Discontinuance of Services	757
XX.	Notice of Hearing	758

WHEREAS pursuant to the *Indian Act*, and specifically paragraph 83(1)(a), the council of a band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, in the reserve, including rights to occupy, possess or use land, in the reserve;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Yekooche Indian Band deems it to be in the best interests of the Band to make a by-law for such purposes;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED the Council of the Yekooche Indian Band at a duly convened meeting, enacts the following by-law.

SHORT TITLE

1. This By-law may be cited as the *Property Assessment and Taxation By-law*.

PART I

INTERPRETATION

- **2.**(1) In this By-law,
- "Act" means the Indian Act, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5;
- "actual value" means the market value of the interest in land as if it were held in fee simple off Reserve;
- "assessed value" means the actual value of interests in land as determined under this By-law;
- "assessment roll" means a list prepared pursuant to this By-law and includes a supplementary roll, setting out interests in land within the assessment area and their assessed values for the purposes of taxation and includes any alterations or additions under Part IX of this By-law;
- "assessment year" means the year, from January 1 to December 31 in which taxes are to be levied;
- "assessor" means a person, or persons appointed by Chief and Council for the purposes of this By-law and any related duties as required by Chief and Council;
- "Band" or "First Nation" means the Yekooche Indian Band being a Band within subsection 2(1) of the Act;
- "band council resolution" means a motion passed and approved by a majority of the Councillors of the Band present at a duly convened meeting;
- "Chief and Council" or "Council" means the Chief and Council of the Yekooche Indian Band (selected according to the custom of the Band or under subsection 2(1) and section 74 of the Act);
- "holder" means a person in lawful possession of an interest in land in the Reserve or a person who, for the time being
 - (a) is entitled to possession of the interest,
 - (b) is an occupier of the interest,
 - (c) has any right, title, estate or interest, or
 - (d) is a trustee of the interest;
- "improvement" means an addition to land or water over land and, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, includes
 - (a) anything erected or placed in, upon or under land, or affixed to land, so that without special mention it would be transferred by a transfer of land,

- (b) anything erected or placed in or upon, or affixed to an improvement, so that without special mention it would be transferred by a transfer of land,
- (c) any item of immovable machinery and equipment which is prescribed assessable by band council resolution, or
- (d) a manufactured home:
- "interest in land" means land or improvements, or both, and, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, includes any interest in land or improvements, the right to occupy, possess or use land or improvements in the Reserve;
- "local improvement charge" means a charge in respect of a local improvement based on the actual or estimated capital costs and interest amortized over a fixed period of years;
- "locatee" means an Indian who is in lawful possession of land in the Reserve pursuant to subsections 20(1) and (2) of the Act and for whose benefit the Minister has leased the land pursuant to subsection 58(3) of the Act;
- "Minister" means the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development;
- "manufactured home" means any structure whether equipped with wheels or not and whether selfpropelled or not, that
 - (a) is used or designed for use as a dwelling or sleeping place, and
 - (b) is constructed or manufactured to be moved from one point to another by being towed or carried unless licenced or able to be licensed and equipped to travel on a public highway,
 - (c) is a business office or premise, and
 - (d) is accommodation for any other purpose;
- "occupier" means a person who, for the time being, is in actual occupation of an interest in land:
- "person", in addition to its ordinary meaning, includes a partnership, association, company, society or body corporate;
- "pipeline" means any pipe designed for or used in the commercial conveyance or transmission of any substance;
- "Registrar" means the Lands Administrator for the Yekooche Indian Band as appointed by Chief and Council;
- "registers" means the Surrendered and Designated Lands Register kept pursuant to section 55 of the Act and the Reserve Land Register kept pursuant to section 21 of the Act;

- "Reserve" means Yekooche Indian Reserves, numbers: 3, 11, 13, 16 as defined in subsection 2(1) of the Act and any land held as a special Reserve for the use and benefit of the Yekooche Indian Band pursuant to section 36 of the Act;
- "service charge" means a charge in respect of a service based on the estimated or actual annual cost of the service;
- "tax" or "taxes" means a levy imposed by section 11 of this By-law, and includes all interest, penalties, costs or other charges imposed and payable pursuant to this By-law;
- "Tax Administrator" means the person appointed by Council pursuant to section 3 to administer this By-law;
- "tax debtor" means a person with outstanding obligations to pay taxes imposed by this By-law after the expiration of time provided for in Schedule X, the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings, served pursuant to section 60;
- "Taxation Authority" means the Chief and Council of the Yekooche Indian Band;
- "trustee" means an executor, administrator, guardian, committee, receiver or any person having or taking upon him or herself the lawful possession, administration or control of property affected by an express trust, or having by lawful possession, management and control of the property of a person under any legal disability.
 - (2) The preamble forms part of this By-law.

PART II

ADMINISTRATION

- **3.**(1) Council may appoint a Tax Administrator for a specified or indefinite term to administer this By-law.
- (2) The Tax Administrator is responsible for collection of taxes and enforcement of payment under this By-law.

PART III

APPLICATION OF BY-LAW

4. This By-law applies to all interests in land within the Reserve.

PART IV

LIABILITY TO TAXATION

5.(1) Subject to section 6, all interests in land including any right to occupy, possess, or use land, is subject to taxation under this By-law.

- (2) Without derogating from Council's taxing authority or jurisdiction, Council may accept payment of taxes in the form of grants in lieu of taxes or may otherwise accept settlement of a taxation issue where it is in the best interests of the Band.
 - **6.** The following interests in land are not subject to taxation:
 - (a) any interest in land of the Band or of a member of the Band;
 - (b) any interest in land of a corporation, all the shareholders of which are members of Council, and which interest in land is held for the benefit of all the members of the Band;
 - (c) a building used exclusively for school purposes and the land necessary as the site for the building;
 - (d) a building occupied by a religious body and used chiefly for divine service, public worship or religious education, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
 - (e) a building, or any part thereof, used as a hospital, other than a private hospital, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
 - (f) a building, or any part thereof, used as a university, technical institute, or public college, not operated for profit, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
 - (g) an institutional building used chiefly for the purpose of providing housing accommodation for the elderly or persons suffering from physical or mental disability, not operated for profit, and the land necessary as the site for the building; and
 - (h) a cemetery to the extent that it is actually used for burial purposes.
- 7. Notwithstanding section 6, all interests in land are liable to service and local improvement charges under Part XVII of this By-law.
- **8.** Where an interest in land is not subject to taxation, the liability to taxation of any other interest in the same land is not affected.
- **9.**(1) An exemption does not apply to any portion of a building other than the portion occupied or used for the purpose for which the exemption was granted.
- (2) Where an exemption applies to a portion of a building, it applies, in the same proportion, to the land that is necessary as the site for the building.

PART V

LEVY OF TAX

10. Where an interest in land is subject to taxation, any person who has an interest in the land is jointly and severally liable to taxation.

- 11.(1) On or before May 31 in each calendar year or as soon thereafter as practicable, Council shall adopt a by-law to impose tax rates on interests in land subject to taxation under this By-law. Taxes levied under this By-law apply to the calendar year in which the levy is first made and are based upon the assessed values of the interest in land and improvements as determined under this By-law.
- (2) Council may, by by-law, establish different classes of real property and establish different tax rates according to the class of real property to be taxed.
- (3) Taxes shall be levied by applying the rate of tax against each one thousand dollars (\$1,000) of assessed value of the land and improvements.
- **12.** Taxes levied in a taxation notice mailed under section 24 are due and payable on July 2 of the year in which they are levied.

PART VI

INFORMATION FOR ASSESSMENT ROLL

- 13.(1) Every person liable for tax shall, on request, forthwith furnish to the assessor, in writing and signed, the information requested in Schedule I concerning the land used or occupied by that person and without restricting the generality of the foregoing, including: purchase price; terms and covenants in leases; construction costs; costs of alterations and repairs; income and expense information or, rents payable, paid or agreed to be paid.
- (2) Where an assessor does not receive the information referred to in subsection (1), or is not satisfied that the information received is accurate, the assessor shall value the interest in land on the basis of information in his or her possession.

PART VII

ASSESSED VALUE

- **14.**(1) Council may appoint by band council resolution one or more assessors for a definite or indefinite term.
- (2) An appointment under subsection (1) may be for the purposes of classifying and valuing particular interests in land in the assessment area and applying exemptions in accordance with section 6 as set out in the band council resolution.
- **15.** For the purpose of determining the actual value of an interest in land for an assessment roll, the valuation date is July 1 of the year during which the assessment roll is completed.
- **16.**(1) The assessor shall assess interests in land according to the classes of real property established by this By-law.

- (2) For the purposes of assessing property pursuant to this By-law the assessor shall utilize the practices and regulations established under British Columbia legislation as amended from time to time.
- **17.**(1) The assessor shall assess interests in land according to the classes of real property as set out in Schedule II.
- (2) Except as otherwise provided in this By-law, for the purposes of assessing interests in land the assessor shall use the practices and regulations established under British Columbia legislation as amended from time to time.
- **18.**(1) Except as provided in subsections 17(2) and 18(3), the assessor shall value land and improvements at their actual value.
- (2) The assessor shall determine the actual value of the following, using the equivalent rates which would be applied if the interest in land were held in the Province of British Columbia:
- (a) the polelines, metallic or fibre optic cables, towers, poles, wires, transformers, conduits and mains of a telecommunication, trolley coach, bus or electrical power corporation, but not including substations;
 - (b) the track in place of a railway corporation;
- (c) the pipelines of a pipeline corporation for the transportation of petroleum, petroleum products, or natural gas, including valves, cleanouts, fastenings, and appurtenances located on the right of way, but not including distribution pipelines, pumping equipment, compressor equipment, storage tanks and buildings;
- (d) the right of way for pole lines, cables, towers, poles, wires, transformers, conduits, mains and pipelines referred to in paragraphs (a) and (c);
 - (e) the right of way for track referred to in paragraph (b).
- (3) Notwithstanding subsection (1), if Council has, in a lease or other instrument granting an interest in land, placed a restriction on the use of the land, the assessor shall consider the restriction.
- (4) The duration of the interest in land or the right of Council to terminate an interest in land is not a restriction within the meaning of subsection (3).

PART VIII

THE ASSESSMENT ROLL

- 19. No later than December 31 preceding the taxation year the assessor shall prepare an assessment roll containing the following particulars:
 - (a) the name and last known address of the person assessed;
 - (b) an accurate or legal description of the land;

- (c) the classification of
 - (i) the land, and

716

- (ii) the improvements;
- (d) the actual value by classification of
 - (i) the land, and
 - (ii) the improvements;
- (e) the total assessed value;
- (f) the total assessed value of exemptions from taxation, where applicable;
- (g) the total net taxable value; and
- (h) any other necessary information.
- **20.** The assessor shall include in the assessment roll the particulars set out in section 19 for any interest in land in respect of which grants in lieu of taxes may be accepted.
- **21.** The assessor shall set out the value of improvements separately from the value of the land on which they are located.
- **22.**(1) A person whose name appears in the assessment roll shall give written notice to the Tax Administrator or assessor of any change of address.
- (2) The holder of a charge or an interest in land may give written notice, with full particulars of the nature, extent and duration of the charge to the Tax Administrator, and request copies of all tax notices issued during the duration of the charge, and the assessor shall enter that person's name and address on the assessment roll.
 - **23.**(1) The assessment roll is effective on its approval by Chief and Council.
- (2) On approval, the assessment roll is open to inspection in the Yekooche Band office by any person during regular business hours.
- **24.** The Tax Administrator or the assessor shall on or before December 31 of each year mail a Notice of Assessment to every person named in the assessment roll in respect of each interest in land for which that person is liable to taxation or for which grants in lieu of taxes may be sought.
- **25.** The Notice of Assessment shall be in the form set out in Schedule III or a form approved by Chief and Council and shall contain the information set out in the assessment roll in respect of that interest in land and shall contain a statement as to the right of appeal.

PART IX

AMENDMENTS TO ASSESSMENT ROLL

- **26.** Where the assessor finds that during the current taxation year
- (a) a taxable interest in land is not entered in the assessment roll;
- (b) the value of an interest in land is not the same as the valuation entered in the assessment roll by reason of
 - the demolition, destruction or damaging of an improvement,
 - (ii) new construction or new improvements,
 - (iii) a change in a permitted use, or
 - (iv) a subdivision;
- (c) there has been a change in the possession, use or occupation;
- (d) there is a clerical error; or
- (e) there has been a change in the eligibility for an exemption from taxation; the assessor shall amend the assessment roll to effect the necessary changes but subject to section 28, shall not make any amendments after December 31 of the current taxation year.
- 27. Where the assessment roll is amended, the assessor shall, as soon as practical after adoption of the amended assessment roll by band council resolution, mail a notice in the form set out in Schedule III or a form approved by Chief and Council in respect of the amended assessment to each person affected.
 - 28. Where there has been an underassessment resulting from
 - (a) a person's failure to disclose information required under this By-law with respect to an interest in land; or
 - (b) a person's concealment of information required under this By-law with respect to an interest in land;

the assessor shall issue an amended assessment notice, in the form set out in Schedule III or a form approved by Chief and Council, for the current year and for each previous year during which the condition giving rise to the amendment to the assessment roll existed.

- **29.** Where a condition that gives rise to an amendment to the assessment roll existed during part of a taxation year, the Tax Administrator shall, in preparing an amended tax notice, adjust the amount of the taxes due on a pro rata basis.
- 30. Parts VIII, X, XI, XII and XIV apply with respect to an amended assessment roll and to an amended assessment notice.

31. Where Council approves an amendment to the assessment roll for the current year, the Tax Administrator shall forthwith refund any excess taxes that have been paid, together with interest at the rate of 2 percent per annum. Any unpaid balance shall, subject to notice of assessment and taxation, be due and payable, notwithstanding a receipt or certificate given by the Tax Administrator.

PART X

APPEALS

- **32.**(1) Chief and Council by band council resolution shall establish an Assessment Review Committee consisting of
 - (a) one person who is or was duly qualified to practice law in the Province of British Columbia, or who is or was a Judge of a Provincial, County or Supreme Court in the Province of British Columbia;
 - (b) one person who has sat as a member of an appeal board to review assessments in and for the Province of British Columbia;
 - (c) one person who is a member of the Yekooche Indian Band who does not have any direct or indirect financial interest in any real property assessment to which an appeal relates, as set out in section 37.
- (2) Chief and Council shall maintain a list of substitute members of the Assessment Review Committee. Where a member of the Assessment Review Committee is disqualified, unable or unwilling to act, Chief and Council shall appoint the first person on the list of substitute members of the Assessment Review Committee to act for the period for which the member of the Assessment Review Committee is unavailable. If for any reason the first person on the list of substitute members is disqualified, unable or unwilling to act, Chief and Council shall appoint the next person on the list until a substitute member of the Assessment Review Committee is able to act.
- (3) Each member of the Assessment Review Committee shall hold office for a period of three (3) years unless the member resigns or is otherwise removed from office in accordance with the terms of this By-law.
- (4) Each member of the Assessment Review Committee and each substitute member actually appointed to act, shall be paid for his or her services as a member of the Assessment Review Committee at a rate of \$150.00 dollars per day for time spent on activities related to the Assessment Review Committee.
- (5) A member of the Assessment Review Committee shall be removed from office if he or she
 - (a) is convicted of an offense under the *Criminal Code* (Canada);
 - (b) fails to attend three (3) consecutive appeal hearings; or

- (c) fails to perform any of his or her duties under this By-law in good faith and in accordance with the terms of this By-law.
- **33.**(1) A person whose name appears in the assessment roll may appeal to the Assessment Review Committee in respect of:
 - (a) the liability to assessment;
 - (b) the assessed value;
 - (c) the assessment classification; or
 - (d) any alleged error or omission.
- (2) An appellant shall file an appeal by delivering a Notice of Appeal containing the information set out in Schedule IV to the Assessment Review Committee at the address set out in the assessment notice by January 31 of the taxation year.
- (3) An appellant may make the appeal through his or her solicitor or agent, in which case the appeal shall set forth the name and address of the solicitor or agent, as well as the name and address of the appellant.
- (4) Any notice or correspondence required to be given to an appellant shall be properly given if delivered to the solicitor or agent at the address set out in the appeal.
- (5) Where an appeal is taken with respect to an amended assessment notice, the appeal shall be confined to the amendment.
 - **34.**(1) The Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) hear all appeals from assessment notices;
 - (b) investigate and advise Chief and Council on assessments, assessment classifications and assessment rolls which the Committee deems necessary;
 - (c) select a Chairperson who shall supervise and direct the work of the Committee:
 - (d) give the appellants, the assessor and the Tax Administrator at least thirty (30) days written notice of the time and place for the hearing of appeals;
 - (e) have custody of all records, documents, evidence and proceedings before the Assessment Review Committee;
 - (f) have control of its proceedings in order to fairly and adequately determine any appeal; and
 - (g) where an appeal relates to an interest in land of which a person other than the appellant is the holder, give that person at least ten (10) days written notice

of the time, date, and place of the hearing of the appeal, and the nature of the appeal.

- (2) In performing their duties under this By-law, the members of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) ensure that assessments and assessment rolls are equitable and fairly represent the assessed values provided for in this By-law;
 - (b) act impartially, fairly and reasonably, to the best of their skill and ability.
 - (3) The Chairperson of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) supervise and direct the work of the Committee; and
 - (b) preside at sittings of the Committee.
- (4) Chief and Council shall appoint a Secretary of the Assessment Review Committee.
 - (5) The Secretary of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) have the custody and care of all records, regulations, documents and orders made by or pertaining to the Committee; and
 - (b) relating to his or her office follow the direction of the Chairperson or the Committee.
- **35.**(1) The assessor, or his or her designate, shall be a party to all appeal proceedings under this By-law and the Assessment Review Committee shall give the assessor thirty (30) days written notice of any appeal and a reasonable opportunity to be heard at any appeal proceedings.
- (2) The Assessment Review Committee shall give the Band Council thirty (30) days, or less with the consent of the Band Council, written notice of, and an opportunity to be heard at any appeal proceedings which raise issues of law regarding anything done under this By-law.
- **36.**(1) A majority of the members of the Assessment Review Committee constitutes a quorum.
- (2) Where a quorum of the members of an Assessment Review Committee is not present at the time at which a hearing is to be held, the hearing shall be adjourned to the next day that is not a holiday, and so on from day to day until there is a quorum.
- (3) All questions respecting appeals shall be decided by a majority vote of the members of the Assessment Review Committee at the hearing.

- (4) Chief and Council by band council resolution may establish procedures for the conduct of the proceedings of the Assessment Review Committee which shall not be inconsistent with this By-law.
- 37. No person shall sit as a member of the Assessment Review Committee hearing an appeal if that person
 - (a) has a direct or indirect financial interest in any property assessment to which an appeal relates;
 - (b) is the Chief or a member of Council;
 - (c) is an employee of the Band or Council;
 - (d) has financial dealings with the Band or Council which might reasonably give rise to a conflict of interest and impair that person's ability to deal fairly and impartially with an appeal as required under the terms of this By-law.
- **38.**(1) Subject to subsection 41(2), the sittings of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) commence no later than ninety (90) days after the final date for submission of the Notice of Appeal referred to in section 33; and
 - (b) be completed within ninety (90) days of their commencement as set out in paragraph 1(a).
- (2) The assessor shall deliver the assessment roll to the Assessment Review Committee on or before the date upon which the Committee commences its sittings.
- (3) The Assessment Review Committee shall mail a Notice of Hearing to all parties to the appeal in the form provided in Schedule V.
- **39.**(1) The Assessment Review Committee may request the attendance of witnesses and the production and inspection of documents.
- (2) A party to any appeal proceedings before the Assessment Review Committee may request that a Notice be served by any member of the Committee, requesting the attendance of any person as a witness to give evidence at the hearing of the appeal.
- (3) Where pursuant to subsection (2) a party requests that a Notice be served by a member of the Committee
 - (a) the Chairperson of the Committee shall sign and issue the Notice and the party shall serve it on the witness at least two (2) days before the appeal;
 - (b) the Notice shall be in the form attached as Schedule VI.
- (4) The party requesting the attendance of a witness shall pay a two dollar (\$2) dollar witness fee plus reasonable travelling expenses to the witness to attend

and give evidence before the Assessment Review Committee, on the time and date set out in the Notice.

- **40.**(1) The Assessment Review Committee may hear all appeals from an assessment notice on the same day or may adjourn from time to time until all appeals have been heard and determined.
- (2) The Assessment Review Committee may hear an appeal whether the appellant is present or not.
- (3) The Assessment Review Committee may, after hearing an appeal, postpone consideration thereof and the appellant shall, if required by the Committee, produce all relevant books, papers, documents and answer all proper questions and give all necessary information affecting the interest in land or the matter under consideration.
- (4) The Assessment Review Committee may order that the costs of a proceeding before the Committee be paid by or apportioned between the persons affected by the appeal provided that such costs do not exceed ten percent (10%) of the amount of the taxes payable concerning the interest in land which is the subject of the appeal, as finally determined by the Assessment Review Committee.
- (5) In any appeal proceedings, the onus of proof is on the person bringing the appeal to establish that the assessed value of the interest in land should be different from the value determined by the assessor.
- **41.**(1) Within thirty (30) days from the completion of hearing all appeals, except those adjourned under subsection 41(2), the Assessment Review Committee shall submit to Council its decision on each appeal, including the vote of each member of the Committee, either in favour of, or against allowing the appeal.
- (2) Notwithstanding subsection 38(1), the Assessment Review Committee may, with the consent of all parties to an appeal and without prejudice to the rights of any party, adjourn the appeal from time to time beyond the time for completion of the appeals and shall advise Chief and Council as provided in this section.
- (3) Within fifteen (15) days from the receipt of the decision of the Assessment Review Committee, Chief and Council shall instruct the head assessor to prepare a final assessment roll including any amendments resulting from the decisions in subsection (1).
- (4) Not later than fourteen (14) days from the receipt of the instructions pursuant to subsection (3) the head assessor shall notify in writing each appellant and person affected by the appeal, of the decision of the Assessment Review Committee.
- (5) The notice given under subsection (4) shall state that the appellant has a further right of appeal to a court of competent jurisdiction.

- (6) Where the head assessor is directed to amend an assessment roll under subsection (3), the assessor shall do so within fourteen (14) days, and shall return the assessment roll forthwith to the Chairperson of the Assessment Review Committee.
- (7) The assessor shall date and initial amendments made to the assessment roll pursuant to subsection (3).
- (8) Forthwith upon receiving an amended assessment roll under subsection (6), the Chairperson of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) verify that the roll has been amended according to the decisions of the Assessment Review Committee under subsections (3) and (6);
 - (b) authenticate the assessment roll by affixing to it a sworn or affirmed statement in the form prescribed by Chief and Council; and
 - (c) forward the authenticated assessment roll to the Taxation Authority.

PART XI

TAX NOTICE

- 42.(1) Where Council adopts an assessment roll, and after notices of assessment are mailed pursuant to section 24, the Tax Administrator shall mail to every person whose name appears in the assessment roll, a tax notice in the form set out in Schedule VII, in respect of each interest in land for which that person is liable to taxation, and, in the case of an amended assessment roll that has been adopted, the Tax Administrator shall mail an amended tax notice to every person affected by the amendment.
- (2) The tax notice referred to in subsection (1) shall contain the information set out in Schedule VII which includes the particulars of any arrears and interest, where payment is to be made, and the manner of payment.
- **43.**(1) The Tax Administrator shall enter the date of mailing the tax notice on the assessment roll.
- (2) The mailing of the tax notice by the Tax Administrator constitutes a statement of and demand for payment of the taxes.
- **44.** Where applicable, a tax notice shall state that taxes are payable in conjunction with periodic lease payments under Part XIII.
- **45.**(1) Where it is shown that a person liable for taxes on and interest in land was not liable for taxes or was taxed in excess of the proper amount, at the direction of Council, the Tax Administrator shall refund to the person the amount paid in excess of liability.

(2) Where taxes imposed under this By-law are to be refunded under this section, Council may direct the Tax Administrator to refund the amount in whole or in part by applying it as a credit on account of the taxes due or accruing due.

PART XII

DUE DATE AND INTEREST

- **46.**(1) Subject to sections 47 and 48, taxes levied in a tax notice mailed under section 42 are due and payable as of July 2 of the year in which they are first levied at the office of the Taxation Authority notwithstanding that an appeal under Part X may be pending.
- (2) All taxes payable under this By-law are debts due to the Taxation Authority and are recoverable as such in any court of competent jurisdiction or in any other manner provided by this By-law.
- (3) Where any person alleges that he or she is not liable to pay taxes imposed pursuant to this By-law, the person shall either initiate proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction or launch an appeal within thirty (30) days of the date of mailing of the tax notice referred to in Part XI.
- (4) Unless a challenge is initiated pursuant to subsection (3), the taxpayer shall thereafter be estopped from denying liability to pay taxes and estopped from challenging any steps taken to enforce the payment of taxes as provided in Part XVI.
- (5) The locatee or any other person who has registered a security interest against the taxpayer's interest in land in the registers may pay the taxes due and such payment shall extinguish the debt owing to the Taxation Authority.
- **47.** Where taxes are due and payable in conjunction with payment of rent under Part XIII, the proportionate payment is due and payable on the date that the rent is due and payable.
- **48.** Where an assessment roll is amended under this By-law, it shall, for the purposes of this Part, be deemed to be amended as of the date of adoption of the assessment roll under section 23.
- **49.** If all or any portion of taxes remains unpaid on July 2 of the year they are first levied, the unpaid portion shall accrue interest at two percent (2%) above the Bank of Canada prime rate as it is on the first of each month and shall be compounded annually.
- **50.** Where taxes are in arrears and part payment is received, the payment shall be applied firstly to accrued interest and then arrears, and any balance shall be applied to current taxes.

PART XIII

PERIODIC PAYMENTS

- **51.** Council, with the consent of the locatee where applicable, may declare that the tax, with respect to any interest in land that is leased, be expressed as a percentage of the rent payment and collected with it in accordance with the terms of a lease agreement or the terms of an agreement with the landlord.
- **52.** Where Council has entered an agreement with the Crown or with any person entitled to receive rents, for the collection of tax under this Part, the receipt by the Crown or such person of payment on account of tax shall be a discharge of the liability for tax to the extent of the payment.

PART XIV

RECEIPTS AND CERTIFICATES

- **53.** Except where Part XIII applies, on receipt of a payment of taxes the Tax Administrator shall issue an official receipt to the taxpayer and shall enter the number of the receipt on the assessment roll opposite the interest in land for which the taxes are paid.
- **54.** On a request in writing, the Tax Administrator shall issue a certificate showing whether taxes have been paid with respect to any taxable interest in land, and if not, the amount of taxes outstanding.

PART XV

APPLICATION OF REVENUES

- **55.**(1) All moneys raised under this By-law shall be placed in a special account or accounts.
 - (2) Moneys raised shall include
 - (a) taxes;
 - (b) grants in lieu of taxes;
 - (c) interest; and
 - (d) amounts collected on account of costs.
- (3) Subject to section 56, an expenditure made out of moneys raised under this By-law shall be made under authority of a separate by-law.
- **56.** The following expenditures of funds raised under this By-law are hereby authorized:
 - (a) refunds of overpayment and interest;
 - (b) all expenses of preparation and administration of this By-law;

- (c) remuneration of the assessor and the Tax Administrator;
- (d) all legal costs and other expenses of enforcement of this By-law.

PART XVI

COLLECTION AND ENFORCEMENT

Proof of Debt

- **57.** The Taxation Authority may charge the person named in an assessment roll with all reasonable costs incurred in the collection of taxes or other costs imposed by this By-law. Such costs shall be in accordance with Schedule VIII to this By-law.
- **58.**(1) A person named in an assessment roll as having an interest in land is liable for all taxes imposed in respect of the interest in land during the year and all unpaid taxes imposed in previous years.
- (2) Tax, or a portion thereof, due and payable under this By-law that has not been paid may be certified by the Tax Administrator, who shall attach a copy of that part of the assessment roll that refers to the taxes payable. Such certification shall be in the form provided in Schedule IX, and is *prima facie* proof of the debt.

Special Lien and Priority of Claim

- **59.**(1) Taxes due and payable are a special lien and encumbrance on the interest in land.
- (2) The special lien and encumbrance referred to in subsection 59(1) attaches to the interest in land being taxed, and without limiting the foregoing, attaches to the interest in land of a subsequent holder.
- (3) The person who acquires an interest in land on which a lien under this By-law has been registered and the person to whom the taxes were originally levied are jointly and severally liable for the lien.
- (4) The Tax Administrator may register a certificate issued under subsection 58(2) in either register on or after January 2 following the year in which the taxes are imposed.
- (5) Pursuant to subsection 59(4), the special lien and encumbrance shall have priority over every subsequently registered claim, privilege, lien, charge, security interest, or encumbrance of every person.
- (6) When all taxes levied against the interest in land have been paid, the Tax Administrator shall certify that the special lien and encumbrance against the interest in land has been discharged, and shall register such certification in either register. Such certification shall be sufficient proof of the payment of the taxes and the discharge of the special lien or encumbrance.

(7) The special lien and encumbrance is not lost or impaired by reason of any technical error or omission.

Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings

- **60.**(1) Except for tax proceedings postponed pursuant to subsection 60.1(1), on or after January 2 following the year for which taxes are imposed, the Tax Administrator shall prepare a list of outstanding taxes and of the persons liable for payment.
- (2) Within thirty (30) days of completion of the list pursuant to subsection 60(1), the Tax Administrator shall mail, in the form set out in Schedule X, a Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings to every person named on the list, and to every locatee, tenant, agent or person whose rights, proprietary or otherwise, may be affected by the enforcement proceedings.
- (3) For the purposes of this section the mailing of a Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings is deemed to be delivery to the addressee.
- (4) Upon the expiration of the thirty (30) day period provided in the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings delivered pursuant to subsection 60(2), the Tax Administrator shall request authorization from Council to commence enforcement proceedings against the tax debtors. Council may direct the Tax Administrator to commence enforcement proceedings.
- (5) Prior to the authorization of any of the enforcement proceedings set out in sections 61, 63, 64, 65, and 66, Council shall consult with any affected locatee.
 - **60.1** Council may upon application by the tax debtor
 - (1) postpone taking enforcement proceedings for a specified period; or
 - (2) reduce or remit the taxes where Council determines that
 - (a) full payment would result in undue hardship to the tax debtor; or
 - (b) it is necessary and in the best interest of the Band to effect a transfer of the tax debtor's interest.
- **60.2** Council may, from time to time, provide by band council resolution for the reduction of taxes due by taxpayers for a taxation year by an amount equal to or less than the amount to which the taxpayers would be entitled in accordance with the home owner grant legislation that would apply if the taxpayer's interest in land was subject to taxation by a municipality.

Distress: Seizure of Goods

61.(1) With the authorization of Council, the Tax Administrator may proceed by way of distress if the taxes or any portion thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1) has expired.

- (2) The Tax Administrator shall serve a Notice of Distress on the tax debtor and provide a copy of same to the locatee, where applicable, in the form set out in Schedule XI.
- (3) If the taxes, or any portion thereof, remain outstanding following the time provided by the Notice of Distress, the Tax Administrator shall effect a seizure by distress of such goods and post a notice on the goods which are seized. The seized goods shall then be in the possession of the Band, as represented by the Tax Administrator.
- (4) So long as the taxes, or any portion thereof, remain outstanding, no goods seized pursuant to subsection (3) which are located on Reserve shall be removed therefrom, and any such removal shall be considered a trespass. Without restricting the generality of the foregoing, no such goods shall be seized by a bailiff, sheriff, assignee or liquidator or trustee, or authorized trustee in bankruptcy, except under the authority of Council.

Distress: Sale of Goods Seized by Distress

- **62.**(1) If the Tax Administrator seizes by distress the tax debtor's goods pursuant to subsection 61(3), and the tax debtor does not commence legal proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction within sixty (60) days after the date of seizure challenging such seizure, the goods may be sold in accordance with this Part and the tax debtor is estopped from denying the validity of the seizure and the sale of such goods.
- (2) If the outstanding taxes have not been paid in full sixty (60) days after a seizure by distress pursuant to subsection 61(3), the goods seized will be deemed to have been abandoned by the tax debtor and may be sold by public auction, the proceeds of which will be used for payment of the outstanding taxes.
- (3) A Notice of Sale of Goods Seized by Distress in the form of Schedule XII shall be published in at least one (1) newspaper of general local circulation for seven (7) days prior to the sale, and shall be posted on the tax debtor's premises located on Reserve.
- (4) The sale of the goods seized by distress shall be conducted at the time and place advertised pursuant to subsection (3), unless it is necessary to adjourn such sale, in which case an additional notice shall be published in the manner provided by subsection (3).
- (5) Any surplus resulting from the sale conducted pursuant to subsection (4), after deducting all liabilities of the tax debtor, including all costs and charges arising from the sale, shall be paid to the tax debtor. In the event that the Tax Administrator

is uncertain who is entitled to such surplus, the Tax Administrator shall pay such money into court by way of interpleader action.

(6) Goods of a tax debtor that would be exempt from seizure under a writ of execution issued by a superior court of the province in which the seizure is made are exempt from seizure under this section.

Sale of Improvements or Proprietary Interest

- **63.**(1) If the taxes or any part thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1) has expired, Council may authorize the Tax Administrator to proceed by way of sale of improvements or proprietary interest. The Tax Administrator shall serve the tax debtor and, where applicable, the locatee, a Notice of Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest in Land in the form of Schedule XIII.
- (2) On June 30 following the year in which the taxes are imposed or, if enforcement proceedings are postponed under subsection 60.1(1), six (6) months from the end of the period specified by Council, and upon the failure of the tax debtor to pay the outstanding taxes or to commence legal proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction challenging the sale or disposition, the Tax Administrator shall sell the improvements or dispose of the interest of the tax debtor in the Reserve by public auction, or pursuant to subsection (3) by public tender.
- (3) Council shall prescribe the method of public tender, including the conditions of sale, method of publication or circulation, and conditions attached to the acceptance of any offer.
- (4) A Notice of Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest in Land in the form of Schedule XIII to this By-law shall be published in at least one (1) newspaper of general local circulation for seven (7) days prior to the sale, and shall be posted on the tax debtor's premises located on Reserve.
- (5) The sale of the improvements and disposition of interest in land shall be conducted at the time and place advertised pursuant to subsection (3), unless it is necessary to adjourn such disposition. If an adjournment is necessary an additional notice shall be published in the manner provided by subsection (3).
- (6) With prior approval of Council, the Tax Administrator may at any sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsection (2) or (4), set an upset price equal to the outstanding taxes and that upset price shall be the lowest price for which the improvements may be sold and the interest in land disposed.
- (7) Where the Tax Administrator sets an upset price pursuant to subsection (6), and there is no bid at the sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsection (2) or (4) that is equal to or greater than the upset price, the Taxation Authority

shall be deemed to be the purchaser and shall acquire the interest in the land free and clear of all encumbrances or charges.

- (8) At any time within six (6) months after the sale and disposition held pursuant to subsection (2) or (4), the tax debtor may redeem his or her interest in land by paying to the Tax Administrator the full amount of all taxes for which the interests were disposed, together with all taxes which have subsequently fallen due and the reasonable costs incurred by the Taxation Authority in disposing of the interest.
- (9) If upon the expiration of the redemption period provided by subsection (8), any portion of the taxes remains outstanding, the disposition of the interest shall be considered final and with Ministerial consent, the purchaser shall obtain title to the interest in land. The Tax Administrator shall certify the transfer in the form provided in Schedule XIV and shall register it in one or both registries and shall serve it on the tax debtor.
- (10) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (9), the purchaser shall be substituted for the tax debtor as the holder of the interest in land, and in addition to any other obligations, shall be liable for all future taxes assessed against that interest.
- (11) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (9), any surplus resulting from the sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsection (2) or (4), after deducting all outstanding taxes of the tax debtor, including reasonable costs and charges arising from the sale and disposition, shall be returned to the tax debtor. In the event that the Tax Administrator is uncertain who is entitled to such surplus the Tax Administrator shall pay such money into court by way of interpleader action.
- (12) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (9), any remaining debt of the tax debtor with respect to that interest in land, including all reasonable costs and charges arising from the sale and disposition, shall be extinguished.
- (13) If pursuant to subsections (7) and (9), the Band has become the owner of the interest in land, the Tax Administrator may sell such within ninety (90) days for not less than the upset price set pursuant to subsection (6).

Cancellation of Interest in Land Held by Taxpayer

64.(1) If the taxes or any part thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1) has expired, Council may authorize the Tax Administrator to proceed by way of cancellation of the interest. The Tax Administrator shall serve a Notice of Cancellation of the tax debtor's interest in land in the form of Schedule XV.

- (2) The Tax Administrator shall mail a copy of the notice referred to in subsection (1) to every place where the interest is registered and to the locatee, where applicable.
- (3) Where taxes are not paid before June 30 of the year following the taxation year in which they were imposed or within six (6) months after the specified period if enforcement proceedings are postponed under subsection 60.1(1), Council may direct the Tax Administrator to cancel the lease, licence or permit to occupy the interest in land. The Tax Administrator shall certify the cancellation in the form provided in Schedule XVI to this By-law and shall register it in the registers.
- (4) Upon cancellation of the tax debtor's interest and with the consent of the Minister, the Taxation Authority shall acquire the interest in the land free and clear of all encumbrances or charges.

Forfeiture of Property

- **65.**(1) Notwithstanding any other action for the recovery of taxes set out in this By-law, if any taxes remain unpaid twenty-four (24) months after the mailing of the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60, the tax debtor's interest in land in respect of which the taxes remain unpaid shall, subject to subsections (2), (3), (4) and (5), be absolutely forfeited.
- (2) The tax debtor's interest in land shall be forfeited under subsection (1) forty (40) days after the Tax Administrator serves a Notice of Forfeiture pursuant to subsection (4) in the form set out in Schedule XVII on the tax debtor and on anyone else who may be in lawful possession of the interest in land.
- (3) Prior to serving the Notice of Forfeiture pursuant to subsection (4), the Tax Administrator shall obtain authorization from Council to proceed by forfeiture.
 - (4) The Notice of Forfeiture shall state
 - (a) that the interest in land held by the tax debtor is subject to forfeiture under this section:
 - (b) the amount of all taxes, costs and fees due and payable on the date of the notice:
 - (c) the date on which the interest in land held by the tax debtor will forfeit;
 - (d) that the tax debtor has the right to prevent forfeiture by payment under this section: and
 - (e) that on forfeiture under this section, the interest held by the tax debtor in the Reserve will be forfeited clear of all charges except those third party interests which otherwise attach to the interest in land.

- (5) The Notice of Forfeiture shall be mailed or delivered to the tax debtor's last known address or to the address of the person specified in the records of the Taxation Authority.
- (6) Where any taxes remain unpaid on December 31 of the second year after the calendar year in which they were imposed, payment of those taxes does not prevent forfeiture unless the payment
 - (a) includes all taxes then due and payable;
 - (b) includes the reasonable costs incurred by the Taxation Authority in the forfeiture proceedings; and
 - (c) is made before forfeiture occurs under this section.
- (7) With the consent of the Minister, the Tax Administrator shall certify, in the form set out in Schedule XVIII to this By-law, that the interest in land held by the tax debtor has been forfeited and the Registrar shall record the document cancelling the tax debtor's interest in the registers.
- (8) Upon forfeiture of the tax debtor's interest in land the Taxation Authority shall acquire the interest in the land free and clear of all encumbrances or charges.

Absconding Taxpayer

66. Where the Tax Administrator has reasonable grounds to believe that the taxpayer intends to remove his or her goods from the Reserve, or intends to dismantle or remove his or her improvements on Reserve, or take any other actions which may preclude or impede the collection of outstanding taxes owing pursuant to this By-law, the Tax Administrator shall apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for remedy, notwithstanding the fact that the time for payment of taxes has not yet expired.

Discontinuance of Services

67. If the taxes or any part thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1), Council may authorize that any services provided by the Band or pursuant to any contract with the Band, to the tax debtor or to the interest in land assessed pursuant to this By-law be discontinued. A Notice of Discontinuance of Services in the form of Schedule XIX shall be delivered to the tax debtor and to the locatee, where appropriate, thirty (30) days prior to such discontinuance, and shall include the date, time and place within that thirty (30) days when the tax debtor or the locatee may appear before Council to show cause as to why the services should not be discontinued and Council shall determine whether or not it will discontinue such services.

PART XVII

SERVICE AND LOCAL IMPROVEMENT CHARGES

- **68.**(1) Council may by by-law impose service and local improvement charges applicable to a part of the Reserve (hereinafter in this part called the "area") to raise money for the following purposes:
 - (a) the construction or installation of a highway, lane, sidewalk, boulevard, sanitary or storm sewer, irrigation work, street lights, water supply system, parking facility, gas supply system, drain, or other works that benefit property in the area:
 - (b) the maintenance, operation, repair or construction of works;
 - (c) the cutting of grass or weeds or the trimming of trees or shrubbery on any highway, lane or other public place;
 - (d) the suppression of dust on any highway, lane, or other public place;
 - (e) the collection and disposal of garbage;
 - (f) the collection and disposal of night soil or the contents of sewage holding tanks; and
 - (g) notwithstanding paragraphs 1(a) to (f) inclusive, such other projects for the maintenance, improvement or repair of properties within the area as Council may determine to be necessary or beneficial.
- (2) In this Part, "charge" means a local improvement charge and a service charge.
- (3) A charge shall be based on the actual or estimated annual cost of the local improvement or service and shall be levied at
 - (a) a uniform rate; or
 - (b) rates for each class of property based on
 - (i) the number of lineal feet along the fronting or abutting lands,
 - the area determined by the fronting or abutting lands,
 - (iii) the number of dwelling units or commercial or industrial occupancies on the lands served, or
 - (iv) the estimated or actual use or consumption of the service by occupants of the lands served.
- (4) The costs levied shall include engineering and advertising expenses, interest and carrying costs, sinking fund or amortization costs, banking and legal

fees, administration costs and any other expenses incidental to initiating and carrying out the work.

- **69.**(1) Before imposing a charge, Council shall give at least fifteen (15) days notice by
 - (a) publishing the notice prior to the meeting referred to in section 70 in a newspaper of general circulation on the Reserve, if any;
 - (b) posting the notice in the Band administration offices and in prominent locations on the Reserve; and
 - (c) sending the notice by registered mail, in the form set out in Schedule XX, to affected holders or occupiers who are not resident on the Reserve and providing the locatee with a copy of the notice.
- (2) It shall be sufficient notice under paragraph (1)(c) if the address in the current assessment roll is used.
 - (3) The notice shall state
 - (a) the intention of Council to have the work performed and to levy the charge;
 - (b) the area in respect of which the charge is to be levied;
 - (c) the rate at which the charge will be levied; and
 - (d) that Council shall hold a public meeting to consider written and oral representations.
- **70.**(1) On the date and at the time and place set out in the notice referred to in section 69, Council shall sit and receive and hear representations.
- (2) Council shall not proceed with the charge until after it holds public meetings to consider representations.
- (3) Where Council imposes a charge, it need not give notice in each succeeding year, unless it proposes to amend the by-law that imposes the charge.
- (4) A uniform increase, not exceeding ten percent (10%), in the rate of a charge because of an increase in actual or estimated cost shall be deemed not to be an amendment to the by-law that imposes the charge.
- **71.**(1) The Tax Administrator shall keep separate accounts for money raised by each charge under this Part.
- (2) Council shall expend the money raised under this Part, and any interest that has accrued on that money, for the purpose and within the area stated in the implementing by-law.

- **72.**(1) Charges under this Part shall be administered and enforced under this By-law in the same manner as taxes.
 - (2) For greater certainty charges are a special lien under Part XVI.
- (3) The roll for a charge may be part of or a supplement to the assessment roll.

PART XVIII

GENERAL AND MISCELLANEOUS

- 73.(1) Nothing under this By-law shall be rendered void or invalid, nor shall the liability of any person to pay tax or any other amount under this By-law be affected by
 - (a) an error or omission in a valuation or a valuation based solely on information in the hands of an assessor or the Tax Administrator;
 - (b) an error or omission in an assessment roll, tax notice, or any notice hereunder; or
 - (c) a failure of the Taxation Authority to do something within the required time.
- 74. A finding by a court that a provision of this By-law is void or invalid shall not affect the validity or invalidity of the rest of the By-law.
- 75. Where a provision in this By-law is expressed in the present tense, the provision applies to the circumstances as they arise.
- **76.** No action or proceeding for the return of money paid to the Band, whether under protest or otherwise, on account of a demand, whether valid or invalid, made for tax or any amount under this By-law shall be commenced after the expiration of six (6) months from the making of the payment but the payment shall be deemed to have been voluntarily made.
- 77. Chief and Council may, by band council resolution, extend for a maximum of thirty (30) days the time in which anything is required to be done under this By-law and anything done within this period of time is as valid as if it had been done within the time otherwise provided for by this By-law.
- **78.** Where personal service is not required, any notice delivered by the Tax Administrator or person acting under his direction to a post office or a person authorized by the Canada Post Corporation to receive mail is deemed to have been delivered to the addressee.
- 79. This By-law shall be construed as being remedial and shall be given such fair, large and liberal construction and interpretation as best ensures the attainment of its objects.

- **80.** Headings form no part of the enactment, but shall be construed as being inserted for convenience of reference only.
 - **81.** This By-law shall come into force and effect on approval by the Minister.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on the [28th] day of November, 2002.

	[Allen Joseph]	
	Chief Allen Joseph	
[Curtis Joseph]		[Linda Basil]
Councillor Curtis Joseph		Councillor Linda Basil
[Andrew Joseph]		
Councillor Andrew Joseph		

SCHEDULE I

(section 13)

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION

TO:	
ADDRESS:	
RE:	(description of interest in land)
and Taxation By resolution made	o section 13 of the <i>Yekooche First Nation Property Assessment</i> y-law, and pursuant to the authority vested in me by band council the day of, 20, I hereby request to me, in writing, information concerning the following matters:
1.	
2.	
3.	
Please be advis	sed that if you do not provide me with accurate information as

requested, it will be necessary for me to carry out my assessment on the basis of whatever information I may have in my possession.

Yours truly,

Assessor

SCHEDULE II

(section 17)

CLASSES OF PROPERTY

Class 1 - Residential

- 1. Class 1 property shall include only
- (a) land or improvements, or both, used for residential purposes, including single family residences, duplexes, multi-family residences, apartments, condominiums, manufactured homes, nursing homes, rest homes, summer and seasonal dwellings, bunkhouses, cookhouses and ancillary improvements compatible with and used in conjunction with any of the above, but not including
 - (i) hotels or motels other than the portion of the hotel or motel building occupied by the owner or manager as his or her residence; and
 - (ii) land or improvements, or both, that are owned by the Crown in Right of Canada or the Province, or by an agent of either, and are used for the purposes of
 - (a) a penitentiary or correctional centre;
 - (b) a provincial mental health facility;
 - (c) a hospital for the care of the mentally or physically handicapped;
- (b) improvements on land classified as a farm and used in connection with the farm operation, including the farm residence and outbuilding;
- (c) land having no present use and which is neither specifically zoned nor held for business, commercial, forestry or industrial purposes.

Class 2 - Utilities

- 2. Class 2 property shall include only land or improvements, or both, used or held for the purposes of, or for purposes ancillary to, the business of
 - (a) transportation by railway;
 - (b) transportation, transmission or distribution by pipeline;
 - (c) communication by telegraph or telephone, including transmission of messages by means of electric currents or signals for compensation;
 - (d) generation, transmission and distribution of electricity; or
- (e) receiving, transmission and distribution of closed circuit television; but does not include that part of land or improvements, or both

- (f) included in Classes 1, 4 or 8;
- (g) used as an office, retail sales outlet, administration building or purpose ancillary thereto; or
- (h) used for a purpose other than a purpose defined in paragraphs (a) to (e) of this class.

Class 3 - Unmanaged forest land

3. Class 3 property shall include only land meeting the definition of forest land which is not classified as managed forest land.

Class 4 - Major industry

- 4. Class 4 property shall include only
- (a) land used in conjunction with the operation of industrial improvements; and
- (b) industrial improvements.

Class 5 - Light industry

- 5. Class 5 property shall include only land or improvements, or both, used or held for the purpose of extracting, processing, manufacturing or transporting of products, and for the storage of these products as an ancillary to or in conjunction with such extraction, processing, manufacture or transportation, but does not include those lands or improvements, or both
 - (a) included in Class 2 or 4;
 - (b) used principally as an outlet for the sale of a finished product to a purchaser for purposes of his own consumption or use and not for resale in either the form in which it was purchased or any other form; and
 - (c) used for processing, manufacturing or storage of food or non-alcoholic beverages.

Class 6 - Business and other

6. Class 6 property shall include all land and improvements not included in Classes 1 to 5 and 7 to 9.

Class 7 - Managed forest land

7. Class 7 property shall include only land meeting the definition of forest land which is classified as managed forest land.

Class 8 - Recreational property/non-profit organization

8.(1) Class 8 property shall include only

- (a) land, but not improvements on that land, used solely as an outdoor recreational facility for the following activities or uses:
 - (i) golf;
 - (ii) skiing;
 - (iii) tennis;
 - ball games of any kind; (iv)
 - (v) lawn bowling;
 - (vi) public swimming;
 - motorcar racing; (vii)
 - (viii) trap shooting;
 - (ix) archery;
 - (x) ice skating;
 - water slides: (xi)
 - (xii) museums:
 - (xiii) amusement parks;
 - (xiv) horse racing;
 - (xv) rifle shooting;
 - (xvi) pistol shooting;
 - (xvii) horseback riding;
 - (xviii) roller skating;
 - marinas: (xix)
 - parks and gardens open to the public; (xx)
- (b) that part of any land and improvements used or set aside for use as a place of public worship or as a meeting hall for a non-profit fraternal organization of persons of either or both sexes, together with the facilities necessarily incidental to that use, for at least one hundred and fifty (150) days in the year ending on June 30, of the calendar year preceding the calendar year for which the assessment roll is being prepared, not counting any day in which the land and improvements so used or set aside are also used for
 - any purpose by an organization that is neither a religious organization nor a non-profit fraternal organization;
 - (ii) entertainment where there is an admission charge; or
 - (iii) the sale or consumption, or both, of alcoholic beverages.

SCHEDULE III

(section 24, Part IX)

NOTICE OF ASSESSMENT

TO:				
ADDRESS:	(description of	interest in land)	
TAKE NOTICE that dated the above-noted interest levied pursuant to the and Taxation By-lateral parts and Dy-lateral parts and Dy-lateral parts and Dy-	day of est in land the foll he	, 20 owing person	and that on(s) is/are liab	at in respect of the le to pay any taxes
Name(s): Address(es):				
The assessed value The assessed value The assessed value The assessed value TOTAL ASSESSE TOTAL NET TAX AND TAKE NOTI of this assessment reliability to assessment or omission. The N	e of thee of exempt land: of exempt impro D VALUE: ABLE VALUE: CE that you may, notice, appeal to the	(classification (classification (classification vements: within third e Assessme e, assessme	ey (30) days of ant Review Comnt classification	the date of mailing mittee in respect of or an alleged error
or his or her agent, appellant may be s Review Committee	and must set out sent. The Notice	a mailing a	ddress to which	h all notices to the
DATED AT	th	is	day of	, 20
			Tax Administr	 rator

SCHEDULE IV

(section 33)

APPEAL TO ASSESSMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE

PURSUANT to the provisions of the *Yekooche First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law*, I hereby appeal the assessment of the following interest in land:

(description of the business and location)

on the following grounds:

1.
2.
3.
4.

DATED AT ______ this _____ day of ______, 20____.

Printed name of Appellant Appellant's signature

Address to which all notices to appellant are to be sent

To: Assessment Review Committee

c/o ______ (office of the assessor)

SCHEDULE V

(subsection 38(3))

NOTICE OF HEARING

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:	(description of	interest in land)	
assessment requeste 20 relating to the da	t the Assessment Reviewed in Schedule IV dated the above-noted interestry of, CE that you should bring ppeal.	the datin land at 20	ny of, , (a.m./p.m.) on
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	Chairpers Assessme	son ent Review Commit	tee

SCHEDULE VI

(section 39)

REQUEST FOR ATTENDANCE

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
WHEREAS an appeal ha	(description of i	nterest in land), and	
THIS IS TO REQUEST you	(location) on t	he day	of
20 at assessment, bringing with y to the said assessment.			
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	 Chairpe	erson	
	-	nent Review Comm	ittee

SCHEDULE VII

(section 42)

TAX NOTICE

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:	(descripti	on of interest in land)	
PURSUANT to the provisi and Taxation By-law, taxe levied with respect to the ab are due and payable forthw	s in the amount ove-noted interes	of et in land, and take not	are hereby ice that said taxes
The name(s) and address(follows:	es) of the person	n(s) liable to pay the	taxes is(are) as
Assessed value	\$		
Taxes (current year)	\$		
Arrears	\$		
Interest	\$		
Total Payable	\$		
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	Tay	Administrator	

SCHEDULE VIII

(section 57)

COSTS PAYABLE BY A TAXPAYER ARISING FROM ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS

1. For preparation of and serving any and all notices required by Part XVI on the Taxpayer, Tax Debtor or any other person, newspaper or on any property, etc.:	\$35.00 per notice
2. For attending, investigating, taking inventory, cataloguing, or seizing property, and preparing and conducting a Sale by Distress, for each person involved:	\$40.00 per hour
3. For drafting, filing and executing a lien or encumbrance:	\$150.00
4. For sale of improvements or disposition of interests in Reserve land, including attending, investigating, taking inventory, cataloguing, preparing and executing a Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest on Reserve, for each person involved:	\$40.00 per hour
# FD 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	

5. For issuing and registering any and all certificates required by Part XVI:

\$10.00 per certificate

6. For disbursements, including without limiting, photocopying (\$.30 per page), advertising, storage fees, etc.

as and when arising

SCHEDULE IX

(subsection 58(2))

CERTIFICATION OF DEBT OWING BY THE TAXPAYER

PURSUANT to the Yekooche	First Nation	Property Assessmen	t and Taxation
By-law, I,		, Tax Administrator o	of the Yekooche
Indian Band, certify that \$			
which is due and owing by	(Taxpayer) with respec		
to	(description of interest in land).		
Attached hereto is a copy of the Indian Band that refers to the by(description of interest in land).	e property (Taxpayer) w	taxes which are du	e and payable
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		Tax Administrator	

SCHEDULE X

(section 60)

DEMAND FOR PAYMENT AND NOTICE OF ENFORCEMENT **PROCEEDINGS**

TO:			
ADDRESS:	(description	of interest in land)	
served on you with	of June 30, 20, of respect to the above(Taxation Authority) FL of the following debt w	prescribed by the noted property ha	s now expired. OS IMMEDIATE
Taxes: Interest: Other costs: Total outstanding tax	\$ \$ \$ \$ debt: \$		
within thirty (30) da being taken by the T	AT the failure to pay in anys from the date of this datation Authority for the sts may accrue to this deb	Demand may resu	ılt in procedures
detailed procedures a is due and owing. The property, including prongoing services be which may be used by	Nation Property Assessa illowing for the enforcement hese enforcement and con- personal property located sing provided to your pro- y the Tax Administrator are at and Taxation By-law, a pon request.	ent and collection of llection procedures on this property an perty. The remedies e set out in the <i>Yekoo</i>	f a tax debt which may affect your ad may affect the s and procedures oche First Nation
	or the Band is to list all of outstanding tax debts.)	the steps which the	by-law provides
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		Tay Administrator	

SCHEDULE XI

(sections 61 and 62)

NOTICE OF DISTRESS

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:	(description of inte	erest in land)	
\$v of seven (7) day pursuant to subs	E THAT failure to pay the respect to the above after the date of the section 61(3) of the You, seizing by distress	ove-noted prop is Notice will in the ekooche First N	erty on or before result in the Tax A lation Property As	the expiration Administrator, ssessment and
(a gen	eral description of th	e property whi	ich has been asse	ssed)
upon the expira Notice being po will result in th the Tax Admin	ER TAKE NOTICE To tion of the seven (7) o sted at the locations e seizure of such pro istrator, at your cost, ng, until the tax debt	days set out abo on Reserve where perty, which we such cost being	ove, will result in here the property will be held in the	a copy of this is located and possession of
the must commence such seizure wi	ER TAKE NOTICEFirst Nation Is the legal proceedings in thin sixty (60) days denying the validity o	Property Assess a a court of com from the date	sment and Taxation retent jurisdiction of such seizure, of	<i>n By-law</i> , you n to challenge or you will be
after the proper or to commenc abandoned the property will b Seized by Distr be published fo	ER TAKE NOTICE That has been seized a secourt proceedings approperty seized and se sold by public aucress will be posted or at least seven (7) date waspapers of general	nd the failure to as set out above the Tax Adminition. A copy on your property in the	to pay the outstander, you will be destistrator may authout the Notice of Sty located on Resource.	ding tax debtemed to have corize that the sale of Goods erve, and will newspaper.
DATED AT	th	nis	_ day of	, 20
		- r	Tax Administrato	

750

SCHEDULE XII

(section 62)

NOTICE OF SALE OF GOODS SEIZED BY DISTRESS

TAKE N	NOTICE THAT a sa	le by public aucti	on for outstanding t	axes owed to the
	(Tax	(Authority) will o	occur on	, 20
			tion) on the	
Reserve				
61 and 6	2 of the Yekooche F	First Nation Prope	seized by distress pur erty Assessment and ' g used to pay the outs	Taxation By-law,
	(ge	neral description	of the goods)	
DATED	AT	this	day of	, 20
		T:	ax Administrator	_

SCHEDULE XIII

(subsections 63(1) and 63(4))

NOTICE OF SALE OF IMPROVEMENTS AND DISPOSITION OF INTEREST IN LAND

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:	(description o	of improvements)	
	(description o	of interest in land)	
noted property, after the date of Indian Band ho located on the tender) of the al Disposition of I	ETHAT failure to pay all outstand being \$, on or before this Notice will result in the Tolding a sale by public auction above-noted property and a pove-noted interest on the Resenterest in the newspaper for seven (7) daysted on the above-noted property.	ore the expiration to Fax Administrator for (or tender) of the disposition by public. The Sale of Impage Reserve shall be page prior to such sale as	sixty (60) days or the Yekooche improvements lic auction (or provements and published in the and disposition
the above-noted interest in land for which the ir taxes which hav the above months any am- and disposition	OTICE THAT on or before the d sale and disposition, you may by paying to the Tax Administration of the subsequently fallen due, includented sale and disposition. If yount of the taxes remain outstart of the interest will be declared in the improvements sold and y	y redeem your important the full amount interest disposed, to ding without restrict upon the expiration ading, the sale of the final, and the purcha	ont of all taxes ogether with all ting, the cost of of those six (6) improvements
you will be requ	OTICE THAT upon the sale and are directly vacate the in the improvements and to the rehaser.	property, and any rig	ghts or interests
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		Tax Administrato	

SCHEDULE XIV

(section 63)

CERTIFICATION OF SALE AND DISPOSITION OF INTEREST ON RESERVE

RE:			
	(description	of interest in land)	
	(description	of improvements)	
	, Tax Adn		
	hat resulting from the fa		
•	bt on the above-noted in the abo		
have been sold by p	ublic auction (or tend	er) pursuant to se	ction 63 of the
	First Nation Property A	ssessment and Taxa	tion By-law. The
	, pursuant to subsection the holder of the above-		
(1	name and address of pur	rchaser at sale)	
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		Tax Administrator	

SCHEDULE XV

(subsection 64(1))

NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OF INTEREST IN LAND

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:		(description of	interest in land)	
with respect to (6) months from the Reserve. Th	E THAT failure to perfect the subove-noted into the date of this Note failure to pay such	terest in land wi otice, in the cand ch taxes is a bre	ll result, upon the cellation of such in each of the	expiration of six nterest in land or
Upon the cance the interest in	or permit) which cellation of such interest land on Reserve,	erest you will b and any rights	e required to imn or interests which	nediately vacate ch you acquired
DATED AT		_ this	day of	, 20
		Tax .	Administrator	_

SCHEDULE XVI

(Section 64)

CERTIFICATION OF CANCELLATION OF INTEREST IN LAND

RE:					
	(description of interest in land)				
	that the above-mentioned interest in land on the				
to subsection 64(3) of the _and Taxation By-law as a rethe outstanding tax debt.		First Nation Prop	perty Assessment		
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20		
	Ta	x Administrator	_		

SCHEDULE XVII

(subsection 65(2))

NOTICE OF FORFEITURE

TO:	
ADDRESS:	
RE:	(description of interest in land)
Assessment and have been outs	E THAT taxes imposed by the <i>Yekooche First Nation Property Taxation By-law</i> for the above-noted interest in the years tanding for two (2) years and pursuant to section , the terest on the Reserve is now subject to forfeiture.
The amount of follows:	all taxes which are due and payable to the date of this Notice is as
(itemized	statement of all taxes including interest, penalties, costs, etc.)
are paid in full of you hold in this the Band clear	R TAKE NOTICE THAT unless the above-noted outstanding taxes on or before the fortieth day after the date of this Notice, the interest is property will be absolutely and unconditionally forfeited to the Band. Upon such forfeiture, your interest in land will vest in of all charges except those rights of way, easements or other such rests which attach to that Reserve land.
December 1 of	ER TAKE NOTICE THAT where any taxes remain unpaid on the second year after the calendar year in which they were imposed, those taxes does not prevent forfeiture unless the payment
(i) includ	es all taxes then due and payable; and
(ii) is mad	le before forfeiture.
DATED AT	this day of , 20
	Tax Administrator

SCHEDULE XVIII

(subsection 65(7))

CERTIFICATION OF FORFEITURE

RE:			
	(description	of interest in land)	
I,	, Tax Administ	rator for the Yeko	oche Indian Band,
hereby certify that resulting	from the failure of		(Tax Debtor)
to pay the outstanding tax	debt owing on the	above-mentioned	l interest in land in
the	Reserve, su	ch interest has be	en forfeited to the
Yekooche Indian Band pur	suant to sections _	and	of the Yekooche
First Nation Property Asse	ssment and Taxati	on By-law.	
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	- - -	Tax Administrator	

SCHEDULE XIX

(section 67)

NOTICE OF DISCONTINUANCE OF SERVICES

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:		(description o	of interest in land)	
outstanding for before thirty (3 Council and sh	months, a () months, a (60) days after the c	and that unles late of this No	e-noted interest have s payment in full is otice, or you have a following services	s received on or appeared before
	(list serv	ices to be disc	continued)	
Council schedu 30 days set out	ıled for above) at	_ , 20	may attend a meets at o'clo (location), (with ervices should not be	ock, (within the thin the 30 days
DATED AT		_ this	day of	, 20
			Tax Administrator	

SCHEDULE XX

(paragraph 69(1)(c))

NOTICE OF HEARING

TO:				
ADDRESS:	(specify proposed	l service or lo	cal improvement of	charge)
TAKENOTICETHAT	ΓCouncil shall hold:	a public mee	eting at	
(location) on the	day of	, 20	, at	o'clock,
proposed service/loca AND TAKE NOTION submissions which w	CE THAT you ma	ay also su		cil any written
DATED AT	this		day of	, 20
		Chief	and Council	
			oche First Natio	on

OPASKWAYAK CREE NATION OCN ANNUAL TAX RATE BY-LAW NO. 1, 2003

[Effective May 13, 2003]

WHEREAS pursuant to section 3.1 of the *OCN Land Tax By-law 1996* Chief and Council may in each year pass a by-law levying a land tax rate, and may prescribe a different rate for each class of property described in the *Land Tax By-law*;

NOW BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the following by-law be and is hereby enacted pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular subsections 83(1) and (2) thereof.

1. For the purposes of subsections 3.1(1) and (3) of the *OCN Land Tax By-law 1996* there are hereby levied for the taxation year 2003 the following tax rates for each class of property:

Residential 1 (10)	24.9 mills on 45% of assessment value
Residential 2 (20)	24.9 mills on 45% of assessment value
Farm Property (30)	24.9 mills on 33% of assessment value
Pipeline Property (51)	24.9 mills on 50% of assessment value
Railway Property (52)	24.9 mills on 25% of assessment value
Other Property (60)	24.9 mills on 65% of assessment value
Golf Course Property (70)	24.9 mills on 8.7% of assessment value

2. For the purpose of various provisions of the *OCN Land Tax By-law 1996* the following fees and charges are established:

Copy of the assessment roll	\$50.00
Copy of a portion of the assessment roll (per page)	\$0.25/page
Filing an appeal with the Assessment Appeal Board	\$20.00
Tax Certificate	\$20.00

- **3.** For the purposes of Section 10.4(3) of the *OCN Land Tax By-law 1996*, the penalty rate in respect of unpaid taxes is 1.25% per month.
- **4.** This By-law may be cited for all purposes as the *OCN Annual Tax Rate By-law No. 1, 2003*.
- **5.** This by-law shall come into force and effect immediately upon approval by the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development.

APPROVED AND PASSED at a duly convened meeting of the Chief and Council of the Opaskwayak Cree Nation at the Opaskwayak Cree Nation Reserve No. 21E in Manitoba this _[24th]_ day of [March] , 2003.

A quorum of council consists of 5 OCN councillors.

	[Frank Whitehead]
	Chief	
[Stanley Head]		[Norman Glen Ross]
Councillor		Councillor
[Stephen Head]		[Irene Cook]
Councillor		Councillor
[Danny Young]		[Silas Lathlin]
Councillor		Councillor
[William J. Lathlin]		
Councillor		

MILLBROOK FIRST NATION 2003 RATES BY-LAW

[Effective April 9, 2003]

Councillor Clara Gloade

WHEREAS pursuant to subsection 83(1) of the *Indian Act* the Council of a band may make by-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, interests in land, including rights to occupy, possess or use land in a reserve and with respect to any matters arising out of or ancillary to such purpose;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Millbrook First Nation, enacted the *Land Tax By-law* on June 3, 1996;

NOW BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the following by-law is hereby enacted pursuant to the provisions of the *Indian Act* and in particular section 83(1) for the purpose of establishing annual rates of taxation.

- **1.** This by-law may be cited for all purposes as the *Millbrook First Nation* 2003 Rates By-law.
- **2.** Pursuant to Section 11 of the *Land Tax By-law*, the rates for each class of property shall be in accordance with Schedule "A" which is attached, and forms part of the *2003 Rates By-law*.

APPROVED AND PASSED at a duly convened meeting of the Millbrook First Nation held at the Millbrook Band Administration Office, 835 Willow Street, Truro, Nova Scotia, this [3rd] day of [March], 2003.

A quorum of Council consists of 7. Moved by: [Lloyd Johnson] Seconded by: [Alex Cope] [Lawrence Paul] Chief Lawrence Paul [Alex Cope] [Barry Gloade] Councillor Barry Gloade Councillor Alex Cope [Lloyd Johnson] Councillor Stephen Marshall Councillor Lloyd Johnson [Loretta Bernard] [Colin Bernard] Councillor Loretta Bernard Councillor Colin Bernard [Chris Nasson] [Clara Gloade]

Councillor Chris Nasson

[Peter Gloade]	
Councillor Peter Gloade	Councillor Robert Gloade
Councillor Barry Martin	Councillor Vernon Gloade

SCHEDULE "A"

The Council of the Millbrook First Nation hereby adopts the following taxation rates for the 2003 taxation year for the following classes of property.

Class of Property as prescribed in Rates of Tax applied against each Section 11 of the *Land Tax By-law*. \$1,000 of assessed value of the land

Rates of Tax applied against each \$1,000 of assessed value of the land and improvements as determined in accordance with Part V of the *Land Tax By-law*.

Class 1 – Residential – Truro	\$17.10
Class 2 – Commercial – Truro	\$33.10
Class 3 – Residential – Truro Heights	\$ 8.00
Class 4 – Commercial – Truro Heights	\$18.88
Class 5 – Commercial – Sheet Harbor	\$28.77
Class 6 – Commercial – Cole Harbor	\$35.05
Class 7 – Residential – Sheet Harbor	\$13.97
Class 8 – Residential – Cole Harbor	\$14.15

LAC LA CROIX FIRST NATION TELEPHONE COMPANIES TAXATION BY-LAW BY-LAW NO. 2002-01

[Effective December 19, 2002]

WHEREAS pursuant to section 83 of the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5, as amended, a First Nation may, subject to the approval of the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development, make by-laws for taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, in the reserve including the rights to occupy, possess or use land in the reserve:

AND WHEREAS it is the practice in the Province of Ontario for telephone and telegraph companies to pay a tax upon a percentage of the gross receipts within a local jurisdiction;

BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED that the Council of Lac La Croix First Nation adopt the following by-law in an express exercise of its rights under section 83 of the *Indian Act*.

SHORT TITLE

1. This by-law may be cited as the *Lac La Croix First Nation Telephone Companies Taxation By-law*.

DEFINITION

- 2. In this by-law:
- "Council of the First Nation" means the Council of Lac La Croix First Nation, a council of the band as defined in section 2(1) of the *Indian Act*;
- "customer" means a person who uses or purchases any kind of service from a telephone company;
- "First Nation" means the Lac La Croix First Nation, an Indian band as defined in section 2(1) of the *Indian Act*;
- "gross receipts" means all regularly recurring revenue arising from telephones and other equipment used by customers on the reserve, or which require access to the reserve for operation, and shall include revenue from long distance calls billed to customers on the reserve; and there shall be a deduction from "gross receipts" of any amounts related to uncollectible accounts on the reserve or amounts paid to other telephone or utility companies for the use of their equipment or in settlement with other telephone companies for long distance services;

- "person" includes a corporation, partnership, agent or trustee, their heirs, executors, administrators or legal representatives;
- "reserve" means the reserves of the First Nation as defined in section 2(1) of the Indian Act:
- "Surveyor of Taxes" means the person appointed by the Council of the First Nation as the Surveyor of Taxes pursuant to this by-law;
- "telephone company" includes a corporation, person or association of persons owning, controlling or operating a telephone system or line on the reserve or providing long distance telephone service through property, other than personal property, located on the reserve.

EXEMPTIONS

- **3.**(1) The property or interest of a telephone company wholly owned by the First Nation or any member of the First Nation is exempt from taxation.
- (2) The council of the First Nation may, by resolution, enter into an agreement with any person to exempt that person from taxation pursuant to this by-law, in whole or in part, where the Council of the First Nation considers such agreement and exemption to be in the best interest of the First Nation.

ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION

- **4.**(1) The on-reserve property interests of a telephone company shall be assessed on the basis of the gross receipts of that company from the reserve.
- (2) Every telephone company owning, controlling or operating a telephone system or line on the reserve, shall provide the Surveyor of Taxes with a detailed statement by March 1 of each year, showing the gross receipts of the company from the reserve for the previous year ending on December 31.
- (3) The on-reserve property interests of a telephone company assessed pursuant to section 4(1) are taxable at the rate of one per cent (1%) of the gross receipts of the telephone company in the previous year.
- (4) Taxes payable under this by-law are a debt due to Lac La Croix First Nation by the telephone company.
- (5) The gross receipts tax provided for in this by-law shall be in lieu of all other tax that which may be imposed on the telephone company's interest on the reserve.

ADMINISTRATION

5.(1) The Council of the First Nation shall by resolution appoint a Surveyor of Taxes.

- (2) The Surveyor of Taxes shall be responsible for the administration and implementation of the provisions of this By-law.
- (3) The Surveyor of Taxes shall prepare a report to the Council of the First Nation on or before April 1 in each year. The report shall include:
 - (a) a summary of the statements made under section 4(2);
 - (b) the amount of tax to be levied against each telephone company pursuant to section 4(3) for the current year; and
 - (c) the recommendations of the Surveyor of Taxes with respect to the administration of this by-law.
- (4) Upon approval by the Council of the First Nation of the report made pursuant to section 5(3), the Surveyor of Taxes shall forthwith issue a Tax Notice to the telephone companies owning, controlling or operating a telephone system or line on the reserve.
 - (5) Taxes are due and payable 21 days after the Tax Notice is posted.
- (6) In addition to and separate from any penalty or enforcement that may be imposed under this by-law, interest shall run on all taxes that are due and payable at the rate of one and a half per cent (1.5%) interest per month.

TAX COLLECTION

- **6.**(1) If the taxes imposed under this By-law remain unpaid after December 31 of the year in which they are levied, the Council of the First Nation may bring an action in a court of competent jurisdiction to collect the debt.
- (2) Taxes due and payable are a special lien and encumbrance on the reserve interests of a telephone company.

IMPOSITION PROVISION

- **7.**(1) The Surveyor of Taxes shall notify, forthwith, each telephone company owning, controlling or operating a telephone system or line on the reserve that this by-law is in effect, by registered mail.
- (2) Every telephone company owning, controlling or operating a telephone system or line on the reserve shall commence tracking gross receipts from the reserve, for the purpose of preparing the report required under section 4(1), 60 days after the notice under section 7(1) is mailed until December 31 of that year.
- (3) For the first year that a tax is imposed under this by-law, the tax shall be 1% of the gross receipts of each telephone company pursuant to section 7(2).

APPEALS

8. An appeal, by a telephone company or the Council of the First Nation, of the basis upon which the calculation of a gross receipt was made pursuant to section 4(2), or an appeal of the amount of tax levied pursuant to section 4(3), shall be made by way of action in a court of competent jurisdiction.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY MADE at a duly convened meeting of Council of Lac La Croix First Nation, held at Thunder Bay, Ontario, this 26th day of November, 2002.

Voting in favour of the by-law are the following members of the Council:

[Robert	: Atatise]
Chief Rob	pert Atatise
	[Clayton Ottertail]
Councillor Henry Ottertail	Councillor Clayton Ottertail
[Teddy Atatise]	
Councillor Teddy Atatise	

being a majority of those members of the Council of Lac La Croix First Nation present at the aforesaid meeting of the Council. The quorum of the Council is 3 members. The number of members of the Council present at the meeting was 3.

RÈGLEMENT ADMINISTRATIF SUR LES TAUX ANNUELS DE TAXES FONCIÈRES NUMÉRO 2, 2003

[Entrer en vigueur le 27 avril 2003]

ATTENDU QUE:

- **1.** Innu-Takuaikan Uashat mak Mani-Utenam a promulgué un *Règlement administratif sur la taxation foncière de Uashat mak Mani-Utenam* le 17 octobre 1994, l'a amendé le 26 mars 1995 et l'a adopté le 20 novembre 1995;
- 2. En vertu de l'article 11(1) du *Règlement administratif sur la taxation foncière de Uashat mak Mani-Utenam*, il est nécessaire que Innu-Takuaikan promulgue un Règlement administratif établissant, imposant et levant un impôt foncier pour chaque classe d'immeuble;

EN CONSÉQUENCE:

Innu-Takuaikan Uashat mak Mani-Utenam promulgue les présentes:

- 1. L'annexe «A» jointe, est déclarée faire partie intégrante du présent Règlement administratif;
- 2. En vue de l'application des articles 11(1), 11(2) et 11(3) du Règlement administratif sur la taxation foncière de Uashat mak Mani-Utenam, il est par les présentes établi, imposé et levé pour l'année 2003, les taux de taxes foncières suivants, nommément pour chaque classe d'immeuble, le taux de taxe foncière indiqué à la colonne 4 de l'annexe «A» pour chaque classe d'immeuble retrouvée à la colonne 3 du même document;
- 3. Ce Règlement administratif peut être cité comme étant le Règlement sur les taux annuels de taxes foncières de Uashat mak Mani-Utenam, numéro 2, 2003;
- **4.** Ce Règlement prend force et effet immédiatement après son approbation par le Ministère des Affaires Indiennes et du Nord Canada.

SOUMIS, PROPOSÉ, APPUYÉ ET ENTÉRINÉ lors d'une assemblée régulière de Innu-Takuaikan Uashat mak Mani-Utenam, tenue au 1089 Dequen, à Sept-Iles, ce vingt-septième jour de janvier 2003.

Quorum: _	[3]	
		[Rosario Pinette]
		Chef

r*5*1

[Georges-Ernest Grégoire]	[Ronald Fontaine]
Conseiller	Conseiller
[Céline Bellefleur]	[Marcelle St-Onge]
Conseiller	Conseiller
[Brigitte André]	[Albert Vollant]
Conseiller	Conseiller
[Réjean Ambroise]	[Gilles Jourdain]
Conseiller	Conseiller

ANNEXE "A" CLASSE ET TAUX DE TAXATION FONCIÈRE

Colonne 1	Colonne 2	Co	olonne 3	Colonne 4
Secteur	Nom de la Réserve		asse Immeuble	Taux de taxe Foncière 2003
Uashat	Réserve Uashat Numéro 027	1.	Résidentiel	1,65
		2.	Services publics	3,15
		3.	Terrains non-aménagés	1,65
		4.	Industries principales	3,15
		5.	Industries légères	3,15
		6.	Entreprises	3,15
		7.	Terrains aménagés	1,65
		8.	Loisirs et but non-lucratif	1,65
Mani-Utenam	Réserve Mani-Utenam Numéro 027A	1.	Résidentiel	1,75
		2.	Services publics	1,75
		3.	Terrains non-aménagés	1,75
		4.	Industries principales	1,75
		5.	Industries légères	1,75
		6.	Entreprises	1,75
		7.	Terrains aménagés	1,75
		8.	Loisirs et but non-lucratif	1,75

CARRY THE KETTLE FIRST NATION PROPERTY ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION BY-LAW NO. 1-2003

[Effective June 1, 2003]

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Short Title	77
Part I	Interpretation	77
Part II	Administration	77
Part III	Application of By-law	77
Part IV	Liability to Taxation	77
Part V	Levy of Tax	77
Part VI	Information for Assessment Roll	77
Part VII	Assessed Value	77
Part VIII	The Assessment Roll	77
Part IX	Amendments to Assessment Roll	78
Part X	Appeals	78
Part XI	Tax Notice	78
Part XII	Due Date and Interest	7
Part XIII	Periodic Payments	7
Part XIV	Receipts and Certificates	7
Part XV	Application of Revenues	79
Part XVI	Collection and Enforcement	7
	Proof of Debt	79
	Special Lien and Priority of Claim	79
	Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings	79
	Distress: Seizure of Goods	79
	Distress: Sale of Goods Seized by Distress	79
	Sale of Improvements or Proprietary Interest	79
	Cancellation of Interest Held by Taxpayer	7
	Forfeiture of Property	79
	Absconding Taxpayer	7
	Discontinuance of Services	7
Part XVII	Service and Local Improvement Charges	7
Part XVIII	General and Miscellaneous	8

SCHEDULES

I.	Request for Information	804
II.	Classes of Property	805
III.	Notice of Assessment	806
IV.	Appeal to Assessment Review Committee	807
V.	Notice of Hearing	808
VI.	Request for Attendance	809
VII.	Tax Notice	810
VIII.	Costs Payable by a Taxpayer Arising from Enforcement Proceedings	811
IX.	Certification of Debt Owing by the Taxpayer	812
X.	Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings	813
XI.	Notice of Distress	814
XII.	Notice of Sale of Goods Seized by Distress	815
XIII.	Notice of Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest in Land	816
XIV.	Certification of Sale and Disposition of Interest on Reserve	817
XV.	Notice of Cancellation of Interest in Land	818
XVI.	Certification of Cancellation of Interest in Land	819
XVII.	Notice of Forfeiture	820
XVIII.	Certification of Forfeiture	821
XIX.	Notice of Discontinuance of Services	822
XX.	Notice of Hearing	823

WHEREAS pursuant to the *Indian Act*, and specifically paragraph 83(1)(a), the Council of a Band may make By-laws for the purpose of taxation for local purposes of land, or interests in land, in the Reserve, including rights to occupy, possess or use land, in the Reserve;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Carry The Kettle First Nation deems it to be in the best interests of the Band to make a By-law for such purposes;

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED the Council of the Carry The Kettle First Nation at a duly convened meeting, enacts the following By-law.

SHORT TITLE

1. This By-law may be cited as the *Carry The Kettle First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law*.

This By-law will not be construed so as to abrogate or derogate any treaty rights of a Carry The Kettle First Nation member recognized and affirmed by subsection 35(1) of the Constitution Act 1982.

PART I

INTERPRETATION

- **2.**(1) In this By-law,
- "abrogate" (Webster's) to abolish by authoritative action;
- "Act" means the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5;
- "assessed value" means the fair value of interests in land as if held in fee simple off reserve and as determined under this By-law;
- "assessment roll" means a list prepared pursuant to this By-law and includes a supplementary roll, setting out interests in land within the assessment area and their assessed values for the purposes of taxation and includes any alterations or additions under Part IX of this By-law;
- "assessment year" means the year, from January 1 to December 31, preceding the year in which taxes are to be levied;
- "Assessor" means a person, or persons appointed by Council for the purposes of this By-law and any related duties as required by Council;
- "Band" or "First Nation" means the Carry The Kettle Indian Band being a Band within subsection 2(1) of the Act;
- "band council resolution" means a motion passed and approved by a majority of the councillors of the Band present at a duly convened meeting;
- "Council" means the Chief and Council of the Carry The Kettle Indian Band selected according to the custom of the Band or under subsection 2(1) and section 74 of the Act:
- "derogate" (Webster's) to take away a part so as to impair;
- "holder" means a person in lawful possession of an interest in land in the Reserve or a person who, for the time being,
 - (a) is entitled to possession of the interest;
 - (b) is an occupier of the interest;
 - (c) has any right, title, estate or interest; or
 - (d) is a trustee of the interest;

- "improvement" means an addition to land or water over land and, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, includes
 - (a) anything erected or placed in, on, over or under land, whether or not it is so affixed to the land as to become transferred without special mention by a transfer of the land;
 - (b) anything erected or placed in or upon, or affixed to an improvement, so that without special mention it would be transferred by a transfer of land;
 - (c) any item of immovable machinery and equipment which is prescribed assessable by band council resolution; or
 - (d) a manufactured home;
- "interest in land" means land or improvements, or both, and, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, includes any interest in land or improvements, the right to occupy, possess or use land or improvements in the Reserve;
- "local improvement charge" means a charge in respect of a local improvement based on the actual or estimated capital costs and interest amortized over a fixed period of years;
- "locatee" means an Indian who is in lawful possession of land in the Reserve pursuant to subsections 20(1) and (2) of the Act and for whose benefit the Minister has leased the land pursuant to subsection 58(3) of the Act;
- "Minister" means the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development;
- "manufactured home" means any structure whether equipped with wheels or not and whether self-propelled or not, that
 - (a) is used or designed for use as a dwelling or sleeping place; and
 - (b) is constructed or manufactured to be moved from one point to another by being towed or carried unless licensed or able to be licensed and equipped to travel on a public highway;
 - (c) is a business office or premises; and
 - (d) is accommodation for any other purposes;
- "occupier" means a person who, for the time being, is in actual occupation of an interest in land;
- "person" in addition to its ordinary meaning includes a partnership, association, company, society or body corporate;
- "pipeline" is an improvement and means any pipe designed for or used in the commercial conveyance or transmission of any substance;

- "Registrar" means the Lands Administrator for the Carry The Kettle First Nation as appointed by Council;
- "registers" means the Surrendered and Designated Lands Register kept pursuant to section 55 of the Act and the Reserve Land Register kept pursuant to section 21 of the Act;
- "Reserve" means Assiniboine Indian Reserve number 76 defined in subsection 2(1) of the Act and any land held as a special Reserve for the use and benefit of the Carry The Kettle Indian Band pursuant to section 36 of the Act;
- "service charge" means a charge in respect of a service based on the estimated or actual annual cost of the service;
- "settlement of taxes" means an agreement in which Council accepts payment as settlement of a taxation issue where it is in the best interest of the Band;
- "tax" or "taxes" means a levy imposed by section 11 of this By-law, and includes all interest, penalties, costs or other charges imposed and payable pursuant to this By-law;
- "Tax Administrator" means the person appointed by Council pursuant to section 3 to administer this By-law;
- "tax debtor" means a person with outstanding obligations to pay taxes imposed by this By-law after the expiration of time provided for in Schedule X, the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings served pursuant to section 60;
- "taxation authority" means the Council of the Carry The Kettle First Nation;
- "trustee" means an executor, administrator, guardian, committee, receiver or any person having or taking upon him or herself the lawful possession, administration or control of property affected by an express trust, or having by lawful possession, management and control of the property of a person under any legal disability.
 - (2) The preamble forms part of this By-law.

PART II

ADMINISTRATION

Tax Administrator

- **3.**(1) Council may appoint a Tax Administrator for a specified or indefinite term to administer this By-law.
- (2) The Tax Administrator is responsible for collection of taxes and enforcement of payment under this By-law.

PART III

APPLICATION OF BY-LAW

Application of By-law

4. This By-law applies to all interests in land within the Reserve.

PART IV

LIABILITY TO TAXATION

Taxable property

- **5.**(1) Subject to section 6, all interests in land including any right to occupy, possess, or use land, is subject to taxation under this By-law.
- (2) Without derogating from Council's taxing authority or jurisdiction, Council may accept grants or settlements in place of taxes where it is in the best interests of the Band.

EXEMPTION FROM TAXATION

Exemption

- **6.** The following interests in land are not subject to taxation:
- (a) any interest in land of the Band or of a member of the Band:
- (b) any interest in land of a corporation, all the shareholders of which are members of Council, and which an interest in land is held for the benefit of all the members of the Band:
- (c) a building used exclusively for school purposes and the land necessary as the site for the building;
- (d) a building occupied by a religious body and used chiefly for divine service, public worship or religious education, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
- (e) a building, or any part thereof, used as a hospital, other than a private hospital, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
- (f) a building, or any part thereof, used as a university, technical institute, or public college, not operated for profit, and the land necessary as the site for the building;
- (g) a institutional building used chiefly for the purpose of providing housing accommodation for the elderly or persons suffering from physical or mental disability, not operated for profit, and the land necessary as the site for the building;

- (h) a cemetery to the extent that it is actually used for burial purposes.
- **7.** Notwithstanding section 6, all interests in land are liable to service and local improvement charges under Part XVII of this By-law.
- **8.** Where an interest in land is not subject to taxation, the liability to taxation of any other interest in the same land is not affected.
- **9.**(1) An exemption does not apply to any portion of a building other than the portion occupied or used for the purpose for which the exemption was granted.
- (2) Where an exemption applies to a portion of a building, it applies, in the same proportion, to the land that is necessary as the site for the building.

PART V

LEVY OF TAX

Persons subject to taxation

10.(1) Where an interest in land is subject to taxation, any person who has an interest in the land is jointly and severally liable to taxation.

Tax rates

- 11.(1) In each taxation year not later than May 31, Council shall adopt a By-law to impose tax rates on interests in land subject to taxation under this By-law. Taxes levied under this By-law apply to the calendar year in which the levy is first made and are based upon the assessed values of the interest in land and improvements as determined under this By-law.
- (2) Council may, by By-law, establish different classes of real property and establish different tax rates according to the class of real property to be taxed.
- (3) Taxes shall be levied by applying the rate of tax against the assessed value of the land and improvements.
- 12. Taxes levied in a taxation notice mailed under section 24 are due and payable on September 30 of the year in which they are levied.

PART VI

INFORMATION FOR ASSESSMENT ROLL

Information

- 13.(1) Every person liable for tax shall, on request, forthwith furnish to the Assessor, in writing and signed, the information requested in Schedule I concerning the land used or occupied by that person and without restricting the generality of the foregoing, including: purchase price; terms and covenants in leases; construction costs; costs of alterations and repairs; income and expense information or, rents payable, paid or agreed to be paid.
- (2) Where an Assessor does not receive the information referred to in subsection (1), or is not satisfied that the information received is accurate, the Assessor shall value the interest in land on the basis of information in his or her possession.

PART VII

ASSESSED VALUE

Assessors

- **14.**(1) Council may appoint by band council resolution one or more Assessors for a definite or indefinite term.
- (2) An appointment under subsection (1) may be for the purposes of classifying and valuing particular interests in land in the assessment area and applying exemptions in accordance with section 6 as set out in the band council resolution.

Valuation date

- 15. For the purpose of determining the fair value of an interest in land for the assessment roll the base date for valuation is that established by the Saskatchewan Assessment Management Agency for determining the value of land and improvements for the purpose of establishing assessment rolls.
- **16.** The fair value of the interest in land for an assessment roll is to be determined as if on the valuation date
 - (a) the interest in land and all other properties were in the physical condition that they are in on December 31 following the valuation date; and
 - (b) the permitted use of the property and all other interests in land were the same as on December 31 following the valuation date.

Criteria for valuation

17.(1) The Assessor shall assess interests in land according to the classes of real property as set out in Schedule II.

(2) Except as otherwise provided in the By-law, for the purposes of assessing interests in land the Assessor shall use the practices established under *The Rural Municipality Act, 1989*, Province of Saskatchewan and the applicable regulations, as amended from time to time.

Valuation standard

- **18.**(1) Except as provided in subsections 17(2) and 18(3), the Assessor shall value land and improvements at their fair value.
- (2) The Assessor shall determine the fair value of land and improvements using equivalent rates which would be applied if the interest in land was within the Province of Saskatchewan.
- (3) Notwithstanding subsection (1), if Council has, in a lease or other instrument granting an interest in land, placed a restriction on the use of the land, the Assessor shall consider the restriction.
- (4) The duration of the interest in land or the right of Council to terminate an interest in land is not a restriction within the meaning of subsection (3).

PART VIII

THE ASSESSMENT ROLL

Contents of assessment roll

- **19.** Not later than May 1 of the taxation year the Assessor shall prepare an assessment roll containing the following particulars:
 - (a) the name and last known address of the person assessed;
 - (b) an accurate or legal description of the land;
 - (c) the classification of
 - (i) the land, and
 - (ii) the improvements;
 - (d) the fair value by classification of
 - (i) the land, and
 - (ii) the improvements;
 - (e) the total assessed value;
 - (f) the total assessed value of exemptions from taxation, where applicable;
 - (g) the total net taxable value; and
 - (h) any other necessary information.

- **20.** The Assessor shall include in the assessment roll the particulars set out in section 19 for any interest in land in respect of which grants or settlement in place of taxes may be accepted.
- **21.** The Assessor shall set out the value of improvements separately from the value of the land on which they are located.
- **22.**(1) A person whose name appears in the assessment roll shall give written notice to the Tax Administrator or Assessor of any change of address.
- (2) The holder of a charge or an interest in land may give written notice, with full particulars of the nature, extent and duration of the charge to the Tax Administrator, and request copies of all tax notices issued during the duration of the charge, and the Assessor shall enter that person's name and address on the assessment roll.
- **23.**(1) The assessment roll is effective on its approval by Council.
- (2) On approval, the assessment roll is open to inspection in the Carry The Kettle First Nation office by any person during regular business hours.
- **24.** The Tax Administrator or the Assessor shall, on or before June 30 of each year, mail a notice of assessment to every person named in the assessment roll in respect of each interest in land for which that person is liable to taxation or for which grants or settlement in place of taxes may be sought.
- **25.** The notice of assessment shall be in the form set out in Schedule III or a form approved by Council and shall contain the information set out in the assessment roll in respect of that interest in land and shall contain a statement as to the right of appeal.

PART IX

AMENDMENTS TO ASSESSMENT ROLL

Amendment of assessment roll

- **26.** Where the Assessor finds that during the current taxation year
 - (a) a taxable interest in land is not entered in the assessment roll;
 - (b) the value of an interest in land is not the same as the valuation entered in the assessment roll by reason of

- (i) the demolition, destruction or damaging of an improvement,
- (ii) new construction or new improvements,
- (iii) a change in a permitted use, or
- (iv) a subdivision;
- (c) there has been a change in the possession, use or occupation;
- (d) there is a clerical error; or
- (e) there has been a change in the eligibility for an exemption from taxation;

the Assessor shall amend the assessment roll to effect the necessary changes but subject to section 28, shall not make any amendments after December 31 of the current taxation year.

Notice of amended Assessment **27.** Where the assessment roll is amended, the Assessor shall, as soon as practical after adoption of the amended assessment roll by band council resolution, mail a notice in the form set out in Schedule III or a form approved by Council in respect of the amended assessment to each person affected.

Under-assessment

- 28. Where there has been an under-assessment resulting from
- (a) a person's failure to disclose information required under this By-law with respect to an interest in land; or
- (b) a person's concealment of information required under this By-law with respect to an interest in land;

the Assessor shall issue an amended assessment notice, in the form set out in Schedule III or a form approved by Council, for the current year and for each previous year during which the condition giving rise to the amendment to the assessment roll existed.

- **29.** Where a condition that gives rise to an amendment to the assessment roll existed during part of a taxation year, the Tax Administrator shall, in preparing an amended tax notice, adjust the amount of the taxes due on a pro rata basis.
- **30.** Parts VIII, X, XI, XII and XIV apply with respect to an amended assessment roll and to an amended assessment notice.
- **31.** Where Council approves an amendment to the assessment roll for the current year, the Tax Administrator shall forthwith refund

any excess taxes that have been paid, together with interest at the rate of 10% per annum. Any unpaid balance shall, subject to notice of assessment and taxation, be due and payable, notwithstanding a receipt or certificate given by the Tax Administrator.

PART X

APPEALS

Establishment of Assessment Review Committee

- **32.**(1) Council by band council resolution shall establish an Assessment Review Committee consisting of
 - (a) one person who is or was duly qualified to practice law in the Province of Saskatchewan, or who is or was a Judge of a Provincial, County or Supreme Court in the Province of Saskatchewan;
 - (b) one person who has sat as a member of an appeal board to review assessments in and for the Province of Saskatchewan; and
 - (c) one person who is a member of the Carry The Kettle First Nation who does not have any direct or indirect financial interest in any real property assessment to which an appeal relates.
- (2) Council shall maintain a list of substitute members of the Assessment Review Committee. Where a member of the Assessment Review Committee is disqualified, unable or unwilling to act, Council shall appoint the first person on the list of substitute members of the Assessment Review Committee to act for the period for which the member of the Assessment Review Committee is unavailable. If for any reason the first person on the list of substitute members is disqualified, unable or unwilling to act, Council shall appoint the next person on the list until a substitute member of the Assessment Review Committee is able to act.
- (3) Each member of the Assessment Review Committee shall hold office for a period of three years unless the member resigns or is otherwise removed from office in accordance with the terms of this By-law.
- (4) Each member of the Assessment Review Committee and each substitute member actually appointed to act, shall be paid for his or her services as a member of the Assessment Review Committee at a rate of \$200 per day plus out of pocket expenses for time spent on activities related to the Assessment Review Committee.

- (5) A member of the Assessment Review Committee shall be removed from office if he or she
 - (a) is convicted of an offense under the *Criminal Code* (Canada):
 - (b) fails to attend three (3) consecutive appeal hearings; or
 - (c) fails to perform any of his or her duties under this By-law in good faith and in accordance with the terms of this By-law.
- **33.**(1) A person whose name appears in the assessment roll may appeal to the Assessment Review Committee in respect of:
 - (a) the liability to assessment;
 - (b) the assessed value;
 - (c) the assessment classification; or
 - (d) any alleged error or omission.
- (2) An appellant shall file an appeal by delivering a notice of appeal containing the information set out in Schedule IV to the Assessment Review Committee at the address set out in the assessment notice within thirty (30) days of the mailing of the assessment notice.

Contents of appeal

- (3) An appellant may make the appeal through his or her solicitor or agent, in which case the appeal shall set forth the name and address of the solicitor or agent, as well as the name and address of the appellant.
- (4) Any notice or correspondence required to be given to an appellant shall be properly given if delivered to the solicitor or agent at the address set out in the appeal.
- (5) Where an appeal is taken with respect to an amended assessment notice, the appeal shall be confined to the amendment.

Duties of Committee

- **34.**(1) The Assessment Review Committee shall
- (a) hear all appeals from assessment notices;
- (b) investigate and advise Council on assessments, assessments classifications and assessment rolls which the Committee deems necessary;
- (c) select a Chairperson who shall supervise and direct the work of the Committee;

- (d) give the appellants, the Assessor and the Tax Administrator at least ten (10) days written notice of the time and place for the hearing of appeals;
- (e) have custody of all records, documents, evidence and proceedings before the Assessment Review Committee;
- (f) have control of its proceedings in order to fairly and adequately determine any appeal; and
- (g) where an appeal relates to an interest in land of which a person other than the appellant is the holder, give that person at least ten (10) days written notice of the time, date, and place of the hearing of the appeal, and the nature of the appeal.
- (2) In performing their duties under this By-law, the members of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) ensure that assessments and assessment rolls are equitable and fairly represent the assessed values provided for in this By-law;
 - (b) act impartially, fairly and reasonably, to the best of their skill and ability.

Chairman

- (3) The Chairperson of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) supervise and direct the work of the Committee; and
 - (b) preside at sittings of the Committee.

Secretary

- (4) Council shall appoint a Secretary of the Assessment Review Committee.
 - (5) The Secretary of the Assessment Review Committee shall
 - (a) have the custody and care of all records, regulations, documents and orders made by or pertaining to the Committee;
 - (b) relating to his or her office follow the direction of the Chairperson or the Committee.

Parties

35.(1) The Assessor, or his or her designate, shall be a party to all appeal proceedings under this By-law and the Assessment Review Committee shall give the Assessor reasonable notice and opportunity to be heard at any appeal proceedings.

(2) The Assessment Review Committee shall give the Band Council ten (10) days written notice of, and a reasonable opportunity to be heard at any appeal proceedings which raise issues of law regarding anything done under this By-law.

Quorum and vacancy

- **36.**(1) A majority of the members of the Assessment Review Committee constitutes a quorum.
- (2) Where a quorum of the members of an Assessment Review Committee is not present at the time at which a hearing is to be held, the hearing shall be adjourned to the next day that is not a holiday, and so on from day to day until there is a quorum.
- (3) All questions respecting appeals shall be decided by a majority vote of the members of the Assessment Review Committee at the hearing.
- (4) Council by band council resolution may establish procedures for the conduct of the proceedings of the Assessment Review Committee which shall not be inconsistent with this By-law.

Conflict of interest

- **37.**(1) No person shall sit as a member of the Assessment Review Committee hearing an appeal if that person
 - (a) has a direct or indirect financial interest in any property assessment to which an appeal relates;
 - (b) is a member of Council;
 - (c) is an employee of the Band or Council;
 - (d) has financial dealings with the Band or Council which might reasonably give rise to a conflict of interest and impair that person's ability to deal fairly and impartially with an appeal as required under the terms of this By-law.

Date of sittings

- **38.**(1) Subject to section 41(2), the Assessment Review Committee must make all decisions within 150 days after the assessment notices are sent out.
- (2) The Assessor shall deliver the assessment roll to the Assessment Review Committee on or before the date upon which the Committee commences its sittings.
- (3) The Assessment Review Committee shall mail a Notice of Hearing to all parties in the appeal in the form provided in Schedule V.

Witnesses and documents

- **39.**(1) The Assessment Review Committee may request the attendance of witnesses and the production and inspection of documents.
- (2) A party to any appeal proceedings before the Assessment Review Committee may request that a Notice be served by any member of the Committee, requesting the attendance of any person as a witness to give evidence at the hearing of the appeal.
- (3) Where pursuant to subsection (2) a party requests that a Notice be served by a member of the Committee
 - (a) the Chairperson of the Committee shall sign and issue the Notice and the party shall serve it on the witness at least two (2) days before the appeal;
 - (b) the Notice shall be in the form attached as Schedule VI.
- (4) The party requesting the attendance of a witness shall pay a two (\$2) dollar witness fee plus reasonable travelling expenses to the witness to attend and give evidence before the Assessment Review Committee, on the time and date set out in the Notice.

Hearing of appeals

- **40.**(1) The Assessment Review Committee may hear all appeals from an assessment notice on the same day or may adjourn from time to time until all appeals have been heard and determined.
- (2) The Assessment Review Committee may hear an appeal whether the appellant is present or not.
- (3) The Assessment Review Committee may, after hearing an appeal, postpone consideration thereof and the appellant shall, if required by the Committee, produce all relevant books, papers, documents and answer all proper questions and give all necessary information affecting the interest in land or the matter under consideration.
- (4) The Assessment Review Committee may order that the costs of a proceeding before the Committee be paid by or apportioned between the persons affected by the appeal provided that such costs do not exceed 10% of the amount of the taxes payable concerning the interest in land which is the subject of the appeal, as finally determined by the Assessment Review Committee.
- (5) In any appeal proceedings, the onus of proof is on the person bringing the appeal to establish that the assessed value of the interest in land should be different from the value determined by the Assessor.

Reference to Band Council

- **41.**(1) Upon completion of hearing all appeals, except those adjourned under subsection 41(2), the Assessment Review Committee shall submit to Council its decision on each appeal, including the vote of each member of the Committee, either in favour or against allowing the appeal.
- (2) Notwithstanding subsection 38(1), the Assessment Review Committee may, with the consent of all parties to an appeal, and without prejudice to the rights to any party, adjourn the appeal from time to time beyond the time for completion of the appeals and shall advise Council as provided in this section.
- (3) Within fifteen (15) days from the receipt of the decision of the Assessment Review Committee, the Council shall instruct the Assessor to prepare a final assessment roll including any amendments resulting from the decisions in subsection (1).

Notice of decision

- (4) Not later than fourteen (14) days from the receipt of the instructions pursuant to subsection (3) the Assessor shall notify in writing each appellant and person affected by the appeal, of the decision of the Assessment Review Committee.
- (5) The notice given under subsection (4) shall state that the appellant has a further right of appeal to a court of competent jurisdiction.

Amendment of roll

- (6) Where the Assessor is directed to amend an assessment roll under subsection (3), the Assessor shall do so within 14 days, and shall return the assessment roll forthwith to the Chairperson of the Assessment Review Committee.
- (7) The Assessor shall date and initial amendments made to the assessment roll pursuant to subsection (3).
- (8) Forthwith upon receiving an amended assessment roll under subsection (6), the Chairperson of the Assessment Review Committee shall verify that the roll has been amended according to the decisions of Council under subsections (3) and (6).

PART XI

TAX NOTICE

Tax notice

42.(1) Where Council adopts an assessment roll, and after notices of assessment are mailed pursuant to section 24, not later than August 31 of the taxation year the Tax Administrator shall mail to every person whose name appears in the assessment role, a tax notice in the form set out in Schedule VII, or a form approved by

Council, in respect of each interest in land for which that person is liable to taxation, and, in the case of an amended assessment roll that has been adopted, the Tax Administrator shall mail an amended tax notice to every person affected by the amendment.

- (2) The tax notice referred in subsection (1) shall contain the information set out in Schedule VII which includes the particulars of any arrears and interest, where payment is to be made, and the manner of payment.
- **43.**(1) The Tax Administrator shall enter the date of mailing the tax notice on the assessment roll.
- (2) The mailing of the tax notice by the Tax Administrator constitutes a statement of and demand for payment of the taxes.
- **44.** Where applicable, a tax notice shall state that taxes are payable in conjunction with periodic lease payments under Part XIII.
- **45.**(1) Where it is shown that a person liable for taxes on an interest in land was not liable for taxes or was taxed in excess of the proper amount, at the direction of Council, the Tax Administrator shall refund to the taxpayer the amount paid in excess of liability.
- (2) Where taxes imposed under this By-law are to be refunded under this section, Council may direct the Tax Administrator to refund the amount in whole or in part by applying it as a credit on account of the taxes due or accruing due.

PART XII

DUE DATE AND INTEREST

When taxes Payable

- **46.**(1) Subject to sections 47 and 48, taxes levied in a tax notice mailed under section 42 are due and payable as of September 30 of the year in which they are first levied at the office of the taxation authority notwithstanding that an appeal under Part X may be pending.
- (2) All taxes payable under this By-law are debts due to the taxation authority and are recoverable as such in any court of competent jurisdiction or in any other manner provided by this By-law.
- (3) Where any person alleges that he or she is not liable to pay taxes imposed pursuant to this By-law, the person shall either initiate proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction or launch

an appeal within thirty (30) days of the date of mailing of the tax notice referred to in Part XI.

- (4) Unless a challenge is initiated pursuant to subsection (3), the taxpayer shall thereafter be estopped from denying liability to pay taxes and estopped from challenging any steps taken to enforce the payment of taxes as provided in Part XVI.
- (5) The locatee or any other person who has registered a security interest against the taxpayer's interest in land in the registers may pay the taxes due and such payment shall extinguish the debt owing to the taxation authority.
- **47.** Where taxes are due and payable in conjunction with payment of rent under Part XIII, the proportionate payment is due and payable on the date that the rent is due and payable.
- **48.** Where an assessment roll is amended under this By-law, it shall, for the purposes of this Part, be deemed to be amended as of the date of adoption of the assessment roll under section 23.
- **49.** If all or any portion of taxes remain unpaid after September 30 of the year they are first levied, the unpaid portion shall accrue compound interest at the rate of 1.0% per month or any part thereof.
- **50.** Where taxes are in arrears and part payment is received, the payment shall be applied firstly to accrued interest and then arrears, and any balance shall be applied to current taxes.

PART XIII

PERIODIC PAYMENTS

Payment of percentage

51. Council, with the consent of the locatee where applicable, may declare that the tax, with respect to any interest in land that is leased, be expressed as a percentage of the rent payment and collected with it in accordance with the terms of a lease agreement or the terms of an agreement with the landlord.

Payment on account

52. Where Council has entered an agreement with the Crown or with any person entitled to receive rents, for the collection of tax under this Part, the receipt by the Crown or such person of payment on account of tax shall be a discharge of the liability for tax to the extent of the payment.

Interest

PART XIV

RECEIPTS AND CERTIFICATES

Receipt

53. Except where Part XIII applies, on receipt of a payment of taxes, the Tax Administrator shall issue an official receipt to the tax payer, and shall enter the number of the receipt on the assessment roll opposite the interest in land for which the taxes are paid.

Certificate

54. On a request in writing, the Tax Administrator shall issue a certificate showing whether taxes have been paid with respect to any taxable interest in land, and if not, the amount of taxes outstanding.

PART XV

APPLICATION OF REVENUES

Application of revenues

- **55.**(1) All moneys raised under this By-law shall be placed in a special account or accounts.
 - (2) Moneys raised shall include
 - (a) taxes;
 - (b) grants or settlement in place of taxes;
 - (c) interest; and
 - (d) amounts collected on account of costs.
- (3) Subject to section 56, an expenditure made out of moneys raised under this By-law shall be made under authority of a separate By-law.

Authorized expenditures

- **56.** The following expenditures of funds raised under this By-law are hereby authorized:
 - (1) refunds of overpayment and interest;
- (2) all expenses of preparation and administration of this By-law;
 - (3) remuneration of an Assessor and the Tax Administrator;
- (4) all legal costs and other expenses of enforcement of this By-law.

PART XVI COLLECTION AND ENFORCEMENT

Proof of Debt

Costs of Enforcement **57.** The taxation authority may charge the person named in an assessment roll with all reasonable costs incurred in the collection of taxes or other costs imposed by this By-law. Such costs shall be in accordance with Schedule VIII to this By-law.

Liability for taxes

- **58.**(1) A person named in an assessment roll as having an interest in land is liable for all taxes imposed in respect of the interest in land during the year and all unpaid taxes imposed in previous years.
- (2) Tax, or a portion thereof, due and payable under this By-law that has not been paid may be certified by the Tax Administrator, who shall attach a copy of that part of the assessment roll that refers to the taxes payable. Such certification shall be in the form provided in Schedule IX, and is *prima facie* proof of the debt.

Special Lien and Priority of Claim

Taxes are a special lien

- **59.**(1) Taxes due and payable are a special lien and encumbrance on the interest in land.
- (2) The special lien and encumbrance referred to in section 59(1) attaches to the interest in land being taxed, and without limiting the foregoing, attaches to the interest in land of a subsequent holder.
- (3) The person who acquires an interest in land on which a lien under this By-law has been registered and the person to whom the taxes were originally levied are jointly and severally liable for the lien.
- (4) The Tax Administrator may register a certificate issued under section 58(2) in either register on or after January 2 following the year in which the taxes are imposed.
- (5) Pursuant to section 59(4), the special lien and encumbrance shall have priority over every subsequently registered claim, privilege, lien, charge, security interest, or encumbrance of every person.
- (6) When all taxes levied against the interest in land have been paid, the Tax Administrator shall certify that the special lien and encumbrance against the interest in land has been discharged, and

shall register such certification in either register. Such certification shall be sufficient proof of the payment of the taxes and the discharge of the special lien or encumbrance.

(7) The special lien and encumbrance is not lost or impaired by reason of any technical error or omission.

Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings

List of unpaid taxes

60.(1) Except for tax proceedings postponed pursuant to subsection 60.1(1), on or after January 2 following the year for which taxes are imposed, the Tax Administrator shall prepare a list of outstanding taxes and of the persons liable for payment.

Demand for payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings

- (2) Within thirty (30) days of completion of the list pursuant to subsection 60(1), the Tax Administrator shall mail, in the form set out in Schedule X, a Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings to every person named on the list, and to every locatee, tenant, agent or person whose rights, proprietary or otherwise, may be affected by the enforcement proceedings.
- (3) For the purposes of this section the mailing of a Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings is deemed to be delivery to the addressee.

Commencement of enforcement proceedings

- (4) Upon the expiration of the thirty (30) day period provided in the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement Proceedings delivered pursuant to section 60(2), the Tax Administrator shall request authorization from Council to commence enforcement proceedings against the tax debtors. Council may direct the Tax Administrator to commence enforcement proceedings.
- (5) Prior to the authorization of any of the enforcement proceedings set out in sections 61, 63, 64, 65, and 66, Council shall consult with any affected locatee.

Postponement, reduction and remission of taxes

- **60.1** Council may, upon application by the tax debtor,
- (1) postpone taking enforcement proceedings for a specified period; or
 - (2) reduce or remit the taxes where Council determines that
 - (a) full payment would result in undue hardship to the tax debtor; or
 - (b) it is necessary and in the best interest of the Band to effect a transfer of the tax debtor's interest.

Distress: Seizure of Goods

Distress

61.(1) With the authorization of Council, the Tax Administrator may proceed by way of distress if the taxes or any portion thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to section 60.1(1) has expired.

Notice of distress

(2) The Tax Administrator shall serve a Notice of Distress on the tax debtor and provide a copy of same to the locatee, where applicable, in the form set out in Schedule XI.

Seizure of property

- (3) If the taxes, or any portion thereof, remain outstanding following the time provided by the Notice of Distress, the Tax Administrator shall effect a seizure by distress of such goods, and post a notice on the goods which are seized. The seized goods shall then be in the possession of the Band, as represented by the Tax Administrator.
- (4) So long as the taxes, or any portion thereof, remain outstanding, no goods seized pursuant to subsection (3) which are located on the Reserve shall be removed therefrom, and any such removal shall be considered a trespass. Without restricting the generality of the foregoing, no such goods shall be seized by a bailiff, sheriff, assignee or liquidator or trustee, or authorized trustee in bankruptcy, except under the authority of Council.

Distress: Sale of Good Seized by Distress

Sale of Goods Seized by Distress

- **62.**(1) If the Tax Administrator seizes by distress the tax debtor's goods pursuant to subsection 61(3), and the tax debtor does not commence legal proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction within sixty (60) days after the date of seizure challenging such seizure, the goods may be sold in accordance with this Part and the tax debtor is estopped from denying the validity of the seizure and the sale of such goods.
- (2) If the outstanding taxes have not been paid in full sixty (60) days after a seizure by distress pursuant to section 61(3), the goods seized will be deemed to have been abandoned by the tax debtor and may be sold by public auction, the proceeds of which will be used for payment of the outstanding taxes.
- (3) A Notice of Sale of Goods Seized by Distress in the form of Schedule XII shall be published in at least one (1) newspaper

of general local circulation for seven (7) days prior to the sale, and shall be posted on the tax debtor's premises located on the Reserve.

- (4) The sale of the goods seized by distress shall be conducted at the time and place advertised pursuant to subsection (3), unless it is necessary to adjourn such sale, in which case an additional notice shall be published in the manner provided by subsection (3).
- (5) Any surplus resulting from the sale conducted pursuant to subsection (4), after deducting all liabilities of the tax debtor, including all costs and charges arising from the sale, shall be paid to the tax debtor. In the event that the Tax Administrator is uncertain who is entitled to such surplus, the Tax Administrator shall pay such money into court by way of interpleader action.
- (6) Goods of a tax debtor that would be exempt from seizure under a writ of execution issued by a superior court of the province in which the seizure is made are exempt from seizure under this section.

Sale of Improvements or Proprietary Interest

Sale of improvements or cancellation of proprietary interest **63.**(1) If the taxes or any part thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1) has expired, Council may authorize the Tax Administrator to proceed by way of sale of improvements or proprietary interest. The Tax Administrator shall serve the tax debtor and, where applicable, the locatee, a Notice of Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest in Land in the form of Schedule XIII.

By public auction

(2) On June 30 following the year in which the taxes are imposed or, if enforcement proceedings are postponed under subsection 60.1(1), six (6) months from the end of the period specified by Council, and upon the failure of the tax debtor to pay the outstanding taxes or to commence legal proceedings in a court of competent jurisdiction challenging the sale or disposition, the Tax Administrator shall sell the improvements or dispose of the interest of the tax debtor in the Reserve by public auction, or pursuant to subsection (3) by public tender.

Publication of auction

(3) Council shall prescribe the method of public tender, including the conditions of sale, method of publication or circulation, and conditions attached to the acceptance of any offer.

- (4) A Notice of Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest in Land in the form of Schedule XIII to this By-law shall be published in at least one (1) newspaper of general local circulation for seven (7) days prior to the sale, and shall be posted on the tax debtor's premises located on Reserve.
- (5) The sale of the improvements and disposition of interest in land shall be conducted at the time and place advertised pursuant to subsection (3), unless it is necessary to adjourn such disposition. If an adjournment is necessary an additional notice shall be published in the manner provided by subsection (3).

Upset price

- (6) With prior approval of Council, the Tax Administrator may at any sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsection (2) or (4), set an upset price equal to the outstanding taxes and that upset price shall be the lowest price for which the improvements may be sold and the interest in land disposed.
- (7) Where the Tax Administrator sets an upset price pursuant to subsection (6), and there is no bid at the sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsection (2) or (4) that is equal to or greater than the upset price, the taxation authority shall be deemed to be the purchaser and shall acquire the interest in the land free and clear of all encumbrances or charges.

Redemption period

- (8) At any time within six (6) months after the sale and disposition held pursuant to subsection (2) or (4), the tax debtor may redeem his/her interest in the land by paying to the Tax Administrator the full amount of all taxes for which the interests were disposed, together with all taxes which have subsequently fallen due and the reasonable costs incurred by the taxing authority in disposing of the interest.
- (9) If upon the expiration of the redemption period provided by subsection (8), any portion of the taxes remains outstanding, the disposition of the interests shall be considered final and with Ministerial consent, the purchaser shall obtain title to the interest in land. The Tax Administrator shall certify the transfer in the form provided in Schedule XIV and shall register it in one or both registries and shall serve it on the tax debtor.
- (10) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (9), the purchaser shall be substituted for the tax debtor as the holder of the interest in land, and in addition to any other obligations, shall be liable for all future taxes assessed against that interest.

- (11) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (9), any surplus resulting from the sale and disposition conducted pursuant to subsection (2) or (4), after deducting all outstanding taxes of the tax debtor, including reasonable costs and charges arising from the sale and disposition, shall be returned to the tax debtor. In the event that the Tax Administrator is uncertain who is entitled to such surplus the Tax Administrator shall pay such money into court by way of interpleader action.
- (12) Upon the filing of the certificate provided by subsection (9), any remaining debt of the tax debtor with respect to that interest in land, including all reasonable costs and charges arising from the sale and disposition, shall be extinguished.
- (13) If pursuant to subsections (7) and (9) the Band has become the owner of the interest in land, the Tax Administrator may sell such within ninety (90) days for not less than the upset price set pursuant to subsection (6).

Cancellation of Interest in Land Held by Taxpayer

Notice of Cancellation

- **64.**(1) If the taxes or any part thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1) has expired, Council may authorize the Tax Administrator to proceed by way of cancellation of the interest. The Tax Administrator shall serve a Notice of Cancellation of the tax debtor's interest in land in the form of Schedule XV.
- (2) The Tax Administrator shall mail a copy of the notice referred to in subsection (1) to every place where the interest is registered and to the locatee, where applicable.
- (3) Where taxes are not paid before June 30 of the year following the taxation year in which they were imposed or within six (6) months after the specified period if enforcement proceedings are postponed under subsection 60.1(1), Council may direct the Tax Administrator to cancel the lease, licence or permit to occupy the interest in land. The Tax Administrator shall certify the cancellation in the form provided in Schedule XVI to this By-law and shall register it in the registers.
- (4) Upon cancellation of the tax debtor's interest and with the consent with the Minister the Taxation Authority shall acquire the interest in the land free and clear of all encumbrances or charges.

Forfeiture of Property

Forfeiture of property

65.(1) Notwithstanding any other action for the recovery of taxes set out in this By-law, if any taxes remain unpaid twenty-four (24) months after the mailing of the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60, the tax debtor's interest in land in respect of which the taxes remain unpaid shall, subject to subsections (2), (3), (4) and (5), be absolutely forfeited.

Notice of forfeiture

- (2) The tax debtor's interest in land shall be forfeited under subsection (1) forty (40) days after the Tax Administrator serves a Notice of Forfeiture pursuant to subsection (4) in the form set out in Schedule XVII on the tax debtor and on anyone else who may be in lawful possession of the interest in land.
- (3) Prior to serving the Notice of Forfeiture pursuant to subsection (4), the Tax Administrator shall obtain authorization from Council to proceed by forfeiture.

Contents of Notice of Forfeiture

- (4) The Notice of Forfeiture shall state
- (a) that the interest in land held by the tax debtor is subject to forfeiture under this section;
- (b) the amount of all taxes, costs and fees due and payable on the date of the notice;
- (c) the date on which the interest in land held by the tax debtor will forfeit:
- (d) that the tax debtor has the right to prevent forfeiture by payment under this section; and
- (e) that on forfeiture under this section, the interest held by the tax debtor in the Reserve will be forfeited clear of all charges except those third party interests which otherwise attach to the interest in land.
- (5) The Notice of Forfeiture shall be mailed to the tax debtor's last known address or to the address of the person specified in the records of the Taxation Authority.
- (6) Where any taxes remain unpaid on December 31 of the second year after the calendar year in which they were imposed, payment of those taxes does not prevent forfeiture unless the payment

- (a) includes all taxes then due and payable;
- (b) includes reasonable costs incurred by the taxation authority in the forfeiture proceedings; and
- (c) is made before forfeiture occurs under this section.
- (7) With the consent of the Minister, the Tax Administrator shall certify, in the form set out in Schedule XVIII to this By-law, that the interest in land held by the tax debtor has been forfeited and the Registrar shall record the document cancelling the tax debtor's interest in the registers.
- (8) Upon forfeiture of the tax debtor's interest in land the Taxation Authority shall acquire the interest in the land free and clear of all encumbrances or charges.

Absconding Taxpayer

Collection proceedings

66. Where the Tax Administrator has reasonable grounds to believe that the Taxpayer intends to remove his/her goods from the Reserve, or intends to dismantle or remove his/her improvements on Reserve, or take any other actions which may preclude or impede the collection of outstanding taxes owing pursuant to this By-law, the Tax Administrator shall apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for remedy, notwithstanding the fact that the time for payment of taxes has not yet expired.

Discontinuance of Services

Discontinuance of services

67. If the taxes or any part thereof remain unpaid after the thirty (30) day period provided by the Demand for Payment and Notice of Enforcement served pursuant to section 60 or the period specified by Council pursuant to subsection 60.1(1), Council may authorize that any services provided by the Band or pursuant to any contract with the Band, to the tax debtor or to the interest in land assessed pursuant to this By-law be discontinued. A Notice of Discontinuance of Services in the form of Schedule XIX shall be delivered to the tax debtor and to the locatee, where appropriate, thirty (30) days prior to such discontinuance, and shall include the date, time and place within that thirty (30) days when the tax debtor or the locatee may appear before Council to show cause as to why the services should not be discontinued and Council shall determine whether or not it will discontinue such services.

PART XVII

SERVICE AND LOCAL IMPROVEMENT CHARGES

Establishment of service and local improvement charges

- **68.**(1) Council may by By-law impose service and local improvement charges applicable to a part of the Reserve (hereinafter in this part called the "area") to raise money for the following purposes:
 - (a) the construction or installation of a highway, lane, sidewalk, boulevard, sanitary or storm sewer, irrigation work, street lights, water supply system, parking facility, gas supply system, drain, or other works that benefit property in the area;
 - (b) the maintenance, operation, repair or construction of works;
 - (c) the cutting of grass or weeds or the trimming of trees or shrubbery on any highway, lane or other public place;
 - (d) the suppression of dust on any highway, lane, or other public place;
 - (e) the collection and disposal of garbage;
 - (f) the collection and disposal of night soil or the contents of sewage holding tanks; and
 - (g) notwithstanding subsections 1(a) to (f) inclusive, such other projects for the maintenance, improvement or repair of properties within the area as Council may determine to be necessary or beneficial.
- (2) In this Part, "charge" means a local improvement charge and a service charge.
- (3) A charge shall be based on the actual or estimated annual cost of the local improvement or service and shall be levied at
 - (a) a uniform rate; or
 - (b) rates for each class of property based on:
 - (i) the number of lineal feet along the fronting or abutting lands,
 - (ii) the area determined by the fronting or abutting lands,
 - (iii) the number of dwelling-units or commercial or industrial occupancies on the lands served, or

- (iv) the estimated or actual use or consumption of the service by occupants of the lands served.
- (v) If some areas of land in respect of which a local improvement charge is to be imposed appear to call for a smaller or larger proportionate share of the charge because they are differently sized or shaped from other areas of land, those areas may be assigned the number of units of measurement the Council considers appropriate to ensure that they will bear a fair portion of the local improvement charge.
- (4) The costs levied shall include engineering and advertising expenses, interest and carrying costs, sinking-fund or amortization costs, banking and legal fees, administration costs and any other expenses incidental to initiating and carrying out the work.

Notice of charges

- **69.**(1) Before imposing a charge, Council shall give at least fifteen (15) days notice by
 - (a) publishing the notice prior to the meeting referred to in section 70 in a newspaper of general circulation on the Reserve, if any;
 - (b) posting the notice in the band administration offices and in prominent locations on the Reserve; and
 - (c) sending the notice by registered mail, in the form set out in Schedule XX, to affected holders or occupiers who are not resident on the Reserve and providing the locatee with a copy of the notice.
- (2) It shall be sufficient notice under paragraph (1)(c) if the address in the current assessment roll is used.
 - (3) The notice shall state
 - (a) the intention of Council to have the work performed and to levy the charge;
 - (b) the area in respect of which the charge is to be levied;
 - (c) the rate at which the charge will be levied; and
 - (d) that Council shall hold a public meeting to consider written and oral representations.

Hearing of representations

70.(1) On the date and at the time and place set out in the notice referred to in section 69, Council shall sit and receive and hear representations.

- (2) Council shall not proceed with the charge until after it holds public meetings to consider representations.
- (3) Where Council imposes a charge, it need not give notice in each succeeding year, unless it proposes to amend the By-law that imposes the charge.
- (4) A uniform increase, not exceeding ten (10) per cent, in the rate of a charge because of an increase in actual or estimated cost shall be deemed not to be an amendment to the By-law that imposes the charge.
- **71.**(1) The Tax Administrator shall keep separate accounts for money raised by each charge under this Part.
- (2) Council shall expend the money raised under this Part, and any interest that has accrued on that money, for the purpose and within the area stated in the implementing By-law.
- **72.**(1) Charges under this Part shall be administered and enforced under this By-law in the same manner as taxes.
- (2) For greater certainty charges are a special lien under Part XVI.
- (3) The roll for a charge may be part of or a supplement to the assessment roll.

PART XVIII

GENERAL AND MISCELLANEOUS

Interpretation

- **73.**(1) Nothing under this By-law shall be rendered void or invalid, nor shall the liability of any person to pay tax or any other amount under this By-law be affected by
 - (a) an error or omission in a valuation or a valuation based solely on information in the hands of an Assessor or the Tax Administrator:
 - (b) an error or omission in an assessment roll, tax notice, or any notice hereunder; or
 - (c) a failure of the Taxation Authority to do something within the required time.
- **74.** A finding by a court that a provision of this By-law is void or invalid shall not affect the validity or invalidity of the rest of the By-law.

75. Where a provision in this By-law is expressed in the present tense, the provision applies to the circumstances as they arise.

Limitation period

76. No action or proceeding for the return of money paid to the Band, whether under protest or otherwise, on account of a demand, whether valid or invalid, made for tax or any amount under this By-law shall be commenced after the expiration of six (6) months from the making of the payment but the payment shall be deemed to have been voluntarily made.

Extension of

77. Council may, by band council resolution, extend for a maximum of thirty (30) days the time in which anything is required to be done under this By-law and anything done within this period of time is as valid as if it had been done within the time otherwise provided for by this By-law.

Delivery of notices

78. Where personal service is not required, any notice delivered by the Tax Administrator or person acting under his direction to a post office or a person authorized by the Canada Post Corporation to receive mail is deemed to have been delivered to the addressee.

By-law remedial

79. This By-law shall be construed as being remedial and shall be given such fair, large and liberal construction and interpretation as best ensures the attainment of its objects.

Headings

- **80.**(1) Headings form no part of the enactment, but shall be construed as being inserted for convenience of reference only.
- (2) The schedules attached in the addendum shall be construed as being a guide for administrative purposes only.

Coming into force

81. This By-law shall come into force and effect on approval by the Minister.

THIS BY-LAW IS HEREBY ENACTED by Council at a duly convened meeting held on [April 24] , 2003.

[Kenneth B. Kennedy] Chief Kenneth B. Kennedy

[Kurt Adams]	[Vincent Eashappie]
Councillor Kurt Adams	Councillor Vincent Eashappie
[Timothy J. Eashappie] Councillor Timothy J. Eashappie	[Leroy Hassler] Councillor Leroy Hassler
[Clyde O'Watch]	[Bernice Saulteaux]
Councillor Clyde O'Watch	Councillor Bernice Saulteaux

SCHEDULE I

(section 13)

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION

TO:	
ADDRESS:	
RE:	(deconistion of interest is land)
	(description of interest in land)
and Taxation E resolution mad	etion 13 of the Carry The Kettle First Nation Property Assessment By-law, and pursuant to the authority vested in me by band council e on the day of, 20, I hereby request to me, in writing, information concerning the following matters:
1.	
2.	
3.	
requested, it w	sed that if you do not provide me with accurate information as ill be necessary for me to carry out my assessment on the basis of mation I may have in my possession.
	Yours truly,

Assessor

SCHEDULE II

(section 17)

CLASSES OF LAND AND IMPROVEMENTS AND APPLICABLE PERCENTAGES OF FAIR VALUE

- (a) non arable (range) land and improvements 50%;
- (b) other agricultural land and improvements -55%;
- (c) residential 70%;
- (d) multi-unit residential 70%;
- (e) seasonal residential 70%;
- (f) commercial and industrial 100%;
- (g) elevators 75%;
- (h) railway rights of way and pipeline -75%;

For the purposes of establishing (a) to (h) classes of property the assessor shall use the practices established under *The Rural Municipality Act*, 1989, Province of Saskatchewan and the applicable regulations, as amended from time to time.

SCHEDULE III

(section 24, Part IX)

NOTICE OF ASSESSMENT

TO:					
ADDRESS: _					
RE:		(description	of interest	in land)	
TAKE NOTICE resolution dated of the above-not taxes levied put and Taxation By	theted interest in larsuant to the Ca	day of _ and the follow	ing perso	, 20 and t n(s) is/are liab	hat in respect ble to pay any
Name(s): Address(es):					
The assessed va	lue of the	(classification	on)	_ land: _ improvemen	its:
The assessed va			:		
TOTAL ASSES	SED VALUE:				 -
TOTAL NET TA	AXABLE VAL	UE:			
AND TAKE NO this assessment liability to asses or omission. Th or his or her ago appellant may be Review Commi	notice, appeal of sment, assessed e Notice of Appent, and must so be sent. The No	to the Assessm I value, assessment of the interest of the inte	nent Revie ment class n writing a ng address	ew Committee sification or an and signed by s to which all	e in respect of alleged error the appellant notices to the
DATED AT		this	da	y of	, 20
			Tax Ac	lministrator	

SCHEDULE IV

(section 33)

APPEAL TO ASSESSMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE

PURSUANT to the provisions of the Carry The Kettle First Nation Property Assessment and Taxation By-law, I hereby appeal the assessment of the following interest in land:

(description of the business and location) on the following grounds: 1. 2. 3. 4. DATED AT ______ this _____ day of ______, 20___. Appellant's signature Printed name of Appellant Address to which all notices to appellant are to be sent To: Assessment Review Committee

(office of the assessor)

SCHEDULE V

(subsection 38(3))

NOTICE OF HEARING

TO:					
ADDRESS:					
RE:		(description of i	nterest in land)		
assessment req 20 relating day	E that the Assessm quested in Schedu to the above-note ofOTICE that you shach appeal.	le IV dated the d interest in land, 20	e nd at	_ day of _ (a.m./p.m.	on the
DATED AT		_ this	day of	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	20
		Chairperson Assessment I	Review Com	mittee	

SCHEDULE VI

(section 39)

REQUEST FOR ATTENDANCE

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
	eal has been filed with re		
have information to	assist the Assessment R	Review Committee.	
at 20 at	EST your attendance before (location) on the (location) to give eviany documents in your parts.	day of dence concerning the	said assessment
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	 Chairpe	rson	
	Assessn	nent Review Committ	ee

SCHEDULE VII

(section 42)

TAX NOTICE

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:	(description	on of interest in land)	
PURSUANT to the provisio Assessment and Taxation By hereby levied with respect to that said taxes are due and pay Kettle First Nation.	-law, taxes in the above-no	the amount of oted interest in land,	and take notice
The name(s) and address(es) follows:	of the persor	n(s) liable to pay the	taxes is(are) as
Assessed value	\$		
Taxes (current year)	\$		
Arrears	\$		
Interest			
Total Payable	\$		
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	- 1	Tax Administrator	_

arising

SCHEDULE VIII

(section 57)

COSTS PAYABLE BY A TAXPAYER ARISING FROM ENFORCEMENT PROCEEDINGS

1. For preparation of and serving any and all notices \$35.00 per notice required by Part XVI on the Taxpayer, Tax Debtor or any other person, newspaper or on any property, etc.: 2. For attending, investigating, taking inventory, \$40.00 per hour cataloguing, or seizing property, and preparing and conducting a Sale by Distress, for each person involved: For drafting, filing and executing a lien or encumbrance: \$150.00 3. 4. For sale of improvements or disposition of interests \$40.00 per hour in reserve land, including attending, investigating, taking inventory, cataloguing, preparing and executing a Sale of Improvements and Disposition of Interest on Reserve, for each person involved: 5. For issuing and registering any and all certificates \$10.00 per required by Part XVI: certificate 6. For disbursements, including without limiting as and when

photocopying (\$.30 per page), advertising, storage fees, etc.:

SCHEDULE IX

812

(subsection 58(2))

CERTIFICATION OF DEBT OWING BY THE TAXPAYER

PURSUANT to the <i>Carry The Ke</i>	ttle First N	lation F	Property Assess	ment and Taxatio	n
By-law, I	, Tax Administrator of the Carry The Kettle				
First Nation, certify that \$	is the amount of the outstanding tax				S
that is due and owing by	(Taxpayer) with respect				0
(des	cription o	f intere	st in land).		
Attached hereto is a copy of the Kettle First Nation that refers to(Taxpayer) (description of interest in land).	o the prop with respe	erty ta	xes that are du	ie and payable b	у
DATED AT	this		day of	, 20	
		Tax A	dministrator		

SCHEDULE X

(section 60)

DEMAND FOR PAYMENT AND NOTICE OF ENFORCEMENT **PROCEEDINGS**

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:	(description o	f interest in land)	
The payment date of the notice of taxes served or expired. The Carry The PAYMENT IN FULL of	you with respect to t Kettle First Nation HE	he above-noted pREBY DEMANI	property has now DS IMMEDIATE
Taxes: Interest: Other costs: Total outstanding tax deb	\$ \$		
TAKE NOTICE THAT the within thirty (30) days from taken by the Taxation Au Additional costs may according to the taxation and the taxation and taxation and taxation and taxation and taxation are taxation and taxation and taxation are taxation are taxation and taxation are taxation are taxation and taxation are taxat	m the date of this Dem thority for the enforce	and may result in	procedures being
The Carry The Kettle F contains detailed procedudebt which is due and ovaffect your property, including affect the on-going servit procedures that may be unkettle First Nation Property available from the Tax Action	ures allowing for the enving. These enforcementating personal properties being provided to seed by the Tax Adminierty Assessment and Tax	nforcement and cent and collection y located on this your property. I strator are set out axation By-law, a	collection of a tax in procedures may property and may The remedies and t in the Carry The
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	;	Tax Administrato	 or

SCHEDULE XI

(sections 61 and 62)

NOTICE OF DISTRESS

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:	(descript	ion of interest in land)	
of \$expiration of se Administrator,	E THAT failure to pay the with respect to the abseven (7) days after the date pursuant to subsection 61(3) sment and Taxation By-law, se	oove-noted property or e of this notice will re) of the <i>Carry The Ket</i> .	n or before the esult in the Tax tle First Nation
(a gen	neral description of the prope	erty which has been ass	sessed)
upon the expira notice being po will result in th the Tax Admin	ER TAKE NOTICE THAT fation of the seven (7) days selected at the locations on resolute seizure of such property, valistrator, at your cost, such ong, until the tax debt is paid	t out above, will result it erve where the property which will be held in the cost being added to the	in a copy of this y is located and ne possession of
Kettle First Nat legal proceedin within 60 (sixty	ER TAKE NOTICE THAT pution Property Assessment and ags in a court of competent y) days from the date of such lidity of both the seizure and	I Taxation By-law, you r jurisdiction to challeng a seizure, or you will be	must commence ge such seizure e estopped from
after the proper or to commence abandoned the property will b Seized by Distr published for at	erty has been seized and the see court proceedings as set of property seized and the Tax be sold by public auction. A ress will be posted on your pet least seven (7) days in the ewspapers of general local court of the seven of	failure to pay the outstand above, you will be of Administrator may au copy of the Notice of roperty located on rese	anding tax debt deemed to have tthorize that the Sale of Goods rve, and will be newspaper,
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
		Tax Adminis	strator

SCHEDULE XII

(section 62)

NOTICE OF SALE OF GOODS SEIZED BY DISTRESS

Carry The Kettle Firs	AT a sale by public auction at Nation will occur on the (location	e day of	, 20
sections 61 and 62 of	sale, the following good the <i>Carry The Kettle Firs</i> be sold with the proceeds	st Nation Property	Assessment and
	(general description of	the goods)	
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	 Tax	Administrator	

SCHEDULE XIII

(subsections 63(1) and 63(4))

NOTICE OF SALE OF IMPROVEMENTS AND DISPOSITION OF INTEREST IN LAND

TO:	
ADDRESS:	
RE:	(description of improvements)
	(description of interest in land)
above-noted pr (60) days after the Carry The of the improve public auction Improvements be published in	E THAT failure to pay all outstanding taxes with respect to the operty, being \$, on or before the expiration to sixty the date of this notice will result in the Tax Administrator for Kettle First Nation holding a sale by public auction (or tender) ments located on the above-noted property and a disposition by or tender) of the above-noted interest on the Reserve. The Sale of and Disposition of Interest in the Reserve shall the newspaper for seven (7) days prior to sposition, and shall be posted on the above-noted property located
above-noted salin land by payir improvements v subsequently fa sale and dispos the taxes remai interest will be	TICE THAT on or before the expiration of six (6) months after the e and disposition, you may redeem your improvements and interest g to the Tax Administrator the full amount of all taxes for which the ere sold and the interest disposed, together with all taxes which have len due, including without restricting, the cost of the above-noted tion. If upon the expiration of those six (6) months any amount of a outstanding, the sale of the improvements and disposition of the declared final, and the purchaser shall obtain both your title in the old and your interest in land.
you will be requ	OTICE THAT upon the sale and disposition being declared final, ired to immediately vacate the property, and any rights or interests in the improvements and to the Reserve land will be transferred rehaser.
DATED AT	this day of, 20
	Tax Administrator

SCHEDULE XIV

(section 63)

CERTIFICATION OF SALE AND DISPOSITION OF INTEREST ON **RESERVE**

RE:			
_	(description	of interest in land)	
_	(description	of improvements)	
	, Tax Admin		
	ertify that resulting from the fai		
pay the outstandi	ng tax debt on the above-noted	l interest on Reserv	e, that interest has
been disposed of	by public auction (or tender)	and the above-not	ed improvements
have been sold b	by public auction (or tender)	pursuant to section	n 63 of the Carry
The Kettle First	Nation Property Assessment a	and Taxation By-la	w. The following
person shall, pur	rsuant to subsection 63(10) of	f that By-law, be s	ubstituted for the
Tax Debtor as th	e holder of the above-noted in	nterest in land:	
	(name and address of pur	rchaser at sale)	
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
			_
	Tax	Administrator	

SCHEDULE XV

(subsection 64(1))

NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OF INTEREST IN LAND

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:		(description)	on of interest in land)	
with respect to t (6) months from the Reserve. Th	the above-noted in the date of this note failure to pay so	nterest in lan notice, in the uch taxes is	e outstanding tax debd will result, upon the cancellation of such a breach of then the cancellation of	e expiration of six interest in land or
interest in land	on reserve, and a	my rights or	l be required to imme interests which you it) will cease to exis	acquired through
DATED AT		this	day of	, 20
			Tax Administrator	

SCHEDULE XVI

(section 64)

CERTIFICATION OF CANCELLATION OF INTEREST IN LAND

RE:			
	(description	of interest in land)	
I,	at the above-mention cancelled or terminal st Nation Property A	ned interest in land of ated pursuant to sub- ssessment and Taxa	on the Carry The osection 64(3) of attion By-law as a
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	;	Tax Administrator	

SCHEDULE XVII (subsection 65(2))

NOTICE OF FORFEITURE

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:		(description	n of interest in land)	
Property Asse	ssment and Taxo	ation By-law for outstanding fo	the Carry The Ket r the above-noted int r two (2) years and pot deserve is now subje	erest in the years ursuant to section
The amount o follows:	f all taxes which	h are due and p	ayable to the date of	f this notice is as
(itemized	statement of al	ll taxes includir	ng interest, penalties	, costs, etc.)
are paid in full you hold in the Carry The Ket in the Band cle	on or before the his property wil ttle First Nation	e fortieth day at l be absolutely . Upon such for s except those r	ess the above-noted of fter the date of this no and unconditionally feiture, your interest ights of way, easeme erve land.	otice, the interest y forfeited to the t in land will vest
December 1 of	f the second yea	r after the calen	where any taxes re dar year in which the forfeiture unless the	ey were imposed,
(i) inc	eludes all taxes	then due and pa	yable; and	
(ii) is 1	made before for	feiture.		
DATED AT _		this	day of	, 20
			Tax Administrator	

SCHEDULE XVIII

(subsection 65(7))

CERTIFICATION OF FORFEITURE

RE:			
	(description	of interest in land)	
I,	nat resulting from the factoristanding tax debt ow Kettle Reserve, such in pursuant to sections	ailure of	nentioned interest eited to the Carry
DATED AT	this	day of	, 20
	Tax Ad	ministrator	

SCHEDULE XIX

(section 67)

NOTICE OF DISCONTINUANCE OF SERVICES

TO:				
ADDRESS:				
RE:		(descriptio	on of interest in land)	
outstanding for before thirty (3	mon 0) days after the own cause as se	ths, and that under this et out below, the	ove-noted interest have nless payment in full in Notice, or you have the following services	s received on or appeared before
	(list s	ervices to be d	liscontinued)	
			ou may attend a meet by of, 20	
	administration	office, (within	the 30 days set out a	
DATED AT		this	day of	, 20
			Tax Administrator	
			ian mullillistiatoi	

SCHEDULE XX

(paragraph 69(1)(c))

NOTICE OF HEARING

TO:			
ADDRESS:			
RE:	(specify proposed service	or local improvement of	charge)
(location) on theto consider representa	T Council shall hold a pul day of tions from affected ratepa al improvement charge.	, 20, at	o'clock
	CE THAT you may als be considered at the said		cil any writter
DATED AT	this	day of	. 20

Council

SUBJECT INDEX OF BY-LAW 2003 Vol. 7, No. 2

(**Note to Readers:** Band by-laws are indexed under subject headings listed alphabetically under the relevant by-law making provisions of the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5)

INDIAN ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5	
SECTION 83 – REAL PROPERTY TAXATION AND LICENSING	
EXEMPTION (Rates) see also RATES	
British Columbia	
Skowkale First Nation	
Exemption By-law 2002	520
FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION/MANAGEMENT	
British Columbia	
Blueberry River Indian Band	
Financial Administration By-law	456
Bonaparte Indian Band	
Financial Administration By-law No. 13, 2002	467
Chemainus First Nation	
Financial Administration By-law Amendment	486
Moricetown First Nation	
Financial Administration By-law	505
Yale First Nation No. 589	
Financial Administration By-law	635
Yekooche First Nation No. 728	
Financial Administration By-law	697
PROPERTY ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION	
Alberta	
Alexander First Nation	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	401
British Columbia	
Squamish Indian Band	
Property Assessment By-law,	
Amendment By-law No. 1-2002	523
Upper Similkameen Indian Band	
2002 Assessment By-law	528
Property Taxation By-law	581
Yale First Nation No. 589	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	646
Yekooche First Nation No. 728	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	708

INDIAN ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5 (continued)	
SECTION 83 – REAL PROPERTY TAXATION AND LICENSING (continue	ed)
PROPERTY ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION (continued)	
Saskatchewan	
Carry The Kettle First Nation	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	771
PROPERTY TAX EXPENDITURE	
British Columbia	
Matsqui First Nation	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	498
Upper Similkameen Indian Band	
Expenditure By-law	576
RATES see also EXEMPTION (Rates)	
Alerta	
Mikisew Cree First Nation	
2003 Tax Rates By-law	453
O'Chiese Rates By-law	
2002 Tax Rates By-law	455
British Columbia	
Cheam First Nation	
Rates By-law 2002-1	482
Rates By-law No. 2003-1	484
Columbia Lake Indian Band	
2003 Rates By-law	487
Lakahahmen First Nation	
2002 Rates By-law	489
Little Shuswap Indian Band	
Rates By-law 2003-T02	491
Lower Kootenay Indian Band	
2002 Rates By-law	492
2003 Rates By-law	494
Matsqui First Nation	
2002 Rates By-law No. 2002-02	496
Shuswap Indian Band	
2003 Rates By-law	516
Skowkale First Nation	
2002 Rates By-law	518
Skuppah Indian Band	_
2002 Rates By-law	521
Tsawout Indian Band	_
Rates By-law 2003 TX-01	526

826

INDIAN ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5 (continued)	
SECTION 83 - REAL PROPERTY TAXATION AND LICENSING (continu	ied)
RATES see also EXEMPTION (Rates) (continued)	
Manitoba	
Opaskwayak Cree Nation	
OCN Annual Tax Rate By-law No. 1, 2003	759
Nova Scotia	
Millbrook First Nation	
2003 Rates By-law	761
QUEBEC	
Innu-Takuaikan Uashat mak Mani-Utenam	
Règlement sur les taux annuels de taxes	
foncières, numéro 2, 2003	768
TELEPHONE COMPANIES TAXATION	
Ontario	
Lac La Croix First Nation	
Telephone Companies Taxation By-law	764

CUMULATIVE SUBJECT INDEX OF BY-LAWS 2003 Vol. 7, No. 1 and No. 2

(**Note to Readers:** Band by-laws are indexed under subject headings listed alphabetically under the relevant by-law making provisions of the *Budget Implementation Act*, S.C. 2000, c.14 and the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5)

BUDGET IMPLEMENTATION ACT, S.C. 2000, c.14	
SECTION 24(1) – CONSUMER TAXATION	
SALES TAX	
British Columbia	
Cowichan Tribes	
Community Improvement Fee By-law, 2002	7:1.85
INDIAN ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5	
SECTION 83 – REAL PROPERTY TAXATION AND LICENSING	
BUDGET	
British Columbia	
Kamloops Indian Band	
2002 Budget By-law	7:1.96
EXEMPTION (Rates) see also RATES	
British Columbia	
Skowkale First Nation	
Exemption By-law 2002	7:2.520
Tzeachten First Nation	
Exemption By-law 2002	7:1.323
FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION/MANAGEMENT	
Alberta	
Piikani Nation	
Settlement Revenue Account By-law	7:1.1
British Columbia	
Blueberry River Indian Band	
Financial Administration By-law	7:2.456
Bonaparte Indian Band	
Financial Administration By-law No. 13, 2002	7:2.467
Chemainus First Nation	
Financial Administration By-law Amendment	7:2.486
Moricetown First Nation	
Financial Administration By-law	7:2.505
Yale First Nation No. 589	= 0 0 =
Financial Administration By-law	7:2.635
Yekooche First Nation No. 728	7.0.607
Financial Administration By-law	7:2.697

INDIAN ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5 (continued)	
SECTION 83 – REAL PROPERTY TAXATION AND LICENSING (contin	ued)
FINANCIAL ADMINISTRATION/MANAGEMENT (continued)	,
Ontario	
Chippewas of Kettle & Stony Point First Nation	
Financial Management By-law	7:1.336
Michipicoten First Nation	
Financial Administration By-law	7:1.351
PROPERTY ASSESSMENT AND TAXATION	
Alberta	
Alexander First Nation	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	7:2.401
British Columbia	
Campbell River First Nation	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	7:1.28
Lower Similkameen Indian Band	
2002 Assessment By-law	7:1.117
Property Taxation By-law	
Moricetown First Nation	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	7:1.225
Squamish Indian Band	
Property Assessment By-law,	
Amendment By-law No. 1-2002	7:2.523
Upper Similkameen Indian Band	
2002 Assessment By-law	7:2.528
Property Taxation By-law	7:2.581
Yale First Nation No. 589	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	7:2.646
Yekooche First Nation No. 728	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	7:2.708
Saskatchewan	
Carry The Kettle First Nation	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	7:2.771
PROPERTY TAX EXPENDITURE	
British Columbia	
Bonaparte Indian Band	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law No. 11, 2002	7:1.6
Burns Lake Indian Band	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	7:1.20
Fort Nelson First Nation	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	7:1.89
Lower Similkameen Indian Band	
Expenditure By-law	7:1.165

INDIAN ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5 (continued)	
SECTION 83 – REAL PROPERTY TAXATION AND LICENSING (contin	nued)
PROPERTY TAX EXPENDITURE (continued)	
British Columbia (continued)	
Matsqui First Nation	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	7:2.498
Songhees First Nation	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	7:1.307
Tl'azt'en Nation	
2002 Expenditure By-law	7:1.316
Upper Similkameen Indian Band	
Expenditure By-law	7:2.576
Westbank First Nation	
[Tsinstikeptum] I.R. #9 Water Distribution System Capital	
Expenditure By-law No. 02-TX-04	7:1.326
RATES see also EXEMPTION (Rates)	
Alerta	
Mikisew Cree First Nation	
2003 Tax Rates By-law	7:2.453
O'Chiese Rates By-law	
2002 Tax Rates By-law	7:2.455
British Columbia	
Adams Lake Indian Band	
2002 Rates By-law	7:1.4
Boothroyd First Nation	
Assessment Standards and Maximun Tax Rates for Railway	
Right-of-Way Property By-law	7:1.12
Burns Lake Indian Band	
2002 Rates By-law No. 2002-02	7:1.18
Cheam First Nation	
Rates By-law 2002-1	7:2.482
Rates By-law No. 2003-1	
Coldwater Indian Band	
2002 Tax Rates By-law	7:1.79
Columbia Lake Indian Band	
2003 Rates By-law	7:2.487
Cook's Ferry Indian Band	
2002 Rates By-law	7:1.81
Cowichan Indian Band	
By-law to Fix Tax Rates for the Year 2002	7:1.83
Fort Nelson First Nation	,,,,,,,
2002 Rates By-law No. 2002-02	7.1 87

INDIAN ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5 (continued)	
SECTION~83-REAL~PROPERTY~TAXATION~AND~LICENSING~(continuous)	nued)
RATES see also EXEMPTION (Rates) (continued)	
British Columbia (continued)	
Kamloops Indian Band	
2002 Property Rates By-law	7:1.104
Lakahahmen First Nation	
2002 Rates By-law	7:2.489
Little Shuswap Indian Band	
Rates By-law 2003-T02	7:2.491
Lheidli T'enneh Band	
2002 Rates By-law	7:1.112
Lower Kootenay Indian Band	
2002 Rates By-law	7:2.492
2003 Rates By-law	7:2.494
Lower Nicola Indian Band	
Annual Tax Rates By-law for the Taxation Year 2002	7:1.114
Matsqui First Nation	
2002 Railway Right-of-Way Taxation Rates By-law	
No. 2002-04	7:1.224
2002 Rates By-law No. 2002-02	
Nadleh Whut'en Indian Band No. 612	
2002 Rates By-law Amending By-law	7:1.276
Pavilion Indian Band	
Rates By-law 2002-T05	7:1.278
Seabird Island Indian Band	
Rates By-law No. 2002-1	7:1.280
Shuswap Indian Band	
2003 Rates By-law	7:2.516
Skeetchestn Indian Band	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 7, 2002	7:1.282
Skowkale First Nation	
2002 Rates By-law	7:2.518
Skuppah Indian Band	
2002 Rates By-law	7:2.521
Snuneymuxw First Nation	
2002 Taxation Rates By-law	7:1.300
Soda Creek Indian Band	
2002 Rates By-law	7:1.303
Songhees First Nation	
2002 Rates By-law No. 2002-02	7:1.305
St. Mary's Indian Band	
Rates By-law 2002-YR10	7:1.315
•	

INDIAN ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c.I-5 (continued)	
SECTION 83 – REAL PROPERTY TAXATION AND LICENSING (contin	nued)
RATES see also EXEMPTION (Rates) (continued)	
British Columbia (continued)	
Tl'azt'en Nation	
2002 Rates By-law	7:1.317
Tsawout Indian Band	
Rates By-law 2003 TX-01	7:2.526
Tsleil-Waututh First Nation	
2002 Rates By-law	7:1.319
Tzeachten First Nation	
2002 Rates By-law	7:1.321
Upper Similkameen Indian Band	
2002 Rates By-law	7:1.324
Whispering Pines/Clinton Indian Band	
2002 Rates By-law	7:1.331
Manitoba	
Opaskwayak Cree Nation	
OCN Annual Tax Rate By-law No. 1, 2003	7:2.759
Nova Scotia	
Millbrook First Nation	
2002 Rates By-law	7:1.333
2003 Rates By-law	7:2.761
QUEBEC	
Innu-Takuaikan Uashat mak Mani-Utenam	
Règlement sur les taux annuels de taxes	
foncières, numéro 2, 2003	7:2.768
Saskatchewan	
Ocean Man First Nation	
2002 Rates By-law	7:1.362
White Bear First Nation	
2002 Tax Rates By-law	7:1.364
Whitecap Dakota First Nation	
2002 Rates By-law	7:1.367
TELEPHONE COMPANIES TAXATION	
Ontario	
Lac La Croix First Nation	
Telephone Companies Taxation By-law	7:2.764

TABLE OF BY-LAWS AND CODES

This table contains all by-laws and codes published to date in the First Nations Gazette. The by-laws and codes are arranged alphabetically, by province and by name of the enacting Indian band. This table is prepared for convenience of reference only.

The date on which a by-law or code came into force and effect is listed in a separate column.

The location of a by-law or code in the First Nations Gazette is indicated by the volume number, the issue number, and the page number (e.g. 7:2.401). Amendments to by-laws are listed in a separate column. The section amended is shown in boldface type followed by the name of the amending by-law and its location in the First Nations Gazette.

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
ALBERTA			
ALEXANDER FIRST NATION Property Assessment and Taxation Rv-law Nov 7/07	7/07 voN	7.2 401	
ALEXIS FIRST NATION			
2000 Tax Rates By-law	Sept 21/00	5:1.1	
2001 Tax Rates By-law	May 3/00	5:2.153	
2002 Tax Rates By-law	June 3/02	6:2.331	
Property Tax By-law	Feb 28/00	4:2.117	
DENE THA' FIRST NATION			
2000 Tax Rates By-law Dec 13/00	Dec 13/00	5:2.154	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Feb 28/00	Feb 28/00	4:2.150	
DUNCAN'S FIRST NATION			
Financial Administration By-law 2001 July 24/01	July 24/01	6:1.1	
ENOCH CREE NATION			
(1996) Budget By-law Oct 20/97	Oct 20/97	2:2.376	
LITTLE RED RIVER CREE NATION			
Business Licensing By-law No. 0002			
Respecting the Licensing of Member			
Businesses, Callings, Trades and			
Occupations in the Nation	Apr 28/98	3:1.1	
By-law No. 0003 Respecting Airport			
Landing Taxes Apr 28/98	Apr 28/98	3:1.13	
MIKISEW CREE FIRST NATION			
1997 Rates By-law Oct 20/97	Oct 20/97	2:1.66	
1998 Rates By-law	May 27/98	2:2.383	

Title	Effective date	F. N. Gaz.	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments
ALBERTA (continued)			
Mikisew Cree First nation (continued) 2001 Tax Rates By-law May 3/01	May 3/01	5.2.156	
2002 Tax Rates By-law June 3/02	June 3/02	6:2.333	
2003 Tax Rates By-law May 13/03	May 13/03	7:2.453	
Amendment Property Tax Expenditure			
By-law. July 20/98	July 20/98	3:1.17	
Financial Administration By-law Sept 10/97	Sept 10/97	2:1.1	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Sept 10/97	Sept 10/97	2:1.12	ss.12, 15, 19, 24(1), 46(1), 49 by Property
			Assessment and Taxation Amending By-law No. 8 1997 (2:1.63)
Property Assessment and Taxation Amending			
By-law No. 8 1997 Sept 10/97	Sept 10/97	2:1.63	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law Feb 20/98	Feb 20/98	2:2.377	repealed by Amendment Property Tax
			Expenditure By-law (3:1.17)
O'CHIESE HIRST INATION			
1999 Tax Rates By-law Dec 8/99	Dec 8/99	4:2.202	
2000 Tax Rates By-law	Sept 21/00	5:1.2	
2001 Tax Rates By-law June 15/01	June 15/01	5:2.157	
2002 Tax Rates By-law Oct 10/02	Oct 10/02	7:2.455	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Feb 23/99 PIRANI NATION	Feb 23/99	3:2.211	
Settlement Revenue Account By-law Nov 5/02	Nov 5/02	7:1.1	
Stoney First Nation 2000 Tax Rates By-law July 6/00	July 6/00	4:2.203	

Title	Effective date	F. N. Gaz.	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments
ALBERTA (continued) STONEY FIRST NATION (continued) 2001 Tax Rates By-law	May 19/01	5:2.158	
2002 Tax Rates By-law	May 29/02	6:2.335	
	Sept 2/99 Oct 1/01	4:1.1	
Property Tax By-law Feb 23/99	Feb 23/99	3:2.263	ss.5.2, 7.3.1, 8.1, 12.1 by Property Tax Bv-law Amendment (4:1.2)
Property Tax By-law Amendment Sept 2/99 BRITISH COLUMBIA ADAMS LAKE INDIAN BAND	Sept 2/99	4:1.2	
	May 23/97	2:1.70	
1998 Rates By-law	July 2/98	3:1.23	
1999 Rates By-law	May 31/99	3:2.296	
2000 Rates By-law	June 25/00	4:2.205	
2001 Rates By-law	July 13/01 Ang 5/02	6:1.16 7·1 4	
Financial Management By-law 2000-1	May 5/01	5:2.160	
ASHCROFT INDIAN BAND			
1996 Property Rates By-law Jan 15/97	Jan 15/97	2:1.72	
1997 Property Tax Rates By-law Feb 3/98	Feb 3/98	2:2.384	
1998 Property Rates By-law	Dec 8/98	3:1.25	
Financial Administration By-law Jan 14/03	Jan 14/03	7:2.456	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz.	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) Bonaparte Indian Band			
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 5 (1997) July 29/97	July 29/97	2:1.74	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 6, 1999	June 28/99	3:2.298	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 7, 2000	July 27/00	5:2.175	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 8, 2001	Aug 6/01	6:1.18	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 10, 2002 July 15/02	July 15/02	6:2.337	
Financial Administration By-law			
No. 13, 2002	Nov 27/02	7:2.467	
Property Tax Amendment By-law			
No. 9, 2002.	July 15/02	6:2.340	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	•		
No. 11, 2002 Oct 10/02	Oct 10/02	7:1.6	
BOOTHROYD FIRST NATION			
Assessment Standards and Maximun Tax			
Rates for Railway Right-of-Way			
Property By-law	Oct 23/02	7:1.12	
BOOTHROYD INDIAN BAND			
1996 Property Rates By-law Jan 9/97	Jan 9/97	2:1.76	
1999 Tax Rates By-law Sept 3/99	Sept 3/99	4:1.3	
2001 Tax Rates By-law Dec 19/01	Dec 19/01	6:2.342	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	Sept 3/99	4:1.4	
BURNS LAKE INDIAN BAND			
1998 Rates By-law No. 1998-02 Aug 4/98	Aug 4/98	3:1.27	
2001 Rates By-law No. 2001-02 Aug 25/01	Aug 25/01	6:1.21	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz.	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) BURNS LAKE INDIAN BAND (continued)			
2002 Rates By-law No. 2002-02	June 3/02	7:1.18	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	Feb 8/00	4:2.207	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	Aug 25/01	6:1.23	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	June 3/02	7:1.20	
CAMPBELL RIVER FIRST NATION			
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Nov 27/02	Nov 27/02	7:1.28	
CHAWATHIL FIRST NATIONS			
1998 Rates By-law	June 1/98	2:2.386	
1999 Rates By-law	Apr 16/99	3:2.300	
2000 Rates By-law	June 25/00	4:2.213	
2001 Rates By-law	June 15/01	5:2.177	
2002 Rates By-law	May 29/02	6:2.344	
Chawathil Indian Band			
Rates By-law 1996-T06 Jan 9/97	Jan 9/97	2:1.78	
Rates By-law 1997-T01	July 23/97	2:1.79	
CHEAM FIRST NATION			
Rates By-law 1998-1	June 10/98	2:2.388	
Rates By-law 1999-1	May 31/99	3:2.302	
Rates By-law 2001-1	Aug 6/01	6:1.30	
Rates By-law 2002-1	Jan 24/03	7:2.482	
Rates By-law No. 2003-1	April 9/03	7:2.484	
Cheam Indian Band			
Rates By-law 1997-T05 June 2/97	June 2/97	2:1.80	

Title	Effective date	F. N. Gaz.	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) CHEMAINUS FIRST NATION Financial Administration By-law	Mar 30/01	5:2.179	s.9.2 by Financial Administration By-law Amendment (7:2:486)
Financial Administration By-law Amendment Feb 25/03 COLDWATER INDIAN BAND	Feb 25/03	7:2.486	
	June 11/98 May 31/99	2:2.389 3:2.304	
2000 Tax Rates By-law June 25/00 2001 Tax Rates By-law May 30/01 2002 Tax Rates By-law Aug 5/02	June 25/00 May 30/01 Aug 5/02	4:2.215 5:2.188 7:1.79	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Sept 30/97	Sept 30/97	2:2.391	ss.2(1), 19, 23, 24, 26(2), 27, 31, 33, 33(2), 38(1)(a), 42(1), 48, Schs II, X by Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Amendment No. 1998-01 (3:1.29)
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Amendment No. 1998-01 July 20/98 Property Tax Expenditure By-law Jan 22/98 COLUMBIA LAKE INDIAN BAND	July 20/98 Jan 22/98	3:1.29 2:2.455	
1997 Rates By-law May 30/97 1998 Rates By-law June 1/98 1999 Rates By-law May 31/99 2000 Rates By-law June 4/00 2001 Rates By-law June 1/98	May 30/97 June 1/98 May 31/99 June 4/00 June 15/01	2:1.82 2:2.462 3:2.306 4:2.217 5:2.190	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued)			
2002 Rates By-law May 29/02	May 29/02	6:2.346	
2003 Rates By-law April 25/03	April 25/03	7:2.487	
COOK'S FERRY INDIAN BAND			
1996 Rates By-law Feb 3/97	Feb 3/97	2:1.83	
1997 Rates By-law May 30/97	May 30/97	2:1.84	
1998 Rates By-law	June 1/98	2:2.465	
2000 Rates By-law	Dec 18/00	5:2.192	
2001 Rates By-law Oct 1/01	Oct 1/01	6:1.32	
2002 Rates By-law Sept 1/02	Sept 1/02	7:1.81	
Taxation Amending By-law No. 1996-01 Feb 3/97	Feb 3/97	2:1.85	
Cowichan Indian Band			
Annual Property Tax Budget By-law 1997 June 20/97	June 20/97	2:1.86	
By-law to Fix Tax Rate and Percentage			
Additions for the Year 1997 June 20/97	June 20/97	2:1.89	
By-law to Fix Tax Rate and Percentage			
Additions for the Year 2000	Sept 21/00	5:1:3	
By-law to Fix Tax Rate for the Year 2001	Oct 18/01	6:1.34	
By-law to Fix Tax Rate for the Year 2002	Oct 23/02	7:1.83	
Business Licensing By-law			
By-law No. 2, 1997 Mar 19/98	Mar 19/98	2:2.467	
Property Assessment and Taxation			
Amendment By-law No. 2, 1997 Dec 4/97	Dec 4/97	2:2.483	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) COWICHAN INDIAN BAND (continued) Property Assessment and Taxation Amendment By-law No. 3, 2000 July 27/00	July 27/00	5:2.194	
COWICHAN I RIBES Community Improvement Fee By-law, 2002 FORT NELSON FIRST NATION		7:1.85	
2001 Rates By-law No. 2001-02 Aug 25/01 2002 Rates By-law No. 2002-02 Aug 5/02	Aug 25/01 Aug 5/02	6:1.36 7:1.87	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	Aug 25/01	6:1.38	
Property Tax Expenditure By-lawKAMLOOPS INDIAN BAND	Aug 5/02	7:1.89	
1999 Rates and Budget By-law July 20/99	July 20/99	3:2.309	
2000 Rates and Budget By-law	Sept 30/00	5:1.5	
2001 Budget By-law	Oct 18/01	6:1.45	
2002 Budget By-law	Oct 6/02	7:1.96	
2001 Property Rates By-law Oct 18/01	Oct 18/01	6:1.51	
2002 Property Rates By-law	Oct 6/02	7:1.104	
A By-law to Amend the Business License By-law 1981-1 By-law Amendment			
No. 1, 1997-1	May 9/97	2:1.91	
Business Licensing By-law No. 2001-04 June 3/02	June 3/02	6:2.348	
Property Assessment Amendment By-law No. 00-52	Dec 17/00	5:2.198	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) KAMLOOPS INDIAN BAND (continued)			
Property Assessment Amendment			
	Dec 20/00	5:2.199	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law July 29/97	July 29/97	2:1.123	
Property Taxation and Assessnent			
Amendment By-law No. 00-51	Dec 17/00	5:2.200	
	Sept 1/98	3:1.38	
Taxation Amendment By-law 1997-3	Sept 30/97	2:2.486	
Taxation and Implementation Amendment			
By-law 1997-02 July 4/97	July 4/97	2:1.129	
Kwaw Kwaw Apilt First Nation			
1998 Rates By-law	Aug 11/98	3:1.44	
1999 Rates By-law	July 20/99	3:2.317	
2000 Rates By-law	Sept 21/00	5:1.14	
2001 Rates By-law	June 12/01	5:2.203	
Exemption By-law 1998	Aug 11/98	3:1.43	
Exemption By-law 1999	July 20/99	3:2.316	
Exemption By-law 2001	July 31/01	6:1.54	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	Oct 19/00	5:1.16	
Property Taxation and Assessment By-laws			
Amendment By-law No. 2000-02 Oct 19/00	Oct 19/00	5:1.23	
LAKAHAHMEN FIRST INATION	9	,	
1998 Rates By-law Aug 11/98	Aug 11/98	3:1.48	
1999 Rates By-law Sept 7/99	Sept 7/99	4:1.10	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz.	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued)			
2000 Rates By-law	Sept 21/00	5:1.24	
	June 15/01	5:2.205	
2002 Rates By-law	Oct 6/02	7:2.489	
Exemption By-law 1998	Aug 11/98	3:1.47	
Exemption By-law 1999	Sept 7/99	4:1.9	
		5:1.26	
Exemption By-law 2001	June 15/01	5:2.207	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	Sept 21/00	5:1.27	
Property Taxation and Assessment By-laws			
Amendment By-law No. 2000-02	Sept 21/00	5:1.34	
Property Taxation and Assessment By-laws			
Amendment By-law No. 2000-03 Feb 24/01	Feb 24/01	5:2.208	
LHEIDLI T'ENNEH BAND			
1999 Rates By-law Sept 3/99	Sept 3/99	4:1.12	
2000 Rates By-law	Dec 5/00	5:1.35	
2001 Rates By-law	Aug 25/01	6:1.55	
2002 Rates By-law Sept 1/02	Sept 1/02	7:1.112	
Land Code	Dec 1/00	5:2.209	
Taxation and Assessment Amending			
By-law No. 1997-1 Oct 24/97	Oct 24/97	2:2.492	
Taxation Rates By-law, 1998-TX01	June 10/98	2:2.507	
LHEIT-LIT'EN NATION INDIAN BAND Taxarion Rates Rv-law 1996	Ian 13/97	2.1 134	
בתאמנוסון זאמנט דל זמאי, זיי סיייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייי	our Tolor	101:17	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz.	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued)			
LHEIT-LIT EN INATION INDIAN BAND (CONUNUED)	!		
Taxation Rates By-law, 1997 June 20/97	June 20/97	2:1.135	
LILLOOET INDIAN BAND			
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	Mar 20/97	2:1.136	
Rates By-law 1996-T02	Apr 28/97	2:1.144	
Rates By-law 1997-T01	June 20/97	2:1.145	
Rates By-law 1998-T01	June 18/98	2:2.508	
Rates By-law 1999-T01	Sept 3/99	4:1.14	
Taxation Amending By-law No. 1996-T02	Mar 20/97	2:1.146	
LITTLE SHUSWAP INDIAN BAND			
Rates By-law 1997-T02	May 30/97	2:1.148	
Rates By-law 1998-T02	June 10/98	2:2.509	
Rates By-law 1999-T02	May 31/99	3:2.320	
Rates By-law 2000-T02	Sept 21/00	5:1.37	
Rates By-law 2001-T02	June 2/01	5:2.241	
Rates By-law 2002-T02	May 29/02	6:2.382	
Rates By-law 2003-T02	June 1/03	7:2.491	
LOWER KOOTENAY INDIAN BAND			
1997 Rates By-law	May 29/97	2:1.149	
1998 Rates By-law	June 1/98	2:2.513	
1999 Rates By-law	May 31/99	3:2.321	
2000 Rates By-law	Dec 5/00	5:1.38	
2001 Rates By-law Dec 19/01	Dec 19/01	6:2.383	
2002 Rates By-law	Oct 10/02	7:2.492	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) LOWER KOOTENAY INDIAN BAND (continued) 2003 Rates By-law	April 30/03	7:2.494	
(Being a By-law to Amend Assessment By-law 1992 S. (40))	Nov 6/97 Nov 6/97	2:2.510 2:2.516	
1997 Annual Tax Rates By-law Number 12 July 14/97 1998 Annual Tax Rates By-law Number 14 Aug 4/98	July 14/97 Aug 4/98	2:1.151 3:1.50	
1999 Annual Tax Rates By-law	May 31/99 June 4/00	3:2.324 4:2.219	
2001 Annual Tax Rates By-law Aug 2/01 2002 Annual Tax Rates By-law Sept 1/02	Aug 2/01 Sept 1/02	6:1.57 7:1.114	
Property Assessment Amending By-law Number 11 July 23/97	July 23/97	2:1.154	
Property Assessment By-law Amendment By-law Number 12	Jan 21/01	5:2.242	
1998 Rates By-law Dec 23/98	Dec 23/98 Feb 8/00	3:2.329	
2000 Rates By-law		5:2.244 7:1.117	
By-law 1997.02 (A By-law to Amend By-law 1997.01 Respecting Property Taxation) Jan 22/98		2:2.523	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) LOWER SIMILKAMEEN INDIAN BAND (continued)			
Expenditure By-law	Nov 30/02	7:1.165	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Oct 20/97	Oct 20/97	2:2.526	
	Nov 30/02	7:1.170	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law No. 1998 03 May 25/98	May 25/98	3.1 54	
Matsqui First Nation			
1998 Rates By-law	Aug 10/98	3:1.60	
1999 Rates By-law	July 30/99	4:1.16	
2000 Rates By-law No. 2000-02		5:2.246	
2002 Railway Right-of-Way Taxation Rates			
By-law No. 2002-04 Sept 1/02	Sept 1/02	7:1.224	
2002 Rates By-law No. 2002-02	Dec 18/02	7:2.496	
Exemption By-law 1998	Aug 10/98	3:1.59	
Exemption By-law 1999	July 30/99	4:1.15	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	Jan 15/03	7:2.498	
Property Tax By-law Feb 3/97	Feb 3/97	2:1.159	
Moricetown First Nation			
Financial Adminstration By-law Jan 14/03	Jan 14/03	7:2.505	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Nov 27/02 Misolffeam India Band	Nov 27/02	7:1.225	
1997 Annual Tax Rates By-law May 30/97	May 30/97	2:1.216	
1998 Rates By-law No. 1998-02 June 10/98	June 10/98	3:1.63	

Title	Effective date	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued)			
Musqueam Indian Band (continued)			
	May 31/99	3:2.331	
2000 Rates By-law No. 2000-01		4:2.224	
2001 Rates By-law No. 2001-01	Sept 20/01	6:1.60	
2002 Rates By-law No. 2002-01	July 15/02	6:2.385	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	June 10/98	3:1.65	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	July 15/02	6:2.387	
	July 20/99	3:2.333	
1999 Rates By-law	Mar 23/99	3:2.335	Sch A by 1999 Rates By-law Amending By-law (3:2.333)
2000 Rates By-law Amending By-law	June 25/00	4:2.226	
2001 Rates By-law Amending By-law		6:1.62	
2002 Rates By-law Amending By-law		7:1.276	
Financial Administration By-law	June 28/99	3:2.337	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law	Apr 7/99	3:2.348	ss.12, 19, 24(1), 46(1), 49 by Property Assessment and Taxation Amending By-law (4:1.19)
Property Assessment and Taxation			
Amending By-lawNAK'AZDLI INDIAN BAND	Sept 3/99	4:1.19	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Sept 30/00 NAMAMO INDIAN RAID GO SUIDIFFAMILYW FIRST NATION	Sept 30/00	5:1.40	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 1, 1996 Jan 9/97	Jan 9/97	2:1.218	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz.	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued)	Manual (october	(T	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law Apr 7/97 2:1.	Apr 7/97	z:1.220	
Neskonlith Indian Band	•		
1997 Rates By-law July 23/97	July 23/97	2:1.226	
1998 Rates By-law	Sept 21/98	3:1.73	
1999 Rates By-law	Dec 22/99	4:2.229	
2001 Rates By-law	Oct 31/01	6:1.65	
OSOYOOS INDIAN BAND			
Tax Rates By-law No. 001, 1997		2:1.227	
Tax Rates By-law No. 001, 1998	July 2/98	3:1.74	
Tax Rates By-law No. 001, 1999		4:1.21	
Tax Rates By-law No. 001, 2000	July 27/00	5:2.249	
Tax Rates By-law No. 001, 2001		5:2.251	
Tax Rates By-law No. 001, 2002	July 15/02	6:2.393	
Pavilion Indian Band			
Rates By-law 1997-T05 July 14/97	July 14/97	2:1.229	
Rates By-law 1998-T05	June 9/98	2:2.583	
Rates By-law 1999-T05	6	3:2.399	
Rates By-law 2000-T05		4:2.230	
Rates By-law 2001-T05	Aug 6/01	6:1.67	
Rates By-law 2002-T05	Sept 15/02	7:1.278	
Taxation and Assessment Amending By-law No. 1997-1 July 14/97	July 14/97	2:1.230	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued)			
SEABIRD ISLAND INDIAN BAND			
Assessment By-law	Sept 20/01	6:1.69	
Rates By-law 1997-1	May 30/97	2:1.232	
Rates By-law 1998-1	June 9/98	2:2.584	
Rates By-law 1999-1	May 31/99	3:2.400	
Rates By-law 2000-1	June 4/00	4:2.232	
Rates By-law 2001-1	June 15/01	5:2.253	
Rates By-law 2002-1	Sept 1/02	7:1.280	
Taxation By-law	Sept 20/01	6:1.109	
Shuswap Indian Band			
1998 Rates By-law	June 9/98	2:2.585	
1997 Rates By-law	May 30/97	2:1.233	
1999 Rates By-law	May 31/99	3:2.402	
2000 Rates By-law	June 25/00	4:2.233	
2001 Rates By-law	June 14/01	5:2.255	
2002 Rates By-law	May 29/02	6:2.395	
2003 Rates By-law		7:2.516	
Skeetchestn Indian Band			
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 5, 1997	May 30/97	2:1.234	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 6, 1998	June 9/98	2:2.588	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 6, 1999	Oct. 31/99	4:1.23	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 6, 2001	Sept 20/01	6:1.141	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 7, 2002	Sept 1/02	7:1.282	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz.	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) SKEETCHESTN INDIAN BAND (continued) Financial Management By-law			
No. 1985-2 (Revised 1996) Aug 5/97 SKIDEGATE INDIAN BAND	Aug 5/97	2:2.606	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Feb 1/02 Skowkale First Nation	Feb 1/02	6:2.397	
1998 Rates By-law	Aug 11/98	3:1.77	
		3:2.405	
2000 Rates By-law	Sept 21/00	5:1.92	
2001 Rates By-law		6:1.159	
2002 Rates By-law	Oct 10/02	7:2.518	
Exemption By-law 1998	Aug 11/98	3:1.76	
Exemption By-law 1999	July 20/99	3:2.404	
Exemption By-law 2000	Sept 21/00	5:1.94	
Exemption By-law 2001		6:1.161	
Exemption By-law 2002	Oct 10/02	7:2.520	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	Sept 21/00	5:1.95	
Property Taxation and Assessment By-laws			
Amendment By-law No. 2000-02	Sept 6/00	5:1.102	
Property Taxation and Assessment By-laws			
Amendment By-law No. 2000-03 Feb 24/01	Feb 24/01	5:2.257	
Skuppah Indian Band			
2002 Rates By-law Oct 10/02		7:2.521	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) SLIAMMON FIRST NATION			
1997 Annual Tax Rates By-law May 29/97	May 29/97	2:1.252	
1998 Annual Tax Rates By-law June 18/98	June 18/98	2:2.624	
1999 Annual Tax Rate By-law May 31/99	May 31/99	3:2.408	
2000 Annual Tax Rates By-law June 25/00	June 25/00	4:2.235	
2001 Annual Tax Rates By-law Aug 6/01	Aug 6/01	6:1.162	
2002 Annual Tax Rates By-law July 15/02	July 15/02	6:2.449	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law June 20/97	June 20/97	2:1.254	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law Aug 6/01	Aug 6/01	6:1.164	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law July 15/02	July 15/02	6:2.451	
SNUNEYMUXW FIRST NATION see also Nanaimo Indian Band	IAN BAND		
2002 Taxation Rates By-law Sept 1/02	Sept 1/02	7:1.300	
SODA CREEK INDIAN BAND			
1998 Rates By-law June 10/98	June 10/98	2:2.682	
1999 Rates By-law July 30/99	July 30/99	4:1.41	
2001 Rates By-law June 14/01		5:2.258	
2002 Rates By-law	Nov 27/02	7:1.303	
Property Assessment and Taxation			
By-law No. 1998-TX01 Dec 23/97	Dec 23/97	2:2.626	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law Sept 3/99 Songhees First Nation	Sept 3/99	4:1.43	
1998 Rates By-Law No. 1998-02 June 9/98	June 9/98	2:2.683	
1999 Rates By-law No. 1999-02 May 31/99	May 31/99	3:2.411	
2000 Rates By-law No. 2000-02 June 25/00	June 25/00	4:2.237	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) Songhees First Nation (continued) 2001 Rates By-law No. 2001-02 June 15/01	June 15/01	5:2.260	
	June 3/02	7:1.305	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law S	Sept 21/00	5:1.103	
	June 15/01	5:2.262	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law June 3/02 Songhees Indian Band	June 3/02	7:1.307	
1997 Annual Tax Rates By-law June 2/97	June 2/97	2:1.261	
SPUZZUM INDIAN DAND	i c	0	
1996 Property Rates By-law Jan 9/97 Squamish Indian Band	Jan 9/97	2:1.263	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 1, 1997 N	May 30/97	2:1.265	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 1, 1998 June 11/98		2:2.685	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 1, 1999 N	May 31/99	3:2.413	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 1, 2000 June 4/00		4:2.239	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 1, 2001 June 15/01	June 15/01	5:2.270	
Annual Tax Rates By-law No. 1, 2002 Ji	July 15/02	6:2.458	
Property Assessment By-law,			
Amendment By-law No. 1-1998 June 9/98	June 9/98	3:1.80	
Property Assessment By-law,			
Amendment By-law No. 1-1999 Feb 8/00	Feb 8/00	4:2.244	
Property Assessment By-law,			
Amendment By-law No. 1-2000 Dec 20/00	Dec 20/00	5:2.275	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz.	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) SQUAMISH INDIAN BAND (continued)			
Property Assessment By-law,			
Amendment By-law No. 1-2001 Feb 16/02	Feb 16/02	6:2.462	
Property Assessment By-law,	Ect 14,02	7.7	
Amenument by law inc. 1-2002 reb 14/03 Property Taxation By-law,	reb 14/03	1.4.343	
Amendment By-law No. 1-1998 June 9/98	June 9/98	3:1.84	
St. Mary's Indian Band			
Rates By-law 1997-T05 June 2/97	June 2/97	2:1.270	
Rates By-law 1998-T05 June 18/98	June 18/98	2:2.690	
Rates By-law 1999-T07 July 30/99	July 30/99	4:1.49	
Rates By-law 2000-YR08 June 25/00	June 25/00	4:2.247	
Rates By-law 2001-YR09 Aug 6/01	Aug 6/01	6:1.172	
Rates By-law 2002-YR10	Sept 1/02	7:1.315	
Stellat'en First Nation			
By-law No. 1998-1 - Respecting the			
Appropriation and Expenditure of Moneys			
for Primary and Secondary Education Nov 5/99	Nov 5/99	4:1.50	
TL'AZT'EN NATION			
2000 Expenditure By-law Dec 20/00	Dec 20/00	5:2.278	
2002 Expenditure By-law	July 15/02	7:1.316	
1998 Rates By-law July 23/98	July 23/98	3:1.87	
1999 Rates By-law Nov 1/99	Nov 1/99	4:1.53	
2000 Rates By-law Oct 20/00	Oct 20/00	5:1.111	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz.	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued)			
1L AZI EN INALION (COILIILIUCU) 2002 Rafes By-law Into 15/02	July 15/02	7.1 317	
TOBACCO PLAINS INDIAN BAND			
2002 Rates By-law June 3/02	June 3/02	6:2.471	
TSAWOUT INDIAN BAND			
Rates By-law 1997-T01	May 28/97	2:1.271	
Rates By-law 1998-TX01		2:2.691	
Rates By-law 1999-TX01		3:2.418	
Rates By-law 2000 TX-01	June 4/00	4:2.248	
Rates By-law 2001 TX-02	June 13/01	5:2.279	
Rates By-law 2002 TX-01	May 29/02	6:2.473	
Rates By-law 2003 TX-01	June 1/03	7:2.526	
TSAWWASSEN FIRST NATION			
1997 Rates By-law	June 2/97	2:1.275	
1998 Rates By-law		2:2.694	
1999 Rates By-law	May 31/99	3:2.422	
2000 Rates By-law		4:2.295	
2001 Rates By-law	June 15/01	5:2.281	
2002 Rates By-law	June 3/02	6:2.474	
Assessment By-law Amendment			
	Mar 9/00	4:2.250	
By-law Authorizing Reduction of Taxes by an Amount Equal to Provincial Home Ownership Grants June 2/97	June 2/97	2:1.274	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) TSAWWASSEN FIRST NATION (continued) By-law Authorizing Reduction of Taxes by an Amount Equal to Provincial			
Home Ownership Grants June 1/98 Taxation By-law Amendment By-law 1997 Oct 20/97	June 1/98 997 Oct 20/97	2:2.693 2:2.696	
Taxation By-law Amendment By-law 1999 Mar 9/00 TSLEIL-WAUTUTH NATION (BURRARD INDIAN BAND)	Mar 9/00	4:2.297	
1999 Rates By-law June 28/99	June 28/99	3:2.424	
2000 Rates By-law	June 25/00 June 15/01	4:2.300 5:2.283	
2002 Rates By-law	Sept 1/02	7:1.319	
Consolidated Property Assessment and	0000		
Taxation By-law 1997	Sept 30/97	2:2.098	ss.16, 21(1), 30(2) by Consolidated Property Assessment and Taxation By-law 1997 Amendment By-law 1999-1 (4:2.302) s.46 by Consolidated Property Assessment and Taxation By-law 1997 Amendment By-law 1999-2000 (4:2.304)
	Feb 8/00	4:2.302	
Consolidated Property Assessment and Taxation By-law 1997 Amendment By-law 1999-2000	Dec 7/99	4:2.304	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz.	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued)			
TSLEIL-WAUTUTH NATION (BURRARD INDIAN BAND) (continued)	(continued)		
Expenditure By-law No. EXP-2000-01 Dec 18/00	Dec 18/00	5:2.285	
Tzeachten First Nation			
1998 Rates By-law	Aug 11/98	3:1.90	
		3:2.427	
2000 Rates By-law	Sept 21/00	5:1.113	
2001 Rates By-law	June 15/01	5:2.290	
2002 Rates By-law	Sept 1/02	7:1.321	
Exemption By-law 1998	Aug 11/98	3:1.89	
Exemption By-law 1999	July 20/99	3:2.426	
Exemption By-law 2001	June 15/01	5:2.292	
Exemption By-law 2002	Sept 1/02	7:1.323	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	Sept 21/00	5:1.115	
Property Taxation and Assessment By-laws			
Amendment By-law No. 2000-02 Sept 6/00	Sept 6/00	5:1.122	
Property Taxation and Assessment By-laws			
Amendment By-law No. 2000-03 Dec 20/00	Dec 20/00	5:2.293	
Upper Similkameen Indian Band			
1997 Rates By-law Aug 15/97	Aug 15/97	2:1.278	
1998 Rates By-law	Oct 23/98	3:1.93	
1999 Rates By-law	Dec 7/99	4:2.305	
2000 Rates By-law	Jan 21/01	5:2.294	
2001 Rates By-law Sept 20/01	Sept 20/01	6:1.173	
2002 Rates By-law	Nov 27/02	7:1.324	

858

Title	Effective date	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued)			
UPPER SIMILKAMEEN INDIAN BAND (continued)			
2002 Assessment By-law Dec 19/02		7:2.528	
Expenditure By-law Jan 15/03		7:2.576	
Property Tax Amending By-law No. 1 (1997). Nov 7/97		2:2.752	
Property Tax By-law Feb 11/97		2:1.280	
Property Taxation By-law Dec 19/02	Dec 19/02	7:2.581	
West Moberly First Nations #545			
Financial Administration By-law Feb 16/02	Feb 16/02	6:2.476	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law May 29/02	May 29/02	6:2.487	
Westbank First Nation			
1997 Expenditure By-law Annual Budget July 29/97	July 29/97	2:1.337	
1997 Tax Rate Schedule Amending By-law May 28/97	May 28/97	2:1.339	
1998 Expenditure By-law Annual Budget	May 28/98	3:1.95	
1998 Tax Rate Schedule Amending By-law	May 28/98	3:1.97	
1999 Expenditure By-law Annual Budget	May 28/99	3:2.430	
1999 Tax Rate Schedule Amending By-law	May 28/99	3:2.432	
2000 Tax Rate Schedule Amending By-law June 1/00		4:2.307	
2001 Expenditure By-law Annual Budget June 15/01		5:2.296	
2001 Tax Rate Schedule Amending By-law	May 30/01	5:2.298	
2002 Expenditure By-law Annual Budget	May 29/02	6:2.539	
2002 Tax Rate Schedule Amending By-law	May 29/02	6:2.541	
Campbell Road Capital Expenditure By-law			
No. 01-TX-01 May 5/01	May 5/01	5:2.300	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) WESTBANK FIRST NATION (continued) Cougar Road Improvement			
rworks	May 7/00	4:2.309	
By-law No. 99-TX-04 Oct 17/99	Oct 17/99	4:2.312	
ent	Oct 31/97	2:2.754	
Property Taxation Amendment By-law 97-TX-04	Dec 19/97	2:2.757	
Property Taxation Amendment By-law 99-TX-01 June 23/99	June 23/99	3:2.434	
Taxation Expenditure Amendment Bv-law 97-TX-03	79/92 vlul.	2:1.341	
19987		2:1.344	
Tsinstikeptum IR#9 Capital Expenditure By-law No. 00-TX-02 May 7/00	May 7/00	4:2.315	repealed by Tsinstikeptum Indian Reserve No. 9 Canital Expenditure By-law
Tsinstikeptum Indian Reserve No. 9 Capital Expenditure By-law No. 00-TX-06 Dec 21/00 [Tsinstikeptum] I.R. #9 Water Distribution	Dec 21/00	5:2.309	No. 00-TX-06 (5:2.309)
System Capital Expenditure By-law No. 02-TX-04	Nov 30/02	7:1.326	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
BRITISH COLUMBIA (continued) WESTBANK FIRST NATION (continued) Tsinstikeptum IR#10 Capital Expenditure By-law No. 00-TX-01	May 7/00	4:2.341	repealed by Tsinstikeptum Indian Reserve No. 10 Capital Expenditure By-law No. 00-TX-05 (5:2.311)
Tsinstikeptum Indian Reserve No. 10 Capital Expenditure By-law No. 00-TX-05 Dec 21/00 [Tsinstikeptum] I.R.#10 Water Distribution System Capital Expenditure By-law	Dec 21/00	5:2.311	
No. 01-TX-02 May 5/01 WHISPERING PINES/CLINTON INDIAN BAND	May 5/01	5:2.305	
1997 Rates By-law May 30/97 Rates Bv-law June 18/98	May 30/97 June 18/98	2:1.346 2:2.760	
1999 Rates By-law	July 20/99 Dec 19/01	3:2.435	
2002 Rates By-law Property Tax Expenditure Rv.law 1996	Oct 10/02 Feb 3/97	7:1.331 7:1.350	
YALE FIRST NATION NO. 589 Financial Administration Rv-law Ian 24/03	In 24/03	7.2 635	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law April 9/03 Yekooche First Nation No. 728	April 9/03	7:2.646	
Financial Administration By-law Nov 27/02 Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Feb 25/03	Nov 27/02 Feb 25/03	7:2.697 7:2.708	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz.	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
MANITOBA MARCEL COLOMB FIRST NATION Band Custom Election Code	Mar 12/99	3:2.437	
OCN Annual Tax Rate By-Law No. 1, 1998 May 25/98 OCN Annual Tax Rate By-law No. 1, 1999 May 17/99	May 25/98 May 17/99	2:2.762 3:2.457	
OCN Annual Tax Rate By-law No. 1, 2000 OCN Annual Tax Rate By-law No. 1, 2001	July 11/00 May 19/01	4:2.384 5:2.313	
OCN Annual Tax Rate By-law No. 1, 2002 OCN Annual Tax Rate By-law No. 1, 2003	May 29/02 May 13/03	6:2.545 7:2.759	
OCN Land Tax By-law Amendment 1998 June 9/98 OCN Land Tax Expenditure By-law 1998 June 9/98	June 9/98 June 9/98	3:1.99 3:1.101	
NEW BRUNSWICK Miawpukek First Nation			
Telephone Companies Taxation By-law Feb 9/00 RED BANK FIRST NATION	Feb 9/00	4:2.386	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law May 5/01 NORTHWEST TERRITORIES HAY RIVER DENE BAND RESERVE NO. 1	May 5/01	5:2.315	
Business Licensing By-law Jan 13/00 NOVA SCOTIA ESKASONI BAND	Jan 13/00	4:2.390	
2001 Taxation Rates By-law May 5/01 Property Assessment and Taxation By-law June 9/98	May 5/01 June 9/98	5:2.367 3:1.108	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
NOVA SCOTIA (continued) Membertou Band			
Code No. 1997-1 Being a Code Respecting			
the Regulation of Traffic	Feb 22/97	3:1.157	
1998 Rates By-law Dec 8/98	Dec 8/98	3:1.182	
2000 Rates By-law	Sept 21/00	5:1.123	
2001 Rates By-law	May 5/01	5:2.369	
2002 Rates By-law	May 26/02	7:1.333	
2003 Rates By-law April 9/03	April 9/03	7:2.761	
PICTOU LANDING FIRST NATION			
Financial Administration By-law July 4/00	July 4/00	4:2.407	
CHIPPEWAS OF GEORGINA ISLAND FIRST NATION			
Land Management Code Jan 1/00	Jan 1/00	5:2.371	
CHIPPEWAS OF KETTLE & STONY POINT FIRST NATION	7		
Financial Management By-law Nov 28/02 LAC LA CROIX FIRST NATION	Nov 28/02	7:1.336	
Telephone Companies Taxation By-law Dec 19/02 MICHIPICOTEN FIRST NATION	Dec 19/02	7:2.764	
Financial Administration By-law Nov 18/02 MISSISSAUGAS OF SCUGOG ISLAND FIRST NATION	Nov 18/02	7:1.351	
Land Management Code	Jan 1/00	5:2.390	
Telephone Companies Taxation By-law Jan 7/99	Jan 7/99	3:2.459	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
ONTARIO (continued) NIPISSING FIRST NATION (continued) Telephone Companies Taxation	5	(
Expenditure By-law	Feb 25/01	5:2.410	
de taxes foncières, numéro 2, 1998 le 4 août 98 Règlement administratif sur les taux	le 4 août 98	3:1.184	
de taxes foncières, numéro 1, 1999 le 31 mai 99 Règlement administratif sur les taux	le 31 mai 99	3:2.463	
de taxes foncières, numéro 2, 1999 le 31 mai 99 Règlement sur les taux annuels de taxes	le 31 mai 99	3:2.468	
foncières, numéro 2, 2000 le 5 dec 00 Règlement sur les taux annuels de taxes	le 5 dec 00	5:1.126	
foncières, numéro 2, 2001 le 12 juin 01 Règlement sur les taux annuels de taxes	le 12 juin 01	5:2.417	
foncières, numéro 2, 2002 le 26 mai 02 Règlement sur les taux annels de taxes	le 26 mai 02	6:2.547	
foncières, numéro 2, 2003 le 27 avril 03 SASKATCHEWAN CARRY THE KETTLE FIRST NATION	le 27 avril 03	7:2.768	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law June 1/03 LITLE PINE FIRST NATION	June 1/03	7:2.771	
Goverment Act June 18/01	June 18/01	6:1.175	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
SASKATCHEWAN (continued) Muskoday First Nation Land Code	Jan 1/00	5:2.420	
OCEAN MAN FIRST NATION 2000 Rates Bv-law. Dec 5/00	Dec 5/00	5:1.129	
2001 Rates By-law June 2/01	June 2/01	5:2.440	
Property Assessment and Taxation Amending Bv-law. 2001-02.	Oct 1/01	6:1.189	
	Nov 20/01	6:1:191	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Jan 28/00	Jan 28/00	4:2.418	ss.11(3), 12, 13(1), 19, 24, 26 by
			Property Assessment and Taxation Amending By-law, 2001-03 (6:1.191) s.32(4) by Property Assessment and Taxation Amending By-law, 2001-02 (6:1.189)
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Jan 28/00	Jan 28/00	4:2.418	ss.33(2), 34(4), 35(1), 40(4), 41(3), 41(4), 41(6), 41(7), 46(1) by Property Assessment and Taxation Amending By-law, 2001-03 (6:1.191)
WHITE BEAR FIRST NATIONS 1998 Tax Rates By-law Jan 8/99 2002 Tax Rates By-law Aug 4/02	Jan 8/99 Aug 4/02	3:2.471 7:1.364	

Title	Effective date F. N. Gaz. Amendments	F. N. Gaz.	Amendments
SASKATCHEWAN (continued)			
WHITE BEAR FIRST NATIONS (continued)			
Property Assessment and Taxation			
By-law Amendment	Dec 3/98	3:1.187	
Property Tax Expenditure By-law	Sept 3/99	4:1.55	
WHITECAP DAKOTA/SIOUX FIRST NATION			
2002 Rates By-law	Sept 6/02	7:1.367	
Property Assessment and Taxation By-law Nov 3/01	Nov 3/01	6:1.194	